
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Date: Jun 29 2023 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase (None)

Invocation (Pastor Jeth Looney, DOXA Church, Green Cove Springs)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognize 2022-2023 Retirees

Presenters

School Showcase (None)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

2. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on May 23, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings and Regular Meeting on June
1, 2023

2023 May 23 Workshop.pdf

2023 Jun 1 Student Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2023 Jun 1 Regular Meeting.pdf

3. C2 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2023-2024 to Florida Association of District School Superintendents

School Board Member

4. C3 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2023-2024 to Florida School Boards Association

FSBA Invoice #12724.pdf

Information Technology Services

5. C4 - Amendment to Edupoint Contract to Reflect First In State Discounts

230155 Edupoint Amendment 5.pdf

Human Resources

Page 1 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52329
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52281
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52281
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-may-23-workshop.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-jun-1-regular-meeting.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52305
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52288
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fsba-invoice-12724.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52341
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230155-edupoint-amendment-5.pdf


6. C5 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda 6 29 2023.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

7. C6 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

June 29, 2023 Student Travel.pdf

8. C7 - Agreement between the School Board of Clay County and AMI Kids

230168 AMI Kids.pdf

9. C8 - Lexia® LETRS® (Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling)

230153 Lexia Learning.pdf

Instruction-Career and Technical Education

10. C9 - CTE Out-of-State and Overnight Field Trips

Instruction-Instructional Resources

11. C10 - Library Book Challenged Titles Committees Recommendations

06.29.23 Remove from the Shelf.pdf

06.29.23 Return To or Remain On Shelf.pdf

Instruction-Climate and Culture

12. C11 - MOA with DOH-Clay & State of Florida, CDC Crisis Response Cooperative Agreement ( CoAG) providing 11
extra nurses to assist in assigned schools

COAG2023 STAFFING MOA  CHD and CCDS Approved by LEGAL6.8.2023.pdf

Business Affairs

13. C12 - Review & Approve the renewal of the District's third party adjusters,  Johns Eastern Company

230164 Johns Eastern Co.pdf

14. C13 - Approve the 2023-2024 District's Property/Casualty/Active Assailant Insurance renewal submitted by Arthur J.
Gallagher & Co. (broker)

15. C14 - 2023-24 PowerSchool Contract Renewals

Q-735984-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736007-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736018-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736047-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736058-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q748291.pdf

Q-753599-202324 ELF CLay (1) (2).pdf

16. C15 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

23-24 Allocation Summary  06.29.23.pdf

Page 2 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52330
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-6-29-2023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52321
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/june-29-2023-student-travel.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52342
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230168-ami-kids.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52340
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230153-lexia-learning.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52303
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52223
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/062923-remove-from-the-shelf.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/062923-return-to-or-remain-on-shelf.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52327
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52327
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/coag2023-staffing-moa-chd-and-ccds-approved-by-legal682023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52310
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230164-johns-eastern-co.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52307
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52307
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52297
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-735984-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736007-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736018-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736047-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736058-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q748291.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-753599-202324-elf-clay-1-2.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52314
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/23-24-allocation-summary-062923_2.pdf


Business Affairs-Accounting

17. C16 - Monthly Financial Reports for May, 2023

May 2023 Monthly Board Property Reports.pdf

May 2023 Monthly Board Financial Reports.pdf

Contracts $50,000 - $100,000 Signed by Superintendent.pdf

18. C17 - Budget Amendment Report for May 31, 2023

Budget Amendment May 2023.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

19. C18 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT JUNE, 2023

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT JUNE, 2023.pdf

Business Affairs-Purchasing

20. C19 - BID Award

21. C20 - District Print Center Equipment Refresh

Operations

22. C21 - 2023-2024 School Safety Interlocal Agreement Among the School Board of Clay County, Florida, City of
Green Cove Springs Florida, and Green Cove Springs Police Department.

Interlocal Agreement City of GCS and GCS Police Department.pdf

23. C22 - 2023-2024 School Safety Interlocal Agreement Among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; and Town of
Orange Park and the Town of Orange Park Police Department.

Interlocal Agreement Town of OP and OP Police Department.pdf

24. C23 - Restated Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Shelters in Clay County between the Clay County School Board
and the Clay County Board of County Commissioners.

Emergency Shelters Interlocal Agreement 6.29.23.pdf

25. C24 - 2022-2023 Local Department of Health Inspection Reports

Health Dept. Inspection 2023 #1.pdf

Health Dept. Inspections 2023 #2.pdf

26. C25 - 2022-2023 S.R.E.F. Casualty, Safety, Sanitation, Relocatable, and Fire Safety Inspection Report

2023 SREF #1.pdf

2023 SREF #2.pdf

2023 SREF #3.pdf

27. C26 - Transportation Bus Purchase Agreement

Bus Purchase 6.29.23.pdf

Operations-Facilities

28. C27 - Clay County Utility Authority Closeout Documents for Spring Park Elementary School

Page 3 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52324
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2023-monthly-board-property-reports.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2023-monthly-board-financial-reports.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/contracts-50000-100000-signed-by-superintendent_6.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52308
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/budget-amendment-may-2023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52313
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-of-certain-items-report-june-2023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52322
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52323
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52265
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52265
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-city-of-gcs-and-gcs-police-department.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52266
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52266
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-town-of-op-and-op-police-department.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52315
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52315
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/emergency-shelters-interlocal-agreement-62923.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52317
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/health-dept-inspection-2023-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/health-dept-inspections-2023-2.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52318
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-2.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-3.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52319
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/bus-purchase-62923.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52304


Contract - Closeout Documents for Spring Park Elementary School.pdf

29. C28 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 6.29.23

30. C29 - Resolution for 95 Acre Land Purchase on Russell Road

Property Purchase Resolution 6.29.2023.pdf

Ennis Appraisal Russell Rd_95.pdf

Appraisal_2770 Russell Rd, Green Cove Springs, FL.pdf

31. C30 - Change Order #3 for Spring Park Elementary School

Change Order #3 for Spring Park Elementary School

Operations-Food & Nutrition

32. C31 - 2023-2024 Food and Nutrition Services Proposed Meal Price Increase.

Adoption of Consent Agenda

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (Lonnie Roberts)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

Discussion Agenda

Superintendent

33. D1 - Approval of the 2023-2028 Strategic Plan

Human Resources

34. D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

35. D3 - Human Resources Special Action B

Instruction-Climate and Culture

36. D4 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised 2023-2024 Student & Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct

Legal Adv. Notice of PH 23-24 Code of Student Conduct.pdf

Summary of Changes - 23_24 Code of Conduct.pdf

Board Redline Final - 2023_2024 - CCDS Student and Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct.pdf

School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 4 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/contract-closeout-documents-for-spring-park-elementary-school.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52306
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-62923.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52316
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/property-purchase-resolution-6292023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/ennis-appraisal-russell-rd_95.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/appraisal_2770-russell-rd-green-cove-springs-fl.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52325
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-3-for-spring-park-elementary-school-2.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52336
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52337
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52331
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52332
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=52282
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/legal-adv-notice-of-ph-23-24-code-of-student-conduct.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/summary-of-changes-23_24-code-of-conduct_1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/board-redline-final-2023_2024-ccds-student-and-family-handbook-and-code-of-student-conduct_1.pdf


School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Recognize 2022-2023 Retirees

Description
The Clay County School Board recognizes district employees who retired in the 2022-2023 school year by offering
congratulations and expressing appreciation for their years of faithful service to the district.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
For recognition only.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Recognition.  No action required.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources, (904) 336-6701, brenda.troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
NONE

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 5 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on May 23, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings and Regular Meeting on June 1, 2023

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net; Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2023 May 23 Workshop.pdf

2023 Jun 1 Student Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2023 Jun 1 Regular Meeting.pdf

Page 6 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-may-23-workshop.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-jun-1-regular-meeting.pdf


Date: May 23 2023 (9:00 a.m.)

School Board of Clay County

District Multi-Purpose Center, Corner Walnut Street & Gratio Place, Green Cove Springs, FL

May 23, 2023 - School Board Workshop

Invocation  (Mary Bolla)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Mary Bolla, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3, Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley

Gilhousen, District 5; and Superintendent David S. Broskie)

Workshop Items

1. Review Draft Agenda for Regular School Board Meeting on June 1, 2023

June-1-2023-regular-school-board-meeting_agenda_packet (2).pdf

Minutes:

Recognitions:

Recognize Students with Perfect Attendance, K-6, K-8, and K-12 - no discussion;

Recognize Recipients of Superintendent's Florida Pre-Paid Scholarship - no discussion;

2023-2024 Drug Free Schools Calendar Winners - no discussion;

Recognize Winners of the 2023 Math Field Day - no discussion;

Recognition of FHSAA State Championship Boys Weightlifting Winners - no discussion;

Recognize Social Studies Teachers of the Year - no discussion;

Ceremonial Signing of the Rati�ed Fraternal Order of Police, Florida State Lodge Contract - no discussion;

Consent Agenda:

C1 Minutes of School Board Workshop and School Board Special Meeting on March 25, 2023; Student Discipline

Hearings and Regular Meeting on May 4, 2023 - no discussion;

C2 Personnel Consent Agenda - no discussion;

C3 Daily Hours for Teachers and Students for School Year 2023-24 - no discussion;

C4 K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel - no discussion;

C5 Approval to Advertise and Notice of Public Hearing to Approve Modi�cations to the 2022-2023 Student Progression

Plan - Mrs. Hanson expressed concerns re truancy, mastery of standards, retention, and the number of students who

are not reading on grade level, as well as speci�c concerns with the elementary portion of the plan including lack of

guidelines for homework and grades; accountability is critical to the success of the plan; would like to examine how to

improve if the plan is worked at the local level in the schools with support from the school board and district o�ces;

would like to get the community on board with training at the parent level; Mr. Broskie noted the improvement seen in

attendance over the past year, advised there is a task force working on the grading policy, and agreed that reading is key

to student improvement; advertising the policy now will allow the public hearing and adoption necessary to incorporate

required legislative changes in time for the next school year and the board may propose revisions at any time in future; 

C6 2023-24 Interagency Agreement Between the School Board of Clay County, Florida and the Department of Military

A�airs; State of Florida - no discussion;

C7 A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Central State University (CSU) - no discussion;

C8 A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Florida Gateway College (FGC) - no discussion;

Page 7 of 843

DRAFT



C9 A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Oklahoma State University (OSU) - no discussion;

C10 A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and University of Phoenix (UoP) - no discussion;

C11 Ratify 230122 Lutheran Services Florida Standard Agreement with the School Board of Clay County, FL-SEDNET - no

discussion;

C12 Proposed Allocation Changes for 2022-2023 - discussion included the duties of the proposed allocation,

"coordinator of assessment", how these tasks have been handled historically, the necessity of having testing

coordinators at each school, and the process of having allocations approved;

C13 Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024 - no discussion;

C14 Monthly Financial Reports for April. 2023 - no discussion;

C15 Budget Amendment Report for April 30, 2023 - no discussion;

C16 Deletion of Certain Items Report May, 2023 - no discussion;

C17 BID Renewal - no discussion;

C18 BID Award - no discussion;

C19 Appointments for the Citizens Oversight Committee - a typographical error on the item attachment was noted and

will be corrected;

C20 Resolution to Dispose of Relocatable Buildings at Keystone Heights Elementary School - no discussion;

C21 Purchase Agreement for Four (4) Relocatable Buildings at Keystone Heights Elementary School - no discussion;

C22 Purchase Agreement for Four (4) Sets of Ramps and Stairs at Keystone Heights Elementary School - no discussion;

C23 Change Order #3 for Clay High School Restroom Renovations - Mrs. Hanson questioned whether extra costs are

anticipated for projects such as these and Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent of Operations, con�rmed allowances for

extra costs due to �nding unforeseen items as well as having to bring things up to code and calculate market swings;

C24 Change Order #1 for Middleburg High School Cafeteria Expansion - no discussion;

C25 Change Order #6 for Orange Park High School Stadium Repair/Replacement - no discussion;

C26 Prequali�cation of Contractors - no discussion;

C27 Ridgeview High School Roof Repair/replacement Building 2 Contract Award - no discussion;

C28 Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Wilkinson Elementary School Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations

(Freezer/Cooler Replacement Ceiling) - brief discussion of the Citizens Advisory Committee's duties and projects

identi�ed on the Educational Facilities Plan, to include EDFirst projects and expenditures;

C29 Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Ridgeview Elementary School Roof Repair/replacement Buildings 1, 2, & 3 -

Shingles and Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations - no discussion;

C30 Change Order #5 for Middleburg Transportation Facility Fuel system Repair/Replacement - no discussion;

C31 Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and III) Plans and Speci�cations for Fleming Island High School Replace

Batting Practice Building (Erosion) - no discussion;

Discussion Agenda:

D1 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Proposed School Board Policy 1.16, "Designation of User Gender for

Bathrooms/Restrooms, Locker Rooms and Dressing Rooms" - brief discussion on signage replacement on bathrooms to

ensure rules are followed;

D2 Human Resources Special Action A - 

D3 Human Resources Special Action B - 

D4 Human Resources Special Action C - 

D5 Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to Use of Facilities & Grounds Manual - no discussion

2. Discussion of Policy For Student Surveys (Mrs. Skipper)

Minutes:

School Board Attorney, Bruce Bickner, introduced a proposed policy he drafted at the request of Mrs. Skipper.

Mrs. Skipper advised she felt that the original policy she had given to Mr. Bickner was more direct and that she had wanted an

opt-in policy rather than an opt-out policy.  Her concern is that surveys can result in students' information being sold to a third

party, and stated that is the reasoning behind a bill that was just passed re the collection of data on children.  She believes

parental noti�cation of surveys should be given and the survey sent home to provide parents with the opportunity to know

about all surveys.

Mrs. Hanson stated that the original policy provided by Mrs. Skipper is more procedural and the one drafted by Mr. Bickner

leaves open questions.  She is concerned with the ability to hold accountability to a policy that lacks procedures.  She

suggested a letter or form could be sent home at the beginning of the year, by grade level, that discusses the surveys and

programs and allows parents to indicate the ones in which they choose to have their children participate.  She does not
Page 8 of 843

DRAFT



support an opt-in policy because of the potential for a busy parent to sign permission without fully realizing what they are

signing.  She supports communicating to parents in a more e�ective way.  Mr. Broskie advised that the communication of the

surveys and information can certainly be examined to enable it to be more clearly provided to parents.

Mr. Bickner advised the policy is a framework and procedures are how the policy would be implemented.  The implementation

of the policy would rest with the superintendent.  Mrs. Hanson advised it is necessary to implement details in the policy to

ensure procedures are there.  Mrs. Skipper also recommends speci�city in policy language.  

Mrs. Gilhousen noted the importance of policy language so expectations are clear, but that care must be taken about the

degree of speci�city in policy so that the policy can withstand changes of time and �exibility, recommending procedures are

not incorporated into policy.

Board members will further examine the proposed policy and discuss it at the next board meeting.

3. Discussion of School Board Meetings (Mrs. Hanson)

Minutes:

Mrs. Hanson proposed some changes for the board's consideration regarding board meetings as follows:

hold "informal" meetings to include town halls, community input meetings, and meetings during which board members

may discuss issues not on the formal agenda in order to have su�cient time for healthy discourse among board

members

preserve time at workshops by the board members reviewing the agenda items and asking only necessary questions,

either to the superintendent or to the item submitters, preserving discussion time for di�cult issues

hold student awards and recognitions on a di�erent day from the regular monthly meeting to enable discussion earlier

and lengthier discussions to take place

adjust the order of the meeting agenda so that public speakers are heard and the board can discuss/address what the

speakers said earlier in the evening, more closely to the time of the public comments

consider holding student discipline hearings on an alternate day from the regular monthly meeting, possibly on the

same day as student awards and recognitions

Mrs. Bolla indicated the agenda reviews done at workshops include all personnel that contribute to the agenda and that the

superintendent's review of each agenda item gives the board an opportunity to discuss it in open public forum and allows

public transparency as to the operations of the district.  The public has the opportunity to see and hear the workshop review

and constituents can call with concerns.  She believes the student celebrations and recognitions are extremely important and

does not support them being moved to an alternate evening.  Student discipline hearings have been lengthy, at times, but one

can prepare ahead of time for this important work.

Mrs. Clark is accustomed to long hours but would appreciate more time to review the agenda to fully digest all of the

information.  Student hearings times can be revisited in the future if they continue to be lengthy.  She does regret that board

member comments are not always heard by the public speakers.

Mrs. Skipper feels that public comments should be addressed as the public make up the constituency.  She would like to

change the public's perception and current culture that the board speaks very little and have more discussion and

communication.

Mrs. Gilhousen indicated that the workshop is also a time for the board members to engage in any desired discussion.  She

does like the student awards and recognitions but suggested considering how many are being placed on the agenda each

month.  She is neutral re the suggestion to move student hearings to an alternate night.

All regular, special, and workshop meetings must have an agenda and be legally advertised.  The board determined to evaluate

moving student discipline hearings at a future date if still needed and desired.

Questions from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments  (None)

School Board Attorney Comments  (None)

School Board Comments

Page 9 of 843

DRAFT



4. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Hanson noted that recent legislation has passed re student cell phone usage and questioned the need to update the Code

of Student Conduct to re�ect the new law.  Mr. Broskie will read the language to determine if the statute requires us to change

our current policy.  Mrs. Skipper noted a di�erent county that was experiencing issues related to cell phone usage and had

success in restricting the usage with clear expectations communicated to the parents and community.

Mrs. Bolla shared information re a fundraiser at Texas Roadhouse to support the Dolly Parton Imagination Library in an e�ort

to expand the current program.

A workshop on safety and security may be scheduled in the future to update the board members on that procedure and allow

discussion during what will likely be a closed meeting.

Adjournment  (11:23 a.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 10 of 843

DRAFT



Date: Jun 01 2023 (6:00 p.m.)

School Board of Clay County

Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

June 1, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Student Showcase  (None)

Invocation  (Pastor Mason Dorsey, Trinity Community Church-Fleming Island)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Mary Bolla, District 2, Beth Clark, District 3; Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley

Gilhousen, District 5; Superintendent David Broskie)

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognize Students with Perfect Attendance, K-6, K-8, and K-12

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie recognized students with perfect attendance K-6, K-8, and K-12.  These students have been present in

school, with no absences or tardies, for 7 years, 9 years, or 13 years.

Kindergarten - 6th Grade (7 years)

Joseph Erickson (Rideout Elementary)

Jaden Lee (Wilkinson Elementary)

Kindergarten - 8th Grade (9 years)

Cadence Bandor (Lake Asbury Junior)

Kindergarten - 12th Grade (13 years)

Timothy Walker (Clay High)

2. Recognize Recipients of Superintendent's Florida Pre-Paid Scholarships

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie recognized recipients of Superintendent's Florida Prepaid Scholarship winners as follows:

Zoey Watson (Rising Kindergartener) - 2023 Florida Prepaid Superintendent Scholarship Art Contest award of $1,000 in a

Florida Prepaid 529 savings account

Cathleen Kivett Smith (Graduating Senior) - 2023 Florida Prepaid Superintendent Scholarship Essay Contest award of a 2-

year college scholarship valued at $8,000

3. 2023-2024 Drug Free Schools Calendar Winners

Minutes:
Page 11 of 843

DRAFT



Donna Wethington, Executive Director, Clay Action Coalition, recognized the winners of the 2023 Drug-Free Schools Prevention

Calendar.  Their artwork will be showcased in the 2023-2024 Drug-Free calendar.

Amelia Harris (5th - Orange Park Elementary) - Front cover

Gabriella Garcia (5th - Orange Park Elementary) - Inside Cover

Haven Tomalis (3rd - Orange Park Elementary) - August

Gianna AP (4th - Tynes Elementary) - September

Daltynn Lee (5th - Middleburg Elementary) - October

Jenner Moses (2nd - Thunderbolt Elementary) - November

Avanni Vega (K - Coppergate School of the Arts) - December

Emma Winkle-Ballard (1st - Coppergate School of the Arts) - January

Hailey Nalepa (6th - Shadowlawn Elementary) - February

Olivia McDonald (4th - Coppergate School of the Arts) - March

Meggie Liu (K - Orange Park Elementary) - April

Brooke Wern (3rd - Thunderbolt Elementary) - May

Lila Mathis (2nd - Orange Park Elementary) - June

Natalie Patrone (6th - Coppergate School of the Arts) - July

4. Recognize Winners of the 2023 Math Field Day

Minutes:

April Shipley, Elementary Math Curriculum Coach, recognized the winners of the 2023 Math Field Day as follows:

Fourth Grade

1st Place - R.M. Paterson Elementary

Avryl Akers

Stanley Hon

Brandon Hohrath

Finlay Cusick

Elizabeth Longworth

John Sikes

2nd Place - Orange Park Elementary (tie)

Cohen Cook

Lydia Cunningham

Elene Hellmuth

Brooklyn Watt

Maya Westfall

Chloe Williamson

2nd Place - Thunderbolt Elementary (tie)

Chloe Barrett

Grayson Moore

Jensen Lauer

Ralph MacKritis

Wriston Senna

Matthew Thompson

3rd Place - Swimming Pen Creek Elementary

Davey Gornewicz

Khloe Buckler

Alaric Brock

Payton Burns

David Foster

Wynn Weeks
Page 12 of 843

DRAFT



Fifth Grade

1st Place - R.M. Paterson Elementary

Nathan Hancock

Wyatt Lundy

JonJon Nosse

Ella We�en

Alan Stevenson

Kian Summerlin

2nd Place - Lake Asbury Elementary

Logan DeMartinis

Shane Espaldon

Jacob Cormier

Ashby Combs

Michael Pollard

Jayden Sparrow

3rd Place - Fleming Island Elementary

Lucas Harrell

Colton Gall

James Judycki

Jiro Untivero

Bella Hartzell

Ansley Sandefer

Sixth Grade

1st Place - Orange Park Elementary

Josue Ybarra Verenzuela

Miguel Sanchez

Smir Abosini

Aidan Watt

Jaeden Sims

Addison McGarva

2nd Place - Thunderbolt Elementary

Karas Boktor

Carlo Beam

Eve Schlotthauer

Jeter Slaymon

Ashley Warner

Braden White

3rd Place - Fleming Island Elementary

Tripp Patin

Graham Sauer

Darla Hartzell

Daniel Watkins

David Watkins

Blake Wiggains

Muggins Winner

Aubrey Dale (W.E. Cherry Elementary)

Page 13 of 843

DRAFT



5. Recognition of FHSAA State Championship Boys Weightlifting Winners

Minutes:

John Sgromolo, Coordinator of District Athletics, recognized winners of the FHSAA State Championship Boys Weightlifting as

follows:

Fleming Island High School

Kevin Reyes - Individual State Champion

Tyler Beverly - Individual State Champion

Jered Rhodes - Individual State Champion

Zach Davis - Individual State Champion

Tyler Williams

Braden Cunningham

Gage Isbell

Nico Cruz

Josh Pereira

Keystone Heights High School

Brian Overton - Individual State Champion

Larry Je�ries III - Individual State Champion

Colton Hollingsworth

Jed Tisdale

Declan Shine 

Reid Begue

Wyatt VanZant

Sam Ulsch

Davin Adams 

Landon Hovsepian

Bryar Schenck

Dakota Roper 

Bryson Wester

Jaydon Goodman

Tyeler Rozier

Jackson Herman 

Brayden Wester 

Tyler Duncan 

6. Recognize Social Studies Teachers of the Year

Minutes:

Mary Owen, Social Studies Specialist, and Stephanie Navarro, Social Studies Curriculum Coach, recognized the following Social

Studies Teachers of the Year, sponsored by the Florida Council for Social Studies, for their facilitation and inspiration of student

learning in grades K-12:

Stacey Je�ries (Charles E. Bennett) - Clay County's nominee for FCSS's Outstanding Social Studies Teacher of the Year in

the Elementary Division

Jennifer Brymer (Keystone Heights High) - Clay County's nominee for FCSS's Outstanding Social Studies Teacher of the

Year in the Middle School Division

Rita Peterson (Clay High) - Clay County's nominee for FCSS's Outstanding Social Studies Teacher of the Year in the Senior

High Division

Justin Daniels (Orange Park High) - Clay County's nominee for the Excellence in Teaching History Award

Breyana Stilts (Middleburg High) - Clay County's nominee for the Warren Tracy Beginning Teacher Award

Michael Taft (Green Cove Springs Junior) - Clay County's nominee for Clay Civics Champion Award

Page 14 of 843

DRAFT



Mr. Daniels and Ms. Stilts are in the process of completing their paperwork as they compete for state awards, which will be

announced in October.

7. Ceremonial Signing of the Rati�ed Fraternal Order of Police, Florida State Lodge Contract

Minutes:

Brenda Troutman, Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources, Kenneth Wagner, Police Chief Clay County District Schools, J.

J. Dixon, Fraternal Order of Police, John Revis, Labor Council Chief of Sta� for FOP, Chapter President Mike Tucker, Vice

President Christopher Kesting, Middleburg High School, and Treasurer Rob Troxel, Orange Park High School, participated in a

ceremonial signing of the rati�ed Fraternal Order of Police, Florida State Lodge, and Clay County District Schools contract.

Presenters

School Showcase  (None)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

8. Public Comment

Minutes:

Public Speakers:

Bruce Friedman 

Victoria Tompkins 

Summer Grace

Madison Hilt

DeAnn Dockery 

William Whigham

Cherie McKay

Judith Chapple

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

9. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop and School Board Special Meeting on March 25, 2023; Student Discipline Hearings

and Regular Meeting on May 4, 2023

2023 Apr 25 Workshop.pdf

2023 Apr 25 Special Mtg.pdf

2023 May 4 Regular Mtg.pdf

2023 May 4 Student Hearings.pdf (Con�dential)

Human Resources

10. C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda 6.1.2023.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

11. C3 - Daily Hours for Teachers and Students for School Year 2023-24

CCSD School-hours-2023-2024.pdf

12. C4 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

June 2023 Student Travel.pdf

Page 15 of 843

DRAFT



13. C5 - Approval to Advertise and Notice of Public Hearing to Approve Modi�cations to the 2022-2023 Student Progression

Plan

Approval to Advertise Notice of PH Student Progression Plan.pdf

Student Progression Plan 2023 - 2024-Board DRAFT .pdf

Summary of Changes - 23-24 SPP.pdf

14. C6 - Approve Interlocal Agreement Between The School Board of Clay County, Florida and Rolling Hills Community

Development District Regarding Usage of District Recreational Facilities.

The Clay High School Swim Team Pool Use Interlocal Agreement (2023) (3).pdf

Instruction-Adult Education

15. C7 - 2023-24 Interagency Agreement Between the School Board of Clay County, Florida and the Department of Military

A�airs; State of Florida

230143 FLYCA Adult Ed Interagency Agreement.pdf

Executed 230143 FLYCA_Adult Ed.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

16. C8 - A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Central State University (CSU).

230126 Central State Univ MOU.pdf

17. C9 - A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Florida Gateway College (FGC).

230115 FL Gateway College (1).pdf

18. C10 - A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Oklahoma State University (OSU).

230130 Oklahoma State Univ MOU.pdf

19. C11 - A�liation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and University of Phoenix (UoP).

230108 Univ of Phoenix (1).pdf

IN-SEDNET

20. C12 - Ratify 230122 Lutheran Services Florida Standard Agreement with the School Board of Clay County, FL-SEDNET

230122 Lutheran Services Amendment 108.pdf

Business A�airs

21. C13 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2022-2023

06.01.23 - 22 23 Allocation Summary.pdf

22. C14 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

06.01.23 - 23-24 Allocation Summary (1).pdf

Business A�airs-Accounting

23. C15 - Monthly Financial Reports for April, 2023

April 2023 Monthly Board Financial Report.pdf

April 2023 Monthly Board Property Report.pdf

Contracts $50,000 - $100,000 Signed by Superintendent.pdf

24. C16 - Budget Amendment Report for April 30, 2023

Page 16 of 843

DRAFT



Budget Amendment April 2023.pdf

Business A�airs-Property

25. C17 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT MAY, 2023

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT MAY, 2023.pdf

Business A�airs-Purchasing

26. C18 - BID Renewal

27. C19 - BID Award

Operations

28. C20 - Appointments for the Citizens Oversight Committee

Citizens Advisory Committee_1_June_23.pdf

29. C21 - Brightly Contract Agreement - Facility Asset Management Software

230144 Brightly Software (1).pdf

Operations-Facilities

30. C22 - Resolution to Dispose of Relocatable Buildings at Keystone Heights Elementary School

Resolution to Dispose of Relocatables 6.1.23.pdf

31. C23 - Purchase Agreement for Four (4) Relocatable Buildings at Keystone Heights Elementary School

Purchase Agreement for Relocatables.pdf

32. C24 - Purchase Agreement for Four (4) Sets of Ramps and Stairs at Keystone Heights Elementary School

Purchase Agreement for Ramps and Stairs.pdf

33. C25 - Change Order #3 for Clay High School Restroom Renovations

CO #3 CHS Restroom Renovation.pdf

34. C26 - Change Order #1 for Middleburg High School Cafeteria Expansion

CO #1 MHS Cafeteria Expansion.pdf

35. C27 - Change Order #6 for Orange Park High School Stadium Repair/Replacement

CO #6 OPH Stadium Repair.Replacement.pdf

36. C28 - Prequali�cation of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 6.1.23.pdf

37. C29 - Ridgeview High School Roof Repair/Replacement Building 2 Contract Award

RHS Roof Repair.Renovations - Building 2 Bid Tab.pdf

RHS Roof Contractor Executed Contract.pdf

38. C30 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Wilkinson Elementary School Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations (Freezer/Cooler

Replacement/Ceiling)

Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) WES Kitchen Cafeteria Renovations.pdf

39. C31 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Ridgeview Elementary School Roof Repair/Replacement Buildings 1, 2, & 3 -

Shingles and Kitchen/Cafeteria Renovations

Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) RVE Roof Repair Replacement and Kitchen Cafeteria Renovations.pdf
Page 17 of 843

DRAFT



40. C32 - Change Order #5 for Middleburg Transportation Facility Fuel System Repair/Replacement

CO #5 MB Transportation Fuel System Repair.Replacement.pdf

41. C33 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and III) Plans and Speci�cations for Fleming Island High School Replace

Batting Practice Building (Erosion)

Adoption of Consent Agenda

42. Adoption of Consent Agenda

Motion

Motion to Adopt Consent Agenda

Vote Results ( Approved )

Motion: Mary Bolla

Second: Michele Hanson

Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Mary Bolla - Aye

Beth Clark - Aye

Michele Hanson - Aye

Erin Skipper - Aye

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (Lonnie Roberts)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

43. Superintendent's Update

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie shared the attached visual presentation, highlighting the following:

2023 Graduation

Summer Learning Program

Summer Meals Program

Preparing for 2023-2024

Upcoming Events

Discussion Agenda

School Board Member

44. D1 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Proposed School Board Policy 1.16, "Designation of User Gender for

Bathrooms/Restrooms, Locker Rooms and Dressing Rooms"

Proposed SB Policy 1.16 Use of Designated Accommodations.pdf

Legal Adv Notice of PH for SB Policy 1.16 Designation of User Gender for Bathrooms etc..pdf

Minutes:

Chair Gilhousen opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Following the motion and second, Mrs. Bolla expressed her concern with the policy having a punishment attached to it that

may serve to punish some of the most vulnerable students who have not had necessary support, pushing them further into

vulnerability.  She commented that, because the governor has signed this into law, our policies must be based on that law and

requested that any single-use restroom be labeled "restroom" with no gender speci�city.  She emphasized the need to realize

the di�erences in the student population and view those di�erences with open minds.
Page 18 of 843

DRAFT



Mrs. Skipper commented that students (children) do not always make the right decisions and this matter pertains to the safety

of all students no matter the viewpoint one may have.

Mrs. Hanson requested and received con�rmation from Bruce Bickner, School Board Attorney, that the proposed policy

accurately re�ects the law and will satisfy the April 1, 2024 reporting requirements.  The proposed policy does codify what has

been put in place as practice.  The State Board of Education should provide a rule by January 1, 2024, and Mr. Bickner advised

that the future rule may serve to alter the ground, requiring an amendment of the proposed policy.  Mrs. Hanson supports

engaging the community's ideas to provide redress from this policy. 

Motion

Motion to Approve as Advertised Proposed School Board Policy 1.16, "Designation of user Gender for Bathrooms/Restrooms,

Locker Rooms"

Vote Results ( Approved )

Motion: Erin Skipper

Second: Beth Clark

Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Mary Bolla - Aye

Beth Clark - Aye

Michele Hanson - Aye

Erin Skipper - Aye

Human Resources

45. D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

Special Action A 6.1.2023.pdf (Con�dential)

Motion

Motion to Approve Human Resources Special Action A

Vote Results ( Approved )

Motion: Mary Bolla

Second: Erin Skipper

Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Mary Bolla - Aye

Beth Clark - Aye

Michele Hanson - Aye

Erin Skipper - Aye

46. D3 - Human Resources Special Action B

Special Action B 6.1.2023.pdf (Con�dential)

Motion

Motion to Approve Human Resources Special Action B

Vote Results ( Approved )

Motion: Erin Skipper

Second: Beth Clark

Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Mary Bolla - Aye

Page 19 of 843

DRAFT



Beth Clark - Aye

Michele Hanson - Aye

Erin Skipper - Aye

47. D4 - Human Resources Special Action C

Minutes:

There was no Human Resources Special Action C.

Business A�airs

48. D5 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Revisions to Use of Facilities & Grounds Manual

Proposed Facility Use 3.3.23.docx

Legal Adv. PH Proposed Revisions to Use of Facilities & Grounds Manual.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Gilhousen opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion

Motion to Approve as Advertised Revisions to Use of Facilities & Grounds Manual

Vote Results ( Approved )

Motion: Beth Clark

Second: Mary Bolla

Ashley Gilhousen - Aye

Mary Bolla - Aye

Beth Clark - Aye

Michele Hanson - Aye

Erin Skipper - Aye

School Board Attorney Remarks  (None)

School Board Member Remarks

49. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Skipper requested a safety and security (shade) meeting, and this will be added to the June 20, 2023 board workshop.  She

believes the library associations and unions are responsible for the current library book predicament but provided assurance

that inappropriate books will be removed.  She supports teachers having a voice and thanked administrators for their e�orts.

Mrs. Clark supports the bathroom policy as a matter of common sense and safety in support of the governor's intent to stop

those who create problems.  She wants all books to be reviewed prior to returning them to shelves, whether in classroom

libraries or media centers and lamented the lack of a penalty for publishers who sent inappropriate materials to schools.

Mrs. Hanson requested information re the scope and process of logging all books into the Destiny system.  Mr. Broskie advised

that approximately 50% of books have been logged into Destiny, and this will include all books in both classroom and school

libraries.  Mrs. Hanson distributed some information packets and would like to engage in further discussion on book

procedures at a future workshop.  She noted the importance of graduation and enjoyed participating in that event.

Mrs. Bolla pointed out that parents in Clay County have always had the opportunity to say no and that it is a parent's right to

choose.  She noted the incredible work done by the Dolly Parton Imagination Library and appreciated an ice cream treat at

Page 20 of 843

DRAFT



Swimming Pen Creek Elementary.  She extended appreciation to the public speakers who allow the understanding of multiple

perspectives on an issue.

Mrs. Gilhousen requested thoughts from fellow board members on how they wish to proceed with continued e�orts to retain a

school board attorney.  After a thorough discussion of the options, it was determined that Human Resources will re-initiate

discussions to assess the interest of a previously considered candidate, post the job opportunity again in multiple locations,

and consider retaining a head hunter if this option is not cost prohibitive.  Interviews will be scheduled for June 20, 2023.

There was brief discussion of Mrs. Skipper's proposed policy re student surveys and it was then determined to continue the

discussion of that policy at a future time.

Adjournment  (8:43 p.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 21 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C2 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2023-2024 to Florida Association of District School Superintendents

Description
Membership dues to the Florida Association of District School Superintendents (FADSS allows participation and networking
with superintendents statewide.  FADSS is the support and training organization for superintendents, as well as an effective and
persistent voice on the issues that are important to Florida school districts.  The school district reaps benefits by participating in
the Association, including state-of-the-art leadership training.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Budgeted item - for information only

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools; david.broskie@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Budgeted item - $16,500.00 (estimated)

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 22 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C3 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2023-2024 to Florida School Boards Association

Description
The Florida School Boards Association (FSBA) provides valuable services to local school boards.  These services include
researching legislative issues important to school systems in Florida and representing their views before the Legislature, the State
Board of Education, and other organizations interested in public education.  FSBA also provides valuable leadership training for
school board members.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve payment of FSBA dues.

Contact
Ashley Gilhousen, Board Chair, ashley,gilhousen@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Budgeted item - $19,579.00

Review Comments

Attachments

FSBA Invoice #12724.pdf

Page 23 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fsba-invoice-12724.pdf


Page 24 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C4 - Amendment to Edupoint Contract to Reflect First In State Discounts

Description
Clay County District Schools was the first district in the state of Florida to implement Edupoint’s Synergy Student Information
System. CCDS has been utilizing the Synergy platform for two years. CCDS received the first-in-state-discount, as well as the
agreement of additional discounts as more Florida districts implement Synergy. Hillsborough County has now gone live with the
Synergy platform which entitled Clay County to a discount of $10,558.40 which will be reflected as a refund. The $10,558.40
discount was calculated based on 40% of the cost of TeacherVUE ($26,396 x .40 = $10,558.40). The cost to the district for
TeacherVue will perpetually be discounted by 40%. 

Gap Analysis
The fee schedule for the current contract does not reflect Clay County’s First in State status. This amendment will revise the fee
schedule to reflect the discounts.

Previous Outcomes
This is the fifth amendment to the original contract.

Expected Outcomes
As more districts utilize Edupoint Synergy, the cost to Clay County will decrease up to a 50% discount for each component.

Strategic Plan Goal
GOAL 2 - Improve management of district-wide operations and facilities.
Strategy 2.1: Improve technology in all classrooms and district buildings.
Strategy 2.4: Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.
Initiative 2.4.1: Design and implement fiscal practices and policies that enable the district to maximize efficiency.

Recommendation
To approve the Amendment to the Edupoint contract.

Contact
Ethan Caren, Director of Information Services, ethan.caren@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The district will receive a $10,558.40 refund for the 22-23 school year since Hillsborough went live with the Synergy Gradebook
component, TeacherVue. TeacherVue will continue to be discounted by %40. Additional discounts will be applied as more
districts go live with additional components.

Review Comments

Attachments

230155 Edupoint Amendment 5.pdf

Page 25 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230155-edupoint-amendment-5.pdf


Page 26 of 843

DRAFT



Page 27 of 843

DRAFT



Page 28 of 843

DRAFT



Page 29 of 843

DRAFT



Page 30 of 843

DRAFT



Page 31 of 843

DRAFT



Page 32 of 843

DRAFT



Page 33 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C5 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.
 
Initiative 5.1.1 - Recruit and retain highly skilled, qualified, and diverse educators, leaders, and support staff.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda 6 29 2023.pdf

Page 34 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-6-29-2023.pdf


Page 35 of 843

DRAFT



Page 36 of 843

DRAFT



Page 37 of 843

DRAFT



Page 38 of 843

DRAFT



Page 39 of 843

DRAFT



Page 40 of 843

DRAFT



Page 41 of 843

DRAFT



Page 42 of 843

DRAFT



Page 43 of 843

DRAFT



Page 44 of 843

DRAFT



Page 45 of 843

DRAFT



Page 46 of 843

DRAFT



Page 47 of 843

DRAFT



Page 48 of 843

DRAFT



Page 49 of 843

DRAFT



Page 50 of 843

DRAFT



Page 51 of 843

DRAFT



Page 52 of 843

DRAFT



Page 53 of 843

DRAFT



Page 54 of 843

DRAFT



Page 55 of 843

DRAFT



Page 56 of 843

DRAFT



Page 57 of 843

DRAFT



Page 58 of 843

DRAFT



Page 59 of 843

DRAFT



Page 60 of 843

DRAFT



Page 61 of 843

DRAFT



Page 62 of 843

DRAFT



Page 63 of 843

DRAFT



Page 64 of 843

DRAFT



Page 65 of 843

DRAFT



Page 66 of 843

DRAFT



Page 67 of 843

DRAFT



Page 68 of 843

DRAFT



Page 69 of 843

DRAFT



Page 70 of 843

DRAFT



Page 71 of 843

DRAFT



Page 72 of 843

DRAFT



Page 73 of 843

DRAFT



Page 74 of 843

DRAFT



Page 75 of 843

DRAFT



Page 76 of 843

DRAFT



Page 77 of 843

DRAFT



Page 78 of 843

DRAFT



Page 79 of 843

DRAFT



Page 80 of 843

DRAFT



Page 81 of 843

DRAFT



Page 82 of 843

DRAFT



Page 83 of 843

DRAFT



Page 84 of 843

DRAFT



Page 85 of 843

DRAFT



Page 86 of 843

DRAFT



Page 87 of 843

DRAFT



Page 88 of 843

DRAFT



Page 89 of 843

DRAFT



Page 90 of 843

DRAFT



Page 91 of 843

DRAFT



Page 92 of 843

DRAFT



Page 93 of 843

DRAFT



Page 94 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C6 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                  Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose
Fleming Island
High School

7/17 -
7/19/23

Lakeland, FL
Football
Team

FCA Team Football Camp

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Assistant Superintendent of Curriculum & Instruction; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Treasure Pickett, Director of K-12 Academic Services; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

June 29, 2023 Student Travel.pdf

Page 95 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/june-29-2023-student-travel.pdf


Page 96 of 843

DRAFT



Page 97 of 843

DRAFT



Page 98 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C7 - Agreement between the School Board of Clay County and AMI Kids

Description
A collaborative agreement between the School Board of Clay County and the AMI Kids Clay County, Inc., to address the needs
of male students in Clay County.  This program works in conjunction with the Department of Juvenile Justice, to provide an
educational program and related services for eligible male students (up to 44 students).  This program focuses on student needs
dealing with specialized counseling, credit recovery services, life skills, positive gender identification, community service
learning projects, and career exploration.  Students attend the program for approximately 1 year.  The collaboration between the
two organizations has allowed students to seek an alternative setting to a previously unsuccessful environment. 

Gap Analysis
The district monitors the program and their intervention strategies in order to yield positive results in the areas of academics,
social behavior, and the number of students who successfully return to their home school.
 

Previous Outcomes
AMI Kids earned a school accountability rating of "Commendable" in the 2021-22 DJJ Accountability Report.

Expected Outcomes
By continuing the collaboration with AMI Kids, it is expected that students will be identified by the secondary schools,
Bannerman Learning Center, recommended by parents, and/or the student volunteers for the program.  AMI Kids is notified by
any of these sources and students are oriented to the program.  Once the students are enrolled, they begin the counseling program
offered and then the credit/course recovery program begins.  Periodic meetings take place to review outcomes and to
communicate with the District on proposed return dates of the students.  Through the District plan, students are able to recoup
credits and, therefore, remain on track to either be promoted or to earn the necessary credits towards graduation.  Curriculum
deficiencies are addressed, counseling and behavior therapy takes place, increasing the likelihood of success for the students.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 3: Establish a respectful climate and culture that provides equity and access to all.
Strategy 3.1: Engage stakeholders to strengthen and build a collaborative and constructive environment that encourages high
expectations for all.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the agreement between AMI Kids and the School Board of Clay County.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net, 904-336-6905
Treasure Pickett, Director of K-12 Academic Services; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net, 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
Clay County allocates 95% of an FTE to AMI Kids; 5% of an FTE is allocated to the School Board of Clay County.

Review Comments

Attachments

230168 AMI Kids.pdf

Page 99 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230168-ami-kids.pdf


Page 100 of 843

DRAFT



Page 101 of 843

DRAFT



Page 102 of 843

DRAFT



Page 103 of 843

DRAFT



Page 104 of 843

DRAFT



Page 105 of 843

DRAFT



Page 106 of 843

DRAFT



Page 107 of 843

DRAFT



Page 108 of 843

DRAFT



Page 109 of 843

DRAFT



Treasure Pickett

K12 Director, Secondary Education

23 South Green Street, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043
904-336-6919 treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net

Ashley Gilhousen

SBCC Chair

Page 110 of 843

DRAFT



Page 111 of 843

DRAFT



Page 112 of 843

DRAFT



Page 113 of 843

DRAFT



Page 114 of 843

DRAFT



Page 115 of 843

DRAFT



Page 116 of 843

DRAFT



Page 117 of 843

DRAFT



Page 118 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C8 - Lexia® LETRS® (Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling)

Description
The LETRS® (Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling) Suite is professional learning that
provides educators and administrators with deep knowledge to be literacy and language experts in the science
of reading. Developed by renowned literacy experts Dr. Louisa Moats, Dr. Carol Tolman, and Dr. Lucy Hart
Paulson, it is a flexible literacy professional learning solution for educators and administrators. LETRS®
teaches the skills needed for developing the fundamentals of reading instruction—phonological awareness,
phonics, fluency, vocabulary, comprehension, writing, and language. 

Gap Analysis
Districts must ensure that intensive reading interventions are delivered by instructional personnel who are certified or endorsed in
reading (Section 1011.62(8)(d), F.S.), and that Summer Reading Camp instruction for grade 3 students who score Level 1 on the
statewide standardized assessment for ELA is provided by a highly effective teacher endorsed or certified in reading. The
Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling (LETRS®) is a state approved professional development course of
study for the reading endorsement. The LETRS® course of study assists educators with developing, increasing, and
demonstrating knowledge of explicit, systematic, sequential, and multi-sensory approaches to reading instruction as outlined in
the in-service requirement identified in Florida Statute s. 1012.585(3) F.S. Additionally, the LETRS® course of study assists
educators with effectively meeting the needs of students with reading difficulties and disabilities, including dyslexia outlined in
the in-service requirement for teaching students with disabilities (SWD) per Senate Bill 1108 (SB 1108). Reporting of data
elements is required by Rule 6A.6.053(7)(e) of the District K-12 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan within the
Comprehensive Management Information System as provided in Rule 6A-1.0014, F.A.C. These data elements include: 1.
Student Enrollment in Reading Intervention; 2. Reading Endorsement competency status for teachers; and 3. Reading
Certification progress status for teachers.

Previous Outcomes
Based on 2022-2023 district MTSS reporting data, 502 scholars are currently being provided tier 3 reading interventions
requiring a reading endorsed teacher. 

-

Based on 2021-2022 district MTSS reporting data, 439 scholars are currently being provided tier 3 reading interventions
requiring a reading endorsed teacher.

-

Based on 2020-2021 district Mid-Year i-Ready Diagnostic Data for grades K through sixth grade,17% of students were at-
risk for Tier 3 intervention (two or more grade levels below). 

-

Based on 2019-2020 district Mid-Year i-Ready Diagnostic Data for grades K through sixth grade,15% of students were at-
risk for Tier 3 intervention (two or more grade levels below).

-

Based on 2019-2020 district Mid-Year i-Ready Diagnostic Data for grades K through sixth grade,15% of students were at-
risk for Tier 3 intervention (two or more grade levels below).

-

Expected Outcomes
The expected outcomes include increasing the number of teachers in the district who are reading endorsed to provide reading
intervention to students identified with substantial reading deficiencies (tier 3 instruction and intervention) in accordance with
Section 1011.62(8)(d), F.S.requiring intensive reading interventions must be delivered by instructional personnel who are
certified or endorsed in reading.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Develop Great Educators and Leaders 
Strategy 1.2: Provide diagnostic and prescriptive interventions for differentiated instruction in reading.

Page 119 of 843

DRAFT



Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the purchase of Lexia® LETRS® (Language Essentials for Administrators and
Teachers of Reading and Spelling) for supporting teachers and administrators with obtaining the requirements for adding the
reading endorsement to their teaching certificate.  

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net
Heather Teto, Chief of Elem. Educ. , 904-336-6906  heather.teto@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
For 07/01/2023-06/30/2024, the fiscal impact of the Lexia® LETRS® (Language Essentials for Administrators and Teachers of
Reading and Spelling) participant materials bundle (print + license) with face-to-face or live webinar professional learning will
not exceed $300,000.00 from the 2023-2024 Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP) Evidence-Based Reading Instruction
Allocation for professional development and training material.

Review Comments

Attachments

230153 Lexia Learning.pdf

Page 120 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230153-lexia-learning.pdf


Page 121 of 843

DRAFT



Page 122 of 843

DRAFT



Page 123 of 843

DRAFT



Page 124 of 843

DRAFT



Page 125 of 843

DRAFT



Page 126 of 843

DRAFT



Page 127 of 843

DRAFT



Page 128 of 843

DRAFT



Page 129 of 843

DRAFT



Page 130 of 843

DRAFT



Page 131 of 843

DRAFT



Page 132 of 843

DRAFT



Page 133 of 843

DRAFT



Page 134 of 843

DRAFT



Page 135 of 843

DRAFT



Page 136 of 843

DRAFT



Page 137 of 843

DRAFT



Page 138 of 843

DRAFT



Page 139 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C9 - CTE Out-of-State and Overnight Field Trips

Description
 
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an
educationally sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field
trips supplement and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum
standards of the State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student travel activity which is approved as part of the
district's educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as
designated by the Superintendent.
Group Function Date Destination

FCCLA
State Conference
National Conference

April 5-8, 2024
June 29-July 3, 2024

Orlando, FL
Seattle, WA

TSA
Leadership Training Conference
State Conference
National Conference

October 25-28, 2023
Febuary 21-25, 2024
June 2024 (TBD)

Altamonte Springs, FL
Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL

FFA

Chapter President Conference
State Conference
National Conference
Sunbelt AG Expo

August 2023 (TBD)
June 10-14, 2024
November 1-4, 2023
October 17-20, 2023

Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL
Indianapolis, IN
Moultrie, GA

FBLA
Fall Leadership Conference
State Conference
National Conference

October or November 2023 TBD 
March 15-18, 2024
June 29-July 2, 2024

Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL

HOSA
State Conference
National Conference

April 4-7, 2024
June 26-29, 2024

Orlando, FL
Houston, TX

Skills USA
State Conference
National Conference

April 14-17, 2024
June 24-28, 2024

Jacksonville, FL
Atlanta, GA

*Trips might require students/teachers to travel a day prior to or after conference starting/ending date.

Gap Analysis
Career and Technical Student Organizations (CTSO) are co-curricular organizations for CTE students such as FFA, TSA, FBLA,
HOSA, SkillsUSA, FCCLA. CTSO's extend teaching and learning through innovative programs, business and community
partnerships and leadership experiences at the school, state and national levels. CTSO's are a powerful avenue for helping our
nation address key challenges such as workforce development, student achievement, economic vitality and global
competitiveness. CTSO's are authorized by the U.S. Congress in the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education
Improvement Act.

Previous Outcomes
All out of state and overnight trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that CTSO's provide students leadership development skills as well as hands on learning through
project based activities. CTSO events expose students to new experiences which increases their engagement within their
educational experience.

Page 140 of 843

DRAFT



Strategic Plan Goal
Strategy 1.3: Prepare all students to be full option graduates who are prepared for college, eligible to enlist in military services, or
able to compete in the workforce.

Recommendation
The CTE Department recommends the school board approves out-of-state or overnight travel for any events on the official CTSO
state calendars.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer, roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; (904) 336-6904

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 141 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C10 - Library Book Challenged Titles Committees Recommendations

Description
Pursuant to the April 2023 procedural update for challenged materials, the School Board shall be notified of the final decision by
the Superintendent’s designee, and at the next meeting for which there is sufficient time to provide the public with proper notice
pursuant to F.S.120, shall review the Committee/Superintendent’s Designee’s decisions as a matter of course. At the time of
review by the School Board, the decisions of the Committee and Superintendent’s Designee shall carry a presumption that they
are correct. The Challenges which have been decided shall be placed on the School Board meeting consent agenda as a single
item under which each challenged book title presented for review is listed separately but without elaboration. 
Books recommended to remain on the shelf do not obviously violate Chapter 847, other pertinent statute, or current district
policy. Using state guidelines to err on the side of caution when selecting materials for libraries, books recommended for
removal were found in possible violation of current state statute. Using those same guidelines no obvious violation of statute was
found in the books recommended for retention.
Titles listed on the 04.23 Remove from Shelf were recommended by either the Oversight or District Curriculum Council for
Reconsideration Committees for removal between September 2022 and April 2023. Titles listed on the 04.23 Return/Remain on
the Shelf Items were recommended by either the Oversight or District Curriculum Council for Reconsideration Committees
between September 2022 and April 2023 to retain the titles at the designated levels as they were not found to violate statute.
According to Florida HB 1069 (lines 270-277), each district school board is responsible for all library materials.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 3: Establish a respectful climate and culture that provides equity and access to all. Strategy 3.3 Address the needs of all
students with multiple opportunities for enrichment.

Recommendation
That the School Board approves the committee recommendations.

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

06.29.23 Remove from the Shelf.pdf

06.29.23 Return To or Remain On Shelf.pdf

Page 142 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/062923-remove-from-the-shelf.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/062923-return-to-or-remain-on-shelf.pdf


June 29 Board Agenda Item: Remove from Shelf
Title Author

33 Snowfish Adam Rapp

A Court of Frost and Starlight Sarah Maas

A Court of Silver Flames Sarah Maas

A Court of Thorns and Roses Sarah Maas

A Court of Wings and Ruin Sarah Maas

All the Things We Do in the Dark Saundra Mitchell

America: A Novel E.R. Frank

Americanah: a Novel Chimamanda Ngozi Adichie

Anatomy of a Single Girl: A Novel Daria Snadowsky

Any Way the Wind Blows Rainbow Rowell

Blankets Craig Thompson

Boy Toy Barry Lyga

Choke Chuck Palahniuk

Concrete Rose Angie Thomas

Damsel Elana Arnold

Empire of Storms Sarah Maas

Fade Lisa McMann

Flamer Mike Curato

Graceling Kristin Cashore

Grown Tiffany D. Jackson

History is All You Left Me Adam Silvera

Hold Me Closer David Levithan

Home After Dark: A Novel David Small

House of Earth and Blood Sarah Maas

I'll Give You the Sun Jandy Nelson

Julian is a Mermaid Jessica Love

Kingdom of Ash Sarah Maas

L8R, G8R Lauren Myracle

Leah on the Offbeat Becky Albertaui

Life is Funny: A Novel E.R. Frank

Lighter Than My Shadow Katie Green

Like a Love Story Abdi Naze

Living Dead Girl Elizabeth Scott

Milk and Honey Rupi Kaur

Neanderthal Opens the Door to the UniversePreston Norton

Out of Darkness Ashley Pérez

People Kill People Ellen Hopkins

Perfectly Good White Boy Carrie Mesrobian

Ramona Blue Julie Murphy

Ready Player One Ernest Cline

Red at the Bone Jacqueline Woodson

Red Hood Elana Arnold

Sold Patricia McCormick

The Black Flamingo Dean Alta

The Handmaid's Tail: Graphic Novel Margaret Atwood

The Haters Jesse Andrews

The Lovely Bones Alice Sebold

The Nowhere Girls Amy Reed

The Sun and Her Flowers Rupi Kaur

We Are the Ants Shaun David Hutchinson

You Too? 25 Voices Share Their Me Too StoriesJanet Gurtler

Page 143 of 843

DRAFT



June 29, 2023 Board Agenda Item: Return to/Remain on Shelf

Title Author
10,000 Dresses Marcus Ewert

A Certain Slant of Light Laura Whitcomb

A Family is a Family is a Family Sara O'Leary

A Good Kind of Trouble Lisa Moore Ramee

A Little Piece of Ground Elizabeth Laird

A Song Below Water Bethany Morrow

Ace of Spades Faridah áAbíké-Íyímídé

Al Capone Does My Shirts Gennifer Choldenko

All Because You Matter Tami Charles

All the Bright Places Jennifer Niven

Alt Ed Catherine Atkins

American Born Chinese Gene Luen Yang

And Tango Makes Three Justin Richardson & Peter Parnell

Angel of Greenwood Randi Pink

Ask the Passengers A.S. King

Ban This Book Alan Gratz

Banned Book Club Kim Hyun Sook & Ryan Estrada

Baseball Saved Us Ken Mochizuki

Beetle & the Hollowbones Aliza Layne

Before I Die Jenny Downham

Before I Let Go Marieke Nijkamp

Before She Was Harriet Lesa Cline-Ransome

Between the World and Me Ta-Nehisi Coates

Black Boy Joy Edited by Kwame Mbalia

Black Brother, Black Brother Jewell Parker Rhodes

Blended Sharon Draper

Boy Meets Boy David Levithan

Can I Touch Your Hair Irene Latham

Cemetery Boys Aiden Thomas

Cheer Up! Love and Pompoms Crystal Frasier

Cinderella is Dead Kalynn Bayron

City of Heavenly Fire Cassandra Clare

Class Act Jerry Craft

Clockwork Princess Cassandra Clare

Closer to Nowhere Ellen Hopkins

Concealed Christina Diaz Gonzalez

Crown of Midnight Sarah Maas

Cut Patricia McCormick

Dear Justyce Nic Stone

Dear Martin Nic Stone

Death Wind William Bell

Page 144 of 843

DRAFT



June 29, 2023 Board Agenda Item: Return to/Remain on Shelf

Title Author
Drama Raina Teigmeier

Dreamers Yuyi Morales

Embrace Jessica Shirvington

Every Day David Levithan

Extra Credit Andrew Clements

Fable Adrienne Young

Fangirl Rainbow Rowell

Far From the Tree: How Children and Their Parents Learn to 
Accept One Another Andrew Solomon or Laurie Calkhoven

Five Nights at Freddy's Fazbear Frights Scott Cawthon & Kira Breed-Wrisley

From the Desk of Zoe Washington Janae Marks

Front Desk Kelly Yang

Gabi: A Girl in Pieces Isasbel Quintero

George Alex Gino

Ghost Boys Jewell Parker Rhodes

Girl in Pieces Kathleen Glasglow

Go Ask Alice Anonymous

Gradad's Camper Harry Woodgate

Grit Gillian French

Ground Zero Alan Gratz

Heartstopper 1 Alice Oseman

Heartstopper 2 Alice Oseman

Heartstopper 3 Alice Oseman

Her Royal Highness, #2 Rachel Hawkins

Heroine Mindy McGinnis

Hope Nation Edited by Rose Brock

How to Be Antiracist Ibram Kendi

Huda F Are You Huda Fahmy

Hurricane Child Kacen Callender

I am Alfonso Jones Tony Medina

I Am Not Your Perfect Mexican Daughter Erika L. Sanchez

I is for Immigrants Selina Alko

If You Come Softly Jacqueline Woodson

Infinity Son Adam Silvera

Instructions For Dancing Nicola Yoon

Islandborn Junot Diaz

Katie the Catsitter, Best Friends for Never Colleen AF Venable

Kneel Candace Buford

Lady Midnight Cassandra Clare

Laura Dean Keeps Breaking Up With Me Mariko Tamaki

Light It Up Kekla Magoon

Page 145 of 843

DRAFT



June 29, 2023 Board Agenda Item: Return to/Remain on Shelf

Title Author
Lily and Dunkin Donna Gephart

Literary Newsmakers for Students V.01 Editor: Anne Marie Hacht

Long Way Down Jason Reynolds

Making Friends Kristen Gudsnuk

Making Friends: Back to the Drawing Board Kristen Gudsnuk

Making Friends:Third Times a Charm Kristen Gudsnuk

Marvin Redpost: Is He a Girl? Louis Sachar

Masked (Electronic Resource) Norah McClintock

Midnight Jewel Richelle Mead

My Life as an Ice Cream Sandwich Ibi Zoboi

New Kid Jerry Craft

Not Otherwise Specified Hannah Moskowitz

Notes from a Young Black Chef Kwame Onwuachi

Notes From Young Black Chef: Adapted for Young Adults Kwame Anwuachi

Novels for Students Commonly Studies Novels V. 55 Editor: Kristin B. Mallegg

Novels for Students Commonly Studies Novels V. 60 Editors: Melissa Sue Hill and Michelle Lee

Novels for Students Commonly Studies Novels V. 61 Editors: Melissa Sue Hill and Michelle Lee

Novels for Students: Volume 9 Deborah A. Stanley

Num8ers Rachel Ward

One Person, No Vote: How Not All Voters are Treated Equally Carol Anderson

Percepolis Marjane Satrapi

Percy Jackson's Greek Gods Rick Riordan

Protest Movement: Then and Now Eric Braun

Punching the Air Ibi Zoboi

Radiant Child: The Story of Young Artist Jean-Michel Basquiat Javaka Steptoe

Red: A Crayon's Story Michael Hall

Rules Cynthia Lord

Rumble Ellen Hopkins

Russian Hacking in American Elections Duchess Harris

Scars Cheryl Rainfield

Separate is Never Equal Duncan Tontiuh

Shadowshaper Daniel Jose Older

Shiver Maggie Stiefvater

Someday David Levithan

Something Happened in our Town Marianne Celano

Something to Say Lisa Ramée

Spider-Man in Face-to-Face Stan Lee

Stamped (for kids): Racism, Antiracism, and You Ibram X. Kendi and Jason Reynolds

Stamped From the Beginning Ibram X. Kendi

Stamped: Racism, Antiracism, and You Jason Reynolds

Stella McCall Hoyle

Page 146 of 843

DRAFT



June 29, 2023 Board Agenda Item: Return to/Remain on Shelf

Title Author
Stella Brings the Family Miriam Baker Schiffer

Storm and Fury Jennifer Armentrout

Sulwe Lupita Nyong'o

Take the Mic Jason Reynolds and Samira Ahmed

The 57 Bus Dasha Slater

The Adventures of Honey and Leon Alan Cumming

The Assassin's Blade Sarah Maas

The Beast and the Bethany Jack Meggitt-Phillips

The Black Friend: On Being a Better White Person Frederick Joseph

The Boy and Girl Who Broke the World: A Novel Amy Reed

The Detour S.A. Bodeen

The Elephant in the Room Holly Goldberg Sloan

The Fire This Time: A New Generation Speaks About Race Jasmyn Ward

The Girl From the Sea Molly Knox Ostertag

The Glittering Court Richelle Mead

The God Box Alex Sanchez

The Hate U Give Angie Thomas

The Heartbreak Bakery A.R. Capetta

The House on Mango Street Sandra Cisneros

The Lotterys More or Less Emma Donoghue

The Lotterys Plus One Emma Donoghue

The Music of What Happens Bill Konigsherg

The Only Black Girls in Town Brandy Colbert

The Other Talk: Reckoning with our White Priviledge Brendan Kiely

The Prince and the Dressmaker Jen Wang

The Remarkable Journey of Coyote Sunsrise Dan Gemeinhart

The Sacrifice of Darkness Roxane Gay

The Season of Styx Malone Kekla Magoon

The Truth Is NoNiequa Ramos

The Upside of Unrequited Rebecca Albertalli

Thirteen Reasons Why Jay Asher

This Book is Anti-Racist: 20 Lessons on How to Wake Up Tiffany Jewell

Tiger Eyes Judy Blume

Tower of Dawn Sarah Maas

Trans Teen Survival Guide Owl Fisher

TTYL Lauren Myracle

Twisted Laurie Halse Anderson

Uncomfortable Conversations with a Black Boy Emamanuel Acho

Unravel Me Tahereh Mafi

Wayward Son Rainbow Rowell

We Are Here to Stay: Voices of Undocumented Young Adults Susan Kuklin

Page 147 of 843

DRAFT



June 29, 2023 Board Agenda Item: Return to/Remain on Shelf

Title Author
We Are Not Yet Equal: Understanding Our Racial Divide Carol Anderson

We Are Okay Nina LaCour

We Rise, We Resist, We Raise our Voices Wade & Cheryl Hudson

When I Was the Greatest Jason Reynolds

Where She Went Gayle Forman

Wintergirls Laurie Halse Anderson

Woke: A Young Poet's Call to Justice Mahogeny L. Browne

You Asked for Perfect Laura Silverman

Zen Shorts Jon J. Muth

Zenobia July Lisa Bunker

Page 148 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C11 - MOA with DOH-Clay & State of Florida, CDC Crisis Response Cooperative Agreement ( CoAG) providing 11 extra
nurses to assist in assigned schools

Description
This is an agreement between Clay County District Schools and the State of Florida, the Department of Health, and the Clay
County Department of Health. The CoAG agreement is a grant with funds allocated to support Nursing and Mental Health
Professional staff for use in school systems across the state. The State Health Office, School Health Program will contract with a
staffing agency to provide these staffing resources statewide. The requirements for provider nursing staff must be licensed
professionals such as registered nurses or licensed practical nurses with a clear and active nursing license to practice nursing in
the State of Florida. Have a minimum of one year of experience working in the nursing field, experience in providing nursing
services to children and adolescents, professional communication skills, and the ability to provide comprehensive nursing
services for students. Each individual staff provided by the staffing agency will have documentation that the contractor has
completed the department's approved school nurse training. They will also complete any additional required training applicable
to their specific local School Health programs. 
 

Gap Analysis
Provide additional nurses and nursing services to schools listed on the CoAG grant mission request. All Contracted nurses in this
CoAG grant will adhere to Clay County District Schools, School Health Services Program, and all procedures and protocols set
forth. 

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
This agreement will provide additional nursing staff to schools in need. 

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve as submitted. 

Contact
Laura Fogarty, Director of Climate & Culture, laura.fogarty@myoneclay.net, 904-336-6513, Kristin Riebe, Coordinator of
Nursing Services, kristin.riebe@myoneclay.net, 904-336-6884

Financial Impact
N/A

Review Comments

Attachments

COAG2023 STAFFING MOA  CHD and CCDS Approved by LEGAL6.8.2023.pdf

Page 149 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/coag2023-staffing-moa-chd-and-ccds-approved-by-legal682023.pdf


 

Page 1 of 5  

Memorandum of Agreement Between 

The State of Florida, Department of Health,  

Clay County Health Department  

And The School Board of Clay County, Florida 

 
This Memorandum of Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into between the STATE OF FLORIDA, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, CLAY COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT, hereinafter referred to as 

the "DOH-CLAY," and THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, Florida, hereinafter referred to as 

the " SCHOOL BOARD,” jointly referred to as the “Parties”. 

WHEREAS, the SCHOOL BOARD provides school health services to students in Clay County 

(“County”), in accordance with its approved school health services plan, which includes the use of 

licensed nursing and/or mental health professionals; and 

WHEREAS, the DOH-CLAY is responsible for the public health system in the County and engages 

contracted medical providers, including registered nurses, licensed practical nurses and licensed 

mental health counselors to provide health-related services, including school health nursing and 

mental health services; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to collaborate to enhance students’ health and well-being in the County 

by providing the SCHOOL BOARD additional licensed nursing and/or mental health professionals to 

further support the provision of school health services to their students.  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and other consideration, the sufficiency 

of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

I. Recitals:  The above recitals are incorporated and made a part of this Agreement.  

II. Statutory Authority: section 381.005 and Chapters 1003 and 1006, Florida Statutes.  

III. Term: This Agreement shall begin on the date on which the Agreement has been signed by 

both Parties and will remain in effect from the date signed by the last signor until June 10, 

2024, subject to the availability of funds, unless modified in writing by the Parties.  

IV. Parties’ Responsibilities:  

A. The DOH-CLAY agrees to: 

1) Assign a DOH-CLAY School Health Coordinator, Jacqueline Copeland, to 

coordinate services under this Agreement in collaboration with the Clay County 

District Schools Coordinator of Nursing Services, Kristin Riebe. 

2) Provide the contracted staff as available per the DOH-CLAY’s CoAg2023 

mission request approval.   

3) Require contracted providers to have all appropriate and necessary licensures 

and certificates required under Florida law. 

Ensure the Contractor completes Level 2 background screening and drug 

screening prior to assigning a contracted provider for placement at the 

SCHOOL BOARD. 

Page 150 of 843

DRAFT



 

Page 2 of 5  

B. The SCHOOL BOARD agrees to: 

1) Assign an employee to coordinate with the DOH-CLAY’s assigned School 

Health Coordinator, Jacqueline Copeland. At the time of signing said 

Coordinator of Nursing Services with the SCHOOL BOARD is Kristin Riebe. 

2) Coordinate with the DOH-CLAY’s School Health Coordinator to schedule dates 

and times for contracted providers to report for orientation and training. 

3) Provide training to contracted providers on local policies, procedures, and 

guidelines to be followed to complete assigned tasks, including but not limited 

to maintaining medical records that shall be in strict compliance with all federal, 

state, and local regulations. 

4) Provide adequate space and furniture for use by the contracted providers. 

Provision of space and furniture will be dependent upon site location and 

available funding.  

5) Assign contracted staff to specific schools within the County.  Once assigned to 

a particular school, contracted staff shall not be reassigned without the DOH-

CLAY’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld if 

reassignment is requested by the School Health Coordinator. 

6) Provide supervision and oversight of assigned contracted providers to ensure 

compliance with policies and procedures and completion of assigned tasks. 

7) Grant contracted providers access to enrolled students for the provisions of 

school health services.  

8) Notify the DOH-CLAY in writing if additional screening requirements must be 
met prior to the contracted provider being allowed to begin services under the 
Agreement.  

   
9) Prepare monthly services reports, reported by grade level, and submit them to 

DOH-CLAY no later than 15 days from the end of each month. Reports must 
include: 

 

a. For nursing staff:  The aggregate number of the below services 

performed in each month by each contracted provider: 

 

1.       Number of Medication Administrations (5030) 

2. Number of First Aid Administration (5031) 

3. Number of Licensed Practical Nurse Services (4050) 

4. Number of Nursing Assessment and Counseling (5000) 

5. Number of Health Record Reviews (0598) 

 

b. Ensure the following information is provided for mental health staff: 

 

1. The aggregate number of students served in the month by each 

contracted provider, reported by grade level. 

2. The aggregate number of referrals provided. 

Page 151 of 843

DRAFT



 

Page 3 of 5  

3. The aggregate number of parent educational workshops 

provided. 

 

 

V. Special Provisions 

 

A. Confidentiality. Where applicable the Parties will comply with the Health Insurance 

Portability and Accountability Act as well as regulations promulgated thereunder (45 

CFR Parts 160, 162, and 164). 

 

B. Liability.  Each party will be liable for any damages resulting from the negligence of its 
employees or agents acting within the scope of their employment or agency, in 
accordance with Section 768.28, Fla. Stat.  Nothing herein is intended to waive 
sovereign immunity.  Nothing herein shall be construed as consent by any party to be 
sued by a third party in any matter arising out of any contract.  

 
C. Modifications. Modifications of this Agreement shall only be valid when they have been 

reduced to writing, agreed to by the Parties, and duly signed by both Parties. 
 

D. Termination: 

1. Termination at Will: This Agreement may be terminated by either party without 

cause upon no less than 30 calendar days’ notice in writing to the other party 

unless a lesser time is mutually agreed upon in writing by both Parties.  

2. Termination Because of Lack of Funds: In the event funds to finance DOH-

CLAY’s engagement of contracted providers becomes unavailable, the DOH-

CLAY may terminate this Agreement upon no less than 24 hours’ notice in 

writing to the SCHOOL BOARD Notice.  The DOH-CLAY will be the final 

authority as to the availability and adequacy of funds.  

3. Termination for Breach: This Agreement may be terminated for either party's 

non-performance upon no less than 24 hours’ notice in writing by the non-

breaching party. Waiver of breach of any provisions of this Agreement shall not 

be deemed to be a waiver of any other breach and shall not be construed to be 

a modification of the terms of this Agreement. 

E. Independent Contractor. By this Agreement, the Parties intend to establish between 

them the relationship of mutually independent contractors. Each party and the officers, 

employees, agents, subcontractors or other contractors thereof shall not be deemed by 

virtue of the Agreement to be officers, agents, or employees of the other party. 

 

F. Cooperation with the Inspector General:  The Parties acknowledge and understand 

that they have a duty to and will cooperate with the Inspector General in any 

investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing, pursuant to Section 20.055 (5), 

Florida Statutes. 

 

Page 152 of 843

DRAFT



 

Page 4 of 5  

G. Contacts and Notices:  All, notices or correspondence to be given under this 

Agreement shall be made in writing and mailed, emailed or hand-delivered to the other 

party at its address set forth below: 

For DOH-CLAY: 

Jacqueline Copeland, Senior Community Health Nursing Supervisor/                   
School Health Coordinator 

Florida Department of Health in Clay County 

1845 Town Center Boulevard, Suite 405 

Fleming Island, FL 32003 

(904) 529-2870 

email: Jacqueline.Copeland@flhealth.gov 
 

For SCHOOL BOARD: 

Kristin Riebe, Coordinator of Nursing Services 

Clay County District Schools 

900 Walnut Street  

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

Phone: (904)336-6884  

email: Kristin.riebe@myoneclay.net 
 

H. Controlling Law: This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida 

without regard to conflicts of law provisions.  Venue for any legal action arising from 

this Agreement shall be in Clay County, Florida. 

 

I. Attachments; Counterparts; Facsimile: Each attachment, exhibit or other document 

referenced herein and/or attached to this Agreement is incorporated herein as if the 

same was set out in full in the text of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be 

executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all 

of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.  Delivery of an executed 

signature page of the is Agreement by facsimile or electronic transmission shall be 

effective as delivery or a manually executed counterpart hereof.   

 

J. All Terms and Conditions Included: This Agreement contains all the terms and 

conditions agreed upon by the Parties. There are no provisions, terms, conditions, or 

obligations other than those contained herein, and the Agreement shall supersede all 

previous communications, representations, or agreements, either verbal or written 

between the Parties. If any term or provision of the Agreement is found to be illegal or 

unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and 

such term or provision shall be stricken. 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this five-page Agreement to be executed by 

their undersigned officials as duly authorized. 

 

Page 153 of 843

DRAFT



 

Page 5 of 5  

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH    THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, 
CLAY COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT FLORIDA 
 
______________________________  _________________________________ 
Heather Huffman, MS, RDN, LD/N, IBCLC  Ashley Gilhousen 
 
______________________________  _________________________________ 
Administrator      Board Chair 
 
______________________________  _________________________________ 
Date       Date

 

Page 154 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C12 - Review & Approve the renewal of the District's third party adjusters,  Johns Eastern Company

Description
Three Year renewals... Workers' Compensation pricing is not increasing, and the Liability increase is in line with market value.
This Renewal pricing will remain the same for the next three years. Claims above 231 will be billed proportionately.
2023-2024 Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935     Automobile, general liability, and property claims up to
35 claims   $21,071
2024-2025  Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935    Automobile, general liability, and property claims up to
35 claims   $21,071
2025-2026  Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935    Automobile, general liability, and property claims up to
35 claims   $21,071

Gap Analysis
The District has a mandatory obligation to contract with a TPA to assist in the management of our self-insurance programs.
 JECO is a proven industry leader in providing expert claims adjusting and administration services.  Their TPA services assist the
District with workers' compensation claims, medical bill reviews, as well as major property and casualty claims.  The District has
utilized JECO's services since 2000. During this time, their pricing has stayed competitive.
2014-2015   220 Claims   $85,098
2015-2016   220 Claims   $87,651
2016-2017   220 Claims   $87,651
2017-2018   220 Claims   $87,651
2018-2019   220 Claims   $87,651
2019-2020   220 Claims  $92,638
2020-2021   220 Claims  $92,638
2021-2022   220 Claims  $92,638
2022-2023   220 Claims  $92,638
 
 

Previous Outcomes
It has been normal practice to negotiate pricing with JECO and present a three-year addendum to the original contract dated July
2000.  This is our 13th extension with JECO. 

Expected Outcomes
The three-year extension is intended to provide the Clay County District Schools with the type claims management that is needed
to maintain business as required by Florida laws & statutes while minimizing the district's exposure to losses.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
To obtain the School Board's approval and acceptance of the Superintendent's recommendation of  Johns Eastern Company's
Service Contract for Multiple Lines Claims Handling, 3-year Third Party Adjuster renewal.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs 284-6571 susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Page 155 of 843

DRAFT



Financial Impact
$306,018 (total of 3-year agreement).   Funded from Self Insurance Program
* Year 1 = $102,006
* Year 2 = $102,006
* Year 3 = $102,006

Review Comments

Attachments

230164 Johns Eastern Co.pdf

Page 156 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/230164-johns-eastern-co.pdf


Page 157 of 843

DRAFT



Page 158 of 843

DRAFT



Page 159 of 843

DRAFT



Page 160 of 843

DRAFT



Page 161 of 843

DRAFT



Page 162 of 843

DRAFT



Page 163 of 843

DRAFT



Page 164 of 843

DRAFT



Page 165 of 843

DRAFT



Page 166 of 843

DRAFT



Page 167 of 843

DRAFT



Page 168 of 843

DRAFT



Page 169 of 843

DRAFT



Page 170 of 843

DRAFT



Page 171 of 843

DRAFT



Page 172 of 843

DRAFT



Page 173 of 843

DRAFT



Page 174 of 843

DRAFT



Page 175 of 843

DRAFT



Page 176 of 843

DRAFT



Page 177 of 843

DRAFT



Page 178 of 843

DRAFT



Page 179 of 843

DRAFT



Page 180 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C13 - Approve the 2023-2024 District's Property/Casualty/Active Assailant Insurance renewal submitted by Arthur J. Gallagher
& Co. (broker)

Description
Annual renewal of the District's Property/Casualty/Active Assailant Insurance policies

Gap Analysis
Annually, the District undergoes a comprehensive analysis of its current insurable property and personnel.  Our broker (Arthur J.
Gallagher) obtains competitive quotes based on current insurance trends and needs for the next fiscal year.  The goal is to obtain
the best coverage possible while maintaining a manageable budget for the coverage.  This year, the policy includes renewal for
Property, General Liability, Auto Liability, School Leaders, Employment Practices Liability, Worker's Compensation, Crime,
Cyber Risk, Boiler & Machinery, Storage Tank Liability, and Active Assailant Liability.
The overall cost is a 30% increase of $487,617 from the prior year's premium.  The increase is primarily due to the rise in
property values, payroll expenditures, and active assailant premiums.

Previous Outcomes
It is a standard operating practice to negotiate and present insurance renewals for approval based on needs, trends, and financial
availability.
2015-2016 = $1,200,697
2016-2017 - $1,040,615
2017-2018 - $1,045,627
2018-2019  $1,095,983
2019-2020   $1,160,753
2020-2021   $1,229,394  
2021-2022   $1,347,185
2022-2023   $1,629,327 
2023-2024   $2,116,944

Expected Outcomes
To approve the Superintendent's recommendation to renew the 2023-2024 Property & Casualty Insurance Program option #2 as
presented.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
To obtain the School Board's approval of the District's Property, Liability, and Active Assailant insurance renewal policies,
option #2 as presented.

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs 336-6721  susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Estimated at  $2,116,944 funded through Self Insurance Program

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 181 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C14 - 2023-24 PowerSchool Contract Renewals

Description
These Contracts will allow continued use of Powerschool products required for 2023-24 Fiscal Year.

Gap Analysis
Maintaining these contracts will ensure continued annual renewal discount of 1.5% per year (approximately $5330.89 per year
savings.)

Previous Outcomes
PowerSchool supplies Clay County Schools with ERP software (Business Plus), Evaluation and Professional Development
Documentation and Record keeping (Elevate), HR Hiring and Onboarding software (Talent Ed Hire and Records and School
Spring Job Board access.)
These products have been in use in Clay County since 2017 but over the years all products have been purchased by PowerSchool.

Expected Outcomes
Upon Approval Clay County District Schools will continue with all services provided by PowerSchool resulting in cost savings
as well as time savings for individuals involved with invoices and purchase orders.

Strategic Plan Goal
GOAL 2 - Improve management of district-wide operations and facilities
Strategy 2.2 Improve efficiency and reliability of operations to all district stakeholders
Strategy 2.4 Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability

Recommendation
Approve the proposal in its entirety.

Contact
Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affiars

Financial Impact
$510,447.37

Review Comments

Attachments

Q-735984-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736007-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736018-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736047-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q-736058-202324 (1) (1).pdf

Q748291.pdf

Q-753599-202324 ELF CLay (1) (2).pdf

Page 182 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-735984-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736007-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736018-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736047-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-736058-202324-1-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q748291.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/q-753599-202324-elf-clay-1-2.pdf


150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 24-JAN-2023
Quote #: Q-735984-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Custom
Development M/S

Amazon to Punch
Out (PO)

1.00 Hour USD 759.14

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 759.14

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 759.14

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for 
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then 
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not 
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the 
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be 
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that 
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable 
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will 
be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum 
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between 
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.   

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE 
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

Page 1 of 2

Page 183 of 843

DRAFT



 
 
POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL
  
Signature: Signature:

\s1\
 

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
 \n1\
Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:

\t1\
Date: 24-JAN-2023 Date:

 \d1\                   
                         

PO Number:  ___________________________  

Page 2 of 2

Page 184 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 24-JAN-2023
Quote #: Q-736007-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Unified Admin BusinessPlus General Ledger Hosting 1.00 Students USD 131,259.56

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 131,259.56

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 131,259.56

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for 
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then 
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not 
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the 
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be 
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that 
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable 
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will 
be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum 
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between 
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.   

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE 
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

Page 1 of 2

Page 185 of 843

DRAFT



 
POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL
  
Signature: Signature:

\s1\
 

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
 \n1\
Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:

\t1\
Date: 24-JAN-2023 Date:

 \d1\                   
                         

PO Number:  ___________________________  

Page 2 of 2

Page 186 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 24-JAN-2023
Quote #: Q-736018-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Evaluation Choice - Certificated 3,100.00 Each USD 88,908.00

PD Choice - Certificated License 3,100.00 User USD 68,231.00

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 157,139.00

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 157,139.00

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for 
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then 
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not 
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the 
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be 
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that 
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable 
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will 
be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum 
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between 
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.   

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE 
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

Page 1 of 2

Page 187 of 843

DRAFT



 
 
POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL
  
Signature: Signature:

\s1\
 

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
 \n1\
Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:

\t1\
Date: 24-JAN-2023 Date:

 \d1\                   
                         

PO Number:  ___________________________  

Page 2 of 2

Page 188 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 24-JAN-2023
Quote #: Q-736047-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

UT Applicant Tracking 36,000.00 Students USD 14,400.00

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 14,400.00

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 14,400.00

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for 
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then 
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not 
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the 
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be 
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that 
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable 
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will 
be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum 
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between 
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.   

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE 
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

Page 1 of 2

Page 189 of 843

DRAFT



 
POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL
  
Signature: Signature:

\s1\
 

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
 \n1\
Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:

\t1\
Date: 24-JAN-2023 Date:

 \d1\                   
                         

PO Number:  ___________________________  

Page 2 of 2

Page 190 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 24-JAN-2023
Quote #: Q-736058-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Budgeting M/S 1.00 Students USD 5,036.99

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Form Printing M/S 1.00 Students USD 1,383.28

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Form Printing M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Click, Drag and Drill M/S 1.00 Students USD 5,853.32

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Job/Project Ledger M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Purchasing M/S 1.00 Students USD 5,036.99

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Work Order Management M/S 1.00 Students USD 0.00

Unified Admin BusinessPlus PunchOut M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Documents Online M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Payroll M/S 1.00 Students USD 6,282.34

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Module Software M/S 1.00 Year USD 0.00

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Accounts Recvble/Cash Recpt M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Regulatory Reporting M/S 1.00 Students USD 14,326.38

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Work Order Management M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Contract Management M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Fixed Assets M/S 1.00 Students USD 3,598.06

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Human Resources M/S 1.00 Students USD 6,282.34

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Accounts Payable/Bank Recon M/S 1.00 Students USD 5,036.99

Unified Admin Analytics BusinessPlus M/S 1.00 Students USD 15,033.86

Unified Admin BusinessPlus General Ledger M/S 1.00 Students USD 8,995.75

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 102,052.72

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Page 1 of 2

Page 191 of 843

DRAFT



Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 102,052.72

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for 
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then 
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not 
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the 
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be 
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that 
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable 
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will 
be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum 
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between 
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.   

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE 
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL

Signature: Signature:
\s1\

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
\n1\

Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:
\t1\

Date: 24-JAN-2023 Date:
 \d1\

PO Number:  ___________________________

Page 2 of 2

Page 192 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 9-MAR-2023
Quote #: Q-748291-4

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Unified Talent Records 36,000.00 Students USD 56,880.00

UT Records Data Export Custom 1.00 Each USD 0.00

UT Records Data Import Custom 1.00 Each USD 0.00

UT Records Integration 1.00 Each USD 0.00

Unified Talent (TalentEd) Perform Enterprise Classified 36,000.00 Students USD 39,600.00

UT SchoolSpring Job Board Unlimited 36,000.00 Students USD 6,120.00

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 102,600.00

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 102,600.00

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for
the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then
current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not
been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the
date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be
valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act
(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that
purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable
agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will
be expired after 12 months. 

This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum
to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between
PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.

Page 1 of 2

Page 193 of 843

DRAFT



THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 

POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL

Signature: Signature:
\s1\

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
\n1\

Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:
\t1\

Date: 3-FEB-2023 Date:
 \d1\

PO Number:  ___________________________

Page 2 of 2

Page 194 of 843

DRAFT



150 Parkshore Dr, Folsom, CA 95630
Remit Email: kathy.morash@powerschool.com
Quote Date: 7-FEB-2023
Quote #: Q-753599-1

Prepared By: Kathy Morash Customer Contact: John Mescall

Customer Name: Clay County School District - FL Title: ITS Coordinator

Contract Term: 12 Months Address: 900 Walnut Street

Start Date: 1-AUG-2023 City: Green Cove Springs

End Date: 31-JUL-2024 State/Province: Florida

Billing Frequency: Annually Zip Code: 32043

Phone #: (904) 336-9581

 Product Description Quantity   Unit       Unit Price     Extended Price

 Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024
License and Subscription Fees

Unified Admin BusinessPlus Custom
Development M/S

ELF Layouts
Created for 3 AP
Check Stocks

1.00 Hour USD 2,236.95

License and Subscription Totals:  USD 2,236.95

Quote Total

Initial Term 1-AUG-2023 - 31-JUL-2024

Amount To Be
Invoiced

USD 2,236.95

Fees charged in subsequent periods after the duration of this quote will be subject to a 3.5% annual uplift over the subscription fees for

the then-current subscription period. On-Going PowerSchool Subscription/Maintenance and Support Fees are invoiced at the then

current rates and enrollment per existing terms of the executed agreement between the parties. Any applicable state sales tax has not

been added to this quote. Subscription Start and expiration Dates shall be as set forth above, which may be delayed based upon the

date that PowerSchool receives your purchase order. If this quote includes promotional pricing, such promotional pricing may not be

valid for the entire duration of this quote. All invoices shall be paid in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act

(218.70, st seq., Florida Statutes). All purchase orders must contain the exact quote number stated within. Customer agrees that

purchase orders are for administrative purposes only and do not impact the terms or conditions reflected in this quote and the applicable

agreement. Any credit provided by PowerSchool is nonrefundable and must be used within 12 months of issuance. Unused credits will

be expired after 12 months. This renewal quote will continue to be subject to and incorporate the terms and conditions of the Addendum

to the MSA and the PowerSchool Main Services (MSA) (January 1, 2021 version), known as the Master Agreement between

PowerSchool Group, LLC ("PowerSchool") and Clay County School District - FL ("Customer") entered into on or around July 21, 2022.

THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE  
BOUND BY ITS TERMS.

Page 1 of 2

Page 195 of 843

DRAFT



THE PARTIES BELOW ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ THE AGREEMENT, UNDERSTAND IT AND AGREE TO BE
BOUND BY ITS TERMS. 
 
 
POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC Clay County School District - FL
  
Signature: Signature:

\s1\
 

Printed Name: Eric Shander Printed Name:
 \n1\
Title: Chief Financial Officer Title:

\t1\
Date: 7-FEB-2023 Date:

 \d1\                   
                         

PO Number:  ___________________________  

Page 2 of 2

Page 196 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C15 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2023-2024

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district department and division is staffed for the 2023-2024 school year.
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocation changes are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904)336-6722, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Reflected in attachment.

Review Comments

Attachments

23-24 Allocation Summary  06.29.23.pdf

Page 197 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/23-24-allocation-summary-062923_2.pdf


Page 198 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C16 - Monthly Financial Reports for May, 2023

Description
The Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008, are submitted for the use and consideration of the Board
for the month ending May 31, 2023.
 

Gap Analysis
The Monthly Financial Reports show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.
 

Previous Outcomes
It has been a past (normal) practice to provide Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008.
 

Expected Outcomes
The Monthly Financial Reports are provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's finances.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Strategy 2.4:  Ensures effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board accept for use and consideration the Superintendent's Monthly Financial Reports for May,
2023.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The Monthly Financial Reports reflect the year-to-date results of operations.

Review Comments

Attachments

May 2023 Monthly Board Property Reports.pdf

May 2023 Monthly Board Financial Reports.pdf

Contracts $50,000 - $100,000 Signed by Superintendent.pdf

Page 199 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2023-monthly-board-property-reports.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2023-monthly-board-financial-reports.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/contracts-50000-100000-signed-by-superintendent_6.pdf


Page 200 of 843

DRAFT



Page 201 of 843

DRAFT



Page 202 of 843

DRAFT



Page 203 of 843

DRAFT



Page 204 of 843

DRAFT



Page 205 of 843

DRAFT



Page 206 of 843

DRAFT



Page 207 of 843

DRAFT



Page 208 of 843

DRAFT



Page 209 of 843

DRAFT



Page 210 of 843

DRAFT



Page 211 of 843

DRAFT



Page 212 of 843

DRAFT



Page 213 of 843

DRAFT



Page 214 of 843

DRAFT



Page 215 of 843

DRAFT



Page 216 of 843

DRAFT



Page 217 of 843

DRAFT



Page 218 of 843

DRAFT



Page 219 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C17 - Budget Amendment Report for May 31, 2023

Description
Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board approve amendments to the
district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in the accounts prescribed by the State Board form are changed
from the original budget approved by the School Board.  The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our
budget to reflect changes as outlined in the attached statements.

Gap Analysis
The monthly budget amendment show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements. 

Previous Outcomes
Reported as per Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006. 

Expected Outcomes
The monthly budget amendment is provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's budget.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal: 2: Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Approval of the Budget Amendments for May 2023 as presented.

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs

Financial Impact
See attached statements for a complete analysis of the financial impact.

Review Comments

Attachments

Budget Amendment May 2023.pdf

Page 220 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/budget-amendment-may-2023.pdf


Page 221 of 843

DRAFT



Page 222 of 843

DRAFT



Page 223 of 843

DRAFT



Page 224 of 843

DRAFT



Page 225 of 843

DRAFT



Page 226 of 843

DRAFT



Page 227 of 843

DRAFT



Page 228 of 843

DRAFT



Page 229 of 843

DRAFT



Page 230 of 843

DRAFT



Page 231 of 843

DRAFT



Page 232 of 843

DRAFT



Page 233 of 843

DRAFT



Page 234 of 843

DRAFT



Page 235 of 843

DRAFT



Page 236 of 843

DRAFT



Page 237 of 843

DRAFT



Page 238 of 843

DRAFT



Page 239 of 843

DRAFT



Page 240 of 843

DRAFT



Page 241 of 843

DRAFT



Page 242 of 843

DRAFT



Page 243 of 843

DRAFT



Page 244 of 843

DRAFT



Page 245 of 843

DRAFT



Page 246 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C18 - DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT JUNE, 2023

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted. These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair. These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated. Deletions are for property items received in
the month of May, 2023.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal. Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes. All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by The School Board of Clay County prior to disposition - School Board Policy Section 5.03C.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report - JUNE, 2023 as submitted

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property. Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property

Review Comments

Attachments

DELETION OF CERTAIN ITEMS REPORT JUNE, 2023.pdf

Page 247 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-of-certain-items-report-june-2023.pdf


Page 248 of 843

DRAFT



Page 249 of 843

DRAFT



Page 250 of 843

DRAFT



Page 251 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C19 - BID Award

Description
Award BID as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
a. Exceptional Student Educational Services - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-93:  Contract Period is for a three (3) year period from
July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026 with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year contract periods upon mutual
agreement, in writing. Bid established to provide all labor, materials, transportation and supervision for sign language, speech,
mental, behavioral, occupational and physical therapy services countywide, on an as-needed basis. The vendors awarded are the
lowest, most responsive and responsible bidders meeting specifications.

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products to ensure our students and staff receive the items to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
No prior bids have been awarded for Exceptional Student Educational Services, services were previously procured by exception. 

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the vendors to provide quality services and products at the terms and conditions listed in
the Bid.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2;  Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

 

Page 252 of 843

DRAFT



Recommendation
*Tentatively* Award BID as follows:
a. Exceptional Student Educational Services - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-93:  

AGAPE Interpreting Services, Inc., 146 Alegria Cir, St. Augustine, FL 32095-
AHS Staffing, LLC, 3051 Willowood Rd., Edmond, OK 73034-
Allied Instructional Services, PO Box 2214, Ashland, VA 23005-
Alonzo Sign Language Interpreting, LLC, PO Box 351888, Palm Coast FL 32135-
AMN Allied Services LLC, 2999 Olympus Blvd., Suite 500, Coppell, TX 75019-
ATC Healthcare Svc, 1983 Marcus Ave, Suite E122, Lake Success, NY 11042-
Behavior Management Consultants, Inc., PO Box 10827, Tallahassee, FL 32302-
Broad Horizons Speech Therapy, 9191 R G Skinner Pkwy, Unit 103, Jacksonville, FL 32256-
Cirrus, Inc., 7 Aretna Street, St Augustine, FL 32084-
CompHealth Medical Staffing, 5557 28th Street, Suite B, PMB 318, Grand Rapids, MI 43512-
Connections Therapy for Kids, 2833 Executive Park Dr, Suite 300, Weston, FL 33331-
CRA Therapy, PO Box 56120, St Petersburg, FL 33732-
Florida Kids Therapy Services LLC, 11512 Lake Mead Ave, Suite 604, Jacksonville, FL 32256-
INVO Healthcare, 10014 N Dale Mabry Hwy, Suite C-100, Tampa, FL 33618-
Maxim Healthcare Staffing, 7227 Lee Deforest Drive, Columbia, MD 21046-
New Hope LLC dba Helping Hands Therapy, 2703 University Blvd E, Tuscaloosa, AL 35404-
Pediatric Developmental Services, 115 Sudbrook Lane, Suite A, Pikesville, MD 21208-
PHYST LLC, 5447 Shady Pine St S, Jacksonville, FL 32244-
Positive Behavior Supports, Corp., 7108 S Kanner Hwy, Stuart, FL 34997-
Talk of the Town Speech Therapy LLC, 56 Water Street, St Augustine, FL 32084-
The Stepping Stones Group, 123 N Wacker Dr, Suite 1150, Chicago, IL 60606-

 

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
a. Exceptional Student Educational Services - County Wide Bid #23-SCH-93:  The total estimated annual expenditure is
estimated at $2,480,000.00 from General and Federal Revenue, for a total estimated value of $7,440,000.00 for the entirety of the
three (3) year contract period.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 253 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C20 - District Print Center Equipment Refresh

Description
The District Print Center currently services our Schools and Departments by providing Black & White and Full Color printed
material at a reasonable cost.  A few on the items produced are FIC cards, Free and Reduced Lunch Applications, Title 1
Information Letters, No Child Left Behind Information, Employee Handbooks and Forms, CCEA and CESPA Contract Books,
MIS Forms, Training/Workshop Material, Supplemental Curriculum for Students, Tardy/Clinic/Hall Passes, Graduation
Programs, Flyers, Certificates, Booklets and Envelopes. School year 2022/2023 the Print Center had an estimated 3,000 job
requests totaling over $24,000. The economical pricing the Print Center offers our Schools and Departments is based on the
material, supplies and equipment cost that the Print Center incurs. 

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products to ensure our students and staff receive the items to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
The District has been using Xerox production equipment for the past twenty plus years. The smooth operation and reliability of
the equipment allows the Print Center to meet the needs of District Departments and Schools. Xerox provides us with Service
Technicians that are experienced and respond in a timely manner.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the vendor to provide quality services and products so the District Print Center can
continue providing quality services and products to the Schools and Departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2;  Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.
 

Recommendation
Authorize the Superintendent to finalize and execute the Lease Agreements and Pool Plan Agreement utilizing the State of
Florida Agreement #44000000-NASPO-19-ACS, NASPO Master Agreement # 140606.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Estimated $9,613.30 a month for 72 months from General Revenue

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 254 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C21 - 2023-2024 School Safety Interlocal Agreement Among the School Board of Clay County, Florida, City of Green Cove
Springs Florida, and Green Cove Springs Police Department.

Description
Proposed funding and contract options to meet the requirements of the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Public Safety
Act, Ch. 2018-3. The draft agreement between the City of Green Cove Springs, the Green Cove Springs Police Department
(GCSPD) School Resource Officer (SRO) program shall include one full time police officer at each of the two schools within the
city boundaries for Charles E. Bennett and Green Cove Springs Junior High for the 2023-2024 academic year. The City of Green
Cove Springs Police Department Dispatch Center and four communications officers, Green Cove Springs Police Department,
which will meet all the criteria set forth in, Green Cove Springs Police Department.

Gap Analysis
The City of Green Cove Springs has contracted with the Clay County District Schools to provide a School Resource Officer at
the two schools within their municipality for the school year 2023-2024. The City of Green Cove Springs will continue (with the
school system) to enhance the connectedness between the local Police Department and the families of students living in Green
Cove Springs attending one of the two schools.

Previous Outcomes
During the 2022-2023 school year the Green Cove Springs Police Department planned and implemented Drug Abuse Resistance
Education (“DARE”) in collaboration with District personnel. The Green Cove Springs Police Department was also successful in
launching a pedestrian safety program at Charles E. Bennett and Green Cove Springs Junior High.

Expected Outcomes
The presence of the SRO’s on the two campuses will strengthen relationships between the local Police Department, students and
families, in the community. Resulting in higher quality interactions within the neighborhoods creating a more cohesive and
secure campus environment. Students will continue to be educated on the law and illegal activities.  The number of aggressive
and violent conduct referrals overall is expected to decline.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the Interlocal Agreement between the Green Cove Springs Police Department, City of Green Cove Springs Florida, and
School Board of Clay County with the one attached.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Kenneth Wagner, Chief of Police, (904) 336-0101, kenneth.wagner@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$216,179.95 to be paid out in twelve (12) equal installments for School Resource Officers 2023-2024
$155,698.00 to be paid out in twelve (12) equal installments for (4) Dispatchers for GCSPD 2023-2024

Review Comments

Attachments

Interlocal Agreement City of GCS and GCS Police Department.pdf

Page 255 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-city-of-gcs-and-gcs-police-department.pdf


Page 256 of 843

DRAFT



Page 257 of 843

DRAFT



Page 258 of 843

DRAFT



Page 259 of 843

DRAFT



Page 260 of 843

DRAFT



Page 261 of 843

DRAFT



Page 262 of 843

DRAFT



Page 263 of 843

DRAFT



Page 264 of 843

DRAFT



Page 265 of 843

DRAFT



Page 266 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C22 - 2023-2024 School Safety Interlocal Agreement Among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; and Town of Orange
Park and the Town of Orange Park Police Department.

Description
Proposed funding and contract options to meet the requirements of the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Public Safety
Act, Ch. 2018-3. The draft agreement between the Town of Orange Park School Resource Officer (SRO) program shall include
one full time police officer at each of the three schools within the city boundaries for Grove Park Elementary School, Orange
Park Elementary School and Orange Park Junior High for the 2023-2024 academic year.

Gap Analysis
The Town of Orange Park has contracted with the Clay County District Schools to provide a School Resource Officer at the three
schools within their municipality for the school year 2022-2023. The Town of Orange park will continue (with the school
system) to enhance the connectedness between the local Police Department and the families of students living in Orange Park
attending one of the three schools.

Previous Outcomes
During the 2022-2023 school year the Town of Orange Park Police Department planned and implemented Drug Abuse
Resistance Education (“DARE”) in collaboration with District personnel. The Town of Orange Park Police Department was also
successful in launching a pedestrian safety program at Grove Park Elementary, Orange Park Elementary and Orange Park Junior
High.

Expected Outcomes
The presence of the SRO’s on the three campuses will strengthen relationships between the local Police Department, students,
and families in the community. This will result in higher quality interactions within the neighborhoods creating a more cohesive
and secure campus environment. Students will continue to be educated on the law and illegal activities. The number of
aggressive and violent conduct referrals is expected to decline overall.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve the agreement between the Town of Orange Park Police Department and School Board of Clay County that is
substantially similar to the one attached.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Kenneth Wagner, Chief of Police, (904) 336-0101, kenneth.wagner@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$299,812.00 Total - twelve (12) equal installments for the School Resource Officers.

Review Comments

Attachments

Interlocal Agreement Town of OP and OP Police Department.pdf

Page 267 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-town-of-op-and-op-police-department.pdf


Page 268 of 843

DRAFT



Page 269 of 843

DRAFT



Page 270 of 843

DRAFT



Page 271 of 843

DRAFT



Page 272 of 843

DRAFT



Page 273 of 843

DRAFT



Page 274 of 843

DRAFT



Page 275 of 843

DRAFT



Page 276 of 843

DRAFT



Page 277 of 843

DRAFT



Page 278 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C23 - Restated Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Shelters in Clay County between the Clay County School Board and the
Clay County Board of County Commissioners.

Description
Interlocal Agreement with the Clay County Board of County Commissioners for the continued use of schools as emergency
shelters during times of crisis will expire July 23, 2028.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Schools utilized as storm shelters.

Expected Outcomes
Certain pre-identified schools utilized as storm shelters during a local state of emergency.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective sheltering plan and coordination with all first responding agencies.

Recommendation
Approve the Restated Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Shelters in Clay County between the Clay County School Board and
the Clay County Board of County Commissioners. 

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Emergency Shelters Interlocal Agreement 6.29.23.pdf

Page 279 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/emergency-shelters-interlocal-agreement-62923.pdf


Page 280 of 843

DRAFT



Page 281 of 843

DRAFT



Page 282 of 843

DRAFT



Page 283 of 843

DRAFT



Page 284 of 843

DRAFT



Page 285 of 843

DRAFT



Page 286 of 843

DRAFT



Page 287 of 843

DRAFT



Page 288 of 843

DRAFT



Page 289 of 843

DRAFT



Page 290 of 843

DRAFT



Page 291 of 843

DRAFT



Page 292 of 843

DRAFT



Page 293 of 843

DRAFT



Page 294 of 843

DRAFT



Page 295 of 843

DRAFT



Page 296 of 843

DRAFT



Page 297 of 843

DRAFT



Page 298 of 843

DRAFT



Page 299 of 843

DRAFT



Page 300 of 843

DRAFT



Page 301 of 843

DRAFT



Page 302 of 843

DRAFT



Page 303 of 843

DRAFT



Page 304 of 843

DRAFT



Page 305 of 843

DRAFT



Page 306 of 843

DRAFT



Page 307 of 843

DRAFT



Page 308 of 843

DRAFT



Page 309 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C24 - 2022-2023 Local Department of Health Inspection Reports

Description
Florida Statute 381.006 requires the local Department of Health to conduct sanitation inspections of group care facilities which
includes any public or private school.

Gap Analysis
Local Department of Health inspections are required per 381.006(15) Florida Statutes, Group Care facilities.

Previous Outcomes
The Local Department of Health inspections were accomplished without disrupting the school for more than a couple of hours. 
The school custodian is usually available and walks the school with the inspector and takes notes on most deficiencies that are
also part of the report.  The schools then fix or place work orders for deficiencies found and return a letter stating all items
completed or Work Order placed.

Expected Outcomes
Local Department of Health inspections are completed annually.  The inspector(s) understand the importance of the testing and
will always work with the schools with this matter.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve the 2022-2023 Florida Department of Health Inspection Reports.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net, Stephanie Raucci, Director of
Code Enforcement (904) 336-0636, stephanie.raucci@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
2022-2023 Local Department of Health inspections fees were $4,100.00.

Review Comments

Attachments

Health Dept. Inspection 2023 #1.pdf

Health Dept. Inspections 2023 #2.pdf

Page 310 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/health-dept-inspection-2023-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/health-dept-inspections-2023-2.pdf


Page 311 of 843

DRAFT



Page 312 of 843

DRAFT



Page 313 of 843

DRAFT



Page 314 of 843

DRAFT



Page 315 of 843

DRAFT



Page 316 of 843

DRAFT



Page 317 of 843

DRAFT



Page 318 of 843

DRAFT



Page 319 of 843

DRAFT



Page 320 of 843

DRAFT



Page 321 of 843

DRAFT



Page 322 of 843

DRAFT



Page 323 of 843

DRAFT



Page 324 of 843

DRAFT



Page 325 of 843

DRAFT



Page 326 of 843

DRAFT



Page 327 of 843

DRAFT



Page 328 of 843

DRAFT



Page 329 of 843

DRAFT



Page 330 of 843

DRAFT



Page 331 of 843

DRAFT



Page 332 of 843

DRAFT



Page 333 of 843

DRAFT



Page 334 of 843

DRAFT



Page 335 of 843

DRAFT



Page 336 of 843

DRAFT



Page 337 of 843

DRAFT



Page 338 of 843

DRAFT



Page 339 of 843

DRAFT



Page 340 of 843

DRAFT



Page 341 of 843

DRAFT



Page 342 of 843

DRAFT



Page 343 of 843

DRAFT



Page 344 of 843

DRAFT



Page 345 of 843

DRAFT



Page 346 of 843

DRAFT



Page 347 of 843

DRAFT



Page 348 of 843

DRAFT



Page 349 of 843

DRAFT



Page 350 of 843

DRAFT



Page 351 of 843

DRAFT



Page 352 of 843

DRAFT



Page 353 of 843

DRAFT



Page 354 of 843

DRAFT



Page 355 of 843

DRAFT



Page 356 of 843

DRAFT



Page 357 of 843

DRAFT



Page 358 of 843

DRAFT



Page 359 of 843

DRAFT



Page 360 of 843

DRAFT



Page 361 of 843

DRAFT



Page 362 of 843

DRAFT



Page 363 of 843

DRAFT



Page 364 of 843

DRAFT



Page 365 of 843

DRAFT



Page 366 of 843

DRAFT



Page 367 of 843

DRAFT



Page 368 of 843

DRAFT



Page 369 of 843

DRAFT



Page 370 of 843

DRAFT



Page 371 of 843

DRAFT



Page 372 of 843

DRAFT



Page 373 of 843

DRAFT



Page 374 of 843

DRAFT



Page 375 of 843

DRAFT



Page 376 of 843

DRAFT



Page 377 of 843

DRAFT



Page 378 of 843

DRAFT



Page 379 of 843

DRAFT



Page 380 of 843

DRAFT



Page 381 of 843

DRAFT



Page 382 of 843

DRAFT



Page 383 of 843

DRAFT



Page 384 of 843

DRAFT



Page 385 of 843

DRAFT



Page 386 of 843

DRAFT



Page 387 of 843

DRAFT



Page 388 of 843

DRAFT



Page 389 of 843

DRAFT



Page 390 of 843

DRAFT



Page 391 of 843

DRAFT



Page 392 of 843

DRAFT



Page 393 of 843

DRAFT



Page 394 of 843

DRAFT



Page 395 of 843

DRAFT



Page 396 of 843

DRAFT



Page 397 of 843

DRAFT



Page 398 of 843

DRAFT



Page 399 of 843

DRAFT



Page 400 of 843

DRAFT



Page 401 of 843

DRAFT



Page 402 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C25 - 2022-2023 S.R.E.F. Casualty, Safety, Sanitation, Relocatable, and Fire Safety Inspection Report

Description
The School District of Clay County is required to conduct an Annual Casualty, Safety, Sanitation Inspection Report as well as an
Annual Relocatable and Fire Safety Inspection by persons licensed and proficient with applicable Rules and Standards.  These
Inspection Reports were performed by licensed and qualified personnel and are available for public review.

Gap Analysis
Local fire officials and public school districts must employ or contract with an individual certified as a fire safety inspector in
compliance with Section 633.081, Florida Statutes, in order to conduct a comprehensive fire safety inspector of each public
school facility annually.  s.1013.12, F.S. and s.1013.38, F.S. became effective on July 1, 2011.

Previous Outcomes
The SREF/Fire Safety Inspections were accomplished with two inspectors and completed without disrupting the school for more
than a couple of hours.  The school custodian is usually available and walks the school with the inspector and takes notes on most
deficiencies that are also part of the report.  The schools then fix or place work orders for deficiencies found and return a letter
stating all items completed or Work Order placed.

Expected Outcomes
The SREF/Fire Safety Inspections are completed annually.  The inspector(s) understand the importance of the testing and will
always work with the schools with this matter.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve the District 2022-2023 Casualty, Safety, Sanitation, Relocatable, and Fire Safety Inspection Report.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net, Stephanie Raucci, Director of
Code Enforcement (904) 336-0636, stephanie.raucci@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
All deficiencies will be corrected at the school level or by the Maintenance department and funded by Part III Capital Outlay
funds.

Review Comments

Attachments

2023 SREF #1.pdf

2023 SREF #2.pdf

2023 SREF #3.pdf

Page 403 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-2.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2023-sref-3.pdf


Page 404 of 843

DRAFT



Page 405 of 843

DRAFT



Page 406 of 843

DRAFT



Page 407 of 843

DRAFT



Page 408 of 843

DRAFT



Page 409 of 843

DRAFT



Page 410 of 843

DRAFT



Page 411 of 843

DRAFT



Page 412 of 843

DRAFT



Page 413 of 843

DRAFT



Page 414 of 843

DRAFT



Page 415 of 843

DRAFT



Page 416 of 843

DRAFT



Page 417 of 843

DRAFT



Page 418 of 843

DRAFT



Page 419 of 843

DRAFT



Page 420 of 843

DRAFT



Page 421 of 843

DRAFT



Page 422 of 843

DRAFT



Page 423 of 843

DRAFT



Page 424 of 843

DRAFT



Page 425 of 843

DRAFT



Page 426 of 843

DRAFT



Page 427 of 843

DRAFT



Page 428 of 843

DRAFT



Page 429 of 843

DRAFT



Page 430 of 843

DRAFT



Page 431 of 843

DRAFT



Page 432 of 843

DRAFT



Page 433 of 843

DRAFT



Page 434 of 843

DRAFT



Page 435 of 843

DRAFT



Page 436 of 843

DRAFT



Page 437 of 843

DRAFT



Page 438 of 843

DRAFT



Page 439 of 843

DRAFT



Page 440 of 843

DRAFT



Page 441 of 843

DRAFT



Page 442 of 843

DRAFT



Page 443 of 843

DRAFT



Page 444 of 843

DRAFT



Page 445 of 843

DRAFT



Page 446 of 843

DRAFT



Page 447 of 843

DRAFT



Page 448 of 843

DRAFT



Page 449 of 843

DRAFT



Page 450 of 843

DRAFT



Page 451 of 843

DRAFT



Page 452 of 843

DRAFT



Page 453 of 843

DRAFT



Page 454 of 843

DRAFT



Page 455 of 843

DRAFT



Page 456 of 843

DRAFT



Page 457 of 843

DRAFT



Page 458 of 843

DRAFT



Page 459 of 843

DRAFT



Page 460 of 843

DRAFT



Page 461 of 843

DRAFT



Page 462 of 843

DRAFT



Page 463 of 843

DRAFT



Page 464 of 843

DRAFT



Page 465 of 843

DRAFT



Page 466 of 843

DRAFT



Page 467 of 843

DRAFT



Page 468 of 843

DRAFT



Page 469 of 843

DRAFT



Page 470 of 843

DRAFT



Page 471 of 843

DRAFT



Page 472 of 843

DRAFT



Page 473 of 843

DRAFT



Page 474 of 843

DRAFT



Page 475 of 843

DRAFT



Page 476 of 843

DRAFT



Page 477 of 843

DRAFT



Page 478 of 843

DRAFT



Page 479 of 843

DRAFT



Page 480 of 843

DRAFT



Page 481 of 843

DRAFT



Page 482 of 843

DRAFT



Page 483 of 843

DRAFT



Page 484 of 843

DRAFT



Page 485 of 843

DRAFT



Page 486 of 843

DRAFT



Page 487 of 843

DRAFT



Page 488 of 843

DRAFT



Page 489 of 843

DRAFT



Page 490 of 843

DRAFT



Page 491 of 843

DRAFT



Page 492 of 843

DRAFT



Page 493 of 843

DRAFT



Page 494 of 843

DRAFT



Page 495 of 843

DRAFT



Page 496 of 843

DRAFT



Page 497 of 843

DRAFT



Page 498 of 843

DRAFT



Page 499 of 843

DRAFT



Page 500 of 843

DRAFT



Page 501 of 843

DRAFT



Page 502 of 843

DRAFT



Page 503 of 843

DRAFT



Page 504 of 843

DRAFT



Page 505 of 843

DRAFT



Page 506 of 843

DRAFT



Page 507 of 843

DRAFT



Page 508 of 843

DRAFT



Page 509 of 843

DRAFT



Page 510 of 843

DRAFT



Page 511 of 843

DRAFT



Page 512 of 843

DRAFT



Page 513 of 843

DRAFT



Page 514 of 843

DRAFT



Page 515 of 843

DRAFT



Page 516 of 843

DRAFT



Page 517 of 843

DRAFT



Page 518 of 843

DRAFT



Page 519 of 843

DRAFT



Page 520 of 843

DRAFT



Page 521 of 843

DRAFT



Page 522 of 843

DRAFT



Page 523 of 843

DRAFT



Page 524 of 843

DRAFT



Page 525 of 843

DRAFT



Page 526 of 843

DRAFT



Page 527 of 843

DRAFT



Page 528 of 843

DRAFT



Page 529 of 843

DRAFT



Page 530 of 843

DRAFT



Page 531 of 843

DRAFT



Page 532 of 843

DRAFT



Page 533 of 843

DRAFT



Page 534 of 843

DRAFT



Page 535 of 843

DRAFT



Page 536 of 843

DRAFT



Page 537 of 843

DRAFT



Page 538 of 843

DRAFT



Page 539 of 843

DRAFT



Page 540 of 843

DRAFT



Page 541 of 843

DRAFT



Page 542 of 843

DRAFT



Page 543 of 843

DRAFT



Page 544 of 843

DRAFT



Page 545 of 843

DRAFT



Page 546 of 843

DRAFT



Page 547 of 843

DRAFT



Page 548 of 843

DRAFT



Page 549 of 843

DRAFT



Page 550 of 843

DRAFT



Page 551 of 843

DRAFT



Page 552 of 843

DRAFT



Page 553 of 843

DRAFT



Page 554 of 843

DRAFT



Page 555 of 843

DRAFT



Page 556 of 843

DRAFT



Page 557 of 843

DRAFT



Page 558 of 843

DRAFT



Page 559 of 843

DRAFT



Page 560 of 843

DRAFT



Page 561 of 843

DRAFT



Page 562 of 843

DRAFT



Page 563 of 843

DRAFT



Page 564 of 843

DRAFT



Page 565 of 843

DRAFT



Page 566 of 843

DRAFT



Page 567 of 843

DRAFT



Page 568 of 843

DRAFT



Page 569 of 843

DRAFT



Page 570 of 843

DRAFT



Page 571 of 843

DRAFT



Page 572 of 843

DRAFT



Page 573 of 843

DRAFT



Page 574 of 843

DRAFT



Page 575 of 843

DRAFT



Page 576 of 843

DRAFT



Page 577 of 843

DRAFT



Page 578 of 843

DRAFT



Page 579 of 843

DRAFT



Page 580 of 843

DRAFT



Page 581 of 843

DRAFT



Page 582 of 843

DRAFT



Page 583 of 843

DRAFT



Page 584 of 843

DRAFT



Page 585 of 843

DRAFT



Page 586 of 843

DRAFT



Page 587 of 843

DRAFT



Page 588 of 843

DRAFT



Page 589 of 843

DRAFT



Page 590 of 843

DRAFT



Page 591 of 843

DRAFT



Page 592 of 843

DRAFT



Page 593 of 843

DRAFT



Page 594 of 843

DRAFT



Page 595 of 843

DRAFT



Page 596 of 843

DRAFT



Page 597 of 843

DRAFT



Page 598 of 843

DRAFT



Page 599 of 843

DRAFT



Page 600 of 843

DRAFT



Page 601 of 843

DRAFT



Page 602 of 843

DRAFT



Page 603 of 843

DRAFT



Page 604 of 843

DRAFT



Page 605 of 843

DRAFT



Page 606 of 843

DRAFT



Page 607 of 843

DRAFT



Page 608 of 843

DRAFT



Page 609 of 843

DRAFT



Page 610 of 843

DRAFT



Page 611 of 843

DRAFT



Page 612 of 843

DRAFT



Page 613 of 843

DRAFT



Page 614 of 843

DRAFT



Page 615 of 843

DRAFT



Page 616 of 843

DRAFT



Page 617 of 843

DRAFT



Page 618 of 843

DRAFT



Page 619 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C26 - Transportation Bus Purchase Agreement

Description
This is an agreement between the Clay County School Board and Matthews Bus Alliance to purchase eleven (11) new school
buses equipped with AC and camera equipment.

Gap Analysis
The transportation department has a five-year plan for bus purchases in the capital plan in order to replace buses reaching their
service limits. At this time CCDS has 231 buses operating and in service. Roughly 20-25 of these buses need to be removed due
to age/mileage. With a true replacement plan, our district should be replacing roughly 10% of our fleet each year at 20-25 buses,
as they gain age and new mileage. This allows for our fleet to be rotated so that mileage doesn’t accumulate on one group of
buses specifically. Furthermore, as the district continues to grow so does our need for additional buses. 

Previous Outcomes
The Transportation Department has a replacement plan for buses via the Educational Facilities Plan (EFP) in order for the
District to operate safely and efficiently. 

Expected Outcomes
The purchase of 11 School Buses (Regular ED) will provide CCDS:

Eleven (11) new regular ED buses equipped with AC and camera surveillance at a cost of $1,604,207.00.-
Bumper-to-Bumper 5-year warranty drastically reduces parts and maintenance costs associated with aging fleets (est. value
$400,000.00).

-

The district retains the titles for the buses.-
Capital dollars are recaptured by removing/selling 10 school buses from our fleet (est. return of $7,500.00 per bus) which
can be immediately used to upgrade CCDS's aging white fleet.

-

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the Purchase Agreement

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net, Randall Crawford, Director of
Transportation, (904) 336-0003, randall.crawford@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The funds will be budgeted in the 2023/2024 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP) for $1,604,207.00 (Breakdown of cost:  77
Passenger TYPE C $145,837.00 @ 11).

Review Comments

Attachments

Bus Purchase 6.29.23.pdf

Page 620 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/bus-purchase-62923.pdf


Customer: Clay County 

BID NO: ITB 2023-02

NO LIFT

C/O Randall Crawford
904-577-6665

Date:12-26-2023

Quote from  FLDOE 2023-02

$123,770

Thomas 341TS Body
Freightliner B2 106 Chassis

Allison 2500 PTS 6 speed transmission w/LBSS
Cummins ISB 13 250hp/660 lb-ft

1
$155 1 $155
$162 $0

1
$550 1 $550

$693 $0
-

$940 1 $940
-

$888 1 $888
$650 $0

1
$3,650 $0

1
$15 $0

1
$533 $0
$627 1 $627
$500 $0
$15 $0

-
-

$600 $0
-

$185 $0
$7,500 $0
$575 $0
$250 $0

-
1

$15 1 $15
$70 $0

$610 1 $610
$105 $0

1
$550 $0

1
1
1
1

Tim BeVier

77 Capacity Type C Complete
School Bus

Unit Base Price: $119,985
OPTIONAL CHASSIS EQUIPMENT PRICES COST QUANTITY EXTENDED COST

STD STD

STD STD

N/C N/C

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

STD STD

OPTIONAL BODY EQUIPMENT PRICES
STD STD

78" STD STD

N/A N/A
N/A N/A

N/A N/A

N/A N/A
STD STD

STD STD

SUB TOTAL

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD

[C1A] Front Tow Hooks
[C1B] Rear Tow Hooks
[C2] Spare Disc Wheel
[C3] Auto Trans Warranty (7 yr unlimited)
[C4] 75-100 Gallon Fuel Tank* See Appendix I
[C5] Low-Profile Radial Tires - Hankook Tires (STD with Flat Floor)
[C6] 270 Amp L/N 4864 Alternator *See Appendix I
[C7] Type D Front Air Ride Suspension
[C8] Adjustable Pedals
[C9] 3000-PTS Transmission
[C10] Air Ride Rear Suspension
[C12] Straight Floor *Requires Air Ride Suspension
[C13] Auto Headlamp System
[C14] Air Disc Brakes

[B1] Pro Lo Hatch
[B3] Vandal Box w/Key
[B4] 76" High Headroom (minimum)
[B5A] Intercom/PA
[B5B] PA with Radio
[B5C] Stereo Radio (no PA)
[B6] Locking Door at Fuel Tank
[B7A] CE White Integrated Child Restraint Seat
[B7B] IMMI Child Safety Seat *See Appendix I
[B7C] Syntech Integrated Child Restraint Seat
[B7D] BTI Integrated Child Restraint Seat
[B8] Exterior Body Light Monitor
[B11] Lap/Shoulder Belts (PRICE PER UNIT - no reduc�on in sea�ng capacity) ***
[B12] Full Perf. Ceiling Panel
[B13] Bus Lockup System
[B14] Wire Pupil Crossing Arm
[B15] Stainless Steel Mirror System (with non-corrosive brackets & fasteners)
[B16] Ba�ery Disconnect Switch Label
[B17] Red Light Emergency Door
[B18] Underseat Rear Heater *See Appendix I
[B19] Tailpipe through Bumper
[B20] Powder-Coated Windows
[B21] Driver's Seat with Integrated Seat Belt

Black Trim Around Windows
Cruise Control
Cup Holders
Electronic Stability Control

Page 621 of 843

DRAFT



Engine Brake (On Detroit Engines Only)
Engine Electronic Diagnos�cs and Familiariza�on
Exhaust Brake (On Cummins Engines Only)
Heavy Duty Bumper
Merritor HD Front Breaks Q 16x5 in Lieu of Standard
Mud Flaps with Logo
Noise Suppression Switch
Rail Assist on Front Entrance Door (RS and LS)
2 Way Radio Install (bracket, prewire and customer supplied radios installed)
6" Defroster Fan
Electrical Power Outlet - USB
LED Headlights
Rosco Back Up Mirror and Camera
Telescoping Steering Column Add to Tilt

STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD
STD STD

SUB TOTAL

A/C OPTIONS

SUB TOTAL

VIDEO/GPS OPTIONS - Please consult with Vendor for options and equipment placement. Customer confirmation is required for order.

SUB TOTAL

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

$550 1 $550
$60 1 $60
$38 1 $38

$625 1 $625
$950 1 $950
$250 1 $250
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A

RAC-BH2233, 150,000 BTU W/ DASH, 103 AMPS - SYSTEM B $13,000 1 $13,000
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A

SEON - DH8H2T0-M $2,089 1 $2,089
SEON - WT2E20S20G0 $208 1 $208
SEON - HD2Q-MP6A30 $76 1 $76
SEON - HD3U01AN20 $375 1 $375
SEON - HD3U01AN50 $402 3 $1,206
SEON - SRC-ROUTER-1 $1,348 1 $1,348

#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A

$126,243

$139,243

$144,545

Page 622 of 843

DRAFT



LUGGAGE BOX OPTIONS

DELIVERY

WARRANTY

TOTAL PER BUS

#N/A #N/A
#N/A #N/A

REGION 3 $1,292 1 $1,292
#N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A
#N/A
#N/A #N/A

$145,837

Total Quantity of Buses: Total: $0

BUS NUMBERING / LETTERING

NOTES

Salesperson Signature Date

Customer Signature Date

Page 623 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C27 - Clay County Utility Authority Closeout Documents for Spring Park Elementary School

Description
Executions of Closeout Documents for the Clay County Utility Authority for Spring Park Elementary School. These documents
are required to be executed as part of the Clay County Utility Authority process to provide services to the facility.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Clay County Utility Authority provides water/sewer services to School District facilities.

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the Closeout documents.

Contact
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations,  (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Contract - Closeout Documents for Spring Park Elementary School.pdf

Page 624 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/contract-closeout-documents-for-spring-park-elementary-school.pdf


Page 625 of 843

DRAFT



Page 626 of 843

DRAFT



Page 627 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C28 - Prequalification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires School Boards to pre-qualify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district. The rules for pre-qualification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF). The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month. As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their pre-qualification status. Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently pre-qualified at the time of bidding may bid on a School Board construction project.

Gap Analysis
Contractor Pre-Qualification is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor pre-qualification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for pre-qualification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the attached Contractor Pre-qualification list.

Contact
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 6.29.23

Page 628 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-62923.pdf


SBCC PRE-QUALIFIED CONTRACTORS 
 
 
The following contractors are being submitted to the School Board for Contractor Pre-Qualification approval 
having met all requirements of Chapter 1013.46 F. S., as determined by the Pre-Qualification Committee 
consisting of Michael Kemp, Clayton Anderson, Bertie Staefe, Chris Deely-Isais and Beth Clark.  The pre-
qualification certification is valid for one year from the end of the month in which Board approval is obtained. 

 
 

COMPANY TRADE CATEGORY BOND LIMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

Advanced Roofing, Inc. General, HVAC, Roofing, 
and Electrical Contractor 

$40,000,000.00 July 31, 2024 

Communications Solutions, Inc. Specialty Electrical 
Contractor 

$300,000.00 July 31, 2024 

McCurdy-Walden, Inc. Roofing Contractor $5,000,000.00 July 31, 2024 

Playmore Recreational Products & 
Services 

Building Contractor $5,000,000.00 July 31, 2024 

Precise Cabling, Inc. Electrical Contractor $1,000,000.00 July 31, 2024 

 

Page 629 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C29 - Resolution for 95 Acre Land Purchase on Russell Road

Description
The Lake Asbury area is experiencing significant growth.  Recently, an analysis revealed that over 62% of the permits issued for
new homes are in the Lake Asbury area.  The area is forecasted to build approximately 7000 units in the future which are 
projected to generate approximately 3,460 elementary, junior high, and high school students.  Also, there are several tracts of
land that are in the preliminary planning phase that have not applied for concurrency.  Currently, CCDS does not own any vacant
land in the area of growth and the current schools will eventually get overwhelmed.  In addition, land availability is limited in the
area.  Purchasing the land will place CCDS in a better position to meet future growth.      

Gap Analysis
No action would result in failing to acquire the land necessary to meet future growth.

Previous Outcomes
The School Board has approved the purchase of land in the past.

Expected Outcomes
It is expected the School Board will approve the resolution to proceed with the necessary steps to purchase the land.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the resolution to proceed with necessary steps to purchase the land.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904)336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Michael Kemp, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904)336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Coordinator of Planning and Intergovernmental Affairs, (904)336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The purchase price of $6,500,000.00 will be budgeted in the 2023-2024 Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Property Purchase Resolution 6.29.2023.pdf

Ennis Appraisal Russell Rd_95.pdf

Appraisal_2770 Russell Rd, Green Cove Springs, FL.pdf

Page 630 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/property-purchase-resolution-6292023.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/ennis-appraisal-russell-rd_95.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/appraisal_2770-russell-rd-green-cove-springs-fl.pdf


 

RESOLUTION #    -23 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SCHOOL BOARD OF 

CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, FINDING THAT ACQUIRING 

AND PURCHASING LAND IS INSTRUMENTAL IN 

PROVIDING A HIGH-QUALITY EDUCATION TO ITS 

STUDENTS; AND, SCHOOLS IN THE LAKE ASBURY AREA 

WILL REACH CAPACITY DUE TO CURRENT AND FUTURE 

GROWTH; AND, APPROXIMATELY 95 ACRES, MORE OR 

LESS, LOCATED AT 2770 RUSSELL ROAD IS FOR SALE AND 

AVAILABLE; AND,  THERE IS A SHORTAGE OF AVAILABLE 

LARGE TRACTS OF LAND IN THE AREA; AND, THE PRICE 

PER ACRE FALLS UNDER THE MOST RECENT IMPACT FEE 

STUDY COUNTYWIDE AVERAGE; AND, IT IS IN THE BEST 

INTEREST OF THE STUDENTS, STAFF, AND COMMUNITY 

TO SECURE APPROPRIATE LAND PARCELS FOR FUTURE 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT OF NEW SCHOOLS 
 

WHEREAS, Clay County District Schools recognizes the need to expand its educational infrastructure to 

accommodate the growing student population and provide enhanced learning opportunities for 

students; and 

 

WHEREAS, the acquisition of suitable land parcels is essential to the successful implementation of the 

district’s long-term development plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the school district has experienced significant growth in student enrollment necessitating the 

need for additional school facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the district has diligently assessed the location and determined that the following land parcel 

is highly suitable for meeting the district’s objectives: 

1. 2770 Russell Rd., Green Cove Springs, Florida, 32043; Parcel ID 39-05-25-

010097-009-00; 95.64 acres as listed by the County Property Appraiser 

2. Sale price: $6,500,000.00  

 

WHEREAS, according to the Tischler-Bise Impact Fee Study dated 29 November 2022, the average price 

per acre of land is $90,000.00. 

“Clay County District Schools anticipates the need to purchase land for future school sites to 

accommodate school capital needs brought about by future development in the county. Based on 

recent appraisals, Clay County District Schools expects to acquire land for $90,000 per acre.” 

 

WHEREAS, the average cost per acre of the subject property is $67,963.20. 

Page 631 of 843

DRAFT



 

WHEREAS, the sale price per acre is significantly lower than the price per acre proposed by the Impact 

Fee Study. 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with F.S 1013.14, two appraisals have been obtained by the district and are 

included as “Exhibit A.” 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the School Board of Clay County, Florida: 

1. The Clay County School Board hereby authorizes the Superintendent or their designees 

to acquire the due diligence, surveys, and environmental reports necessary for the 

purchase of the land parcel in accordance with F.S. 1013.365 on behalf of the school 

district for the purpose of future school construction projects. 

2. The Clay County School Board hereby authorizes the Superintendent or their designees 

to engage the services of legal and real estate professionals to assist in the 

identification, evaluation, and acquisition of the land parcel listed above.   

3. The Clay County School Board hereby authorizes the Superintendent or their designees 

to advertise the proposed land acquisition for 30 days in accordance with F.S. 1013.14. 

4. The Clay County School Board hereby authorizes the Superintendent or their designees 

to proceed with a purchase agreement or option contract provided the above criteria 

are met, subject to the approval of the Clay County School Board at a public meeting and 

hearing after 30 days’ public notice in accordance with F.S. 1013.14. 

 

DULY ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 29th day of June, 2023, by the School Board of Clay County, Florida. 

 
SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, 

FLORIDA 

 
By   

ASHLEY GILHOUSEN, Its Chair 

 
 

SUPERINTENDENT, CLAY COUNTY 

DISTRICT SCHOOLS 

 

By   

DAVID BROSKIE 

 
   
  ATTEST: 
 
  By______________________________ 
                      WITNESS 

 

 

Page 632 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

Exhibit A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 633 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

 

Page 634 of 843

DRAFT



  

     
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

APPRAISAL REPORT 

+95.02-ACRE PARCEL  
2770 RUSSELL ROAD 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDS 32043 
 
 
 
 

FOR: 
 
 
 
 

LANCE ADDISON 
COORDINATOR, PLANNING & INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOLS 
925 CENTER STREET 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 32073 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
 
 
 
 

DUNCAN R. ENNIS, SR., MAI, SRA 
ENNIS APPRAISAL ASSOCIATES, INC. 

4511 LEXINGTON AVENUE 
JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32210 

PH. (904) 387-4467 
FAX (904) 387-0177 

 

Page 635 of 843

DRAFT



 

   2 

ENNIS APPRAISAL ASSOCIATES, INC. 
Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants 

 
Duncan R. Ennis, Sr., MAI, SRA 
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ619 

  
 

February 24, 2023 
 
Lance Addison 
Coordinator, Planning & Intergovernmental Relations 
Clay County District Schools 
925 Center Street 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32073 
 
 
RE: APPRAISAL REPORT 

+95.02-Acre Parcel 
2770 Russell Road 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
Ennis Appraisal File No. 2023-004.CE 
 

 
Dear Mr. Addison,  
 
At your request, this report has been prepared to convey my opinion of the “as is” market value 
of the fee simple interest in the property referenced above. The effective date of my opinion of 
market value developed and reported herein is February 17, 2023, the date of my inspection of 
the subject property. 
 
The subject property is a +95.02-acre parcel along Russell Road, about 1.1 mile northwesterly 
of the intersection of Russell Road and Sandridge Road. The parcel, which is comprised of 
approximately 21.95 acres of wetlands, 1.75 acres of surface waters, and 71.32 acres of 
uplands, is improved with a 22-year, 2,928 square foot single-family dwelling, out buildings, 
fencing, dirt and gravel driveways, and other horizontal improvements. 
 
In accordance with the appraiser’s determination of an appropriate scope of work for this 
assignment, the best method for developing an opinion of the market value of the property is the 
Sales Comparison Approach.  
 
The Cost Approach and Income Approach are not useful to this assignment and are omitted. The 
appraisal process was developed in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice (USPAP). 
 
 
 

4511 Lexington Avenue • Jacksonville, Florida 32210 
(904) 387-4467 • Fax 387-0177 

ennisappraisal.com 

Page 636 of 843

DRAFT



 

   3 

Lance Addison        February 24, 2023 
Clay County District Schools 
 
In conformity with the appraisal engagement for this assignment, the results of the appraisal 
process are communicated in an Appraisal Report that is intended to comply with the reporting 
requirements set forth under Standards Rule 2-2(a) of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice for an Appraisal Report. This report presents summary discussions of the 
data and analyses utilized in developing the opinion of “as is” market value. Additional data and 
analyses are maintained in my file. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to 
the needs of the client and for the intended use as stated within the report.  I am not responsible 
for unauthorized use of this report. 
 
You are the client of this appraisal assignment and the intended user of this appraisal report. 
Additional intended users of this report are other employees of Clay County District Schools and 
your consultants, if any. Use of this report by anyone else is not intended. The intended use of 
this appraisal report is to assist you with evaluating a potential purchase price for the subject 
property. Any other use of this report or the conclusions or opinions reported herein is not 
intended. I will not be responsible for any unintended use of this report, or the conclusions or 
opinions reported herein. The appraisal report and the opinions and conclusions rendered herein 
will be held in confidence by me and others associated with my firm. 
 
The appraisal analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this appraisal has been 
prepared in conformance with the requirements of the Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the Appraisal Institute, the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(USPAP) as adopted by The Appraisal Foundation, and with the requirements of the State of 
Florida for State Certified Appraisers. 
 
The property was personally inspected, and the neighborhood trends and development patterns 
were analyzed. As a result of these investigations and subject to Assumptions and Limiting 
Conditions beginning on page 9, my opinion of the “as is” market value of the subject property is 
as follows: 
 
“As Is” Market Value, 
of Fee Simple Interest, 
As of February 17, 2023:     $7,000,000 (*) 
 
(*) See extraordinary assumption on page 10. 
 
If you desire any additional information pertaining to this appraisal report or if I may be of any further 
assistance to you, please call. 
 
Yours truly, 
Ennis Appraisal Associates, Inc. 

    
Duncan R. Ennis, Sr., MAI, SRA    
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ619  
 

Page 637 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

4 

Certification 
 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 
▪ The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 
 
▪ The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 

assumptions and limiting conditions, and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

 
▪ I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report, 

and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 
 
▪ I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties 

involved with this assignment. 
 
▪ My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 

predetermined results. 
 
▪ My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development 

or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the 
client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the 
occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

 
▪ My analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 

prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Foundation (USPAP); the requirements of the State 
of Florida for State-Certified General Real Estate Appraisers; and the requirements of the 
Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the 
Appraisal Institute. 
  

▪ I made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this appraisal. 
 
▪ This report was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the 

approval of a loan. 
 
▪ The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 

review by its duly authorized representatives and to the requirements of the State of 
Florida relating to review by the State Real Estate Appraisal Board. 

 
▪ I currently hold a State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser license allowing the 

performance of real estate appraisals in connection with federally related transactions in 
the State of Florida in which the subject property is located.  

▪ I have performed no services as an appraiser or in any other capacity regarding the 
property that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately 
preceding acceptance of this assignment.  

Page 638 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

5 

▪ As of the date of this report, I have completed the requirements of the continuing 
education program for Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute. 
 

▪ This appraisal recognizes the following definition of market value: 

 Market Value:  as defined in Chapter 12, Code of Federal Regulation, Part 34.42 (f) is, 
"the most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market 
under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and 
knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in this 
definition are the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title 
from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

 
     1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 
     2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider their own 

best interests; 
 
     3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 
     4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements 

comparable thereto; and 
 
     5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special 

or creative financing or sale concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale." 
 

 
Duncan R. Ennis, Sr., MAI, SRA     
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ619    
 
 

  

  

Page 639 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

6 

Table of Contents 
 
Certification ...................................................................................................................................... 4 
Table of Contents ............................................................................................................................ 6 

Summary of Important Facts and Conclusions ................................................................................ 8 
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions .............................................................................................. 9 
Extraordinary Assumptions ............................................................................................................ 10 
Hypothetical Conditions ................................................................................................................. 10 
Client and Intended Users ............................................................................................................. 10 

Intended Use of this Appraisal ....................................................................................................... 11 
Identification of the Real Estate Appraised .................................................................................... 11 
Owner of Record and Sales History .............................................................................................. 11 
Purpose of this Appraisal ............................................................................................................... 12 

Real Property Interest Appraised ................................................................................................... 12 
Type of Value Evaluated ................................................................................................................ 12 
Scope of Work ............................................................................................................................... 12 

Photographs and Maps of Subject Property .................................................................................. 13 
Neighborhood Data........................................................................................................................ 33 

Parcel Data .................................................................................................................................... 37 
Future Land Use Category and Zoning District ............................................................................. 40 
Utilities ........................................................................................................................................... 42 

Census Tract ................................................................................................................................. 42 
Flood Zone ..................................................................................................................................... 42 

Soil Survey ..................................................................................................................................... 43 
Hazardous Materials ...................................................................................................................... 43 

Improvements ................................................................................................................................ 44 
Just Market Value, Taxable Value, and Taxes .............................................................................. 44 

Concurrency .................................................................................................................................. 44 
Highest and Best Use .................................................................................................................... 47 
Valuation Methods ......................................................................................................................... 51 

Sales Comparison Approach (Market Value Assuming Entitlements are in Place) ....................... 53 
Summary of Comparable Land Sales ........................................................................................ 53 

Comparable Land Sales Map .................................................................................................... 60 

Analysis of Comparable Land Sales .......................................................................................... 61 
Summary of Adjustments to Land Sales .................................................................................... 65 
Conclusion of Sales Comparison Approach, Assuming Entitlements are in Place .................... 66 

Income Approach (“As Is” Market Value)....................................................................................... 66 

Holding Period ........................................................................................................................... 66 
Income ....................................................................................................................................... 67 
Holding Costs ............................................................................................................................. 67 

Costs of Sale .............................................................................................................................. 67 
Discount Rate ............................................................................................................................ 68 
Discounted Cash Flow Scenario #1 ........................................................................................... 70 
Discounted Cash Flow Scenario #2 ........................................................................................... 71 
Check on Reasonableness ........................................................................................................ 72 

Summary of Values ....................................................................................................................... 72 
Reconciliation of Values ................................................................................................................ 72 

Page 640 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

7 

Appraised Value ............................................................................................................................ 73 

Estimate of Normal Marketing Period and Exposure Time ............................................................ 74 

A D D E N D U M ........................................................................................................................... 75 
Appraisal Engagement Letter and Purchase Order ................................................................... 76 
Legal Description ....................................................................................................................... 79 
Appraiser’s Qualifications ........................................................................................................... 80 
Appraiser’s License .................................................................................................................... 81 
  

Page 641 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

8 

Summary of Important Facts and Conclusions 
 
Legal Description   Part of Blocks 2 and 3, Florida Farmers Land Company’s 

Subdivision, Plat Book 1, Page 49, Clay County, Florida. See 
complete legal description in the Addendum. 

 
RE #     39-05-25-010097-009-00 
 
Address    2770 Russell Road, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
Location           Russell Road, about 1.1 mile to the northwest of the intersection 

of Sandridge Road, Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
Property Rights Appraised  Fee Simple Interest 
 
Date of Inspection   February 17, 2023 
 
Effective Date of Appraisal  February 17, 2023 
 
Date of Appraisal Report  February 24, 2023 
 
Owner of Record   William D. Gardner, Jr. and Chelsea R. Gardner, husband and 

wife 
 
Approximate Land Area  Wetlands:   21.95 acres 
 Surface Waters:   1.75 acres 
 Upland:  71.32 acres 
 Total:   95.02 acres 
 
Future Land Use Category  Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Zoning District   Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Improvements 22-year old, 2,928 square foot single-family dwelling, out 

buildings, fencing, dirt and gravel driveways, well, and septic 
system. 

Highest and Best Use, 
As Vacant Speculative hold until such time as single-family residential 

development is financially feasible. 
 
As Improved Demolition and removal of existing improvements and 

speculative hold until such time as single-family residential 
development is financially feasible. 

 
“As Is” Market Value1  $7,000,000  

 
1 The opinions of value reported herein are subject to Assumptions and Limiting Conditions beginning on page 9.  

Page 642 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

9 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 
 
▪ The legal description of the subject property included in the Addendum was obtained from 

Warranty Deed recorded in Official Record Book 4348, Page 435 of the public records of 
Clay County, Florida. Said deed, dated August 28, 2020, conveyed the subject property 
from Edward Huamin Ma and Jade Qi Han, husband and wife, to William D. Gardner, Jr. 
and Chelsea R. Gardner, husband and wife. The size of the subject parcel and the 
delineation of the parcel between uplands and wetlands reported herein are based on the 
“Preliminary Due Diligence Wetland and Protected Species Assessment”, dated August 
27, 2021, prepared by Environmental Resource Solutions (ERS Job No. 21166) and the 
Conceptual Site Plan, known as “Russell Road Residential”, created by Kimley-Horn and 
Associates, and the companion Written Statement, reviewed by the Development Review 
Committee of Clay County, dated November 28, 2022. If the subject property’s legal 
description, total land size, or usable upland area is other than reported herein, the 
appraiser’s opinion of the “as is” market value of the subject property may be other than 
reported herein. 
 

▪ The appraiser is not responsible for the title or survey and has disregarded any liens, 
encumbrances and/or encroachments unless specifically set forth. 

 
▪ The property is presumed to be marketable, free and clear, under responsible ownership 

and competent management. 
 
▪ Any sketch or photo is approximate and is merely intended to assist the client in visualizing 

the premises. 
 
▪ No obligation is assumed for the accuracy of tax data, zoning information, or similar 

information supplied by others. 
 
▪ Disclosure of the contents of this report is governed by the Code of Ethics and Standards of 

Professional Practice of the Appraisal Institute.  Neither all nor any part of this report shall 
be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations media, news 
media, sales media or any other means of public communication, without the prior written 
consent and approval of the author. 

 
▪ The appraiser does not agree to give testimony in court relating to this appraisal, except by 

previous agreement. 
 
▪ This appraisal covers only the premises described herein.  Neither the figures therein, nor 

any analysis thereof, nor any unit values thereby derived are to be construed as applicable 
to any other property, however similar the same may be. 

▪ The appraiser has no present or contemplated interest in the subject property. 
 
▪ This report is not contingent upon any predetermined value or finding. 
 
▪ Valuation is made in conformity with the Standards of Professional Practice of the Appraisal 

Institute, a professional organization of which Duncan R. Ennis, Sr., MAI, SRA is a member. 

Page 643 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

10 

▪ Unless otherwise stated in this report, the appraiser did not observe the existence of 
hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the property. The appraiser has 
no knowledge of the existence of such materials on or in the property. The appraiser, 
however, is unqualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances such as 
asbestos, urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, radon or other potentially hazardous 
materials may affect the value of the property. The opinions of value developed herein are 
predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the property that would 
cause a loss in value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any 
expertise of engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain 
an expert in this field, if desired. 

 
▪ This report contains 81 pages. 
 

Extraordinary Assumptions 

 
The 2020-2021 edition of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(USPAP) defines extraordinary assumption as, “an assignment-specific assumption as of 
the effective date regarding uncertain information used in an analysis which, if found to 
be false, could alter the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions”. Per the Appraisal 
Foundation, the 2020-2021 USPAP is effective until December 31, 2023. 
 

▪ The Conceptual Site Plan found on page 32, which illustrates a 235-lot single-family 
residential subdivision on the subject parcel, was relied upon in this appraisal analysis. 
Accordingly, the opinion of “as is” market value developed and reported herein is based 
on the extraordinary assumption the subject parcel is suitable for development of a 
single-family subdivision having 235 lots. If it is later determined the subject parcel is not 
suitable for development of a single-family subdivision with 235 lots, the appraiser’s 
opinion of the “as is” market value of the subject property may be other than reported 
herein. 

 

Hypothetical Conditions 
 

The 2020-2021 edition of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(USPAP) defines hypothetical condition as, “a condition, directly related to a specific 
assignment, which is contrary to what is known by the appraiser to exist on the effective 
date of the assignment results but is used for the purpose of analysis”. Per the Appraisal 
Foundation, the 2020-2021 USPAP is effective until December 31, 2023. 

 

▪ None  
 

Client and Intended Users  
  

Lance Addison, Coordinator, Planning & Intergovernmental Relations, Clay County 
District Schools, is the client of this appraisal assignment. Additional intended users of 
this report are other employees of Clay County District Schools and their consultants, if 
any. Use of this report by anyone else is not intended. 
 

Page 644 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

11 

Intended Use of this Appraisal 
 
The intended use of this appraisal report is to assist the client with evaluating a potential 
purchase price for the subject property. Any other use of this report or the conclusions or 
opinions reported herein is not intended. I will not be responsible for any unintended use 
of this report, or the conclusions or opinions reported herein. 
 
This appraisal report and the opinions and conclusions rendered herein will be held in 
confidence by me and others associated with my firm. 

 

Identification of the Real Estate Appraised 
 

The subject property is a +95.02-acre parcel of land along the southwesterly side of 
Russell Road about 1.1 mile to the northwest of the intersection of Sandridge Road in the 
Lake Asbury section of Clay County, Florida.  
 
Improvements include a 22-year old, 2,928 square foot single-family dwelling, out 
buildings, fencing, dirt and gravel driveways, well and septic system. 
 
The property’s future land use category and zoning district are Lake Asbury Master Planned 
Community (LA MPC). The Lake Asbury Master Plan permits detached single-family 
residential development of the subject parcel  
  

Owner of Record and Sales History 
 

According to the 2022 Clay County Property Appraiser’s records, the subject parcel is 
owned by William D. Gardner, Jr. and Chelsea R. Gardner, husband and wife. Evidence 
of this ownership is Warranty Deed dated August 27, 2020 and recorded in Official Record 
Book 4348, Page 435 of the public records of Clay County, Florida. The was an arm’s-
length transaction.  
 
According to Will Gardner, son of the property owners, the subject parcel had been under 
contract to be acquired by Toll Brothers, a national builder, for approximately $7,500,000. 
The property went under contract in August 2021 and the sale was scheduled to close 
November 7, 2022. Prior to closing, Toll Brothers backed out of the sale. Prior to backing 
out, Toll Brothers engaged Environmental Resource Solutions to prepare a Preliminary 
Due Diligence Wetland and Protected Species Assessment of the subject parcel. Two of 
the exhibits from this report are found on pages 30 and 31. A Conceptual Site Plan 
prepared by Kimley-Horn & Associates, a planning, surveying, engineering, and design  
consulting firm, which illustrates a 235-lot single-family subdivision for the subject parcel, 
is found on page 32. 
 
According to Zell Jones, an individual assisting the property owners with selling the 
subject property, other builders are interested in the subject parcel. 
 
The appraiser is not aware of any other sales, listings for sale, offers, contracts, options, 
leases, or easements pertaining to the subject parcel within the past three years. The 

Page 645 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

12 

appraiser, however, has not conducted a title search. Should more thorough title history 
be desired please consult a title insurance company or other qualified source. 
 

Purpose of this Appraisal 
 

The purpose of this appraisal assignment is to convey an opinion of the “as is” market 
value of the fee simple interest of the subject property. 

 

Real Property Interest Appraised 
 

The property rights appraised herein are the fee simple interest.  Fee simple is defined by 
The Appraisal of Real Estate, Twelfth Edition as "absolute ownership unencumbered by any 
other interest or estate, subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers 
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat". 
 

Type of Value Evaluated 
 

The opinion of “as is” market value is developed herein and is subject to the Assumptions 
and Limiting Conditions beginning on page 9. Market value is defined on page 5 of this 
appraisal report 
 

Scope of Work 
 

The problem to be solved, and the purpose of this appraisal assignment, is to develop an 
opinion of the “as is” market value of the subject property. As defined in the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), the scope of work is “the type and 
extent of research and analyses in an assignment.” In preparing this appraisal, the 
appraiser: 
 
▪ Inspected and photographed portions of the subject property; 
▪ Gathered regional, city, county, and neighborhood data;  
▪ Researched the subject’s legal and physical characteristics; 
▪ Gathered information regarding sales of comparable properties; 
▪ Analyzed the data to develop the opinion of market value. 
 
After analyzing the data collected, and considering the subject’s legally permissible, 
physically possible, economically feasible and maximally productive uses, the appraiser 
developed an opinion of the highest and best use of the subject parcel, as if vacant, and 
as improved. 
 
In accordance with the appraiser’s determination of an appropriate scope of work for this 
assignment, the best method for developing an indication of the market values of the 
parcel are the Sales Comparison Approach and Income Approach (Discounted Cash 
Flow Analysis). 
 
The Cost Approach is not useful to this assignment and is omitted. The appraisal process 
was developed in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 

Page 646 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

13 

(USPAP). 
 
In accordance with the written engagement for this appraisal assignment, the results of the 
appraisal process are communicated to the client in an Appraisal Report that is intended 
to comply with the reporting requirements set forth under Standards Rule 2-2(a) of the 
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP). This report presents 
summary discussions of the data and analyses utilized in developing the opinion of “as 
is” market value. The data and analyses are maintained in my work file. The depth of 
discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client and for the intended 
use as stated within the report. I am not responsible for unauthorized use of this report. 
The appraisal process was developed in conformity with the requirements of the USPAP, 
and the results are considered credible. 

 
Photographs and Maps of Subject Property 
 

The following were taken by the appraiser on February 17, 2023. 

  

Page 647 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

14 

95.02-Acre Parcel 
2770 Russell Road 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 

 

 

 

 
   

Upland area with residential cut  Driveway entrance near middle of frontage 
along Russell Road 

   

 

 

 
 

View southeasterly along Russell Road; 
subject at right 

  
View northwesterly along Russell Road; 

subject at left 

 
  

Page 648 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

15 

95.02-Acre Parcel 
2770 Russell Road 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 

 

 

 

 
   

Driveway entrance at northwesterly end of 
subject parcel 

 View southeasterly along Russell Road; 
subject at right 

   

 

 

 
 

View northwesterly along Russell Road; 
subject at left 

  
Driveway leading from Russell Road to 

vacated residential improvements 

 
  

Page 649 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

16 

95.02-Acre Parcel 
2770 Russell Road 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 

 

 

 

 
   

Vacated residential improvements  1.75-acre man-made pond 

   

 

 

 
 

Demolished pole barn near northwesterly end 
of parcel 

  
Wetland at extreme northwesterly end of 

parcel 

 
  

Page 650 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

17 

95.02-Acre Parcel 
2770 Russell Road 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 

 

 

 

 
   

Upland pasture bisected by finger of wetland  Wooded wetland along southeasterly portion 
 of parcel just beyond the cleared upland 

   

 

 

 
 

Wetland area in southeasterly portion of 
parcel 

  
Upland area in southeasterly portion of parcel 

 
  

Page 651 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

18 

Florida Area 

 

 

Page 652 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

19 

Duval County & Clay County Area 

 

 
 

Page 653 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

20 

Neighborhood Area 

 

 
 

The subject neighborhood, as defined herein, is the Lake Asbury Master Plan Area (see exhibit 
on page 23), which is similar the boundaries of Zip Code 32043 depicted above. 

Page 654 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

21 

Clay County GIS Map 

 

 

  

Page 655 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

22 

Clay County GIS Map with Aerial Overlay 

 

 
 

  

Page 656 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

23 

2040 Lake Asbury Master Plan Area 
 

 

 
  

Page 657 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

24 

Portion of Planned Development Projects (09/15/21 – 01/11/23) Showing the 
Lake Asbury Area; Created by Clay County GIS Department 1/11/23 

 

  

Page 658 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

25 

Clay County GIS Map with Future Land Use Category Overlay 
 

 
 

The subject parcel’s future land use category is Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA 
MPC) 

 

Page 659 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

26 

Clay County GIS Map with Zoning District Overlay 

 

 

The subject parcels’ zoning district is Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC). 

 

 

Page 660 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

27 

Flood Zone Map 
12019C0160E, Dated March 17, 2014 

 

 
 
It appears portions of the property are in Flood Zone “X”, a minimal flood hazard area. It also 
appears portions of the property are in Flood Zone “AE”, a special flood hazard area. 
  

Page 661 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

28 

Florida Department of Environmental Protection Contamination Locator 
Map 

 

 
 

As shown, while no contamination on the subject property is indicated, there are contaminated 
properties in the area. 

  

Page 662 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

29 

Illustration of the Subject Parcel’s Boundaries according to the Legal 
Description Found in the Addendum 

 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 663 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

30 

Exhibit No. 3 Prepared by Environmental Resource Solutions, Dated August 18, 2021, for Toll Brothers 

 

  

Page 664 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

31 

Exhibit No. 4 Prepared by Environmental Resource Solutions, Dated August 18, 2021, for Toll Brothers 

 

 

Page 665 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

32 

Conceptual Site Plan Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., for Toll Brothers 

 

 

 
40’ lots:    46 

50’ lots:    98 

60’ lots:    91 

Total Lots:  235   

Page 666 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

33 

Neighborhood Data 
 

The subject of this appraisal is a 95.02-acre parcel of land located along the southwesterly 
side of Russell Road (CR 209) about 1.1 miles to the northwest of the intersection of 
Russell Road and Sandridge Road in the Lake Asbury section of Clay County, Florida. In 
this instance, neighborhood boundaries coincide with the boundaries of the Lake Asbury 
Master Planned Area (LAMPA), which are illustrated on page 20 and 23.  
 
The following description of the subject neighborhood was obtained from the Introduction to 
the Lake Asbury Master Plan. 
 

The Lake Asbury Master Development Plan project was initiated as a partnership 
between County government and the community in consensus building and visioning. 
The project consisted of the preparation of a master development plan representing 
the ultimate buildout of the Lake Asbury Master Plan Area (LAMPA). The residents of 
the greater Lake Asbury area expressed concern regarding protection of the area’s 
natural resources, maintaining the quality of life they currently enjoy, and the ability of 
the community to grow in a controlled manner. This process brought together people 
with diverse interests to build a consensus for growth management, urban form, long 
range planning and environmental protection. 
 
The LAMPA consists of 30,293 acres of which roughly 18,000 acres are largely 
undeveloped. The area consists of unincorporated portions of central Clay County 
within the Lake Asbury/Penney Farms Planning District. The area is bounded by 
Peters Creek on the east, Black Creek to the north and west, and State Road 16 to 
the south. 
 
Northeast Florida continues to experience suburban sprawl. Conventional planning 
has failed to contain the spread of ex-urban growth around the greater Jacksonville 
metropolitan area. The sector study or “buildout” plan provides a long-term response 
to future growth. This approach can ensure that growth will occur in a more orderly 
and attractive way than the piecemeal development that would normally occur. This 
plan promotes a community designed to reduce the importance of the automobile. 
This is accomplished by design that allows a greater variety of land uses closer to 
work and home and provides ample opportunities to connect those land uses with 
walkways and bicycle paths. 
 
The Master Development Plan for Lake Asbury recommends a blend of rural and 
planned suburban growth. The eastern half of the LAMPA will include mixed-use 
master planned communities that are more urban in character, along with an 
employment district. The Plan designates the western half of the LAMPA as primarily 
low-density areas, with rural residential lands complimented by the conservation 
network of greenways. The Lake Asbury plan provides for a self- supporting 
community that consists of a mix of recreational, commercial, civic and residential 
uses. This Plan reduces the need to utilize the regional road network by providing a 
greater variety of land uses, preserving the area’s natural resources, and creating 
opportunities for pedestrian and bicycle uses. The goal of providing improved 

Page 667 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

34 

accessibility between home, work, schools and shopping will in turn, translate into 
reduced commuting time, decreased reliance on the automobile, and protection of 
natural resources. The Plan acts to discourage sprawl by guiding development into 
the form of villages, with central places of higher densities and intensities and 
peripheral neighborhoods of lower density. 
 
Greenways and “Greenbelts” are utilized as village boundaries, further providing a 
sense of place. This edge exists around the greater LAMPA area and will also be 
utilized within the area to form natural edges to villages. Greenbelts and conservation 
areas will add to the greater greenway system to provide for an extensive network of 
protected open space and wildlife corridors. The Asbury Greenway guidelines support 
wildlife, enhance water quality, capture stormwater, and provide scenic vistas as well 
as passive recreational opportunities. In short, the Lake Asbury Master Plan will help 
to preserve the distinctive character of the area in the face of future steady population 
growth. 

 
At the subject’s location, Russell Road (CR 209) is a +130-foot-wide right-of-way improved 
with two paved travel lanes, open roadside drainage ditches, and overhead electric lines. 
Near the subject’s location, shoulder work and installation of guard rails along Russell Road 
between Sandridge Road and Bradley Creek were recently completed. Future nearby 
roadway projects include adding lanes to Russell Road between Sandridge Road and 
Peters Creek and adding lanes to Sandridge Road between Russell Road and Henley Road. 
While these projects are in the design phase, the Russell Road project is scheduled to be 
completed in the Fall of 2025 and the Sandridge Road project is scheduled to be completed 
in the Fall of 2024. The 2021 annual average daily traffic (AADT) along Russell Road at the 
subject’s location was 11,000. 
 
A major nearby roadway project is the extension of the First Coast Expressway between 
Blanding Boulevard (SR 21) and Shands Bridge, which crosses the St. Johns River between 
Clay County and St. Johns County. At present, the First Coast Expressway is open between 
Blanding Boulevard in Clay County and Interstate Highway 10 in Duval County 
(Jacksonville). The extension of the expressway through Clay County is scheduled for 
completion by 2025. The nearest access to the expressway will be an interchange with 
Henley Road, about 2.5 road miles from the subject property. Sandridge Road passes 
beneath the expressway, about three road miles from subject property. The expressway’s 
new bridge across the St. Johns River is scheduled for completion in 2029.  
 
As stated above, the Lake Asbury area is a developing rural area that has experienced 
very considerable residential development in recent years. Some of the recent subdivision 
activity in the Lake Asbury area is summarized below. Each of these subdivisions is for 
detached single-family dwellings. The exhibit on page 24 illustrates recent subdivision 
development in the Lake Asbury area. 
 

Page 668 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

35 

Date

of Land # #

Name Location Sale Acres Lots Builder

Lee East N. side Sandridge Rd. 1.1 

miles W. of Russell Rd.

Jun-2022 63.97 193 Lennar

Russell Retreat S. side Russell Rd. 2.5 miles 

NW of Sandridge Rd. & 1.3 

miles E. of Henley Rd.

May-2022 19.27 51 Lennar

Sandridge Hills N. side Sandridge Rd. 1.5 

miles W. of Russell Rd.

Mar-2022 66 197 Mattamy

Hyland Trail E. side of Henley Rd. 1 mile 

south of Russell Rd. & .9 mile 

north of Sandridge Rd.

Dec-2021 747.52 1,500 Green 

Pointe 

Developers

Shadow Crest at 

Rolling Hills

South end of existing units in 

Rolling Hills, along S. side of 

Sandridge Rd. 2 miles west of 

Russell Rd.

Oct-2021 79.84 247 Adams

Robinson Ranch N. side Sandridge Rd. 1/2 

mile west of Russell Rd.

Jul-2021 200 347 American 

Homes 4 

Rent

Bradley Creek S. side Russell Rd. 3 miles 

NW of Sandridge Rd. & .7 

mile E. of Henley Rd.

Apr-2021 55.13 100 Pulte

Granary Park 

Phase 1

S. side Sandridge Rd. 1.2 

miles W. of Russell Rd.

Dec-2020 129.98 238 Lennar

 
 
While extensive subdivision development for detached single-family dwellings has 
occurred in recent years in the Lake Asbury area, no development for attached single-
family dwellings has occurred. However, according to Beth Carson, Chief Planner, 
Planning and Zoning Division, of the Economic  & Development Services Department of 
Clay County, two townhome developments are currently under consideration in Lake 
Asbury, summarized as follows: 
 

• The 40-acre tract at the northwest corner of Russell Road and Sandridge Road, 
which is 8/10-mile to the southeast of the subject property, is one of the Village 
Centers in the Lake Asbury Master Planned Community. As such, commercial 
development of this parcel is legally permissible. According to Joseph Lentz, with 
Cushman & Wakefield, 34 acres are under contract for development of 274 
townhome units, which reflects density of about 8 units per acre. The contract price 
is $8,220,000, or $30,000 per unit. The remaining 6 acres at the immediate 
intersection of Russell Road and Sandridge Road, which is commercially zoned, 
will be sold later. 
 

• A 9.33-acre parcel in the northeast quadrant of Sandridge Road and First Coast 
Expressway, which is also part of a designated Village Center in the Lake Asbury 
Planned Community, is under consideration for development of 80 townhomes. 

Page 669 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

36 

This project reflects density of 8 units per acre. The appraiser was unable to obtain 
any information regarding a pending sale of the property. As stated above, upon 
completion of the expressway, Sandridge Road will pass beneath the expressway. 
There will not be an interchange at this location. 

 
As depicted on pages 23, 25, and 26, the nearest other designated Village Center is along 
the northeasterly side of Russell Road just to the south and east of the subject property. 
 
Properties along Russell Road near the subject include rural type single-family dwellings, 
Clay County Shrine Club, River City K-9, and a small plant nursery. Anabelle Island 
subdivision, which is currently undergoing horizontal construction and construction of 
detached single-family dwellings, will have entrances along Russell Road and Sandridge 
Road. This subdivision is adjacent to the southeast of the subject property. 
 
Construction of homes is also underway in Cross Creek, a subdivision for detached 
single-family dwellings. The subdivision has entrances along the south side of Sandridge 
Road and the westerly side of Russell Road.  
 
Other development along Sandridge Road includes Russell Baptist Church, Russell 
Haven Cemetery, Russell Haven Funeral Home, Ronnie Van Zant Memorial Park, and 
three older, built-out subdivisions known as Silver Creek, Russell Oaks, and Meadow 
Lake.  
 
Development at the intersection of Sandridge Road and Henley Road includes Lake 
Asbury Food Mart, which has fuel sales, and Asbury Commons, a neighborhood shopping 
center anchored by Winn Dixie Supermarket. More extensive retail development is along 
CR 220 at US Highway 17 on Fleming Island, approximately 10 miles to the northeast of 
the subject property. 
 
By roadways, the nearest public schools to the subject property are as follows: 
 

Lake Asbury Elementary School: Sandridge Road, 4.6 miles to the west; 

Lake Asbury Junior High School: Sandridge Road, 4.4 miles to the west; and 

Clay High School: State Road 16 West, 8.2 miles to the south. 

 
According to Beth Carson, Chief Planner, Clay County Zoning Department, public schools 
serving the Lake Asbury area are at capacity. As such, development of any parcels not 
having reserved capacity, will have to “pay to play”, that is, make a payment to fund 
construction of additional schools to serve the Lake Asbury area. 
 
Selected demographics for the subject neighborhood, which are shown in the following 
table, were obtained from the Home Town Locator website and other sources. 
 

Page 670 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

37 

2000 2010 %∆ 2022 %∆ 2000 2010 %∆ 2022 %∆

Population 19,272 24,632 28% 33,540 36% 140,814 190,854 36% 223,799 17%

Total Households 7,057 8,825 25% 12,001 36% 50,243 68,792 37% 80,920 18%

Per Capita Income $19,588 $39,129 100% $20,868 $37,811 81%

Median Home Value $96,400 $255,004 165% $97,400 $244,083 151%

Zip Code 32043 Clay County

Census Data

 
 
As shown above, between 2000 and 2010, the county’s population increased 36%, and 
the neighborhood’s population increased 28%. Between 2010 and 2022, the county’s 
population increased 17%, while the neighborhood’s population increased 36%. 
 
Between 2000 and 2010, the number of households in the county increased 37%. During 
the same period, the number of households in the neighborhood increased 25%. Between 
2010 and 2022, the number of households in the county increased 18%, while the number 
of households in the neighborhood increased 36% 
 
As evidenced by these figures, between 2010 and 2022, the subject neighborhood 
outpaced the county in terms of population and household gains. In consideration of the 
number of single-family subdivisions currently under development, or planned for 
development, in Lake Asbury, future gains of population and households should be 
expected. 
 
Per capita income in the subject neighborhood was slightly lower than per capita income 
in the county in 2000, but by 2022 per capita income in the neighborhood was higher than 
per capita income in the county. 
 
Similarly, in 2000, median home value in the subject neighborhood was slightly lower than 
median home value in the county, but by 2022, median home value in the neighborhood 
was higher than median home value in the county. 
 
No adverse neighborhood characteristics are known. It is anticipated the Lake Asbury area 
continue to experience strong gains of population and households. With the influx of new 
housing, commercial development in the neighborhood should be expected. 

 

Parcel Data 
 

The following description of the subject property is based on the legal description found 
in the Addendum, the Preliminary Due Diligence Wetland and Protected Species 
Assessment (“PDDWPSA”) prepared by Environmental Resource Solutions, the 
Conceptual Site Plan known as Russell Road Residential (“RRR”) and the companion 
Written Statement, created by Kimley-Horn and Associates, and the appraiser’s on-site 
inspection.  Note the PDDWPSA and RRR were prepared for Toll Brothers, a national 

Page 671 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

38 

home builder. 
 
The subject parcel is located along the southwesterly side of Russell Road (CR 209), about 
1.1 miles to the northwest of the intersection with Sandridge Road. The right-of-way of 
Russell Road at the subject’s location has width of about 130 feet. The right-of-way is 
improved with a two-lane asphalt-paved roadway, open road-side drainage ditches, and 
overhead electric lines. The 2021 annual average daily traffic (AADT) along Russell Road 
near the subject parcel was 11,000. 
 
The subject parcel extends approximately 3,858.55 feet along the southwesterly side of 
Russell Road. The southeasterly boundary has depth of 1,692.69 feet. The northwesterly 
boundary, which is irregular, has total depth of about 619.61 feet. The southwesterly, or rear, 
boundary extends a total distance of 4,515.19. feet.  
 
At present, two dirt and lime rock driveways extend into the subject parcel from Russell 
Road.  
 
Bradley Creek, a tributary of Black Creek, extends along a portion of the subject parcel’s 
northwesterly boundary.  
 
Elevation of the parcel is between about sea level and 22 feet or so above sea level. The 
lower elevations are within Bradley Creek at the northwesterly end of the parcel, and within 
the small creeks in the southeasterly end of the parcel. Portions of the parcel have been 
cleared and portions of the parcel are wooded. Man-made ditches also traverse portions of 
the subject parcel. Some of the upland areas at the southeasterly end of the parcel are 
isolated, that is, cut off by wetland from the interior upland areas. 
 
Wetlands are defined by the State of Florida as follows: 
 

“Wetlands,” as defined in Section 373.019(25), F.S., means those areas that are 
inundated or saturated by surface water or ground water at a frequency and a duration 
sufficient to support, and under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of 
vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soils. Soils present in wetlands 
generally are classified as hydric or alluvial, or possess characteristics that are 
associated with reducing soil conditions. The prevalent vegetation in wetlands 
generally consists of facultative or obligate hydrophytic macrophytes that are typically 
adapted to areas having soil conditions described above. These species, due to 
morphological, physiological, or reproductive adaptations, have the ability to grow, 
reproduce or persist in aquatic environments or anaerobic soil conditions. Florida 
wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bayheads, bogs, cypress domes and 
strands, sloughs, wet prairies, riverine swamps and marshes, hydric seepage slopes, 
tidal marshes, mangrove swamps and other similar areas. Florida wetlands generally 
do not include longleaf or slash pine flatwoods with an understory dominated by saw 
palmetto. 

Rulemaking Authority 373.421 FS. Law Implemented 373.421, 373.4211 FS. History–
New 7-1-94, Formerly 17-340.200. 

Page 672 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

39 

The opinion of “as is” market value developed and reported herein assumes the subject’s 
wetlands cannot be impacted, such as draining, clearing, filling, paving, etc. unless 
mitigated. Wetlands Mitigation is defined by the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection as follows: 
 

A wetland enhancement, restoration, creation and/or preservation project that serves 
to offset unavoidable wetland impacts is known as wetland mitigation or compensatory 
mitigation. The ecological benefits of a mitigation project should compensate for the 
functional loss resulting from the permitted wetland impact. The Uniform Mitigation 
Assessment Method (UMAM) provides a standardized procedure for assessing the 
ecological values and functions of wetlands and other surface waters.  Compensatory 
mitigation activities may include, but are not limited to, onsite mitigation, offsite 
mitigation, Regional Offsite Mitigation Areas (R.O.M.A) and the purchase of mitigation 
credits from permitted mitigation banks.  A breakdown of habitat types and available 
credits for each bank permitted by the department is available on our Mitigation Bank 
Ledger page.  

 
According to the Preliminary Due Diligence Wetland and Protected Species Assessment 
(PDDWPSA), the subject parcel is comprised of five distinct upland areas totaling 
approximately 71.32 acres and four distinct wetland or surface water areas totaling 
approximately 23.70 acres. The PDDWPSA indicates the subject parcel contains a total 
of 95.02 acres. The upland areas are comprised of a +1.80-acre home site, +25.67 acres 
of mowed and maintained pasture, +24.56 acres of upland forest, which is predominantly 
pine-dominated canopy, +2.86 acres of a mixture of pine, hard woods, wax myrtle and 
other trees and underbrush, and +16.43 acres of planted pine. The wetland areas are 
comprised of a +1.75-acre man-made lake, +8.08 acres of stream and lake swamp 
wetland located at the westerly end of the parcel, +12.43-acres comprised of two isolated 
wetlands in the northeastern portion of the parcel and a contiguous wetland strand along 
the southern boundary in the central portion of the parcel, and +1.44 acres comprised of 
two non-forested wetland. According to the PDDWPSA, all the 21.95 acres of wetland 
communities are jurisdictional under the Florida Statewide Environmental Resource 
Permitting (“SWERP”) program administered by the St. Johns River Water Management 
District (“STRWMD”). SWERP permitting with STRWMD will be required for any proposed 
impacts to on-site wetland, and mitigation will be required for wetland impacts.  
 
According to the Conceptual Site Plan (see page 32), known as Russell Road Residential 
(RRR), the subject parcel contains +95.6 acres, comprised of +23 acres of wetlands and 
+72.5 acres of upland. The Conceptual Site Plan found, which illustrates a 235-lot single-
family residential subdivision on the subject parcel, was relied upon in this appraisal 
analysis. Accordingly, the opinion of “as is” market value developed and reported herein 
is based on the extraordinary assumption the subject parcel is suitable for development 
of a single-family subdivision having 235 lots. If it is later determined the subject parcel is 
not suitable for development of a single-family subdivision with 235 lots, the appraiser’s 
opinion of the “as is” market value of the subject property may be other than reported 
herein. 
 
 

Page 673 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

40 

Future Land Use Category and Zoning District 
 

As shown on pages 25 and 26, the subject property’s future land use category and zoning 
district are Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC).  
 

 
 
 

 

Page 674 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

41 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 675 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

42 

 
 
It is believed and assumed development of the subject parcel in a manner otherwise 
permitted by the LA MPC future land use category and zoning district is legally 
permissible. 
 

Utilities 
 
Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc. provides electric utility to the subject property.  
 
Community water and sewer utilities are not currently connected to the subject property. At 
present, water utility is provided by on-site well and site septic systems. 
 
Clay County Utility Authority has community water and sewer utilities in the immediate 
neighborhood, including Annabel Island, a single-family subdivision that is adjacent to the 
southeast of the subject property. That portion of Annabel Island immediately adjacent to 
the subject parcel has not yet been subdivided.  
 
Extension of community water and sewer utilities to the property will be necessary if the 
property is to be developed with a residential subdivision.  
 

Census Tract 
 
According to the Bureau of Census website, the subject is in Census Tract 12 109 312, 
where: 12 = Florida, 109 = Clay County, and 312 = Census Tract. 

 
Flood Zone 
 

According to the www.fema.gov website, 
 
 Flood hazard areas identified on the Flood Insurance Rate Map are identified as a 

Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). SFHA are defined as the area that will be 
inundated by the flood event having a 1-percent chance of being equaled or 

Page 676 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

43 

exceeded in any given year. The 1-percent annual chance flood is also referred to 
as the base flood or 100-year flood. SFHAs are labeled as Zone A, Zone AO, Zone 
AH, Zones A1-A30, Zone AE, Zone A99, Zone AR, Zone AR/AE, Zone AR/AO, 
Zone AR/A1-A30, Zone AR/A, Zone V, Zone VE, and Zones V1-V30. Moderate 
flood hazard areas, labeled Zone B or Zone X (shaded) are also shown on the 
FIRM, and are the areas between the limits of the base flood and the 0.2-percent-
annual-chance (or 500-year) flood. The areas of minimal flood hazard, which are 
the areas outside the SFHA and higher than the elevation of the 0.2-percent-
annual-chance flood, are labeled Zone C or Zone X (unshaded). 

 
As shown on page 27, portions of the subject parcel are in Flood Zone “X”, a minimal 
flood hazard area, and portions of the parcel are in Flood Zone “AE”, a special flood 
hazard area. The flood prone areas are associated with creeks that flow northerly into 
Black Creek. 
 
Note the appraiser is not qualified to certify the subject’s flood zone(s). Should certification 
be desired please consult a surveyor or other qualified source. 

 
Soil Survey 
 

No soil boring tests or composition analysis was supplied to determine the developmental 
potential or the soil carrying capacity of the subject parcel.  
 
A soil analysis is beyond the appraiser's scope of expertise; therefore no responsibility is 
taken for the detection of hidden or unapparent subsoil conditions. A qualified engineer 
should be consulted to determine the soil composition and carrying capacity. 
 
The opinion of “as is” market value developed and reported herein assumes development 
of a 235-lot single-family residential subdivision is physically possible and legally permissible 
as allowed by the LA MPC future land use category and zoning district. 

 

Hazardous Materials 
 
The appraiser was not informed of any hazardous materials on the subject site, nor did 
inspection indicate the presence of any hazardous materials. However, it is recommended 
an environmental audit be undertaken to verify if any site contamination exists.   

 
As shown on the Contamination Locator Map found on page 28, no contamination is 
indicated to be on the subject parcel. 
 
An environmental audit is beyond the appraiser's scope of expertise. Therefore, no 
responsibility is taken for the detection of any hidden or unapparent hazardous conditions. 
The opinion of value developed in this report is predicated on the assumption there are no 
materials on or in the subject parcel that would cause a loss in value. 
 

  

Page 677 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

44 

Improvements 
 

The subject property is improved with a 22-year old, 2,928 square foot single-family 
dwelling, out buildings, fencing, dirt and gravel driveways, well, and septic system. 
 
The buildings have been vacated and any remaining value in the existing improvements 
is considered off set by the cost of demolition and removal. 

 

Just Market Value, Taxable Value, and Taxes 
 

The subject property is on the 2022 Clay County Tax Roll as follows: 
 

2022 Total

Just 2022 2022 2022 2022 Non-Ad Taxes

Market Assessed Taxable Millage Gross Valorem and

RE# Value Value Value Rate Taxes (1) Fees (2) Fees Paid

010097-009-00 $4,850,122 $612,922 $562,922 0.0087984 $4,952.81 + $210.30 = $5,163.11 no

$4,850,122 $612,922 $587,922 0.0064190 $3,773.87 + $0.00 = $3,773.87 no

Total 0.0152174 $8,726.68 $210.30 $8,936.98

(1) Taxes for county services and the St. Johns River Water Management District are based on the 

subject's total taxable value of $562,922. Taxes for the Clay County School District are based on the total 

taxable value of $587,922.

(2) Non-Ad Valorem Fees are for solid waste disposal and recycling.

 
No delinquent taxes pertaining to prior years are shown on the Clay County Tax Collector’s 
website. 
 
Assessments in the State of Florida are required to be 100% of estimated market value, 
less certain allowable reductions such as closing costs. Taxes are due in March of the 
year following the assessment. If paid in November of the tax-year, a 4% discount is 
applied. Lesser discounts are applied if taxes are paid after November of the tax-year and 
before March of the following year. 
 

Concurrency 
 

Growth Management and Concurrency are extremely important issues to all property 
owners in the State of Florida.  Each local government, by State law, will have to meet 
minimum "levels of service" for City Departments such as Public Utilities, Public Works, 
Recreation and the Transportation Division to satisfy State requirements. Before a 
proposed development receives necessary permitting, a process to determine the impact 
of upon the levels of service is required.  If the proposed development meets minimum 
standards required by the State and the City, the proposed development is said to be 
concurrent.  If the level of service is not concurrent, then the proposed development of 
the site will be detained until the level of service is adequate.  The State is hopeful this 
plan will eliminate problems that stem from uncontrolled growth.  For example, during the 

Page 678 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

45 

1980's, high growth communities as Orlando, Tampa/St. Petersburg, Miami/Ft. 
Lauderdale and the Southeast District of Jacksonville were weakened in terms of 
infrastructure and quality of life; a prime example of ineffectual growth management and 
city planning. 
 
A column in the September 15, 1991 issue of "Realtor News", discussed the concurrency 
issue.  Don Neal, a member of the Commercial investment Division, states: 
 
"Every newly planned project is faced with the question of whether capacity still exists on 
roads, in water and sewer service and in the host of other services which must be 
provided under concurrency." 
 

The Concurrency Process 
 

The Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Chapter 163 (Part II), Florida Statutes, 1989, requires all local governments to adopt a 
comprehensive plan. This plan will regulate the development of land within each local 
government's jurisdiction. 
 

Changes to Concurrency 
 

As reported in the April 29, 2011 edition of the Jacksonville Business Journal, “the laws 
that govern Florida’s growth and development patterns are getting an overhaul”. On April 
28, 2011, Governor Rick Scott signed legislation that repeals the state’s concurrency 
laws. In the same article, Tim Chaplin, Chairman of the Department of Urban and 
Regional Planning at Florida State University stated, “The new legislation removes the 
state’s role in the planning process”. Bill Killingsworth, Jacksonville’s Director of Planning 
and Development, stated, “There’s still a requirement to demonstrate concurrency. The 
legislation didn’t get rid of that – it gives greater flexibility at the local level.” 
 
In an article in the February 11, 2011 edition of the Jacksonville Business Journal, Wyman 
Duggan, chairman, Governmental and Regulatory Law Department, Rogers Towers, 
P.A., stated, “There’s no question [the mobility fee] can help spur in-fill and urban 
redevelopment because it will simply be less expensive”.  

 
Clay County Concurrency 
 

On July 22, 2008, the Board of County Commissioners of Clay County, Florida adopted 
Ordinance 2008-31, thereby creating Article XI of the Clay County Land Development 
Code to adopt public school concurrency management and proportionate share mitigation 
requirements. One of the purposes of this Ordinance is to ensure that adequate Public 
School Facilities will be in place or under actual construction as new development occurs, 
or within 3 years after the issuance of a building permit, by providing a mechanism to 
implement Proportionate Share Mitigation for Public School Facilities where needed. No 
Development Proposal will be approved by the County unless a Finding of Available 
School Capacity and the School Concurrency Letter is first obtained. 
 

Page 679 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

46 

If the School District Designee determines that no Available School Capacity exists to 
accommodate the Development Proposal and no Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement has been accepted for the School District’s and County’s execution, the 
School District Designee shall issue a School Concurrency Deficiency Letter, and no 
School Concurrency Allocation shall be reserved on the Development Review Table. 
 
The amount of Proportionate Share Mitigation required from an applicant shall be 
calculated by applying the student generation rate multiplier to the Cost per Student 
Station Estimate for each school type (elementary, middle and high) for which there is not 
sufficient School Capacity.  
 
Even when the public schools have capacity to facilitate additional development, new 
single-family development incurs school Impact Fees, which are currently $7,034 per 
single-family dwelling unit. 
 
All new development in Clay County results in Impact Fees for government jails & 
constitutional facilities, fire & rescue facilities, law enforcement facilities, community 
parks, regional park facilities, and libraries & cultural services.  
 
When Proportionate Share Mitigation is necessary, the Impact Fees are credited. 
 

Conclusion 
 

According to Beth Carson, Chief Planner, Clay County Zoning Department, and Lance 
Addison, Coordinator, Planning & Intergovernmental Relations, Clay County District 
Schools, the three public schools serving the Lake Asbury area are at capacity. According 
to Mr. Addison, the cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation, or fair share cost, to obtain 
concurrency for the subject property is calculated as follows: 
 
   # Seats   x Cost per Seat   Fair Share Cost 

Elementary school:    69   $41,000     = $2,829,000 
 
Junior high school:     22  $48,300     =   1,062,600 
 
High school:     43  $50,500     =   2,171,500 
 
Total Seats:  134 
 
Gross Cost:       $6,063,100 
 
Less Credit for Impact Fees: 235 lots x $7,034 = -1,652,990 
 
Net Cost:       $4,410,110 
 
Also according to Mr. Addison, the soonest one or two new schools can be constructed in 
the Lake Asbury area is 2026-2027. Until sufficient classroom space exists in the Lake 
Asbury area, concurrency for development of the 235-lot subdivision illustrated on page 32 

Page 680 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

47 

can be attained only by paying fair share costs as illustrated above. 
 
This net fair share cost for the subject property of $4,410,110 equates to $18,766 per lot for 
the 235-lot subdivision that had been considered for the property. 
 

Highest and Best Use 
 

Highest and Best Use" is defined by Real Estate Appraisal Terminology as:  
 

“that reasonable and probable use that will support the highest present value, 
as defined, as of the effective date of appraisal.  Alternatively, that use, from 
among reasonably probable and legal alternative uses, found to be physically 
possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and which results in the 
highest land value. 
 
The definition immediately above applies specifically to the highest and best 
use of the land.  It is to be recognized in cases where a site has existing 
improvements on it, the highest and best use may very well be determined to 
be different from the existing use.  The existing use will continue, however, 
unless and until the land value in its highest and best use exceeds the total 
value of the property in its existing use. 
 
Implied within these definitions is recognition of the contribution of that specific 
use to community environment or to community development goals in addition 
to wealth maximization of individual property owners.  Also implied is that the 
determination of highest and best use results from the appraiser's judgment 
and analytical skill, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents an 
opinion, not a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest 
and best use represents the premise upon which value is based.  In the context 
of investment value an alternative term would be most profitable use." 

 
In highest and best use analysis, four criteria are considered. The criteria are that the 
highest and best use be (1) legally permissible, (2) physically possible, (3) financially 
feasible and (4) maximally productive. These tests have been applied to the subject 
property in arriving at an opinion of the highest and best use of the subject parcel. 

 
Highest and Best Use, as if Vacant 
 

Legally Permissible 
 
The primary factors that determine legally permissible uses of a parcel are the parcel’s future 
land use category and zoning district. As discussed, the subject parcel has Lake Asbury 
Master Planned Community (LA MPC) future land use category and zoning district. As 
discussed in the Future Land Use Category and Zoning District section of this report, 
detached single-family dwellings are the most common use of property in the LA MPC 
zoning district. Development in Lake Asbury is also subject to the Lake Asbury Overlay 
Standards.  

Page 681 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

48 

In addition to single-family residential, the LA MPC zoning district also permits houses of 
worship, public and private schools, parks, utility sites, and other uses. 
 
The maximum base density for detached single-family development in the LA MPC 
zoning district is 3 units per usable upland acre. Maximum base density for detached 
single-family development may go up to 5 units per usable upland acre through the 
dedication (preservation) of wetland/upland buffers. This increased allowable density is 
sometimes referred to as “bonus density”. 
 
The maximum allowable density of a parcel can only be determined after an 
environmental assessment of the parcel has been completed. 
 
The Conceptual Site Plan (see page 32) and the companion Written Statement prepared 
by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., which were discussed earlier in this report, is 
considered a reasonable representation of potential single-family subdivision 
development of the subject parcel. Clay County’s Development Review Committee 
reviewed the proposed project on November 18, 2021 and approved the project subject 
to additional comments provided by the Committee. The Concept Plan, which was 
approved for a period of three (3) years, will expire November 19, 2024. If there is any 
deviation from the approved Concept Plan, a new plan and written statement will need to 
be submitted and evaluated for approval.  
 
As discussed in the Concurrency section of this report, until sufficient public school 
facilities are in place to support single-family residential development of the subject 
parcel, concurrency for the development can be attained only by paying fair share costs. As 
shown earlier, based on the proposed 235-lot subdivision illustrated on page 32, the total 
net fair share costs would be $4,410,110, or $18,766 per lot. 
 
The appraiser knows of no other legal factors that might impact use of the subject parcel, 
as if vacant. 
 
Physically Possible 
 
A physical description of the subject parcel is found in the Parcel Data section of this report. 
 
Water and sewer utilities are currently provided by an on-site well and septic systems. 
 
Electric utility is currently provided by Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc. 
 
Clay County Utility Authority has community water and sewer utilities in the immediate 
neighborhood, including Annabel Island, a single-family subdivision adjacent to the 
southeast of the subject property. For single-family development to be permitted, community 
water and sewer utilities must be extended to the subject property.  
 
Other than the subject’s unusable wetland and isolated upland areas, no adverse physical 
site conditions are known to exist.  
 

Page 682 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

49 

There are no known conditions of a physical nature that would prevent development of the 
property in a manner permitted by the LA MPC future land use category, the LA MPC zoning 
district, the Lake Asbury Overly Standards, and Concurrency requirements.  
 
Financially Feasible and Maximally Productive 
 
As discussed earlier, in the Neighborhood Data section of this report, the Lake Asbury area 
experienced very considerable single-family residential development in recent years. 
Horizontal construction of single-family lots and construction of new single-family dwellings 
are still underway in the neighborhood. Although the most likely legally permissible and 
physically possible use of the subject parcel is single-family residential development, current 
market conditions are somewhat less favorable today because of changes in market 
conditions during 2021 and 2022. 
 

 Concurrency 
 

As a result of all public schools in the Lake Asbury neighborhood being at capacity, 
sometime in mid-2022, permits for the creation of numerous subdivision lots were no longer 
available until the cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation was paid. As demonstrated earlier, 
these costs can be substantial. 
 
Mortgage Interest Rates 
 
The average interest rate for 30-year fixed-rate mortgages at the end of 2020 was 2.67%. 
By the end of 2021, the interest rate had increased slightly to 3.11%, but by the end of 2022, 
the interest rate had increased significantly to 6.42%. By mid-February 2023, the average 
interest rate for a 30-year fixed-rate mortgage was 6.32%. The last time the year-end 
average interest rate for a 30-year fixed-rate mortgage was above 6% was at the end of 
2007, which marked the beginning of the Great Recession.  
 
Inflation (Consumer Price Index) 
 
Between 2013 and March 2021, the annualized monthly consumer price index (CPI) ranged 
between -.200% and 2.950%. Between 2013 and 2020, the annual CPI was between .119% 
(2015) and 2.443% (2018). In April 2021, the annualized monthly CPI had increased 
significantly, to 4.160% and by December 2021, the annualized monthly CPI had risen to 
7.036%. During 2022, the annualized monthly CPI ranged between 6.454% (December) 
and 9.060% (June). The annual CPI for 2022 was 8.003%. The annualized monthly CPI for 
January 2023 was 6.410%. Note the CPI figure for February 2023 is not yet available. 
 
Single-Family Market 
 
With the average interest rate for a 30-year fixed-rate mortgage now being above 6% and 
with the CPI being above 6%, some would be first-time home buyers cannot afford to 
purchase a home.  
 
According to data extracted from the Northeast Florida Multiple Listing Service database, 

Page 683 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

50 

year-over-year comparison of the six-month period from 8/17/22-2/17/23 (“this year”) with 
the six-month period from 8/17/21-2/17/22 (“last year”), 30% fewer single-family dwellings 
were sold in the Lake Asbury area “this year” compared with “last year”. Although fewer 
single-family dwellings were sold “this year”, the average sale price was 8% greater “this 
year” compared with “last year”. When considering the entire market area in the Northeast 
Florida MLS database, 23% fewer single-family dwellings were sold “this year” compared 
with “last year” and the average sale price was 13% greater “this year” compared with “last 
year”.  
 
A shorter year-over-year comparison from 1/1/23-2/17/23 (“this year”), compared with the 
period from 1/1/22-2/17/22 (“last year”), shows 14% fewer single-family dwellings were sold 
in the Lake Asbury area “this year” compared with “last year”. This shorter year-over-year 
comparison also shows the average sale price in the Lake Asbury area was 12% greater 
“this year” compared with “last year”. When considering the entire market area in the 
Northeast Florida MLS database, 28% fewer single-family dwellings were sold “this year” 
compared with “last year” and the average sale price was 9% greater “this year” compared 
with “last year”. 
 
While the preceding MLS data shows the number of sales of single-family dwellings has 
been declining, the average sale price continued to rise. 
 
(1) Zell Jones, the individual assisting the owner of the subject property with selling the 
property, (2) Jason Sessions, a developer active in Lake Asbury, and (3) Joseph Lentz, 
Senior Director, Cushman & Wakefield, and active land broker in the Lake Asbury area, 
point out demand for land suitable for development of single-family residential lots has 
slowed because the cost of horizontal development has risen around 30% over the past few 
years. The rising costs are likely attributable to elevated inflation and supply chain issues. 
 
As summarized in the following Sales Comparison Approach, the most recent sales of land 
acquired for development of single-family residential lots in Lake Asbury were between 
March and June 2022. These three sales reflect prices in the range of approximately 
$40,001 to $45,001 per proposed lot. Two of these sales were properties that, at the time of 
sale, had entitlements (concurrency) enabling development of lots. One of the sales, a 
relatively small parcel, did not have entitlements at the time of sale. Each of these parcels 
remains undeveloped today.  
 
If a developer wants to develop lots today on a parcel that does not already have 
entitlements, in addition to purchasing land, the developer will also have to pay 
Proportionate Share Mitigation, referred to as “pay to play”. In the case of the subject 
parcel, based on the conceptual site plan found on page 32, the net cost of Proportionate 
Share Mitigation equates to $18,766 per lot.  
 
Conclusion 
 
In consideration of the legally permissible, physically possible, and financially feasible 
uses for the subject parcel, and assuming entitlements are in place that would facilitate 
development of a single-family residential subdivision on the subject parcel, it is estimated 

Page 684 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

51 

the highest and best use of the subject parcel would be for development of single-family 
residential lots in a manner permitted by the LA MPC zoning district.  
 
However, at present, entitlements are not currently in place. To obtain entitlements that 
would facilitate single-family residential development, a developer will incur the additional 
cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation, which would result in single-family residential 
subdivision development not being financially feasible. 
 
Although the client of this appraisal is interested in acquiring the subject parcel for 
development of a public school, or perhaps two public schools, there is not an active and 
discernable market for potential school sites. Additionally, there is not an active and 
discernable market for any of the other uses permitted in the LA MPC zoning district, such 
as houses of worship, private schools, parks, and utility sites. 
 
The highest and best use of the subject parcel, as if vacant, is estimated to be for 
speculative hold until such time as single-family residential subdivision development is 
financially feasible.  

 
Highest and Best Use, as Improved 
 

The subject parcel is improved with a 22-year, 2,928 square foot single-family dwelling, 
out buildings, fencing, dirt and gravel driveways, well, and septic system. 
 
The buildings have been vacated and any remaining value in the existing improvements 
is considered off set by the cost of demolition and removal. 
 
As discussed above, it is estimated the highest and best use of the subject property is for 
speculative hold until such time as single-family residential subdivision development is 
financially feasible.  
 

Valuation Methods 
 
Cost Approach 
 

The Cost Approach is based on the premise that the value of a property can be indicated 
by estimating the current cost to construct a reproduction or replacement, less the amount 
of depreciation evident in the improvements, to which is added the value of the underlying 
land. This approach to value is particularly useful when applied to new or nearly new 
improvements where there is little measurable depreciation. It can also be useful as a test 
of the feasibility of constructing proposed improvements. Current costs for constructing 
improvements are derived from cost estimators, cost estimation publications, builders, 
and contractors. Accrued depreciation is measured by physical observation and market 
research. As previously discussed, any remaining value in the improvements on the 
subject parcel is considered offset by the cost of demolition and removal. As such, the 
Cost Approach is not useful to this assignment and is omitted. 
 
 

Page 685 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

52 

Sales Comparison Approach 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach is properly used where an adequate number of similar 
properties have sold recently or are currently for sale in the subject market. The value 
rendered by this approach results from comparisons of recent sales involving similar 
properties, with adjustments made to the sales prices for various dissimilar elements or 
features, which, in the appraiser's opinion, would influence the value of the property. The 
Sales Comparison Approach is developed below to provide an indication of the market of 
the subject property assuming entitlements are in place that would facilitate single-family 
subdivision development of the parcel. 

 
 Income Approach 
 

The Income Approach is utilized to measure the present value of the future benefits of 
property ownership. The indication of value by this approach results from analyses of 
historical operating data for the subject (when available) and for similar comparable 
properties.  From analysis of this data, income and expenses for the subject property are 
estimated and the resulting net operating income is converted into a present value 
estimate by the process of capitalization.  The rates or factors used for capitalization are 
derived by the investigation of acceptable rates of return reflected by recent transfers of 
comparable properties.  
 
The subject parcel is evaluated herein as vacant land. While the parcel has ability to 
generate rental income from ground rent, considering the typical purchaser of the property 
would be a developer seeking to acquire the parcel for residential subdivision development 
rather than an investor seeking to acquire the property for its ability to generate rental 
income, direct income capitalization is not useful to this assignment and is also omitted. 
 
Discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis, a technique of the Income Approach, however, is 
utilized to provide an indication of the “as is” market value of the subject property. The DCF 
analysis follows the Sales Comparison Approach. 
  

  

Page 686 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

53 

Sales Comparison Approach (Market Value Assuming Entitlements are in 
Place) 
 

An indication of the value of the subject parcel can be developed with the Sales Comparison 
Approach. The Sales Comparison Approach is based on the economic Principle of 
Substitution. The Substitution Principle is established on the theory that the value of a 
property will generally not exceed the cost of acquiring a similar substitute of equal 
desirability. There are three basic steps to the Sales Comparison Approach. 
 

▪ Locate comparable properties in the area that have recently sold or are currently for 
sale. 

 

▪ Compare each sale and listing with the subject property and adjust each sale price 
to compensate for any significant differences as compared to the subject. 

 

▪ Draw a conclusion as to the value of the subject based on the adjusted prices of the 
comparable properties. 

 
 

Summary of Comparable Land Sales 

 
Recent sales of parcels acquired for development of detached single-family dwellings in the 
Lake Asbury area were researched and analyzed. The most recent sales occurred between 
March 3, 2022 and June 1, 2022. At the time of sale, two of the three sales summarized and 
analyzed on the following pages are parcels that had entitlements facilitating single-family 
residential development. One of the sales, a much smaller parcel, did not have entitlements 
at the time of sale. No active listings of sufficiently similar parcels were available for inclusion 
in this report. 
 
The sales are analyzed to support an indication of the value of the subject parcel assuming 
entitlements are available without the extra expense of Proportionate Share Mitigation (“pay 
to play”).  
 
 
 

 

  

Page 687 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

54 

Comparable Land Sale 1 

 

 
Location Northerly side of Sandridge Road 1.6-miles west of Russell Road, 

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
 
Date March 2, 2022 
 
Land Size 67.236 acres (all usable upland) 
 
# Proposed Lots 197 40’ to 50’ lots 
 
Price $7,880,100; $40,001 per lot; $117,201 per usable acre 
 
Grantor Johnny C. Lee, Melanie Lee, Walter M. Rountree, Linda Diana 

Rountree, Janice Redding Claxton, Kathie Redding Lange, Ray Lee, 
and Marilyn Lee 

 
Grantee Mattamy Jacksonville LLC (Cliff Nelson, Vice President) 
 
Recorded Official Record Book 4580, Pages 165, 169, 176, and 180 
 
Legal    Part of Section 23, Township 5 South, Range 25 East, Clay County, 

FL 
 
Parcel # Part of Tax Parcels 23-05-25-010099-002-00,   

Page 688 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

55 

 23-05-25-010099-006-00, 23-05-25-010099-003-00, 
 23-05-25-010099-004-00, 23-05-25-010100-001-00, and 
 23-05-25-010100-002-00 
 
Future Land Use Category Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Zoning District Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Public Utilities Electricity, community water, and sewer utilities were nearby 
 
Financing Cash transaction; estimated to have no effect on sale price 
 
Confirmed Press Release (4/4/22), Lance Addison (Coordinator, Planning & 

Intergovernmental Relations, Clay County District Schools), public 
records, and drive-by inspection 

 
Sales History According to the Clay County Property Appraiser's records, no sales 

of this property occurred within the three-year period prior to this sale 
and no subsequent sales have occurred. 

 
Remarks This parcel, which has frontage of 706.33’ along Sandridge Road, was 

partially cleared and partially wooded. The subdivision proposed for 
this parcel is known as Sandridge Hills. 

 
 According to Lance Addison, at the time of sale, this parcel had 

entitlements for single-family residential development. As of the 
effective date of this appraisal, horizontal development of the parcel 
had not commenced. 

 
  

Page 689 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

56 

Comparable Land Sale 2 

 

 
Location Southerly side of Russell Road, 1.4 miles east of Henley Road, Green 

Cove Springs, Clay County, FL 32043 
 
Date May 19, 2022 
 
Land Size Wetland and Unusable Upland:   1.00 acre 
 Usable Upland:   18.36 acres 
 Total:    19.36 acres 
 
# Proposed Lots 51 (all 50’ lots) 
 
Price $2,142,000; $42,000 per lot; $116,667 per usable acre 
 
Grantor Bradley Creek Holdings, LLC (Allen F. Skinner, Manager) 
 
Grantee Lennar Homes, LLC (U. S. Home LLC, Richard Beckwitt, CEO) 
 
Recorded Official Record Book 4610, Page 726 
 
Legal    Part of Sections 10 and 15, Township 5 South, Range 25 East, Clay 

County, FL 
 
Parcel # 16-05-25-009339-000-00 

Page 690 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

57 

Future Land Use Category Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Zoning District Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Public Utilities Electricity, community water, and sewer utilities were nearby 
 
Financing Cash transaction; estimated to have no effect on sale price 
 
Confirmed Jason Sessions (developer), Lance Addison (Coordinator, Planning & 

Intergovernmental Relations, Clay County District Schools), public 
records, and drive-by inspection 

 
Sales History According to the Clay County Property Appraiser's records, no sales 

of this property occurred within the three-year period prior to this sale 
and no subsequent sales have occurred. 

 
Remarks This parcel, which has frontage of 619.31’ along Russell Road, was 

mostly wooded. The subdivision proposed for this parcel is known as 
Russell Retreat. 

 
 According to Jason Sessions, site plan approval and zoning were in 

place at the time of sale, but civil engineering was not. According to 
Lance Addison, entitlements enabling single-family development of 
this parcel were not in place at the time of sale. As of the effective 
date of this appraisal, horizontal development of the parcel had not 
commenced. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

Page 691 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

58 

Comparable Land Sale 3 

 

 
Location Northerly side of Sandridge Road, 1.1 mile west of Russell Road and 

½-mile east of First Coast Expressway, Green Cove Springs, Clay 
County, FL 32043 

 
Date June 1, 2022 
 
Land Size Wetland:       .70 acre 
 Usable Upland: 63.27 acres 
 Total:  63.97 acres 
 
# Proposed Lots 40’ lots:   38 
 50’ lots: 155 
 Total lots: 193 
 
Price $8,685,200; $45,001 per lot; $137,272 per usable acre 
 
Grantor Charles Randall Lee; Earl W. Lee & Olive E. Lee, husband and wife; 

and Gerald David Livingston & Nancy Earlene Livingston, husband & 
wife 

 
Grantee Lennar Homes, LLC (Scott Keiling, Vice President) 
 
Recorded Official Record Book 4615, Pages 337, 342, and 349 

Page 692 of 843

DRAFT



 

 
 

ennisappraisal.com 

59 

Legal    Part of Section 23, Township 5 South, Range 25 East, Clay County, 
FL 

 
Parcel # 23-05-25-010099-005-01, 23-05-25-010099-008-00, 
 23-05-25-010099-001-00, and 23-05-25-010099-001-01 
 
Future Land Use Category Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Zoning District Lake Asbury Master Planned Community (LA MPC) 
 
Public Utilities Electricity, community water, and sewer utilities were nearby 
 
Financing Cash transaction; estimated to have no effect on sale price 
 
Confirmed Jason Sessions (developer), Lance Addison (Coordinator, Planning & 

Intergovernmental Relations, Clay County District Schools), public 
records, and drive-by inspection 

 
Sales History According to the Clay County Property Appraiser's records, no arm’s-

length sales of this property occurred within the three-year period prior 
to this sale and no subsequent sales have occurred. 

 
Remarks This parcel, which has frontage of 644.01’ along Sandridge Road, was 

mostly wooded. The subdivision proposed for this parcel is known as 
Lee East. 

 
 According to Jason Sessions, site plan approval and zoning were in 

place at the time of sale, but civil engineering was not. According to 
Lance Addison, entitlements enabling single-family development of 
this parcel were in place at the time of sale. As of the effective date 
of this appraisal, horizontal development of the parcel had not 
commenced. 

 
  
  

Page 693 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

60 

Comparable Land Sales Map 

 

 
 
 

  

Page 694 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

61 

Analysis of Comparable Land Sales 

The land sales reflect prices in the range of $40,001 to $45,001 per lot. Sales of other vacant 
parcels acquired for detached single-family units were evaluated, but the data described 
above are considered most comparable to the subject.  
 
The data selected are used in estimating the market value of the subject by making two 
general categories of adjustments. The first category of adjustments is required to estimate 
the market values of the comparable sales as of the date of this appraisal. These 
adjustments are necessary because real estate sometimes sells at a price which is not 
equivalent to its market value at the time it is sold and/or because the market value of the 
comparable property may have changed between the date of sale and the date of the 
appraisal. To accomplish this adjustment, each comparable sale is analyzed in terms of real 
property rights conveyed, financing terms, conditions of sale, and market conditions (date 
of sale).  
 
After the preceding factors have been addressed, each of the comparable sales is then 
compared to the subject property for legal factors, location characteristics, and physical 
characteristics. Because of the imperfect nature of the real estate market, relative 
comparison analysis was used in analyzing the comparable sales. Although the adjustments 
are expressed in the following adjustment grid as percentage amounts, the percentages are 
the result of the appraiser's judgment based on experience with similar properties in the 
northeast Florida market and on the information received when researching the market. 
Because the heterogeneity of the sites that have sold precludes the isolation of individual 
elements of comparison, precise quantified adjustments could not be derived by paired-
sales analysis or other quantitative analytical techniques. The adjustments are summarized 
in the following table. Rationales for the adjustments made are discussed below. 
 
Financing Terms 
 
An adjustment for financing terms may be warranted in such cases as the assumption of 
an existing mortgage at a below market rate, an interest buy-down, or new financing at 
above market or below market rate. A higher than market price is sometimes paid in 
exchange for a lower interest rate and a higher than market interest rate is sometimes 
charged in exchange for a below market selling price.  
 
Each of the sales was a cash transactions, thus no adjustments for financing terms are 
warranted. 

  
 Conditions of Sale 

 
These adjustments result from the motivation of the buyer and seller. If either the buyer or 
seller is under duress, or is otherwise atypically motivated, a proper adjustment must be 
made. The appraiser attempts to utilize sales in which both the buyer and seller are typically 
motivated.  
 
Each of the sales appears to have involved typically motivated buyers and sellers. These 
buyers and sellers do not appear to have been influenced by incentives or atypical 

Page 695 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

62 

conditions of sale. These sales are not adjusted for conditions of sale. 
 
Real Property Rights Conveyed 
 
If other than the fee simple interest is conveyed, for example, if a property is sold subject 
to a lease, the sale should be adjusted to account for the effect, either positive or negative, 
of the lease. The unencumbered fee simple interest in the subject property is evaluated 
herein. 
 
Based on analysis, each of the sales appears to have conveyed a fee simple interest, 
subject only to typical easements for ingress & egress, drainage, or utilities. Adjustments 
to these sales for real property rights conveyed are not warranted. 
 

 Market Conditions (Date of Sale/Time) 
 
Various market forces such as inflation, deflation, and supply and demand affect the value 
of real property over time. In cases where current market conditions indicate that the value 
of a property has changed between the date of sale and the effective date of appraisal, 
an adjustment can be necessary.  
 
While the effective date of this appraisal is February 17, 2023, the three sales occurred 
between March 2022 and June 2022. These are believed to be the most recent sales of 
similar parcels in the Lake Asbury area.  
 
As summarized earlier, with 30-year fixed-rate mortgage interest rates having been above 
6% since the end of 2022, and with the CPI having been above 6% since the end of 2021, 
the number of sales of single-family dwellings has been slowing, but average sale prices 
have continued to rise. 
 
As previously stated, the sales are analyzed to support an indication of the market value 
of the subject parcel assuming entitlements are available without the extra expense of 
Proportionate Share Mitigation (“pay to play”). On this basis, it is estimated market 
conditions are similar today compared with market conditions at the time of the three 
sales. Hence, no adjustments for market conditions are made when developing an 
opinion of the market value of the subject parcel prior to considering Proportionate Share 
Mitigation. 
 
In consideration of the Multiple Listing Service data, each of the sales is adjusted upward 
10% per year to account for rising prices between the date of each sale and the effective 
date of this appraisal. The adjustments are applied daily, based on the number of days 
between the date of each sale and the effective date of this appraisal. 
 
Legal Factors 
 
A parcel's zoning largely dictates its possible uses. Some zoning classifications permit 
more intensive uses than other zoning classifications, and thus, provide a higher income-
producing potential. For example, the uses permitted on a parcel of land zoned for 

Page 696 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

63 

intensive commercial use have the potential to generate a higher return to the land than 
those uses permitted on a parcel of land zoned for residential use. Where significant 
differences exist between the market values of properties with different zonings, this will 
be reflected in the market selling prices. 
 
The subject property, Sale 1, and Sale 3 are parcels having Lake Asbury Master Planned 
Community (LA MPC) future land use category and zoning district. No adjustments to 
Sales 1 and 3 for future land use category or zoning district are warranted. These two 
parcels had entitlements in place at the time of sale and are good indicators of the market 
value of the subject parcel assuming entitlements were in in place as of the effective date 
of this appraisal. 
 
Sale 2 is a parcel having Lake Asbury Rural Fringe (LA RF) future land use category and 
zoning district. Analysis of this sale indicates an adjustment for future land use category 
or zoning district is not warranted. Although this parcel did not have entitlements in place 
at the time of sale, when evaluating the market value of the subject property assuming 
entitlements were in place as of the effective date of this appraisal, an adjustment to the 
sale is not made. Rather, this sale is given least weight. 
 
Other legal factors may include private restrictions, building codes, historic district 
controls, and environmental regulations. When these factors have been determined to 
affect the ability to utilize a site, an adjustment may be warranted. It is believed none of 
these other legal factors have any measurable impact on the value of the subject parcel.  
 
Location Factors 
 
Location factors are primarily a function of time-distance relationships and consumer 
exposure (visibility). Time-distance relationships are based on factors such as proximity to 
major centers of employment, number and availability of community support services (e.g. 
hospitals, schools and parks), presence of service establishments (e.g. shopping centers, 
regional malls, gas and convenience stores), character of neighborhood and neighborhood 
trends (e.g. new construction, land use transitions), etc.  
 
As shown on the map on page 60, the subject parcel and each of the land sales is a property 
within the Lake Asbury area. No location adjustments are warranted. 
 

 Access/Visibility 
 
Access and visibility factors are primarily a function of consumer exposure (visibility). 
Exposure criteria consider frontage along primary, secondary, or tertiary traffic arterials, as 
well as corner characteristics, adjacent land uses, etc.  
 
The subject parcel is located along Russell Road, a county maintained two-lane paved 
roadway having 2021 AADT of 11,000.  
 
Sales 1 and 3 are parcels along Sandridge Road between Russell Road and 1st Coast 
Expressway. This section of Sandridge Road is a county maintained, two-lane paved 

Page 697 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

64 

roadway having 2021 AADT of 7,800. No adjustments are warranted to these sales 
of access/visibility. 
 
Sale 2 is a parcel along Russell Road, just to the north and west of the subject 
property. An adjustment to this sale for access/visibility is not warranted. 
 

 Land Size 
  

Where other factors are similar, size adjustments are made when market information 
indicates there are differences in selling prices based on differences in parcel area. 
Typically, when other characteristics are similar, large properties tend to reflect lower 
prices per acre than small properties. The inverse can be true when a larger parcel can 
support more profitable development. 
 
The subject parcel contains 95.02 acres. The sales are parcels containing between 19.26 
and 67.236 total acres. These parcels were acquired for development of between 51 and 
197 single-family lots. Analysis of these sales indicates size adjustments are not 
warranted. 
 
Utilities 
 
Electric utility is available to the subject parcel and to each of the sales. Community water 
and sewer utilities are nearby to subject parcel and to each of the sales. Adjustments for 
utilities are not warranted. 
 

  

Page 698 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

65 

Summary of Adjustments to Land Sales 

 

Subject Sale 1 Sale 2 Sale 3

Location 2770 Russell Rd., 

Green Cove 

Springs, FL 32043

Sandridge Rd., 

Green Cove 

Springs, FL 32043

Russell Rd., Green 

Cove Springs, FL 

32043

Sandridge Rd., 

Green Cove 

Springs, FL 32043

Appraisal/Sale Date 02/17/23 03/03/22 05/19/22 06/01/22

Sale Price N/A $7,880,100 $2,142,000 $8,685,200

Future Land Use Category LA MPC LA MPC LA RF LA MPC

Zoning District LA MPC LA MPC LA RF LA MPC

Wet & Unusable Acres 12.920 0.000 1.000 0.700

Usable Upland Acres 82.100 67.236 18.260 63.270

Total Acres 95.020 67.236 19.260 63.970

$/Usable Upland Acre N/A $117,201 $117,306 $137,272

# SF Lots 235 197 51 193

Sale Price Per Lot N/A $40,001 $42,000 $45,001

Financing Terms 0% 0% 0%

Conditions of Sale 0% 0% 0%

Property Rights Conveyed 0% 0% 0%

Total Transactional Adj. 0% 0% 0%

Adjusted Price Per Lot $40,001 $42,000 $45,001

Market Condition Adj. 9.62% 7.51% 7.15%

Time Adjusted Lot Price $43,847 $45,153 $48,219

Legal Factors 0% 0% 0%

Location Characteristics  0% 0% 0%

Visibility/Access 0% 0% 0%

Land Size 0% 0% 0%

Utilities 0% 0% 0%

Total Property Adj. 0% 0% 0%

Adjusted Price Per Lot $43,847 $45,153 $48,219
 

 
  

Page 699 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

66 

Conclusion of Sales Comparison Approach, Assuming Entitlements are in Place 
 
After adjustments, the sales reflect prices of between $43,847 and $48,219 per lot. 
 
Sale 3, the most recent sale, is one of the two larger parcels and required the least gross 
adjustment. Sale 3 is given greater weight.  
 
Sale 2, a parcel that did not have entitlements at the time of sale, is given least weight. 
 
Using this data as a guide, the indicated value of the subject parcel, assuming entitlements 
are in place, is approximately $48,000 per lot, calculated as follows:  
  

 235 lots @ $48,000 = $11,280,000 
 
 Market Value, Assuming Entitlements are in Place, 
 Indicated by Sales Comparison Approach   $11,280,000 
 

 
Income Approach (“As Is” Market Value) 
 

The Income Approach is based on the premise that the value of a property may be 
determined by the amount of net income that can reasonably be produced over its 
remaining economic life. The rationale of this approach is that the present worth of the 
future income stream is equivalent to the value of the property that produces that income. 
Thus, the Income Approach really is an evaluation of the income stream.  
 
Discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis, an Income Approach technique, is developed 
below. With this technique the appraiser supports an estimate of a reasonable holding 
period for the property before the sale of the property is projected to occur. During the 
holding period income and expenses for the property are estimated. Net income during 
the holding period and net proceeds from the sale of the property at the end of the 
estimated holding period are estimated. The estimated cash flows are discounted back 
to a present value with an appropriate discount rate.  
 
The opinion of market value developed in the preceding section of this report assumes 
entitlements are in place. As discussed, entitlements for the subject property cannot be 
secured unless Proportionate Share Mitigation costs are paid,  which would result in single-
family residential subdivision development not being financially feasible. 
 

Holding Period 

As previously discussed, the highest and best use of the subject property is estimated to be 
speculative hold until such time as single-family subdivision development is financially 
feasible. According to Lance Addison, Coordinator, Planning & Intergovernmental 
Relations Clay County District Schools, the soonest one or two new schools can be 
constructed in the Lake Asbury area is 2026-2027, or three to four years subsequent the 
effective date of this appraisal.  

Page 700 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

67 

An indication of the “as is” market value of the subject property can be derived with 
discounted cash flow analysis, which will take into consideration the holding costs during 
the projected holding period, the sale of the property at the end of the projected holding 
period, as well as the costs of sale at the end of the holding period. Considering the soonest 
new schools can be built in Lake Asbury, for the purposes of this analysis, a five-year holding 
period is projected.  
 
Two DCF scenarios are developed below. Scenario #1 assumes the value of the subject 
parcel remains $11,280,000 throughout the holding period. Scenario #2 assumes the value 
of the subject parcel increases at a rate of 2.5% per year, which is the 20-year average 
change in the CPI from 2003 through 2022. 
 

Income 

No income is projected during the holding period. 
 
Holding Costs 

Holding costs are projected to consist of real estate taxes, maintenance, management, and 
liability insurance.  
 
Real estate taxes during the holding period are estimated based on the subject’s taxable 
value with full agricultural exemption. For the purposes of this analysis, it is assumed the 
existing improvements have no contributory value and it is assumed there is no homestead 
exemption. The 2022 taxable value of the subject property, based on these assumptions is 
$35,934. The 2022 millage rate is 15.2174. The annual expense for real estate taxes during 
the first year is estimated as follows: $35,934 x .0152174 = $547. Real estate taxes during 
Scenario #1 are projected to remain $547 per year. During Scenario #2, real estate taxes 
are projected to increase 2.5% per year. 
 
Maintenance of the property during the holding period is limited to mowing the +40 acres of 
pasture a minimum of four times per year. According to Will Gardner, the son of the property 
owners, the cost for mowing is about $60 per acre. The annual maintenance expense is 
estimated as follows: 40 acres x $60 x 4 times a year = $9,600. 
 
Management of the property includes overseeing all requirements of the property, including 
paying real estate taxes, arranging for mowing the pasture, paying liability insurance, and 
handling any incidental occurrences. Annual management fee is budgeted at $20,000. 
 
According to Will Gardner, the premium for liability insurance is approximately $3,000 per 
year. 

 
Costs of Sale 

At the time of sale, presumed to be at the end of the fifth year, the costs of sales are projected 
to include real estate commission, State documentary stamps on the deed, title insurance, 
and closing fee. 
 
Real estate commission is budgeted at 5% of the sale price.   

Page 701 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

68 

State documentary stamps on the deed are $7.00 per $1,000 of the sale price. 
 
Utilizing the promulgated rates for title Insurance in the State of Florida, the cost of title 
insurance for Scenario #1 are summarized as follows: 
 

  Title Insurance Promulgated Rates for Florida

  $5.75 per $1,000 value up to $100,000: 100 x $5.75 = 575$        

  $5.00 per $1,000 value up to $1,000,000: 900 x $5.00 = 4,500$     

  $2.50 per $1,000 value up to $5,000,000 = 4,000 x $2.50 = 10,000$   

  $2.25 per $1,000 value up to $10,000,000 = 5,000 x $2.25 = 11,250$   

  $2.00 per $1,000 over $10,000,000 value = 1,280 x $2.00 = 2,560$     

  Total Title Insurance Premium 28,885$       
 

Utilizing the promulgated rates for title Insurance in the State of Florida, the cost of title 
insurance for Scenario #2 are summarized as follows: 
 

  Title Insurance Promulgated Rates for Florida

  $5.75 per $1,000 value up to $100,000: 100 x $5.75 = 575$           

  $5.00 per $1,000 value up to $1,000,000: 900 x $5.00 = 4,500$        

  $2.50 per $1,000 value up to $5,000,000 = 4,000 x $2.50 = 10,000$      

  $2.25 per $1,000 value up to $10,000,000 = 5,000 x $2.25 = 11,250$      

  $2.00 per $1,000 over $10,000,000 value = 2,451 x $2.00 = 4,902$        

  Total Title Insurance Premium 31,227$      
 

 
According to Clay Philips, with First Coast Title Services, Inc., a reasonable estimate for 
deed preparation and closing fee is $1,000. 
 

Discount Rate 

 

Although it is impossible to dissect a discount rate into its components based on market 
evidence, every discount (yield) rate should compensate the investor for time preference 
("risk-free" rate), the relative non-liquidity of the asset, investment management, and risk.  
"Risk" may be further broken down into market risk, purchasing power (inflation) risk, 
interest rate risk, and legal risk (e.g., future down-zoning, growth moratorium, etc.)  All  
these factors are implicitly compensated for in market-derived discount rates. 
 
There are basically three practical methods for developing market-based discount rates: 

 
. Extraction from comparable sales data 
 
. Surveying market participants 
 
. Construction of discount rates as a weighted cost of capital 

Page 702 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

69 

There is a major obstacle to the first method. The properties and the terms of the 
transactions must be, in fact, comparable. Further, market participants are seldom willing 
to share such details. The second method is facilitated by organizations that regularly 
survey real estate investors on a local, regional, or national basis. The appraiser referred 
to RealtyRates.com’s Developer Survey for 1st Quarter 2023. This survey, which reflects 
4th Quarter 2022 data, reports an average actual discount rate for single-family 
subdivision development having between 100 and 500 lots of 30.58%, including 
developer’s profit. When deducting a reasonable developer’s profit of around 20%, the 
indicated discount rate without developer’s profit is indicated to be around 10%.  
 
The construction of a discount rate as a weighted cost of capital is based on the fact most 
real estate transactions involve the use of debt for financing. In these transactions, the 
lender requires a return on its "investment". This return is realized in the debt interest rate. 
The equity investors seek a return on invested funds at least equal to their target equity 
yield rate. The total property investment must produce a net operating income at a rate 
sufficient to cover the lender's debt interest rate requirement and the equity investor's 
expected equity yield rate. Therefore, the required minimum yield rate is the discount rate 
(Yo), which is the weighted average of the debt interest rate (Ym) and the equity yield 
rate (Ye).  The discount rate is the return on investment, and is the weighted average cost 
of capital wherein the debt interest rate is the investor's cost of borrowing funds, and the 
equity yield rate is the opportunity cost to the investor of using equity funds. 
 
 Following is the weighted average cost of capital formula: 
 Yo = (M x Ym) + [ (1-M) x Ye ] 
 Where Yo  = Discount Rate 
  Ym = Debt Interest Rate 
  Ye  = Equity Yield Rate 
  M   = Loan-to-Value Ratio 
 
  Y   = (.50 x .065) + (.50 x .13) 
  Y   =  .0325 + .0650 
  Y   =  .0975, rounded to 10% 
 
A reasonable discount rate to apply to the subject’s estimated holding period is estimated 
to be 10%. Because expenses are projected to occur throughout the year, not just at the 
end of the year, mid-year factors are utilized in this analysis. 

 
  

Page 703 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

70 

Discounted Cash Flow Scenario #1 

 
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Beginning Beginning Beginning Beginning Beginning

2/17/23 2/17/24 2/17/25 2/17/26 2/17/2027

Land Value During Holding Period 

(assuming entitlements are in place 

and assuming land value remains 

unchanged)

$11,280,000 $11,280,000 $11,280,000 $11,280,000 $11,280,000

Income $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Sale Price $11,280,000

Holding Costs

Real Estate Taxes $547 $547 $547 $547 $547

Maintenance $9,600 $9,600 $9,600 $9,600 $9,600

Management $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000

Liability Insurance $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000

Costs of Sale

Real Est. Commission $564,000

Deed Stamps $78,960

Title Insur., Deed Prep, & Closing $29,885

Total Expenses $33,147 $33,147 $33,147 $33,147 $705,992

Net Proceeds -$33,147 -$33,147 -$33,147 -$33,147 $10,574,008

Present Value Factor @ 10% (use 

mid-year factors)

0.9524 0.8658 0.7871 0.7155 0.6505

Present Values -$31,569 -$28,699 -$26,090 -$23,717 $6,878,392

Conclusion

Present Value of Income Stream $6,768,318

Indication of "As Is" Market Value (Rounded) $6,800,000  
 
 

  

Page 704 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

71 

Discounted Cash Flow Scenario #2 

 
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Beginning Beginning Beginning Beginning Beginning

2/17/23 2/17/24 2/17/25 2/17/26 2/17/2027

Land Value During Holding Period 

(assuming entitlements are in place 

& assuming land value increases 

2.5%/yr)

$11,280,000 $11,562,000 $11,851,050 $12,147,326 $12,451,009

Income $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Sale Price $12,451,009

Holding Costs

Real Estate Taxes $547 $560 $575 $589 $604

Maintenance $9,600 $9,600 $9,600 $9,600 $9,600

Management $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000

Liability Insurance $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000

Costs of Sale

Real Est. Commission $622,550

Deed Stamps $87,157

Title Insur., Deed Prep, & Closing $32,227

Total Expenses $33,147 $33,160 $33,175 $33,189 $775,138

Net Proceeds -$33,147 -$33,160 -$33,175 -$33,189 $11,675,871

Present Value Factors @ 10% (use 

mid-year factors)

0.9524 0.8658 0.7871 0.7155 0.6505

Present Values -$31,569 -$28,710 -$26,112 -$23,747 $7,595,154

Conclusion

Present Value of Income Stream $7,485,017

Indication of "As Is" Market Value (Rounded) $7,500,000
 

 
  

Page 705 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

72 

Check on Reasonableness 

The two discounted cash flow scenarios reflect indications of “as is” market value of 
$6,800,000 and $7,500,000. 
 
Another methodology that can provide an indication of the “as is” market value of the subject 
property is to deduct the Cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation from the indicated value of 
the subject property assuming entitlements are in place, as follows: 
 
Market Value, Assuming Entitlements are in Place 
(previously addressed)      $11,280,000 
 
Less Net Cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation\ 
(previously addressed)      -   4,410,110 
 
         $  6,869,890 
 
Indication of “As Is” Market Value (Rounded)   $  6,900,000 
 
 

Summary of Values 
 

Cost Approach       Not applicable/omitted 
 
Sales Comparison Approach 
(Market Value Assuming Entitlements are in Place)  $11,280,000 

 
Income Approach (“As Is” Market Value)  
DCF Scenario #1       $6,800,000 
DCF Scenario #2       $7,500,000 
 
Check on Reasonableness (“As Is” Market Value)  $6,900,000    
 

 

Reconciliation of Values 
 

As previously discussed, the Cost Approach is not useful to this assignment and is 
omitted. 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach provides a well-supported indication of the market value 
of the subject property assuming entitlements are in place. 
 
The Income Approach, utilizing two discounted cash flow scenarios, provides two well-
supported indications of the “as is” market value of the property. 
 
The check on the reasonableness of the two discounted cash flow scenarios also 
provides a meaningful indication of the “as is” market value of the property by deducting 

Page 706 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

73 

the Cost of Proportionate Share Mitigation from the indication of the market value of the 
property assuming entitlements are in place. 
 
The two discounted cash flow methodologies and the check on reasonableness are given 
similar weight in developing the final opinion of the “as is” market value. 
 
 

Appraised Value 
 
It is my opinion that, subject to Assumptions and Limiting Conditions beginning on page 9, 
as of February 17, 2023 the “as is” market value of the subject property is as follows: 
 

$7,000,000  

Page 707 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

74 

Estimate of Normal Marketing Period and Exposure Time 
 
 Normal marketing period is defined as: 
 
 "The most probable amount of time necessary to expose a property, in its entirety, to the 

open market in order to achieve a sale. Implicit in this definition are the following 
characteristics: 

 
• The property will be actively exposed and aggressively marketed to potential purchasers 

through marketing channels commonly used by seller of similar type properties. 
 
• the property will be offered at a price reflecting the most probable markup over market value 

used by sellers of similar type properties. 
 
• a sale will be consummated under the terms and conditions of the definition of market value 

set forth in this policy." 
 

Local real estate professionals are hesitant to speculate as to the normal marketing period 
for any type of real estate due to the variety of factors that can affect the marketing period. 
In consideration of current market conditions for residential tracts throughout Northeast 
Florida, it is my opinion that the normal marketing period for the subject property, according 
to the above definition, is 6 to 12 months. 
 
Per the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, Statement No. 6, 
exposure time is always presumed to precede the effective date of the appraisal and is 
defined as follows: The estimated length of time the property interest being appraised 
would have been offered on the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale 
at market value on the effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based 
upon an analysis of past events assuming a competitive and open market. For the same 
reasons discussed above, exposure time is estimated to be within 12 months. 

 

  

Page 708 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

75 

 

A D D E N D U M 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 709 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

76 

Appraisal Engagement Letter and Purchase Order 

 

Page 710 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

77 

 
 
  

Page 711 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

78 

 

Page 712 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

79 

Legal Description 

The following legal description was obtained from Warranty Deed recorded in Official Record 
Book 4348, Page 435 of the public records of Clay County, Florida. Said deed, dated August 28, 
2020, conveyed the subject property from Edward Huamin Ma and Jade Qi Han, husband and 
wife, to William D. Gardner, Jr. and Chelsea R. Gardner, husband and wife. 
 

  

Page 713 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

80 

Appraiser’s Qualifications 

 

Duncan R. Ennis, Sr., MAI, SRA 
Ennis Appraisal Associates, Inc. 

4511 Lexington Avenue 
Jacksonville, Florida 32210 

Ph. (904) 387-4467 
Fax (904) 387-0177 
ennisappraisal.com 

 
Lifetime resident of Jacksonville, Florida 
 
Have been in real estate appraisal business since 1974 
 
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from the University of Florida 
 
SRA designation from the Appraisal Institute; Certificate No. 1333 
 
MAI designation from the Appraisal Institute; Certificate No. 6774 
 
The Appraisal Institute conducts a voluntary program of continuing education for its designated 
members.  MAI's and SRA's who meet the minimum standards of this program are awarded 
periodic educational certification.  I am currently certified under this program. 
 
Have passed the following courses offered by the Appraisal Institute: 
   Course VIII - Single-family Residential Appraisal 
   Course I-A - Basic Appraisal Principles, Methods & Techniques 
   Course I-B - Capitalization Theory & Techniques 
   Case Studies in Real Estate Valuation 
   Valuation Analysis and Report Writing 
   Industrial Valuation 
   Standards of Professional Practice 
 
Registered Real Estate Broker in the State of Florida 
 
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ619 (Florida) 
 
Member of the Northeast Florida Association of Realtors 
 
Past-President of the Northeast Florida Chapter of the Appraisal Institute 
 
Prepare appraisals of residential, commercial, industrial, vacant land and special purpose 
properties  

Page 714 of 843

DRAFT



 

 

 
ennisappraisal.com 

81 

Appraiser’s License 

 

Page 715 of 843

DRAFT



RESTRICTED APPRAISAL REPORT 

 
 

Residential Development Land 
2770 Russell Rd 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
 

 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Clay County District Schools 
925 W. Center St. 

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
 

Prepared by 
 

 
 

Page 716 of 843

DRAFT



 

50 N Laura Street, Suite 2500, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

 
 

 

May 16, 2023 
 
 
Mr. Lance Addison, Coordinator of Planning 
Clay County District Schools 
925 W. Center St. 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
 
Re: Restricted Appraisal Report 
 Residential Development Site 

2770 Russell Rd 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

 File No. 23-629 
 
 

Dear Mr. Addison,  
 
At your request we have completed a current market valuation for the captioned 
property situated on the southwest side of Russell Rd opposite N Fork Rd in Green 
Cove Springs, unincorporated Clay County, Florida.   
 
The intent of the enclosed restricted appraisal report is to state the important 
factors considered in arriving at our opinions and value conclusion.   
 
The enclosed report contains prominent limiting conditions and reliance on it as 
the sole intended user is restricted to your internal planning use.   
 
The enclosed, restricted appraisal report was prepared in conformity with the 
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) Standards Rule 2-
2 (b), the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the Appraisal Institute; and the requirements of the client as we 
understand them.   
 
The purpose of the appraisal is to develop an opinion of market value of the fee 
simple interest in the subject real property at its highest and best use.   
 

Page 717 of 843

DRAFT



 

50 N Laura Street, Suite 2500, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

-Page 2- 
 
Mr. Lance Addison, Coordinator of Planning 
Clay County District Schools  
 
The market value opinion reported therein is subject to the definitions, assumptions, 
limiting conditions and certification contained in the enclosed appraisal report. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
ComPro Consultants, LLC 
 

  
Edward A de Laurier, CRE, CCIM, FRICS, MAI 
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ2187 
License Expires 11-30-2024. 
 

Page 718 of 843

DRAFT



  

1 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
Location: 2770 Russell Rd, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
Property Rights Appraised: Fee Simple 
 
Type of Report: Restricted Appraisal Report 
 
Zoning: LA MPC with conceptual site plan approval for 235 lots 
 
Land Size: 82.1 Acres 
 
Extraordinary Assumption: A survey and commitment for title insurance were not 

provided so we relied upon property information from the 
Clay County Property Appraiser’s Office, owner furnished 
information and public records that is assumed to be correct.  

  
 The use of this extraordinary assumption may affect the 

assignment results if found to be untrue.  
 
Hypothetical Conditions: None 
 
Date of Inspection: April 19, 2023 
 
Effective Date of the Appraisal: April 19, 2023 
 
Date of Report: May 16, 2023 
 
Value Premise: Market 
 
Value Method(s) Applied: Sales Comparison Approach 
 
Value Conclusion: $6,932,500 
  

Page 719 of 843

DRAFT



  

2 

INTRODUCTION 
 
PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION 
 
The subject property is an 82.1 acre tract of land improved with residential type building 
improvements commonly known as 2770 Russell Rd, Green Cove Springs, Florida 
32043.  
 
INTENDED USE AND USER OF THE APPRAISAL 
 
The intended use of this report is for a contemplated purchase of the subject 
property.  Rationale for how the appraiser arrived at the opinions and conclusions set 
forth in this report may not be understood properly without additional information in the 
appraiser’s work file which is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
The sole intended user of the appraisal services is the client, Clay County School 
Districts.  
 
EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE 
 
The effective date of value is April 19, 2023 
 
DATE OF REPORT 
 
The date of this restricted appraisal report is May 16, 2023.  
 
REAL PROPERTY INTEREST APPRAISED 
 
Fee Simple Interest 
 
USE OF THE REAL ESTATE APPRAISED 
 
The subject property was used as a rural residence as of the date of value.  
 
DEFINITION OF VALUE 
 
We developed an opinion of the market value for the subject property under the purpose 
and intended use of this appraisal.   
 
“Market Value,” as used in this appraisal, is defined as “the most probable price that a 
property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to 
a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and 
assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.” Implicit in this definition are the 
consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to 
buyer under conditions whereby: 

Page 720 of 843

DRAFT



 

3 

 
• Buyer and seller are typically motivated. 
 
• Both parties are well informed or well advised, each acting in what they consider 

their own best interests. 
• A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market, 
 
• Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 
arrangements comparable thereto, 
 
and, 
 
• The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 

special or creative financing or sale concessions granted by anyone associated 
with the sale.” 

 
(Source: (12 C.F.R. Part 34.42(g); 55 Federal Register 34696, August 24, 1990, as 
amended at 57 Federal Register 12202, April 9, 1992; 59 Federal Register 29499, June 
7, 1994)”1  

SCOPE OF WORK SUMMARY 
 
The scope of the appraisal assignment is the type and extent of the process of 
collecting, confirming, and reporting data in the appraisal of the subject property.  
According to the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, it is the 
appraiser’s responsibility to determine the appropriate scope of work.  The data is 
presented in a restricted report format that can be used when a full appraisal is not 
required.  However, this report is not so limited as to result in an invalid or misleading 
conclusion.  Specifically, the scope of work includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
 

 the extent to which the property is identified 
 the extent to which tangible property is inspected 
 the type and extent of data researched 
 the type and extent of analysis applied to arrive at opinions or conclusions 

 
In preparing this appraisal report the following were performed: 
 

 Preliminary evaluation and analysis of the problem(s) to be solved as discussed 
with the client.  The result requires a market value appraisal because the client is 
contemplating a purchase of the property.  

 Visually inspected the land but only the exterior of the building improvements.  
 Selected the Sales Comparison method of value as being most appropriate for 

the intended use and purpose of the appraisal services.  

 
1Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, Seventh Edition 

Page 721 of 843

DRAFT



 

4 

 A Cost method was initially considered but not applied because the highest and 
best use of the property is for residential development with the existing 
improvements contributing no value.   

 Researched comparable property sale and for sale property data.  
 Discussions were held with market participants in order to gain an insight into 

sale pricing, and general market conditions for competitive properties. 
 Examined the subject market, submarket areas and researched general inferred 

demand factors related to the highest and best use of the subject property.  
 Performed market area, neighborhood, and market analyses for the subject 

property. 
 Evaluated the highest and best use of the subject property.  
 Reconciled the data and formed an opinion of market value for the subject 

property in concert with the purpose and intended use of this appraisal service by 
the valuation method(s) selected.  

 Prepared this Restricted Appraisal Report and retained additional information in 
the file which are incorporated herein by reference.  

 
It is important to note that this Restricted Report is limited to being used only by the 
client and the rationale for how the opinions and conclusions were arrived at by the 
appraiser may not be understood properly without additional information retained in the 
appraisal file.  
 
PROPERTY OWNERSHIP HISTORY 
 
According to the records of the Clay County Clerk of the Court’s Office, the owners of 
the subject property are: 
 
William D. and Chelsea R. Gardner who acquired the property on August 27, 2020, for 
$1,500,000 in a reportedly arm’s length transaction.   
 
There were no other arm’s length, sales transactions of the subject property indicated 
within the past three years and the property is not listed for sale on the open market 
based upon our research.  A purchase and sale agreement between the owners and 
Toll Bros was not closed because the owner rejected the buyer’s request for a contract 
extension.  The contract price is evaluated in the Sales Comparison method developed 
later in this appraisal report.   

EXPOSURE TIME 

The value opinion contained in this report is premised upon a 9 to 12 month exposure 
time prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale on the effective date of the 
appraisal based primarily upon conversations with market participants.   
 
LIMITING CONDITIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 
This report is subject to the general limiting conditions stated herein.  Your attention is 
directed to the general limiting conditions contained in this report, as they are an integral 
part of the value conclusions, as well as prominent appraisal conditions.  

Page 722 of 843

DRAFT



 

5 

 
REAL ESTATE TAXES 
 
The proposed 2022 TRIM taxable value, per the Clay County Property Appraiser’s 
Office, and proposed taxes are: 
 
Address  Parcel ID   Taxable Value RE Taxes 
2770 Russell Rd 39-05-25-010097-009-00 $562,922  $8,758.24 
 
 

Page 723 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

6 

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION 
 

Market Area Map 
 

 
 
The market area mapped above comprises Clay County in which the subject property is 
located.  The Site-To-Do-Business (STDB) was employed in preparing the following 
demographic data tied to the subject’s market area as delineated on the map above: 
 

  

Page 724 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

7 

 

 

Page 725 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

8 

 
 

The subject market area indicates positive population growth and income metrics going 
forward that exhibit continued inferred demand for residential housing over the 
projection period.  

Page 726 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

9 

 

 
 
The housing profile data show positive categories tied to demand generators for 
residential housing.  

Page 727 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

10 

NEIGHBORHOOD DESCRIPTION 
 
The subject property is located in a residential node flanked by Russell Rd, Sandridge 
Rd and the First Coast Expressway (under construction).  Depicted below is the 
immediate area map showing its locale and various surrounding uses. 

 

 
 

The subject neighborhood primarily includes rural residential, agricultural, and single 
family residences.  Vehicle access is typically by private automobile as augmented by 
existing roadways and the First Coast Expressway completion will provide major 
vehicular access to the neighborhood which has spawned significant new housing 
development in the area.  Nearby shopping is at Lake Asbury in the Asbury Commons 
shopping center anchored by a Winn-Dixie that is about a 4.7 mile/7 minute drive from 
the subject property.  The neighborhood has shown increasing residential property real 
estate price trends since the end of the Great Recession and discussions with market 
participants indicate there are decreases that started in July of 2022 in housing prices 
primarily related to weakened demand tied to increased interest rates.  Demand for new 
construction is less impacted because of builder’s price point flexibility and offering 
incentives.   
 
 

Page 728 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

11 

SUBJECT PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 

Property Appraiser’s Tax Parcel Maps 
 

 
 

Property Appraiser’s Aerial Plat 
 

 
  

Page 729 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

12 

 
Approved Conceptual Site Plan 

 

 
 

Page 730 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

13 

Size and Shape: The subject land parcel is overall, irregular 
shaped but developable as shown on the 
concept site plan above that was approved by 
Clay County for 235 lots.   

 
Visibility and Access: The site has good visibility from Russell Rd that 

will accommodate a marketing window to a sales 
office.   

 
Topography, Drainage 
and Flood Plain: The topography of the site is generally level and 

on-site drainage appeared adequate with 
wetland areas on the east, west and south flanks 
as depicted on the site plan.   

 
Soil and Subsoil: No soil tests were provided in conjunction with 

this appraisal.  However, no responsibility is 
assumed for any adverse subsoil conditions that 
may exist.  

 
Utilities: Typical public utilities including electricity, sewer, 

and water are available to the subject property 
as per Kimley Horn.   

 
Environmental: During the property inspection no obvious 

environmental problems were noted.  However, 
we are not experts in this field and do not 
assume any responsibility for environmental 
problems which might exist.  

 
Zoning Land Use: LA MPC as per Kimley Horn and also shown on 

the map below:   
 

Page 731 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

14 

 
 
Easements and Restrictions: We are not aware of any easements or 

restrictions that would negatively impact the 
marketability to or value of the subject property.  

 
Flood Zone: The subject is located in an area mapped by the 

Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA).  The subject improvements are shown 
out of a flood zone area as per the RiskMeter 
flood zone determination included in the 
Addenda, but other marsh and wetland areas are 
located in a FEMA flood hazard zone AE as per 
Kimley Horn and shown on the approved site 
plan.   

 

Page 732 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

15 

MARKET ANALYSIS 
 

Lake Asbury Master Plan FLUM Submarket Map 
 

 
 
The sub-market area for the subject property is defined by the map area above for the 
Lake Asbury Master Plan FLUM as outlined in green and shaded white.  In order to gain 
an insight into residential housing demand the following demographic and housing 
reports were obtained from ESRI for the mapped sub-market area.   

Page 733 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

16 

 

Page 734 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

17 

 
 
The subject submarket area indicates positive population growth and income metrics 
going forward that exhibit continued inferred demand for residential housing over the 
projection period.  
 

Page 735 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

18 

 

Page 736 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

19 

 
 
The housing profile data show positive categories tied to demand generators for 
residential housing within the primary price range evidenced in the submarket area for 
new construction.   
 

Page 737 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

20 

 
Our research of for sale acreage properties offered on the open market did not reveal 
any that would directly compete with the subject property for buyers.   
 
SWOT ANALYSIS (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats) 
 
Strengths/Opportunities 
 
Sub-market shows continued inferred demand for residential housing.   
 
Supply side for development land is low in the market area as evidenced by the lack of 
comparable for sale property.  
 
Positive income and employment growth forecasted as key demand generators for 
residential housing.  
 
Weaknesses/Threats 
 
Development limitations imposed by the irregular site shape related to wetlands and 
marsh.  
 
Weakened market conditions tied to material costs and interest rates.   
 
 

Page 738 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

21 

HIGHEST AND BEST USE 
 
Highest and Best Use, as defined by the Appraisal Institute and used in this appraisal, 
is: " The reasonably probable use of property that results in the highest value.  The four 
criteria that the highest and best use must meet are legal permissibility, physical 
possibility, financial feasibility, and maximum productivity." 2   
 
HIGHEST AND BEST USE “AS IF VACANT” 
 
The underlying subject land has a zoning/land use of LA MPC with conceptual site plan 
approval by Clay County for the development of 235 lots.  Existing developments and 
the approved site plan demonstrate that it is physically possible to develop the site with 
235 single family residential lots.  Relatively active single family developments and 
demographics showing inferred demand exhibits financial feasibility.  The maximally 
productive use is concluded to be single family residential development as restricted by 
the zoning, the conceptual site plan approval as 235 lots and as market conditions 
warrant.  
 
HIGHEST AND BEST USE “AS IMPROVED” 
 
The existing residential improvements do not contribute to the highest and best use as 
improved.  Although the improvements may have some interim value during the time 
necessary to realize final property development approvals that would be offset by the 
cost to raze them.   
 
 

 
2 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, Seventh Edition, Appraisal Institute. 

Page 739 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

22 

APPROACHES TO VALUE  
 
The valuation of real estate in many instances can be analyzed through the use of three 
basic approaches to value: Cost, Income Capitalization and Sales Comparison 
Methods.  From the indicated values resulting from these techniques and the weight 
accorded to each value indication, an opinion of value is reached based upon expert 
judgment within the framework of the appraisal process.  
 
The Cost Approach involves the current cost to construct the improvements new, 
including an allowance for developer's profit, if appropriate, and deducting from this 
amount accrued depreciation, if any, resulting from physical deterioration and/or 
obsolescence.  The depreciated cost of the improvements is then added to an opinion 
of land value to provide a value indication.  
 
This approach was excluded for the purpose of obtaining an indication of market value 
for the subject property because it is residential development land, and the existing 
improvements contribute no value.   
 
The Sales Comparison Approach is based on the assumption that a prudent buyer 
would not pay more for a property than it would cost to acquire a comparable substitute 
property. Since no two properties are seldom identical, the necessary adjustments for 
differences in quality, location, size, market appeal, financing and a number of other 
factors that affect prices paid for properties must be analyzed.  
 
Our market research revealed market data for properties that have sold instructive to 
the highest and best use of the subject property.  This method was applied in reaching a 
final opinion of market value for the subject property because there were adequate 
market data to support this method and it is relied upon by market participants.  
  
The Income Capitalization Approach involves an analysis of a property in terms of its 
ability to produce a net annual income.  It is concerned with obtaining the present worth 
of future benefits that can be derived through ownership of a property.  In utilizing this 
approach, either stabilized net operating income is capitalized at an overall rate (Direct 
Capitalization), or projected, periodic cash flows are discounted to present value (Yield 
Capitalization) in order to arrive at an indication of value.  Overall capitalization rates 
and discount (yield) rates are usually market derived.  The Income Capitalization 
Approach is generally most useful in valuing investment grade, income producing 
properties, which often would be purchased by investors for their net income.   
 
This method was not applied because residential land at this locale is not typically 
leased.  
 
 

Page 740 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

23 

 

SALES COMPARISON APPROACH TO VALUE 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach is the process of deriving a value indication for a 
property by comparing similar properties that have sold to the property being appraised, 
identifying appropriate units of comparison, and making adjustments to the sale prices 
(or unit prices, as appropriate) of the comparable properties based on relevant, market-
derived elements of comparison.  
 
Research for this appraisal assignment revealed three sales of comparable properties 
located within the subject’s immediate market area and the recent homebuilder 
purchase offer for the subject property.  The market data contained in this report were 
verified and are considered the best available for comparison to the subject property.  
The Sales Comparison Approach is generally accepted as one of the better indicators of 
value where reliable data and sales information on point to the property being appraised 
can be obtained leading to a comparison that can be applied within a reasonable 
degree of appraisal certainty.  Our research revealed the following market sales data, 
and they are evaluated on a price per lot basis as is typical for this property class: 
 

 
 
The subject sale is a prior purchase contract as of August 2021 between the subject 
property owners and Toll Bros.  It was reported that the deal did not close because the 
owner rejected the buyers request for a contract extension to pursue a sale of the 
property to the school district.  The contract buyer had previously obtained concept plan 
approval for 235 lots albeit the contract was formulated upon a $31,000 price per lot to  

Page 741 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

24 

 
be calculated against the number of lots approved with the contract initially using a 
density of 215 lots used to establish the contract price.  The sales above were the best 
indicators we found during our market research in the subject submarket area.  The 
comparables analyzed required adjustments for differences in various economic and 
physical factors as presented on the chart below and narratively discussed. 
 

 

Page 742 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

25 

 
Economic Adjustment Factors  
 
Property Rights Conveyed: This adjustment accounts for differences in the real property 
rights transferred.  The sales were fee simple deals like the property interest being 
appraised requiring no adjustments.  
 
Financing Terms: This adjustment accounts for financing terms not considered to be 
cash equivalent.  The sales utilized in this analysis involved all cash transactions to the 
seller’s unaffected by non-market rate financing.  Therefore, no adjustments for 
financing were required.  
 
Conditions of Sale: Atypical motivations by either buyer or seller are considered to 
impact the final sales price of a property.  All sales were reportedly arm’s length 
transactions with no atypical sale conditions.  
 
Market Conditions: This adjustment is based on the premise that external economic 
factors affect the prices of real estate.  Based on available market information, and 
conversations with market participants, we note upward price trends occurring from the 
various dates of sale through June of 2022.  From July 2022 and up to the date of value 
market conditions eroded causing drops in pricing tied primarily to interest rate 
increases causing a loss of purchasing power.  Each sale was adjusted to mirror 
increasing and/or decreasing price trends from their respective dates of sale up to the 
current date of value of the subject property.   
 
Physical Adjustment Factors:  
 
Location: Sales are either adjusted upward or downward if locations result in inferior or 
superior factors tied primarily to underlying land values.  Sales 2 and 3 were rated 
superior with closer proximity to amenities and within the immediate path of 
development.  Sale 1 was rated inferior because of its immediate proximity to the First 
Coast Expressway anticipated traffic.   
 
Shape: All of the sales are irregular shaped comparing similarly to the subject property.   
 
Zoning: The sales indicated similar zoning and development density.   
 
Utilities: All of the sales had similar utilities available.   
 
Topography:  All of the sales were impacted by wetland and lowland areas similar to the 
subject property.   
 
Size: Sale 1 is measurably larger in terms of acreage and total number of lots requiring 
an upward adjustment.  This adjustment considers the extended sell-off timeline and 
economies of scale tied to larger overall density projects in contrast to lower density 
developments.   

Page 743 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

26 

 
Based on our sales analysis, we have reconciled to a unit value of $29,500 per lot.  This 
conclusion primarily relied upon the adjusted unit price range exhibited by the sales 
data, the mean and median indicators along with the adjusted unit price of the subject 
property.  The chart below presents the unit value conclusion and the concluded value 
based upon the preceding analysis.   
 

 
 

Value Conclusion:   $6,932,500  
 
 

Page 744 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

27 

RECONCILIATON OF VALUE  
 
Market Value Indications  
 
Cost Approach:         N/A 
Sales Comparison Approach: $6,932,500 
Income Capitalization Approach:       N/A 
 
The sales comparison was solely relied upon because it was identified as being 
appropriate to the subject valuation within a reasonable degree of appraisal certainty 
supportable by market evidence and typically relied upon by market participants for this 
class of property under the purpose and intended use of this appraisal.  Thus, we have 
placed total weight on the sales method in the reconciliation process.  
 
Based on the data and analyses developed in this restricted appraisal report, we have 
reconciled to the following value conclusion, as of April 26, 2023, subject to all Limiting 
Conditions and Assumptions of the appraisal.   
 

Market Value Conclusion 
 

$6,932,500 
 
 

Page 745 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

28 

CERTIFICATION 
 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
 

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 
 

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and 
unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 
 

3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this 
report and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 
 

4. I have performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding 
the property that is the subject of this report within the three-year period 
immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. 
 

5. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to 
the parties involved with this assignment. 
 

6. My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or 
reporting predetermined results. 
 

7. My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 
development or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that 
favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of 
a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the 
intended use of this appraisal. 
 

8. My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has 
been prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice. 
 

9. The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report 
has been prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the 
Appraisal Institute. 
 

10. I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this 
report.  
 

11. No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person 
signing this certification.  
 

Page 746 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

29 

12. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute 
relating to review by its duly authorized representatives. 
 

13. As of the date of this report I, Edward A de Laurier, have completed the 
Standards and Ethics Education Requirements for Members of the Appraisal 
Institute.  
 

14. As of the date of this report I, Edward A de Laurier, have completed the 
continuing education program for Members of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
 

  
Edward A de Laurier, CRE, CCIM, FRICS, MAI 
State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser RZ2187 
License Expires 11-30-2024. 
  

Page 747 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

30 

ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS  
 

This report has been based on, and is subject to, the following general assumptions and 
limiting conditions: 
 
 The value reported is only applicable for the purpose, intended use/user and terms 

stated in this report and shall not be used for any other purpose. 
 
 The appraiser has assumed that the user of this report is reasonably versed in this 

class of property and is knowledgeable in real estate. 
 
 No responsibility is assumed for the legal description provided or for matters 

pertaining to legal or title considerations.  Title to the property is assumed to be good 
and marketable unless otherwise stated.  The property is appraised free and clear of 
any or all liens or encumbrances unless otherwise stated.  It is assumed that the use 
of the land and improvements is confined within the boundaries or property lines of 
the property described and that there is no encroachment or trespass unless noted 
in the report. 

 
 Responsible ownership and competent property management are assumed. 
 
 The information furnished by others is believed to be reliable, but no warranty is 

given for its accuracy. 
 
 Any engineering studies provided to the appraiser are assumed to be correct.  The 

plot plans and illustrative material in this report are included only to help the reader 
visualize the property. 

 
 It is assumed that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, 

subsoil, or structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is 
assumed for such conditions or for obtaining the engineering studies that may be 
required to discover them. 

 
 It is assumed that the property is in full compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

and local environmental regulations and laws unless the lack of compliance is 
stated, described, and considered in the appraisal report.  It is assumed that all 
required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents, and other legislative or 
administrative authority from any local, state, or national government or private entity 
or organization have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the 
value opinion contained in this report is based. 

 
 It is assumed that the property conforms to all applicable zoning and use regulations 

and restrictions unless non-conformity has been identified, described, and 
considered in the appraisal report. 

Page 748 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

31 

 The appraiser(s) shall not be required to give testimony as a witness or to appear in 
any capacity in any legal or administrative hearing or procedure, or to have any 
continued service responsibility unless compensated, by the engager of this report, 
in advance, according to the fee schedule then in effect which as of January 1, 2023, 
is a billing rate of $300 per hour in minimum one-half hour increments.   

 
 Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous materials, which 

may or may not be present on the property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The 
appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such material on or in the property.  
The appraiser however is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of 
substances such as asbestos, urea-formaldehyde foam insulation and other 
potentially hazardous materials may affect the value of the property.  The value 
opinion is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the 
property that would cause a loss in value.  No responsibility is assumed for such 
conditions or for any expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them.  
The client is urged to retain an expert in this field, if desired.   

 
 The appraisers are not engineers or property inspectors, no warranties are made by 

references to physical property characteristics in terms of quality, condition, cost, 
suitability, soil conditions, flood risk, obsolescence, etc., and no liability is assumed 
for any engineering or environmental-related issues. 

 
 Possession of this report or a copy thereof does not imply right of publication, nor 

use for any purpose by any other than the intended user as identified in this report, 
without the written consent of ComPro Consultants, LLC, and Edward A de Laurier.   

 

• The liability of ComPro Consultants, LLC and its employees or contractors is limited 
to the client.  This appraisal was prepared specifically for the client, to whom this 
report was addressed.   

 
 Cash flow projections are forecasts of projected future operating characteristics and 

are predicated on the information and assumptions contained within the appraisal 
report and the appraiser’s file.  The achievement of the financial projections may be 
affected by fluctuating economic conditions and is dependent upon other future 
occurrences that cannot be assured.  Actual results may vary from any projections 
so the appraiser does not warrant that these forecasts will occur.  Projections may 
be affected by circumstances beyond the current realm of knowledge or control of 
the appraiser.  The appraiser is not trying to forecast the future but rather attempting 
to replicate techniques utilized by market participants for properties similar to that 
being appraised.   
 

 

Page 749 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ADDENDA 

 

 
 

 

Page 750 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPRAISER QUALIFICATIONS 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 751 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

 

 

Page 752 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FLOOD ZONE DETERMINATION REPORT 

 

  

Page 753 of 843

DRAFT



 
 

 

 
 

Page 754 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C30 - Change Order #3 for Spring Park Elementary School

Description
Change Orders are initiated by the Contractor, Architect/Engineer or Owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the
project as defined by the plans and specifications. Change Orders are reviewed by the Architect/Engineer and staff prior to
submission to the School Board for approval. This Change order is needed to address the extension of the construction duration,
resulting from COVID-19 related production issues. The additional sixteen (16) days requested for Substantial Completion is
minimal considering the supply issues encountered during this project. The revised contractual Substantial Completion date is
due to the updated production schedule on electrical panels/breakers and air conditioning (the electrical panels have been on
order since March 2022). The Construction Manager and Design Team have worked diligently to design and install a temporary
system for the distribution of electricity/air conditioning allowing occupancy of Spring Park Elementary School on or before
June 16, 2023. The temporary configuration has been approved by the Engineer of Record and inspected by code enforcement
officials.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve Change Order #3.

Contact
Dr. Michael Kemp, Director of Facilities Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824, michael.kemp@myoneclay.net
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This Change Order will not increase or decrease the contract sum. Architect fees will not be increased or decreased as a result of
this Change Order.

Review Comments

Attachments

Change Order #3 for Spring Park Elementary School

Page 755 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-3-for-spring-park-elementary-school-2.pdf


Page 756 of 843

DRAFT



Page 757 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C31 - 2023-2024 Food and Nutrition Services Proposed Meal Price Increase.

Description
Increase the District's breakfast and lunch prices by $0.25. Additional revenue is needed to accommodate an increase in costs for
food and supplies. In comparison to the previous school year, the Food and Nutrition Services Department incurred an increase
of over 1.1 million dollars in food and supplies, equating to a rise in costs of approximately 10%. We continue to see increases as
vendors are adjusting pricing to reflect current economic conditions.

Page 758 of 843

DRAFT



Gap Analysis
Meal Price Comparison        

 
National
Average

Average
Meal Prices
in Florida

Current Clay
County Meal
Prices 22-23

Proposed
Meal Prices
for 23-24

       

District
Breakfast

$1.75 $1.59 $1.50 $1.75        

Elementary
Lunch

$2.75 $2.47 $2.25 $2.50        

Secondary
Lunch

$3.00 $2.74 $2.50 $2.75        

                 

                 

Meal Price Comparison/Florida Data

District
Elementary
Breakfast

Middle
Breakfast

High
Breakfast

Elementary
Lunch

Middle
Lunch

High
Lunch

Adult
Breakfa
st

Adult
Lunch

Alachua
County
School
Board 

$1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $1.75 $3.50

Bay District
School
System

$1.25 $1.50 $1.50 $2.50 $2.75 $2.75    

Brevard
County
School
Board

      $2.10 $2.50 $2.50    

                 

                 

Broward
County
School
Board

      $2.00 $2.35 $2.50 $2.70 $4.75

Citrus
County
School
Board

            $2.50 $4.00

Clay County
School
Board

$1.50 $1.50 $1.50 $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $2.00 $3.00

Collier
County
School
Board

      $2.00 $2.25 $2.25 $1.50 $3.00

Page 759 of 843

DRAFT



Columbia
County
School
Board

          FREE $2.35 $3.75

Desoto
County
School
Board

$1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $2.50 $2.50 $2.50    

Duval
County
School
Board

            $2.55 $3.90

Flagler
County
School
Board

      $2.10 $2.35 $2.60    

Franklin
County
School
Board

      $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $2.00 $4.00

Gulf County
School
Board

            $1.85 $3.35

Hamilton
County
School
Board

$2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $3.00 $3.00 $3.00 $2.75 $3.00

Hendry
County
School
Board

            $2.20 $4.00

Hillsborough
County
School
Board

      $2.25 $2.75 $2.75    

Indian River
County
School
Board

$1.50 $1.50 $1.50 $2.50 $2.75 $2.75 $2.25 $3.75

Jackson
County
School
Board

$1.75 $1.75 $1.75 $2.50 $2.85 $2.85 $2.25 $3.60

Lake County
School
Board

            $2.50 $4.50

Leon
County

$1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $2.00 $2.25 $2.25 $2.00 $3.50

Page 760 of 843

DRAFT



School
Board

Manatee
County
School
Board

      $2.75 $3.00 $3.00 $2.00 $4.00

Monroe
County
School
Board

$1.75 $1.75 $1.75 $2.50 $2.85 $2.85 $2.25 $3.60

Nassau
County
School
Board

$1.50 $1.75 $1.75 $2.25 $2.75 $2.75    

Okaloosa
County
School
Board

$1.80 $1.80 $1.80 $2.70 $2.70 $2.70 $2.25 $4.00

Orange
County
School
Board

$1.35 $1.75 $1.75 $1.90 $2.75 $2.75 $1.75 $3.75

Osceola
County
School
Board

      $2.40 $2.40 $2.40 $2.75 $4.00

Pasco
County
School
Board

$1.60 $1.75 $1.75 $3.00 $3.00 $3.50    

Pinellas
County
School
Board

      $2.25 $2.75 $2.75 $2.25 $3.50

Santa Rosa
County
School
Board

$1.05 $1.05 $1.05 $2.85 $2.85 $2.85    

Sarasota
County
School
Board

$1.50 $2.00 $2.00 $2.75 $3.00 $3.25    

School
District Of
Escambia
Cty

$1.25 $1.50 $1.50 $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $2.50 $4.00

School
District Of

            $2.75 $4.50

Page 761 of 843

DRAFT



Lee County

Seminole
County
Public
Schools

$2.50 $2.50 $2.75 $3.25 $3.50 $3.75    

St Johns
County
School
Board
(Proposing
a meal
increase for
23-24)

$1.25
($1.75)

$1.25
($1.75)

$1.25
($1.75)

$2.80
($3.25)

$2.95
($3.50)

$2.95
($3.50)

$2.50 $4.50

St Lucie
County
School
Board

      $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $3.00 $4.00

Union
County
School
Board

$2.15 $2.15 $2.15 $3.35 $3.35 $3.35    

Volusia
County
School
Board

            $2.00 $3.50

Walton
County
School
Board

$2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.75 $3.00 $3.00   $4.25

Washington
County
School
Board

$1.45 $1.45 $1.45 $2.50 $2.75 $2.75 $1.70 $3.25

Florida
Average

$1.53 $1.61 $1.62 $2.47 $2.72 $2.76 $2.25 $3.80

National
Average

1.73 $1.75 $1.80 $2.75 $3.00 $3.00 NA NA

Clay $1.50 $1.50 $1.50 $2.25 $2.50 $2.50 $2.00 $3.00

Clay
Proposed
Increase for
23-24

$1.75 $1.75 $1.75 $2.50 $2.75 $2.75 $2.25 $3.25

Previous Outcomes
During the past two years we have increased meal offerings to include new recipe development to meet the requests of the
students while placing great emphasis on fresh, healthy options. 
Over 1.5 million dollars in kitchen equipment upgrades.

Page 762 of 843

DRAFT



Expected Outcomes
Collect additional revenue needed to accommodate an increase in costs for food and supplies.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve the Food and Nutrition Services proposed meal price increase for the 23-24 school year.

Contact

Financial Impact
NA

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 763 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D1 - Approval of the 2023-2028 Strategic Plan

Description
This proposed Strategic Plan will serve as the guiding document for all departments within the school district over the next five
years. This strategic plan has been prepared by district leadership over the last eight months after conducting surveys, town hall
meetings, stakeholder input, and focus groups. These targeted goals and strategies will serve as benchmarks for Clay County
District Schools over the next five years.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes
The district has previously adopted strategic plans for a five-year period and the current plan is set to expire. 

Expected Outcomes
With the adoption of this proposed strategic plan, district leadership will constantly monitor staff and student progress of all
identified goals and strategies. This monitoring will include providing routine updates to the Superintendent who will in turn
update the School Board and general public throughout the year.

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Recommend Approval.
The Board's approval of the Strategic Plan does not in any way obligate the Board to contracts or financial aspects of any of the
initiatives contained in this plan.  

Contact
Kelly Watt, Chief of Staff, kelly.watt@myoneclay.net
Terri Dennis, Coordinator of Communications, terri.dennis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 764 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 765 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D3 - Human Resources Special Action B

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 766 of 843

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 29, 2023 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D4 - Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised 2023-2024 Student & Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct

Description
Per statutory requirements, the 2023-2024 Code of Student Conduct is being noticed prior to its official adoption by the School
Board of Clay County.  The Code of Student Conduct is a policy adopted by the district that defines and describes the expected
behavior of students while in the learning environment and is a guide for administrators on addressing conduct infractions
through intervention and consequences.

Gap Analysis
The Code of Student Conduct is updated annually to address new statutory requirements and strengthen existing language based
on a review of discipline data profiles.

Previous Outcomes
The Code of Conduct was enforced with fidelity by each school.

Expected Outcomes
By publicly adopting this revised version of the Student Handbook and the Code of Student Conduct per statutory regulation, the
District will continue its cycle of compliance with the Florida Department of Education and allow for public input on the
practices and procedures related to student rights and responsibilities as well as how the District handles student misbehavior
while in the learning environment.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal: Goal 3 Establish a respectful climate and culture that provides equity and access to all.
Strategy:  3.2: Develop systems and processes that focus on developing the whole child.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve as advertised the 2023-2024 Student Handbook and Student Code of Conduct.

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Legal Adv. Notice of PH 23-24 Code of Student Conduct.pdf

Summary of Changes - 23_24 Code of Conduct.pdf

Board Redline Final - 2023_2024 - CCDS Student and Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct.pdf

Page 767 of 843

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/legal-adv-notice-of-ph-23-24-code-of-student-conduct.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/summary-of-changes-23_24-code-of-conduct_1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/board-redline-final-2023_2024-ccds-student-and-family-handbook-and-code-of-student-conduct_1.pdf


 Approval  to  Advertise:  The  School  Board  of  Clay  County,  Florida  (“the  Board”)  approves  the  advertisement  of 
 The 2023-2024 Student and Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct. 

 Purpose  &  Effect:  The  proposed  amendments  are  intended  to  simplify,  update,  and  ensure  alignment  of 
 School  Board  Policies  with  state  law,  federal  law,  State  Board  of  Education  Rules,  and  other  applicable  rules 
 and regulations. 

 Access  to  Text  of  Proposed  Amendments:  The  full  text  of  the  proposed  2023-2024  Student  and  Family 
 Handbook  and  Code  of  Student  Conduct  is  available  for  inspection  and  copying  by  the  public  in  the  Office  of 
 the  Superintendent  for  Clay  County  District  Schools,  located  at  900  Walnut  Street,  Green  Cove  Springs, 
 Florida  32043.  The  full  text  is  also  available  via  the  School  District’s  website  at  www.oneclay.net  under  the 
 School  Board  Meeting  Links,  School  Board  Agendas  -  May  4,  2023.  The  Superintendent  is  authorized  to 
 correct  technical  errors  in  grammar,  numbering,  section  designations,  and  cross-references  as  may  be 
 necessary to reflect the intention of such Policy amendments. 

 Rule  Making  Authority:  The  Board  is  authorized  to  adopt  the  2023-2024  Student  and  Family  Handbook  and 
 Code of Student Conduct under sections 120.54, 1001.31, and 1001.32 of the Florida Statutes. 

 Laws  Implemented:  The  laws  implemented  by  the  above-referenced  policy  revisions  are  noted  under  each 
 section of the Policy. 

 Person(s)  Originating  Policy  Changes:  The  proposed  policy  was  originated  by  the  Superintendent  and  his 
 designee(s) in collaboration with the School Board Attorney. 

 Public  Hearing:  The  Board  intends  to  formally  adopt  the  2023-2024  Family  Handbook  and  Code  of  Student 
 Conduct  following  a  public  hearing.  The  public  hearing  shall  be  held  on  Thursday,  June  29,  2023,  during 
 the  course  of  the  Board’s  regular  meeting,  which  begins  at  6:00  p.m.  and  takes  place  in  the  Boardroom  at  the 
 Teacher  In-service  Training  Center  at  Fleming  Island  High  School,  2233  Village  Square  Parkway,  Orange  Park, 
 Florida. 

 Any  person  requiring  special  accommodations  to  attend  or  participate  in  public  meetings  should  advise  the 
 School  District  at  least  48  hours  before  the  meeting  by  contacting  the  Superintendent’s  Office  at  (904) 
 336-6508  .  If  you  are  hearing  or  speech  impaired,  you  may  contact  the  District  by  email  addressed  to 
 bonnie.onora@myoneclay.net  or by calling  (904) 336-6584  (TDD). 

 If  a  person  decides  to  appeal  any  decision  made  by  the  Board  with  respect  to  any  matter  considered  at  the 
 meeting,  he  or  she  will  need  a  record  of  the  proceedings,  and,  for  such  purpose,  he  or  she  may  need  to  ensure 
 that  a  verbatim  record  of  the  proceedings  is  made,  which  record  includes  the  testimony  and  evidence  upon 
 which the appeal is to be based. 

Page 768 of 843

DRAFT



 Summary of Changes 
 2023-2024 Student Code of Conduct 

 The following is a summary of updates and revisions to the student code of conduct. 

 ●  Entire Document  - Dates updated to reflect current  year. 
 ●  Entire Document  - Will be justified and pages assigned  once finalized. 
 ●  Front Cover  - Board Members updated. 
 ●  Table of Contents  - Changes/Addition of sections and  pages updated. Additional 

 sections added to highlight added procedures/information. Page numbers will be 
 adjusted once the deleted portions are removed. 

 Introduction 

 Board Picture  (pg 3)  Updated with current Board 

 Equal Opportunity: Prevention of Discrimination, Harassment, and Bullying 

 Title IX  (pg 11)  Added updated  information about Title IX procedures to comply 
 with current practice and included District contact information. 

 Coordinator of Student 
 Engagement  (pg 11) 

 Updated phone number. 

 Attendance 

 Absences/Truancy 
 (pgs 17-19) 

 ●  Added language to emphasize the importance of 
 attendance and strengthen current policy. 

 ●  Provided definitions and clarified regarding Board Policy 
 4.01 to provide stakeholders with user friendly language. 

 ●  Provided a list of examples of excused and unexcused 
 absences. 

 Make-Up Work  (pg 20)  Removed the word excused (in front of the word “absence”) 

 Student Conduct 

 Dress Code  (pg 21-22)  ●  Updated language regarding student ID cards 
 ●  Clarified the language within the guidelines 
 ●  Permitted Apparel 

 ○  Removed repetitive language from the guidelines 
 ○  Adjusted length of shorts, skirts, and dresses 
 ○  Adjusted language of holed/frayed jeans to be 

 consistent with shorts, skirts (etc.) 
 ○  Clarified “any part of the torso” should be covered. 

 ●  Non-Permitted Apparel 
 ○  Combined two bullet points to remove repetitive 

 language 

Page 769 of 843

DRAFT



 ○  Simplified Head covering definition. 
 ●  Provided three discipline alternatives for students if they 

 are found in violation of the Dress Code Violations. 

 Wireless 
 Communication 
 Devices  (pgs 23-24) 

 Changed Bring Your Own Device to Wireless Communication 
 Devices 

 Provided context for the reason to have Wireless Communication 
 Devices language in the Student Code of Conduct.  It is there to 
 protect stakeholders and the learning environment. 

 ●  Added Language to include Audio and Video Recordings 
 ●  Added language about posting to social media 
 ●  Added language about recording fights 
 ●  Deleted, combined, and clarified acceptable and 

 non-permitted use for all students 
 ●  Defined guidelines only applicable at the Secondary Level. 
 ●  Included language about use of devices during 

 standardized testing. 

 Student Conduct on a 
 School Bus  (pg 24) 

 Clarified Language about parent responsibilities. 

 Student Conduct in the 
 Restroom  (pg 25) 

 Added new language about Student Conduct in the Restroom 

 Youth Gang 
 Membership  (pg 26) 

 ●  Clarified language to include both virtual and in person 
 actions. 

 ●  Gang consideration will be determined through 
 investigation. 

 Student Accountability, Discipline, and Misconduct 

 Reports to Law 
 Enforcement Agencies 
 (pgs 32-33) 

 Updated Language and Terms to match new state requirements. 

 Discipline Action Matrix 
 (pgs 36-39) 

 ●  All sections were alphabetized. 
 ●  Added Wireless Communication Device violation as a 

 level 1 offense. 
 ●  Updated Language and Terms to match state 

 requirements. 
 ●  Separated Local and SESIR Level 3 Violations. 

 Discipline and Students 
 with Disabilities  (pgs 
 39-40) 

 ●  Updated language to be more user friendly 
 ●  Updated procedures to reflect current District practice and 

 alignment to policy 
 ●  Updated language to align with our Admissions and 

 Placement Manual 
 ●  Added  Notice of Rights for Students With Disabilities 

 and Their Parents Under Section 504 of the 
 Rehabilitation Act of 1973  . 

Page 770 of 843

DRAFT



 ●  Relocated  ESE Parent Notification  to this section. 
 ●  ESE Parent Notification  - Updated language from District 

 ESE to comply with current practice. 

 Other Important Information for Families 

 Notice of Child Find 
 Activities  (pgs 53) 

 Removed section by the recommendation of the ESE 
 Department. 

 ESE Parent Notification 
 moved to Section on 
 ESE Discipline  (pgs 
 53-54) 

 Relocated this section to  ESE Discipline  (pgs 39/40) 

 Parental Notification of 
 McKay Scholarship 
 (pgs 52-53) 

 Removed section by the recommendation of the ESE Department 
 due to redundancy with the Family Empowerment Scholarship. 

 Notice of Request for 
 IDEA Input  (pgs 52-52) 

 Removed section on advice from District ESE as this information 
 is available on CCDS ESE publications. 

 Appendix B: Behavior Infraction Codes 

 (pgs 59-70)  ●  All Sections Alphabetized 
 ●  Added Wireless Communication Device Violation 

 Definition 
 ●  Updated  SESIR  language and terms to match state 

 requirements. 
 ●  Separated Local and  SESIR  Level 3 Violations. 
 ●  Updated  SESIR  Examples and Non Examples to align 

 with those published by the FLDOE 
 ●  Linked All  SESIR  Events to the FLDOE  SESIR  definitions. 

Page 771 of 843

DRAFT



 Student and Family Handbook 
 and Code of Student Conduct 

 2022 -  2023  - 2024 

 David S. Broskie 
 Superintendent of Schools 

 CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD 

 District 1:  Erin Skipper  Janice Kerekes 
 District 2:  Mary Bolla 
 District 3:  Beth Clark 
 District 4:  Michele Hanson  Tina Bullock 
 District 5:  Ashley Gilhousen 

 Clay County District Schools 

Page 772 of 843

DRAFT



 Table of Contents 

 Table of Contents  1 

 Introduction  3 
 Superintendent's Message  3 
 Jurisdiction of the School Board  3 

 Mission, Vision, and Philosophy  4 

 Student Rights and Responsibilities  5 
 School Participation  5 
 Learning Experiences and Outcomes  5 
 Freedom of Speech and Expression  6 
 Privacy and Property Rights  7 
 Student Executive Officers  7 
 Student Publications  8 
 Pledge of Allegiance Notice  8 
 Role of Home, Student, and School  8 

 Equal Opportunity: Prevention of Discrimination, Harassment, and Bullying  9 
 Notice of Non-Discrimination  9 
 Discrimination/Harassment  11 
 Sexual Harassment  12 
 Bullying  12 
 Reporting Discrimination, Harassment, and Bullying  1  2 

 Procedures for Investigating Accusations of Harassment and Bullying  13 
 HOPE Scholarship  14 

 Student-Led Organizations  14 
 Student Activities, Athletics, and Extracurricular Activities  14 
 Rules for Student Activities and Clubs  14 

 Attendance  15 
 Compulsory School Attendance  15 
 Absences/Truancy  16 

 Senior Attendance Policy  17 
 Truancy  18 

 Attendance Requirements for Minors to Maintain Driving Privileges  18 
 Make-Up Work  18 
 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act  1  8 

 Student Conduct  19 
 Academic Honesty  19 
 Dress Code  19 
 Student Use of the Internet  20 
 Wireless Communication Devices  Bring Your Own Device  21 
 Student Conduct on a School Bus  2  2 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  1 
Page 773 of 843

DRAFT



 Student Conduct in the Restroom  22 
 Parking/Vehicle Rules  23 
 Youth Gang Membership  2  3 
 Zero Tolerance Rule  23 

 Student Accountability, Discipline, and Misconduct  2  5 
 Hearing Office  2  6 
 In-School Suspension  26 
 Out of School  Suspension, Alternative Placement, and  Expulsion  2  7 
 Reports to Law Enforcement Agencies  29 
 Investigations of Suspected Student Misconduct  30 
 Tobacco, Drugs, and Alcohol  30 
 Weapons In School  31 
 Firearms  31 
 Striking or Threatening a School Board Employee  32 
 Discipline Action Matrix  3  3 
 Category  Action  36 
 Discipline and Students with Disabilities  37 
 Students Charged with a Felony  38 

 Student Safety  39 
 Threat Management Assessment  39 
 FortifyFL  - SaferWatch App  39 
 Random Searches  39 
 Family and Behavior Expectations  40 

 Student Health  4  0 
 Immunization  4  0 
 Health Services/Screenings  4  1 
 Food Allergens  41 
 Live Lice Policy  4  1 
 Home Responsibilities for General Health Updates  43 

 Other Important Information for Families  43 
 Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)  43 
 Student Device Electronic Agreement  46 
 Responsible Use Guidelines  48 
 Child Abuse Reporting  49 
 Notice of Child Find Activities  49 
 Use of Student Work, Video, and Photographs  5  1 
 Social Media Guidelines  5  1 
 Rights of Divorced Parents  52 
 Parental Concerns Regarding Employees  52 

 Appendix A: Glossary  53 

 Appendix B: Behavior Infraction Codes  55 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  2 
Page 774 of 843

DRAFT



 Introduction 

 Superintendent's Message 

 Dear Parents and Guardians: 

 Clay County District Schools is committed to being a world-class education system 
 that focuses on providing students a public education experience that is motivating, 
 challenging, and rewarding for all students in a safe and healthy environment. The 
 2022-2023 Student Code of Conduct details the expectations for student behaviors 
 that encourage a positive learning experience for all. These skills build a foundation 
 for students to obtain academic and personal success. 

 Clay County District Schools is firmly committed to ensuring that every student can 
 succeed within a safe and positive learning environment. The 2023-2024 Student 
 Code of Conduct details the expectations for student behaviors that encourage a 
 positive learning experience for all. These skills build a foundation for students to obtain academic and personal 
 success. 

 The Student Code of Conduct is the District’s policy that is approved each year by the Clay County School Board. 
 This handbook contains important information to ensure your child has a successful school year.  Well-informed 
 parents and guardians have always been our best partners in this work.  I ask that you please review the Student 
 Code of Conduct with your child, discuss the content within the handbook, and complete the acknowledgment form. 
 Should you have any questions or concerns, I encourage you to reach out to your child’s principal and they will be 
 happy to assist with any questions regarding our policies and procedures within the handbook.  As always,  parental 
 and caregiver support is crucial to student success and well-being and I thank you for your partnership as we 
 provide an educational experience to our students that will help them grow, achieve, and reach their full potential. 

 Respectfully, 

 David Broskie 

 Jurisdiction of the School Board 
 This Handbook and all of its referenced policies and procedures is in 
 force at all times on all school campuses and properties, as well as 
 such times and places, including but not necessarily limited to, school 
 sponsored events, field trips, athletic functions and other activities 
 where school administrators have jurisdiction over students. 
 Jurisdictional control over the student may extend to the immediate 
 vicinity of the school when the conduct of the student is deemed to 
 have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, or welfare of the 
 school. With respect to bullying and harassment behavior, jurisdiction 
 of the Board extends to data or computer software accessed at a 
 non-school related location, activity, function, or program, or to 
 technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used 

 by the Clay County District Schools. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  3 
Page 775 of 843

DRAFT



 Our primary role as School Board members is to ensure the safety of all school district members and guests, and to 
 craft  policies that reflect the spirit of our communities while also considering the future of our most precious asset – 
 the kids. This Handbook is just one of those guides that help to make our schools great. We are honored to be given 
 this opportunity, and look forward to the collaboration and partnership that makes Clay County a truly special place 
 to live. 

 Mission, Vision, and Philosophy 

 Our Mission 
 Our mission is to work collaboratively with all stakeholders to provide a public education experience that is 
 motivating, challenging, and rewarding for all children. We will increase student achievement by providing 
 students with learning opportunities that are rigorous, relevant and transcend beyond the boundaries of the 
 school walls. We will ensure a working and learning environment built upon honesty, integrity, and respect. 
 Through these values, we will maximize student potential and promote individual responsibility. 

 Our Vision 
 The School District of Clay County exists to prepare life-long learners for success in a global and competitive 
 workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills. 

 Our Philosophy 
 Instruction should occur in an environment that promotes the highest level of learning. Effective instruction 
 requires high levels of student engagement, innovation of classroom rituals and routines, and clearly 
 articulated behavioral expectations. This is described as the absence of distractions, frictions, and 
 disturbances that interfere with the effective functioning of the student, class, and school. It is the presence of a 
 friendly, student-centered environment in which students and school personnel work cooperatively toward 
 mutually recognized and accepted goals, and in which the parent and the school develop and maintain a 
 positive, collaborative relationship focused on what is best for the learner. 

 As a student progresses through the grade levels, it is reasonable to assume that an increase in age and 
 maturity will result in the student assuming new opportunities to grow and greater responsibility for their 
 actions. It is recognized that differences in age and maturity require different types of opportunities and 
 disciplinary action; while maintaining a fair and equitable system that is applied to all students in grades 
 PreK-12. 

 To assist parents, administrators, and faculty in maintaining a positive learning environment, this Student & 
 Family  Handbook, along with its embedded Code of Student Conduct, will: 

 ●  Describe the role of the home, student, and school in the education of the learner. 
 ●  Describe student’s rights and responsibilities as part of the learning environment. 
 ●  Describe student conduct and processes associated with student misconduct. 
 ●  Describe aspects of student health and wellness, safety and security, and other relevant information 

 that will  help lead to a positive experience for all stakeholders. 

 The content of this Handbook will be shared with all students, parents, faculty, and councils associated with 
 district and school teams, in language that is understandable to the audience, through multiple media and 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  4 
Page 776 of 843

DRAFT



 sensory platforms, and in writing when requested by an individual, to ensure that a common understanding is 
 established for the education of our children and youth. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  5 
Page 777 of 843

DRAFT



 Student Rights and Responsibilities 

 It is the intent of this document to help students understand that individual rights involve associated 
 responsibilities, and that individual rights must be viewed in relationship to the health, safety, and welfare of the 
 entire school community. The principal shall assume administrative responsibility and instructional leadership 
 under the supervision of the Superintendent, and in accordance with rules and regulations of the School Board 
 for planning, management, and operation of the school to which the principal is assigned. The faculty and staff 
 shall assist in the orderly operation of the school and assure the rights of students. 

 School Participation 
 Regular attendance by students will facilitate the development of the skills and knowledge necessary to 
 function in a  modern democratic society. School staff, parents, students, and appropriate state agencies are 
 expected to work together  to ensure that all applicable school attendance laws are obeyed. 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To be informed of School Board policies and 
 individual school rules regarding absenteeism and 
 tardiness. 

 Take advantage of their educational opportunity by 
 attending all classes daily and on time. 

 To appeal a decision pertaining to an absence.  To provide the school with an adequate explanation 
 and documentation indicating the reason for an 
 absence. 

 To make up class work within a prescribed length of 
 time in case of an excused absence. 

 To request the make-up assignment from their 
 teachers upon their return from an excused absence 
 and to complete the work within a reasonable length 
 of time as determined by school board policy (1 day 
 per each day of  absence). 

 Clay County District School employees are not responsible for supervising students who arrive on school 
 property 30 or  more minutes before school or a school-sponsored activity is scheduled to begin. Further, Clay 
 County District School  employees are not responsible for supervising students who remain on school property 
 30 minutes or more after school  ends, or 30 or more minutes after a school-sponsored activity ends. 

 Learning Experiences and Outcomes 
 Active involvement in the learning process is critical to academic success, and is a complex interaction 
 between age, maturity, ability, and personal commitment. For all learners, the level of engagement with the 
 material and the experiences will be reflected in grades and assessments. 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To have equal educational opportunity with regard to 
 academic programs and extracurricular activities. 

 To pursue participation in academic programs and 
 extracurricular activities of interest and that are 
 commensurate with ability. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  6 
Page 778 of 843

DRAFT



 To be informed of district curriculum course 
 descriptions that will facilitate informed choices. 

 To actively pursue assistance from qualified school 
 staff with course selection that is consistent with 
 ability and program of study. 

 To receive instruction in courses of study under 
 competent instructors and in an atmosphere free 
 from bias and prejudice. 

 To cooperate fully and exert every effort to achieve 
 mastery at the highest level possible. 

 To receive access to instructional materials and 
 resources for the subject(s) they are studying. 

 To take care of instructional materials/resources 
 issued to them and to pay for lost or damaged 
 instructional materials.* 

 To receive and have explained to a teacher’s grading 
 criteria at the beginning of each year long or 
 semester course. 

 To become informed of the grading criteria and any 
 updates to grading rubrics. 

 To receive reasonable notification of failure or 
 potential failure during the grading period when it is 
 apparent unsatisfactory work is being performed. 

 To maintain standards of academic performance 
 commensurate with ability, and to make every effort 
 to improve performance upon receipt of notification 
 of unsatisfactory progress 

 *  Florida Statutes 1006.42(1)  : Each Parent of a student  to whom or for whom instructional materials have been issued, is liable for any 
 loss or destruction of, or unnecessary damage to, the instructional materials or for failure of the student to return the instructional 
 materials, and shall pay for such loss, destruction, or unnecessary damage as provided by law. 

 Freedom of Speech and Expression 
 Citizens in our democracy are guaranteed self-expression under the 1st and 4th Amendments of the United 
 States Constitution; therefore, in a democratic society, one of the basic purposes of education is to prepare 
 students for responsible self-expression. 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To form and express viewpoints through speaking 
 and  writing in a manner which is not obscene, 
 slanderous, or  libelous. 

 To respect the rights, property, and beliefs of other 
 individuals, to express disagreement in a manner 
 which  does not infringe upon the rights of others, 
 and does not  interfere with the orderly educational 
 process.** 

 To not be subject to disciplinary action because of 
 use of a language other than English if the student 
 has limited English proficiency. 

 To act in a manner which preserves the dignity of 
 patriotic observances. 

 To affirm their identity with the American ideals as 
 allowed and encouraged by state law.* 

 To respect the religious beliefs and observances of 
 others. 

 To refrain from any activity which violates the 
 precepts of their religion. 

 To plan for, seek approval of, and conduct activities 
 which are consistent with the educational objectives 
 of the school. 

 To petition and survey student opinion in accordance 
 with the procedures that are established by the 
 principal and  consistent with school district 
 guidelines. 

 *Pursuant to  F.S. 1003.44  . 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  7 
Page 779 of 843

DRAFT



 **Pursuant to  School Board Rule 4.04  and  F.S. 1006.07(2)(c)  . 

 Privacy and Property Rights 
 Federal and State laws provide persons with reasonable expectation of privacy in addition to freedom from 
 unreasonable search and seizure of property. Such guarantees are not unlimited and must be balanced by the 
 school’s responsibility to protect the health, safety, and welfare of all students (4th Amendment of the United 
 States Constitution). 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To maintain privacy of personal possessions unless 
 school  personnel have reasonable suspicion to 
 believe a student possesses any object or material 
 which is prohibited by law or School Board Policy. 

 To not carry or conceal any such material that is 
 prohibited by law or would detract from the 
 educational process. 

 To attend school in an educational environment in 
 which personal property is respected. 

 To respect the property rights of the public at large 
 as well as those of individuals, and to refrain from 
 destruction of, or damage to such property. 

 To be informed of state laws governing the search of 
 personal effects while on school property, including 
 lockers, backpacks, purses and gym bags.* 

 To accept the consequences for content stored 
 within an assigned locker or other storage device.* 

 *Pursuant to  F.S. 1006.09(9)  , school officials may  conduct a warrantless search of a student’s locker, vehicle, or any storage area on 
 school property if such officials have reason to believe that illegal, prohibited, or harmful items may be concealed. 

 Student Executive Officers 
 Effective student associations are the forums for the training and involvement of students in the democratic 
 process, and promote the ideals of shared governance, respecting differing opinions, and engaging productive 
 discourse with one another. Members of the school community share the responsibility for shaping such 
 associations into positive instruments for student involvement. 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To form and operate executive officers within student 
 groups under the direction of a faculty advisor. 

 To elect student executive officers and 
 representatives in  student groups who are 
 responsive to the needs of the  school and who will 
 work constructively toward the  resolution of such 
 needs. 

 To seek an executive office in student government or 
 other student organization regardless of race, sex, 
 color, creed, or political beliefs. 

 To conduct election campaigns in a positive, mature 
 manner, with all due respect provided their 
 opponents. 

 To attend, as a student executive officer or 
 representative, official student group meetings upon 
 approval of such meetings by the school principal. 

 To attend regularly scheduled meetings, if an elected 
 student representative, and exhibit appropriate 
 conduct at all times. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  8 
Page 780 of 843

DRAFT



 Student Publications 
 Education is the process of inquiry and learning, acquiring and imparting knowledge, and exchanging ideas. 
 One of the important roles of the school is to provide effective avenues through which students may express 
 themselves on a wide range of subjects. Official student publications, such as school newspapers, should 
 include viewpoints representative of the entire student body. 

 Student Rights  Student Responsibilities 

 To possess, post, and distribute forms of literature 
 that are not inherently disruptive to the school 
 program through means such as, but not limited to, 
 newspapers, magazines, leaflets, pamphlets, and 
 online forums. 

 To use only those bulletin boards or wall areas 
 designated for use by students and student 
 organizations, and accept responsibility for the effect 
 that the posting might have on the normal activities 
 of the school. 

 To be free of censorship on their publications except 
 within the framework of guidelines previously agreed 
 upon by students and administrators. 

 To refrain from publishing libelous and obscene 
 materials, to seek full information on the topics about 
 which they write, and observe the normal rules for 
 responsible journalism under the guidance of the 
 faculty advisor. 

 Principals may suppress or recall literature which 
 they consider primarily commercial in nature or 
 material which could endanger the orderly operation 
 of the school. 

 Pledge of Allegiance Notice 
 Pursuant to  F.S. 1002.20(12)  , students have the right  not to participate in reciting the pledge. Upon a written 
 request by his or her parent, a student must be excused from reciting the pledge, including standing and 
 placing the right hand over his or her heart. 

 Role of Home, Student, and School 
 In order for effective instruction to occur, there must be a cooperative relationship between student, parent, and 
 educator. This relationship may be described as follows: 

 Parents or Guardians Who: 
 ❏  assume responsibility for their child’s behavior. 
 ❏  maintain regular communication with the school and encourage their child to maintain acceptable 

 behaviors specific to their home, community, and school. 
 ❏  ensure that their child is in daily attendance, and promptly report and explain an absence to the school. 

 provide their child with the resources needed to complete class work. 
 ❏  assist their child in developing grooming habits consistent with a school environment. 
 ❏  bring to the attention of school authorities any problem or condition which affects their child or other 

 children of the school community. 
 ❏  discuss report cards and work assignments with their child. 
 ❏  maintain up-to-date contact information and addresses at the school, including medical provider and 

 hospital preference. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  9 
Page 781 of 843

DRAFT



 Students Who: 
 ❏  attend all classes daily, and arrive on time. 
 ❏  are prepared to come to class with appropriate working materials. 
 ❏  are responsible for their own work and actions. 
 ❏  are responsible for delivery of written communications to their parent/guardian. 
 ❏  are respectful to all individuals and property. 
 ❏  refrain from profane or inflammatory statements. 
 ❏  maintain grooming habits appropriate for a school environment. 
 ❏  abide by the rules and regulations set forth by the school and individual classroom teachers, while 

 conducting  themselves in a safe and responsible manner. 

 Schools That: 
 ❏  encourage the use of good guidance procedures. 
 ❏  maintain an atmosphere conducive to good behavior. 
 ❏  exhibit an attitude of respect for students. 
 ❏  plan a flexible curriculum to meet the needs of all students. 
 ❏  promote effective training and discipline based upon fair and impartial treatment of all students. 
 ❏  develop a positive working relationship among staff, students, and community partners. 
 ❏  encourage the school staff, parents and students to use the services of community partners. 
 ❏  encourage parents to maintain regular communication with the school and participate in its affairs. 
 ❏  seek to involve students in the development of district policy. 
 ❏  inform all employees of their requirement to report to law enforcement felony offenses and violent 

 misdemeanors or delinquent acts which would be a felony offense if committed by an adult on or near 
 school property. 

 Equal Opportunity: Prevention of Discrimination, 
 Harassment, and Bullying 

 Notice of Non-Discrimination 
 Notice of Non-Discrimination and Procedures for Handling Allegations of Possible Discrimination 
 within Clay County District Schools - Employment and Programs 

 Non-discrimination and diversity are foundation principles of the School Board. It is School Board policy to hire 
 and promote the best qualified candidate measured against the requirements of the job and to provide equal 
 employment and advancement opportunity for all individuals without discrimination because of race, color, 
 gender, religion, age, national  origin, disability, veteran, marital status or any other protected status. 

 The School Board also makes reasonable accommodations for disabled employees. Employees who would 
 like to be considered for accommodation assistance should contact the Assistant Superintendent for Human 
 Resources. Information obtained concerning individuals requesting accommodations is kept confidential, to the 
 extent possible, except that principals and supervisors may be informed regarding restrictions on the work 
 duties of disabled individuals and information regarding necessary accommodations. 

 The policy applies to all areas of employment, including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, 
 benefits, transfer, and social and recreational programs. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  10 
Page 782 of 843

DRAFT



 The Clay County School Board reaffirms its Equal Education Opportunity (EEO) commitment as follows: 

 ❏  Guidance counseling, financial assistance and access to academic, career and vocational opportunities 
 are available without regard to race, religion, color, sex, marital status, age, national origin, disability, or 
 other protected status. 

 ❏  Criteria for admission to programs and courses do not have the effect of restricting access. 
 ❏  Recreational and athletic activities do not exclude participation in, deny benefits of, or treat people 

 differently on the basis of sex. 

 The Policy of the Clay County School Board (  6GX-10-1.06  )  relative to Non-Discrimination states the following: 

 DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF RACE, RELIGION, COLOR, SEX,  MARITAL STATUS, AGE, 
 NATIONAL ORIGIN, PREGNANCY, OR DISABILITY IS  PROHIBITED IN THE EMPLOYMENT OF 
 PERSONNEL IN THE PROVISION OF  EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS AND IN THE CONDUCT OF THE 
 BUSINESS AFFAIRS OF THE CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL SYSTEM, AND PROVIDES EQUAL ACCESS TO 
 THE BOY SCOUTS AND OTHER DESIGNATED PATRIOTIC GROUPS. 
 (Ref. F.S. 760.10; F.S. 760.50; Federal Civil Rights Acts title VI, VII, IX; Section 504F. Rehabilitation Act, 1973-78;  IDEA, ADEA; Equal 
 Pay Act; Americans with Disabilities Act) 

 The procedures outlined below shall be used for the processing of allegations of possible discrimination. 

 ❏  All such allegations should be discussed initially on an informal basis with the school principal, 
 supervisor or appropriate division head directly responsible for the area of concern. Such discussion 
 should be held within ten (10) days of alleged incidents(s) if possible. 

 ❏  In addition, each school has a school-based Title IX Coordinator, which is listed under each school's 
 webpage under the administration tab. A compiled list can be found on the  District's Title IX webpage  . 
 Any student matter not resolved by the school principal to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party shall 
 be  referred to the attention of the Title IX Office. 

 Title IX Office 
 School District of Clay County 

 900 Walnut Street 
 Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

 Telephone: (904) 336-6919 

 ❏  Any student matter not resolved by the school principal to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party shall 
 be  referred to the attention of the following office: 

 Coordinator of Student Engagement 
 School District of Clay County 

 900 Walnut Street 
 Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

 Telephone: (904) 336-  5000  6917 

 ❏  Any  Human Resources  matter not resolved by the school  principal or division head to the satisfaction 
 of the aggrieved party shall be referred to the attention of the following office: 

 Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  11 
Page 783 of 843

DRAFT



 School District of Clay County 
 900 Walnut Street 

 Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 Telephone: (904) 336-6701 

 ❏  All complaints of discrimination or harassment shall be investigated fully and all person(s) involved shall 
 be questioned. The aggrieved party may be required to appear in person to answer questions. 

 ❏  Such investigation shall be initiated within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the complaint. If an extension of 
 the timelines is deemed necessary, the aggrieved party shall be notified of such extension prior to the 
 end of the fifteen (15) days. 

 ❏  Retaliation against any person who makes a complaint pursuant to this policy, or who participates in 
 any investigation initiated pursuant to this policy, will not be tolerated. Any employee who engages in 
 such retaliation shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 Discrimination/Harassment 
 Discrimination is defined as treating a person of a particular group differently based on their protected class 
 characteristic. Harassment is defined as verbal, written or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or 
 aversion toward an individual because of the person’s protected status and has the purpose or effect of 
 unreasonably interfering with an individual’s educational performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or 
 offensive education environment. Harassing conduct includes epithets, slurs, or negative stereotyping; 
 threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts; denigrating jokes; and written or graphic material that denigrates or 
 shows hostility or aversion toward an individual or group that is placed on walls or elsewhere on the district’s 
 premises or circulated by e-mail, phone (including voice messages), text messages, social networking sites, or 
 other means. Harassment does not include verbal expressions or written material that is relevant and 
 appropriately related to course subject matter or curriculum. 

 It shall be a violation of District policy for any student, teacher, administrator, or other district personnel 
 to harass a student or adult through conduct of a sexual nature, or regarding race, color, sexual 
 orientation, national origin or disability as defined by this policy. 

 It shall also be a violation of District policy for any teacher, administrator, or other school personnel of 
 this District to tolerate sexual harassment or harassment based on race, color, sexual orientation, 
 national origin, or disability by a student, teacher, administrator, or other school personnel, or by any 
 third parties who are participating in, observing, or otherwise engaged in activities, including sporting 
 events and other extracurricular activities, under the auspices of the School District. 

 Examples of conduct that may constitute harassment based on race, color, sexual orientation, or 
 national origin, include: 

 ❏  graffiti containing offensive language which refers to a person’s race, color, sexual orientation, or 
 national origin 

 ❏  name calling, jokes, or rumors 
 ❏  threatening or intimidating conduct directed at a person because of his/her race, color, sexual 

 orientation, or national origin 
 ❏  racial or ethnic slurs, negative stereotypes, and hostile acts based on another’s race, col  o  r, 

 sexual orientation, or national origin 
 ❏  a physical act of aggression or assault upon another because of, or in a manner reasonably 

 related to, that person’s race, color, sexual orientation, or national origin 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  12 
Page 784 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  other kinds of aggressive conduct such as theft or damage to property which is motivated by 
 race, color, sexual  orientation, or national origin 

 Harassment based on a disability consists of verbal or physical conduct relating to an individual’s 
 physical or mental impairment when the harassing conduct is so severe, persistent, or pervasive that it 
 affects a student’s ability to participate in or benefit from services or opportunities in an educational 
 program or activity, or creates an intimidating, threatening, or abusive educational environment. 

 Examples of conduct that may constitute harassment because of a disability include: 

 ❏  graffiti containing offensive language derogatory to a person because of their physical or mental 
 disability 

 ❏  threatening or intimidating conduct directed at another because of that person’s physical or 
 mental disability 

 For additional information, please refer to District Policy Rule 1.11. 

 Sexual Harassment 
 Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or 
 physical conduct of a sexual nature. Sexual harassment may include a range of subtle and not-so-subtle 
 behaviors and may involve individuals of the same or different gender. Depending on the circumstances, these 
 behaviors may include: unwanted sexual advances or requests for sexual favors; sexual jokes and innuendo; 
 verbal abuse of a sexual nature; commentary about an individual’s body, sexual prowess, or sexual 
 deficiencies; leering, whistling, or touching; insulting  or obscene comments or gestures; display of sexually 
 suggestive objects or pictures; and other physical, verbal, or visual  conduct of a sexual nature in the 
 workplace. Sexual harassment can take two forms: 1) hostile environment and 2) “quid  pro quo” which means 
 “you do something for me and I’ll do something for you” in a sexual context. 

 All public schools receiving any federal funds must also comply with Title IX of the Education Amendments of 
 1972. A  school has a responsibility to respond promptly and effectively to a claim of sexual harassment or 
 sexual violence. Title IX requires schools to adopt and publish grievance procedures for students to file 
 complaints of sex discrimination, including complaints of sexual harassment or sexual violence. Schools can 
 use general disciplinary procedures to address complaints of sex discrimination but all procedures must 
 provide for prompt and equitable resolution of sex discrimination complaints. 

 Bullying 
 Bullying is defined as any written or verbal expression, or physical or electronic act or gesture, or a pattern 
 thereof, that is intended to coerce, intimidate, or cause any physical, mental, or emotional harm to any student, 
 or would be reasonably assumed to cause harm  .  Bullying  is prohibited against any student for any reason, 
 including but not limited to, any such behavior that is directed toward a student on the basis of academic 
 performance, or against whom federal and state laws prohibit discrimination. 

 To guide the investigation of alleged bullying, three key elements must be present in order to fall into the 
 Substantiated Bullying category. This includes behaviors that are repeated, or could be reasonably repeated, 
 intentional, and reflect a power imbalance between the individual engaged in bullying behavior and the one 
 being bullied. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  13 
Page 785 of 843

DRAFT



 Bullying includes actions such as making threats, spreading rumors, attacking someone physically or verbally, 
 or purposely excluding someone from a group. Cyberbullying is a specific form of bullying using technology to 
 hurt, harm or humiliate another individual or group. 

 Reporting Discrimination, Harassment, and Bullying 
 If you feel you have been a victim of, or witness to, discrimination, harassment, or bullying, report it 
 immediately. Retaliation for reporting is not tolerated. The highest level of confidentiality possible will be upheld 
 regarding the submission of a complaint or report of harassment/bullying/hazing and the investigative 
 procedures that follow. The  following actions are encouraged in reporting this behavior: 

 ❏  Students are always encouraged to report the complaint directly to a teacher, school counselor, school 
 administrator, or parent. 

 ❏  If a student or other person familiar with the situation would like to submit a report anonymously, they 
 may call the Bullying Hotline at (904) 336-6799. 

 ❏  If the accused is a district employee, the student or parent should contact Human Resources at (904) 
 336-6706. 

 ❏  If the accused is an adult not employed by the school district, the student or parent should contact the 
 school principal. 

 Procedures for Investigating Accusations of Harassment and Bullying 

 ❏  When a report is made, the school principal will notify the parents of both the student(s) accused of 
 bullying  and the student(s) that has been allegedly bullied within 48 hours. This notification will include 
 a description of the accusation and the process for investigation that will take place, along with a 
 timeline of action. 

 It is expected that a thorough investigation will require more than one day but will be completed 
 in a timely manner. It must review more than a single incident to be considered bullying behavior 
 but not for harassment or hazing. 

 ❏  The principal will designate a staff member that can remain neutral to lead the investigation. 
 ❏  All interviews of students and adults will be documented and uploaded into the SIS referral system. All 

 interviewees should be prepared to give as much detail as possible regarding who, what, when, where, 
 and how the behavior allegedly occurred. 

 ❏  The School Counselor will be notified within 48 hours of the report in order to meet with the student(s) 
 that was harassed, bullied, or hazed, to determine their counseling needs. 

 ❏  Collection and evaluation of facts will include: 
 ❏  the nature of the behavior 
 ❏  how often the behavior occurred 
 ❏  past incidents or past continuing patterns of behavior 
 ❏  relationship between the parties involved, including any positions of power one may have over 

 another 
 ❏  race, national origin, sex, disability (if any) and age of the person being harassed or bullied 
 ❏  identity of the student(s) bullying others 
 ❏  locations of all incidents 
 ❏  impact on educational  progress and educational environment 
 ❏  context in which the alleged incidents occurred 

 ❏  Once an investigation is completed, information and findings are entered into the SIS and appropriate 
 actions are taken regarding student discipline per this Code of Student Conduct and supports put in 
 place for all individuals involved. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  14 
Page 786 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  The principal will notify the parent of the student being harassed or bullied of the Hope Scholarship 
 program within 15 days of the initial report and provide them with requisite paperwork for submission to 
 the state. 

 A maximum of 60 school days shall be the limit for the initial filing of incidents that fall under the Federal 
 guidelines for harassing behavior and completion of the investigative procedural steps. 

 HOPE Scholarship 

 Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, was established in last year’s legislative session and provides the parent of 
 a public school student who was subjected to an incident of bullying or violence (a complete list of incidents is 
 found in section  1002.40(3), F.S.  , an opportunity  to transfer to another public school, or request a scholarship 
 for the student to enroll in and attend a participating private school. The law states in part, “Upon receipt of a 
 report of an incident, the school principal, or his or her designee, shall provide a copy of the report to the 
 parent and investigate the incident to determine if the incident must be reported as required by  1006.09(6)  F.S. 
 Within 24 hours after receipt of the report, the principal or his or her designee shall provide a copy of the report 
 to the parent of the alleged offender and to the superintendent. 

 Upon conclusion of the investigation or within 15 days after the incident was reported, whichever occurs first, 
 the school district shall notify the parent of the program and offer the parent an opportunity to enroll his or her 
 student in another public school that has capacity or to request and receive a scholarship to attend an eligible 
 private school, subject to available funding.” 

 Please go to the  FLDOE website  for more detailed information. 

 Student-Led Organizations 
 Student-led organizations are permitted in secondary schools, and such organizations are allowed to meet on 
 school premises during non-instructional time, as designated by the school principal. Students wishing to 
 establish an organization shall work with their school and within district policy. Membership in all student 
 organizations shall be on a voluntary basis and only open to students currently enrolled in the school at which 
 meetings are to be held. Student  organizations shall not engage in any activity which is contrary to law, district 
 policy, or school rules. 

 Student Activities, Athletics, and Extracurricular Activities 
 Organized clubs and activities are characteristic of student life from the elementary school through college, and 
 are characteristic of adult life as well. All members of the school community share the responsibility for 
 organizing and supporting clubs and activities that meet student needs and serve definite and worthwhile 
 purposes. 

 Rules for Student Activities and Clubs 
 ❏  Clubs and activities must be open to all qualified students. 
 ❏  Clubs cannot interfere with school activities and School Board policies must be followed. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  15 
Page 787 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Clubs must have a charter and a constitution that state the membership qualifications and the rules of 
 conduct (written by both students and teachers, be approved by the administration, and be kept on file 
 so that all  students, parents, and school personnel may read them). 

 ❏  Local chapters of national organizations whose charters are prescribed are exempt from the 
 requirement that they must be written by both students and teachers. 

 ❏  Clubs must have a faculty sponsor approved by the administration; this sponsor must be at all 
 meetings/events and with chaperones when appropriate. 

 ❏  Club members cannot be hazed pursuant to School Board Policy 4.11 and F.S. 1006.135(1). Hazing 
 means any action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or 
 safety of a student. Hazing includes any forced activity that could adversely affect the mental health or 
 dignity of the student. Students are always encouraged to talk to parents and school administrators 
 about any activity in which they are made to feel uncomfortable. Demeaning or dangerous activities are 
 not necessary to be a part of a team or group. 

 ❏  Club dues must be reasonable. 
 ❏  Club meetings must be held on the school grounds except for special meetings/events approved by the 

 administration. 
 ❏  Club money must be handled through the school’s internal accounts system. 

 NOTE:  Florida Statute 1006.14  : Secret societies prohibited  in public K-12 school states that (1) It is unlawful 
 for any person, group, or organization to organize or establish a fraternity, sorority, or other secret society 
 whose membership is comprised in whole or in part of students enrolled in any public K-12 school or to go 
 upon any public K-12 school premises for the purpose of soliciting any students to join such an organization. 

 A student not currently suspended for interscholastic extracurricular activities, or suspended or expelled from 
 school, pursuant to the district’s suspension or expulsion authority provided in law is eligible to participate 
 interscholastic extracurricular activities pursuant to  F.S. 1006.195(1). 

 Per  F.S. 1006.09(2)  , if a student is convicted of,  or is found to have committed a felony or a delinquent act, 
 including an off-campus incident which would have been a felony if committed by an adult, the student’s 
 eligibility in interscholastic extracurricular activities is contingent upon local administration policy, regardless of 
 whether or not adjudication is withheld. 

 Students who participate in interscholastic extracurricular activities for, but are not enrolled in a district public 
 school, are subject to the district’s code of Student Conduct for the limited purpose of establishing and 
 maintaining the student’s eligibility to participate at the school. 

 All junior high students must have a 2.0 on a 4.0 GPA scale at the conclusion of each semester. A high school 
 student must have a cumulative 2.0 GPA on a 4.0 unweighted GPA scale at the conclusion of each semester. 

 Students are limited to four years of athletic eligibility upon entering high school. 

 The Florida High School Athletic Association continues to retain jurisdiction over eligibility rules dealing with 
 recruitment violations and sanctions against students. 

 Attendance 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  16 
Page 788 of 843

DRAFT



 Compulsory School Attendance 
 Florida Law  (Section 1003.21, Florida Statutes)  states  that all children who are either six years of age, who will 
 be six years old by February 1 of any school year, or who are older than six years of age but who have not 
 attained the age of 16 years, must attend school regularly during the entire school term. A student who attains 
 the age of 16 years during the school year is not subject to compulsory attendance beyond the date of which 
 the student attains that age if he/she files a formal declaration of intent to terminate school enrollment with the 
 school district. The declaration must acknowledge  that terminating school enrollment is likely to reduce the 
 student’s earning potential and must be signed by the student  and the student’s parent or legal guardian.  F.S. 
 1003.21(1)(c). 

 Florida law (  Section 1003.26, Florida Statutes  ) specifies  steps for enforcement of regular school attendance. It 
 is the responsibility of the school district superintendent to enforce school attendance of all children who are 
 subject to compulsory school age requirements. The responsibility includes: 

 ❏  Develop policies and procedures to ensure that schools respond in a timely manner to each unexcused 
 absence, or absence for which the reason is unknown. 

 ❏  Contact the home for every unexcused absence or absence for which the reason is unknown, to obtain 
 parent justification for the absence. 

 ❏  Evaluate each justification and, based on district policy, determine whether the absence is excused or 
 unexcused; if excused, allow the student to make up assigned work without academic penalty. 

 ❏  Track excused and unexcused absences. 
 ❏  Identify and refer students who may be developing a pattern of nonattendance to the school child study 

 team for intervention services. 
 ❏  Schedule a meeting with certain identified parents to discuss their child's attendance. 
 ❏  Implement prevention and intervention strategies to address truancy and attendance issues as required 

 for drivers'  licenses and related requirements for habitual truants. 
 ❏  Send a notice to the superintendent of schools and to the district home education contact regarding 

 patterns of nonattendance for specific students. 
 ❏  Refer habitual truancy cases to the case staffing committee and/or child-in-need- of-services provider 

 for assistance. 

 Absences/Truancy 
 Absenteeism, regardless of the reason, negatively affects the continuity of the learning process. As a student’s 
 absenteeism increases, there is a greater responsibility for the school to deter future absenteeism, and a 
 greater responsibility for the student to demonstrate that such absenteeism has not negatively affected 
 performance mastery.  One of the greatest indicators  of success is simply showing up on a daily basis. 

 The parent/guardian has the responsibility to ensure the student is rested and prepared for the rigor of a 
 learning environment. 

 All elementary, middle and high school students who are absent will be marked “unexcused” (U) until the 
 parent/guardian notifies the school in writing and justifies the absence with one of the acceptable reasons as 
 defined below. 

 ❏  Failure to do so within three (3) school days may cause the absence to be recorded as “unexcused”. 
 ❏  In the case of excessive or extended absences, which are claimed to be due to illness, upon request of 

 the principal or designee, a parent must provide documentation (doctor’s statement) of a student’s 
 illness. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  17 
Page 789 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Excessive or extended absences are considered five (5) in one grading period, ten (10) in one 
 semester or twenty (20) in a calendar year, or a history of excessive absences per period. Absences 
 that meet this threshold as defined above will require a doctor’s note. The principal of the school shall 
 determine when it is necessary to require a doctor’s note from the student’s medical provider and 
 require the parent/guardian to provide a copy to their child’s school within a reasonable period of time 
 as determined by the principal or designee. 

 Reasons for acceptable (excused) absences include but are not limited to:  An absence from school under  the 
 following circumstances shall be considered excused: 

 ❏  With permission – The absence was with the knowledge and consent of the principal of the school that 
 the  student attends. It is the responsibility of the parent/guardian to provide a written statement to the 
 school explaining the absence within three (3) school days following the return of the student to school. 
 If a student is continually sick and repeatedly absent from school, he or she must be under the 
 supervision of a physician in order to receive an excuse from attendance. Such excuse provides that a 
 student’s condition justifies absence for more than 5 days per grading period/10 days per semester/20 
 days per year. The principal of the school shall  determine when it is necessary to require a physician’s 
 statement from the student’s medical provider and require the parent/guardian to provide a copy to their 
 child’s school within a reasonable period of time as determined by the principal or designee. 

 ❏  Scheduled doctor or dentist appointments. 
 ❏  Illness of the student.  Sickness, injury, or other  insurmountable condition – Attendance was impractical 

 or inadvisable on account of sickness or injury, or was impractical because of some other stated 
 insurmountable condition. 

 ❏  Major illness in the immediate family of the student  (immediate family is determined as parents, 
 brothers, sisters, grandparents, aunts, uncles, legal guardians or persons “in loco parentis,” or a 
 member of one’s own household) 

 ❏  Death in the immediate family of the student. 
 ❏  Financial inability to provide necessary clothes for the student when reported by the parent in writing to 

 the  Superintendent and validated by the Superintendent (FS 1003.24(3). 
 ❏  Religious holiday of the student’s faith  Absence for  religious instruction or holidays – A student with the 

 written consent of his or her parent/guardian shall be excused from attendance in school on a particular 
 day or days, or at a particular time of day, and shall  be excused from any examination, study or work 
 assignment at such time to participate in religious instruction, for observance of a religious holiday or 
 because tenets of his or her religion forbid secular activity at such time. 

 ❏  Religious instruction 
 ❏  Religious institutes, conferences, or workshops, provided that the principal or designee approves the 

 absence in advance. 
 ❏  The principal shall reserve the right to refuse a student’s request for released time, if according to the 

 provisions  of the district’s student progression plan: 
 a.  The student is not enrolled in sufficient courses to allow for the student’s promotion or 

 graduation, and  thus the released time would not be equivalent to an optional period. 
 b.  The student’s grades/academic progress is insufficient to allow for the student’s promotion or 

 graduation. 
 ❏  Absences due to head lice will be excused. However, once a student has accumulated 10 absences 

 during a school year due to head lice, the school will refer the case to the School Social Worker for 
 family support and appropriate intervention, including a possible referral to the Truancy Arbitration 
 Program through the State Attorney’s Office. Unusual circumstances may be addressed by the principal 
 to go beyond these 10 days for excused absences. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  18 
Page 790 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Subpoena or forced absence by any law enforcement agency, a copy of the subpoena or court 
 summons must be submitted to the school. 

 ❏  For purposes of attendance, school related activities would not be counted as absences from school. 
 ❏  Issues and occasions specific to military families 

 An absence from school under the following circumstances may be considered unexcused. 
 ❏  The absence was without the parent/guardian’s knowledge or consent. 
 ❏  Permission for the absence was requested but denied by the principal of the student’s school. 

 ❏  This could include the following  :  No written statement  of the absence from the parent/guardian 
 has been received by the school explaining the  reason for the absence within three (3) school 
 days following the return of the student to school. 

 ❏  Shopping trips 
 ❏  Pleasure trips 
 ❏  Suspension 
 ❏  Appointments without prior approval 
 ❏  Truancy 
 ❏  Other avoidable absences 

 The principal has administrative discretion in cases of excessive absences to reject a written note and consider 
 the absence as unexcused when absences are seriously impacting academic progress, with the exception of 
 sickness, injury or insurmountable conditions. 

 For additional information, please refer to  District  Policy Rule 4.01. 

 Senior Attendance Policy 

 Students must be in attendance for at least 90% of their total possible class periods during their senior year of 
 high school to participate in commencement ceremonies. Once all attendance is recorded and verified, the rate 
 of attendance will be pulled from the Student Information System. 

 This is not an excused/unexcused absence policy; it is an attendance policy. The type of absence does not 
 matter with the following exceptions: 

 ❏  doctor appointments or doctor mandated stay at home that is documented on a physician’s professional 
 stationary subpoenas to court 

 ❏  bereavement time for an immediate family member 
 ❏  participation in a school-sanctioned activity 
 ❏  pre-approved college visits documented by email or regular mail correspondence 
 ❏  parent approved absence from school 

 It is the student’s responsibility to bring verification from the doctor, parent or court for an exception; otherwise 
 the  absence will count against the policy. Verification must be supplied within three school days following the 
 absence. 

 NOTE: All decisions regarding participation in graduation activities as a function of the Senior Attendance 
 Policy will  be at the discretion of school administration. 

 Truancy 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  19 
Page 791 of 843

DRAFT



 Florida law defines "habitual truant" as a student who has 15 or more unexcused absences within 90 calendar 
 days with or without the knowledge or consent of the student's parent or guardian, and who is subject to 
 compulsory school  attendance. 

 Absence by a student for twenty (20) or more days during the school year shall create a strong presumption 
 that the student has failed those subjects or courses in which he is enrolled during that period. For semester 
 courses, ten (10)  days shall apply; for individual grading periods, five (5) days shall apply. Such a presumption 
 may be overcome by effort or performance which satisfies the teacher(s) involved, that such student should 
 receive other than a failing grade. A review committee representing the administration, the instructional staff, 
 and guidance, appointed by the principal, will review each such case individually and will make 
 recommendations. Individual teacher(s) shall give strong consideration to the recommendation of the review 
 committee in determining the effort or performance of the student. 

 Attendance Requirements for Minors to Maintain Driving Privileges 
 Recognizing the importance of education and keeping the students in school, the 1997 legislature enacted 
 322.091 F.S  . relating to the driver’s license for  students, ages 14 to 18, as an incentive for students to stay in 
 school and continue their education. In order for a student to retain or obtain his/her regular Florida driver’s 
 license or learner’s driver’s license, the student must comply with compulsory school attendance. 
 Accumulating 15 unexcused absences in a period of 90  calendar days or failure to remain enrolled in school 
 will result in being classified as a habitual truant and the loss of  said license, or the withholding of the 
 necessary forms to obtain a license by the Florida Department of Highway Safety  and Motor Vehicles. (  F.S. 
 1003.27(2b)  ). Parents and students will need to contact  the school district at (904) 336-9639  for detailed 
 information regarding reporting, reinstatement, and appeal procedures. 

 For additional information, please refer to  District  Policy Rule 4.53  . 

 Make-Up Work 
 It is essential that students absent from school make up work missed. It is the responsibility of the student and 
 the family to initiate requests for, and to pick up, make-up work on the day the student returns to class from an 
 excused absence. All work missed from an  excused  absence  can be made up within 24 hours for 100% credit. 
 For example, if a student  misses three days, they have three days to complete missing assignments for full 
 credit. 

 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act 
 The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act of 2000 (Subtitle VII-B) per Title IX, Part A of the Elementary 
 and Secondary Education Act, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, ensures homeless children 
 transportation to and from school free of charge, allowing children to attend their school of origin (last school 
 enrolled or the school they attended when they first became homeless) regardless of what district the family 
 resides in  . It further requires schools to register  homeless children even if they lack normally required 
 documents, such as immunization records or proof of residence.  Local school districts must appoint Local 
 Education Liaisons to ensure that school staff are aware of these rights, to provide public notice to homeless 
 families (at shelters and at school) and to facilitate access to school and transportation services. Contact 
 information and eligibility documents can be found at  Project REACH  . 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  20 
Page 792 of 843

DRAFT



 Student Conduct 

 It is the belief of the Clay County District Schools that teachers and students deserve school environments that 
 are safe, nurturing, and conducive to education and development. Creating a positive school/classroom climate 
 while decreasing student time spent outside of the classroom now requires close attention to the social and 
 emotional needs of the student as well as the behavioral intent. In the event that the school or classroom 
 discipline has been disrupted to a level where a school must take action, the following information outlines the 
 steps and the powers that the District will and must take. 

 Academic Honesty 
 Clay County District Schools recognizes the importance of promoting a learning environment, whether 
 traditional or distance learning, that values academic honesty. In order to foster ethical behavior among 
 students, it is critical to educate all students regarding the characteristics of academic integrity. When engaged 
 in learning activities, students should demonstrate the discipline necessary to seek guidance from their 
 instructor rather than resorting to inappropriate behaviors that may undermine their own academic and 
 personal development. This is a shared responsibility of all students, families, teachers, and staff. 

 Dress Code 
 Responsibility for the dress and appearance of students generally rests with individual students and their 
 families. Students may wish to express themselves by the manner of their dress and appearance; however, 
 students shall not wear clothing or affect an appearance at school or school-sanctioned activities or events that 
 are or may be disruptive to the educational environment. Clay County District Schools standards on student 
 attire are intended to help students focus on schoolwork, reduce discipline problems, and improve school order 
 and safety. Subject to approval, principals, working with their school community, may establish additional 
 specific standards for their schools. Any such standards must be published and distributed to families. 

 Dress and personal appearance of students should be a positive reflection on the family, student, school and 
 community. A good rule of thumb: if there is a question about whether an outfit would be acceptable, choose a 
 different outfit. Ultimately, school leadership reserves the right to determine if the dress code is being violated. 

 The following guidelines are to be followed: 

 ❏  All students shall be properly groomed and attired appropriate to the activity when on school property or 
 participating in school-sponsored events. 

 ❏  Students should have a school ID in their possession while on campus, and present their school ID to 
 staff upon request.  School IDs must be worn and visible  at all times. 

 ❏  Students shall be dressed so they will not present a clear danger to health and safety.  Clothing  should 
 be tailored in such a manner that because of fit, design, color, texture, or inadequate coverage of the 
 body does not create a classroom or school disruption as determined by administration,  or  expose 
 inappropriate areas of the body while in normal activity. 

 Permitted Apparel: 
 ❏  Outfits are to be tailored in such a manner so as not to expose inappropriate areas of the body while in 

 normal activity  . 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  21 
Page 793 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Shorts, dresses or skirts should  come to the middle thigh  be 3 inches above the knee  or longer. If 
 leggings are worn  with the above mentioned clothing  items  , then the top  layer of clothing (shorts, dress, 
 skirt, etc.)  MUST  come to the middle thigh  be the  proper length of 3 inches above the knee  or longer. 

 ❏  Pants and shorts should be worn at the waistline without the necessity of support whether a shirt is 
 tucked in or  out and fastened at the top closure. Belts will be buckled at all times if worn. 

 ❏  Jeans/pants that have frays/holes above the  middle  thigh  knee  must have something underneath them, 
 such as leggings that  cover the skin, so as not to expose skin or undergarments. 

 ❏  Shirts must cover the shoulder and not expose undergarments in any manner or  any part of the torso. 
 the midriff. 

 ❏  The neckline of a shirt must limit exposure of the body. 
 ❏  Footwear of some type must be worn at ALL times. 

 Non-Permitted Apparel: 
 ❏  Apparel or personal items  may not have imagery regarding  drugs or alcohol, indecent remarks, tobacco 

 slogans or advertisements, or display violence or sexually suggestive imagery.  with off-color remarks  or 
 pictures, or emblazoned with drug, alcohol or tobacco related slogans. 

 ❏  Apparel, or personal items,  displaying violent or  pornographic imagery. 
 ❏  Sleepwear, such as bedroom slippers, pajamas, etc. 
 ❏  Tank tops, halter tops, muscle shirts, tube tops, spaghetti straps, mesh/see-through shirts, sheer-tops 

 or bottoms. 
 ❏  Head coverings -  Hats, hoods, bandannas, and caps  are not to be worn in class or in buildings  unless 

 approved by the administration  or for special events  . 
 ❏  Any apparel or accessory determined by administration to present a safety hazard for the student or the 

 school. 

 Disciplinary action for violation of the student dress code shall include notifying the student of the violation and 
 a requirement that the dress or appearance be corrected before the student reenters the classroom, school 
 environment, or school sanctioned activity or event. An administrator will determine the suitability of attire in 
 question as it reflects the spirit of the dress code policy. Students found to be in violation of dress code policy 
 will  have the following options; 1) change into appropriate  school provided dress for the remainder of the day, 
 2) change into their own appropriate dress for the remainder of the day,  be required to change for the 
 remainder of the day. Student refusal to change will result in their placement  or 3) be assigned to  the  in-school 
 suspension class for the remainder of the day or until a proper outfit can be brought for the student. At the 
 discretion of the building level administrator, a family conference may be held. More serious consequences 
 may result from repeated or serious violations. 

 For additional information, please refer to  District  Policy Rule 4.03  . 

 Student Use of the Internet 
 The Internet and related electronic instructional resources are used in schools to support student learning and 
 distance learning. The use of these resources are for educational purposes only when on district property, at 
 district or school sanctioned activities or events, when students are being transported in vehicles dispatched by 
 Clay County District Schools, and off school property when such conduct has a nexus to school or any district 
 curricular or non-curricular  activity or event. Teachers and school administration determine use of the Clay 
 County District Schools Instructional Network based on educational goals of the school and classroom, and 
 may determine to limit access. Students are encouraged to use the network to do homework, class-related 
 research, and class work when appropriate. Students should not use this network for music, gaming, or 
 non-educational video streaming. In compliance with the Child Information Protection Act (CIPA) requirements, 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  22 

Page 794 of 843

DRAFT



 this network will be monitored. Clay County District Schools accept no responsibility associated with loss, 
 damage, or theft of a device connected to the network. 

 Wireless Communication Devices  Bring Your Own Device 
 The School Board is aware that parents and students use Wireless Communication Devices (WCDs)  (laptops, 
 chromebooks, tablets, smartphones, smartwatches, bluetooth devices (to include earbuds), etc.) to 
 communicate with each other. However, the use of wireless communication devices on school grounds must 
 be appropriately regulated to protect students, staff, and the learning environment. 

 Possession of a WCD by a student at school during school hours and/or during extracurricular activities is a 
 privilege that may be forfeited by any student who fails to abide by the terms outlined in the Code of Conduct, 
 or otherwise abuses this privilege. 
 Clay County District Schools is committed to helping students learn the skills they need to succeed in a world 
 filled with  technology. Our network allows secure access to the Internet for students who want to use their own 
 personal devices  (laptops, netbooks, tablets, smartphone, smartwatches,  etc.) during the school day for 
 classroom activities. Bring Your Own Device  (BYOD) fosters student ownership of learning, extends learning 
 for students from home to classroom, provides easier access to online instructional material, and supplements 
 school equipment. Students are expected to use their devices in accordance with district policy. 

 Taking  audio recordings,  photographs or videos by  any means whatsoever while on school property or while on 
 school transportation is prohibited. The only exceptions to this  rule  prohibition  are: 

 ❏  Taking photos  or video  for reproduction in a school  sponsored publication. 
 ❏  Taking photos  or video  during a school sponsored social  event, sporting event, awards ceremony or 

 other school sponsored activity or function at which photography is allowed and the photographs are 
 images of activities which are reasonably considered to be part of the activity or event. 

 ❏  Taking photographs  or video  with the permission of  the school administration. 

 Publication on any internet site  or social media platforms  of any  audio recordings,  photographs, videos or 
 images taken in violation of the  rules  prohibitions  listed above  or recording fights or similar events  is strictly 
 prohibited, will be deemed disruptive to the order of the school and will be sufficient reason to impose 
 disciplinary action. 

 All Students  Elementary 
 ❏  Students may have an electronic device on school property. 
 ❏  Students may  NOT  use their electronic devices during  instructional time for  any reason.  educational 

 purposes when  it is sanctioned by the classroom teacher  .  If School Issued Technology is not available, 
 Wireless Communication Devices may be used if the following criteria are met: 

 ❏  It is approved by school administration 
 ❏  It is under the guidance of school staff 
 ❏  It is used only for educational purposes 

 Otherwise, the electronic device must be  silenced  or  powered off  AND  and  out of sight  once students 
 enter the classroom.  during the instructional day. 

 ❏  Students may not use an electronic device in areas considered personal space ( i.e. - bathroom, locker 
 room) and other areas designated by Administration. 

 ❏  Students may not use their Wireless Communication Devices to accept or make phone calls or video 
 conferencing during school hours unless instructed to do so by Administration/School Personnel. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  23 
Page 795 of 843

DRAFT



 Secondary  Only 
 ❏  Students may have an electronic device on school property. 
 ❏  Students may use an electronic device before and after school, during lunch break,  transitions between 

 classes,  at school related functions, and extracurricular  activities as long as the electronic devices are 
 not audible. (cannot be heard by others) 

 ❏  Students may use their electronic devices during instructional time for educational purposes when it is 
 sanctioned by the classroom teacher. Otherwise, the electronic device must be powered off and out of 
 sight once they enter the classroom. 

 ❏  Students may not use an electronic device in areas considered personal space ( ie bathroom, locker 
 room) and other areas designated by Administration. 

 ❏  Students may not use their electronic devices to accept or make phone calls or video conferencing 
 during school hours unless instructed to do so by Administration/School Personnel. 

 Use of a Wireless Communication Device during standardized testing is prohibited and can cause the student’s 
 test to be invalidated. 

 Student Conduct on a School Bus 
 The privilege of students to ride a school bus is contingent upon following the expectations outlined in this 
 handbook. The driver of the school bus shall be in complete charge of the bus during the ride and while 
 students are entering or leaving the vehicle. Students shall be required to conform to all regulations concerning 
 discipline, safety, and behavior while riding on the school bus. The driver shall notify appropriate authorities if a 
 student persists in violating the established rules of conduct. After due warning has been given to the student 
 and/or families, the privilege of riding the bus may be withheld from the student. Violation of district policies and 
 regulations while on the school bus may result in student discipline up to and including suspension or 
 expulsion, in accordance with district policy. 

 The Clay County  District Schools have jurisdiction over students who are on the school bus or at the school 
 bus stop when  the bus is present at the bus stop. [  F.S. 1006.10 (3)  ] Therefore it is the parent’s responsibility  to 
 take any action with local law enforcement to correct a problem during the time students are waiting at the bus 
 stop or when students are en route to or from the school bus stop. Other responsibilities of parents of 
 transported students include (exerted from  F.A.C.  6A-3.0121  ): 

 ❏  To ensure the safe travel of students to and from school,  and home when students are not under the 
 custody and control of the district,  including to  and from  home and  the assigned bus stop. 

 ❏  To ensure that students ride only in their assigned school buses and get off only at assigned bus stops, 
 except when alternative buses or arrangements have been made  and documented by the district  .. 

 ❏  To ensure students are aware of and follow the expected rules of behavior while they are at the bus 
 stops and to provide the necessary supervision during times when the bus is not present. 

 ❏  To provide the necessary assistance for students to get on and off at the bus stop when the physical 
 disability of the student renders them unable to get on and off the bus without assistance (as required 
 by district policy or the student’s individual education plan). 

 We believe that all pupils can behave appropriately and safely while riding the school bus, and as such we will 
 not tolerate behavior that is disruptive to the driver or which inhibits or interferes with the safe operation of the 
 bus. In order to guarantee your child and other children who ride buses the safe and efficient transportation 
 they deserve, the following has been established: 

 ❏  Arrive at the bus stop ten (10) minutes prior to the scheduled pick up time. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  24 

Page 796 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Take responsibility for their behavior and conduct themselves in a respectful, orderly manner while 
 waiting at the bus stop for the bus to arrive. 

 ❏  Wait until the bus comes to a stop before attempting to get on or off the bus. 
 ❏  Enter and leave the bus only at the front door after it has come to a stop, except in the case of an 

 emergency as  directed by the driver. 
 ❏  Leave the bus only with the consent of the driver. 
 ❏  Be silent when approaching or crossing railroad tracks. 
 ❏  Keep the aisle and stepwell clear at all times. 
 ❏  Do not tamper with door handles, windows, and other safety equipment at any time. 
 ❏  Do not use wireless communication devices, or electronic devices. Exception: Field trips in which the 

 school administration approves the use of these devices or as a planned intervention for special needs 
 students. Do not use wireless communication devices except in an emergency concerning safety-to-life 
 issues (defined as a bus accident, mechanical breakdown which delays the normal route, and/or thirty 
 (30) minutes or more in a route delay). 

 Large Objects on the School Bus: Oversized objects, including, but not limited to, large band instruments or 
 cases, school projects or athletic equipment which cannot be held in the seat, are prohibited, unless prior 
 approval is obtained from the bus driver and the school administration. 

 Cameras: School buses are equipped with video cameras for the purposes of ensuring the health, welfare and 
 safety of all staff, students, and drivers. 

 NOTE: Bicycle riders under the age of 16 must wear properly fitted, safety-related helmets when riding a 
 bicycle. Law enforcement officers may issue a traffic citation and assess fines to riders who do not comply. 

 Student Conduct in the Restroom 
 The restroom is a place on campus with an expectation of privacy. Students should not perform any action, 
 engage in any behavior, or promote behavior in others which could result in the loss of privacy, or the dignity, of 
 any individual. In order to promote the safety and welfare of all students, the following restroom procedures are 
 to be followed within Clay County District Schools: 

 ❏  Students shall make every effort to maintain the cleanliness and effective working order of the 
 restrooms. 

 ❏  Students may not loiter, or use the restroom as a place to socialize. At no time should more than one 
 person be in a restroom stall. 

 ❏  Students may not utilize recording devices of any kind while in the restroom – including but not limited 
 to, cell phones, audio recording devices or cameras. 

 ❏  Students may only utilize the restroom which corresponds to their biological sex assigned at birth. 
 ❏  Upon request through the school administration, students may be provided access to single-use 

 restroom facilities. 
 ❏  A student should exit the restroom immediately if they observe others engaged in actions that violate 

 school policy, or procedures of conduct. At their earliest opportunity, they should report the behavior to 
 a staff member. 

 Parking /Vehicle Rules 
 All parking areas are the property of Clay County District Schools.  The parking of a student’s vehicle on 
 campus is a privilege granted by the Clay County District Schools upon availability of parking, Written consent 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  25 

Page 797 of 843

DRAFT



 from parent/guardian,  purchase of a parking decal at the school of attendance, and written agreement to 
 comply with the Student Code of Conduct. The Clay County District Schools regard the use of motor vehicles 
 for travel to and from school by students as an assumption of responsibility on the part of those students to 
 care for school property, in the observation of safety rules, and in the display of courtesy and consideration 
 toward others. Students who violate school parking rules may have their parking decal revoked and/or are 
 subject to disciplinary action that may result in loss of privileges, suspension, alternative disciplinary 
 placement, or expulsion from school. Searches of motor vehicles on school grounds may be conducted by the 
 principal or designee when that official has reasonable grounds to suspect that the search will uncover 
 evidence of a violation of Board and/or district policies, school rules, or federal, state, or local laws or uncover 
 the presence of an item that presents an immediate danger of physical harm or illness to any person. 

 Youth Gang Membership 
 Students are not allowed to form or participate in groups  virtually or in person  which threaten, frighten  or harm 
 other students. Such groups, when they become known by school and district authorities,  may  will  be 
 considered a gang. These groups generally have common names, and wear common colors, jewelry, signs or 
 clothing. Students are encouraged to alert an adult if such activity or groups become known to them. 

 Zero Tolerance Rule 
 Florida Statute 1006.13  mandates that “each district  school board shall adopt a policy of zero tolerance for 
 crime and substance abuse…and victimization of students…” whenever and wherever students are under the 
 jurisdiction of the  school district. The law requires that expulsion be recommended for any student at school or 
 at a school-related function  that was determined to have had possession of a firearm or weapon as defined in 
 Chapter 790  , or any student making a  threat or false  report as defined by state statutes  790.162  and  790.163  . 

 Simulating a firearm or weapon while playing or wearing clothing or accessories that depict a firearm or 
 weapon or express an opinion regarding a right guaranteed by the Second Amendment to the United States 
 Constitution is not grounds for disciplinary action or referral to the criminal justice or juvenile justice system 
 under  Chapter 790  or s.  1006.13  . Simulating a firearm  or weapon while playing includes, but is not limited to: 

 ❏  Brandishing a partially consumed pastry or other food item to simulate a firearm or weapon. 
 ❏  Possessing a toy firearm or weapon that is 2 inches or less in overall length. 
 ❏  Possessing a toy firearm or weapon made of plastic snap-together building blocks. 
 ❏  Using a finger or hand to simulate a firearm or weapon. 
 ❏  Vocalizing an imaginary firearm or weapon. 
 ❏  Drawing a picture, or possessing an image, of a firearm or weapon. 
 ❏  Using a pencil, pen, or other writing or drawing utensil to simulate a firearm or weapon. 

 A student may be subject to disciplinary action if simulating a firearm or weapon while playing that substantially 
 disrupts student learning, causes bodily harm to another person, or places another person in reasonable fear 
 of bodily harm. The severity of consequences imposed upon a student including referral to the criminal justice 
 or juvenile system, must be proportionate to the severity of the infraction and consistent with school board 
 policies for similar infractions. 

 In fulfilling this statutory requirement, we have incorporated the specified legal definitions into the language of 
 the Code of Student Conduct. Regardless of language to the contrary in federal or Florida Law, possession of 
 a firearm, electric weapon or destructive device on the property of any school, school bus, or school bus stop is 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  26 
Page 798 of 843

DRAFT



 prohibited. This prohibition includes firearms in motor vehicles parked in parking lots, or anywhere on any 
 school property. 

 Certain disruptive behavior(s) will be reported to law enforcement authorities as defined by the state SESIR 
 codes. A referral by law enforcement to the criminal justice or juvenile delinquency system must be made on all 
 violent acts noted below and weapon charges as defined in the  Gun Free School Act of 1994  &  F.S.790.115. 
 The following are prohibited on any school property (including parking areas), school bus, school bus stop, and 
 school sponsored event: 

 ❏  Any weapon which will or is designed to or may readily be converted to expel a projectile by the action 
 of an explosive. 

 ❏  The frame or receiver of any weapon described above. 
 ❏  Any firearm muffler or firearm silencer. 
 ❏  Any explosive, incendiary, or poison gas, bomb, grenade, rocket having a propellant charge of more 

 than four ounces, missile having an explosive or incendiary charge of more than one-quarter ounce, 
 mine or similar device. 

 ❏  Any weapon which will, or which may be readily converted to, expel a projectile by the action of an 
 explosive or other propellant, and which has any barrel with a bore of more than one-half inch in 
 diameter. Any combination of parts either designed or intended for use in converting any device into 
 any destructive device described in the two immediately preceding examples, and from which a 
 destructive device may be readily assembled. 

 ❏  Any Firearm. 
 ❏  Any weapon as defined in  Florida Statute 790.00 (13)  . 

 Incidents defined in the next section of this Handbook will be reported and may result in criminal prosecution. If 
 the infraction involves a victim, the school shall notify the victim and parents, if a minor, of the infraction and the 
 victim’s right to press charges against the offender. The Clay County District Schools will take all steps 
 necessary to protect the victim of any violent crime from any further victimization. Florida law prohibits any 
 student that commits any of the felony offenses specified by  s.985.455(2)  ., against another student from 
 attending school with, or riding the same school bus as, the victim or any sibling of the victim. All school 
 personnel will be made aware of the Student Victimization and Zero Tolerance Rule  F.S. 1006.13  Chapter 
 2009-53  . 

 Infractions that fall under Zero Tolerance Rule are defined by the Florida Department of Education through the 
 School Environmental Safety Incident Reporting (SESIR) and receive the most severe consequences provided 
 for by School Board Policy. 

 THE DISTRICT MAY ASSIGN MORE SEVERE CONSEQUENCES THAN NORMAL WHEN THE STUDENT 
 APPEARS MOTIVATED BY HOSTILITY TOWARD THE VICTIM’S REAL OR PERCEIVED RACE, RELIGION, 
 COLOR, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, ETHNICITY, ANCESTRY, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL BELIEFS, 
 MARITAL STATUS, AGE, SOCIAL AND FAMILY BACKGROUND, LINGUISTIC PREFERENCE, DISABILITY, 
 OR WHEN THE OFFENSE IS DETERMINED TO BE GANG- RELATED. 

 Student Accountability, Discipline, and Misconduct 

 Self-direction and personal responsibility are goals of Clay County District Schools. Students must be 
 accountable for their actions, and CCDS recognizes that effective student discipline is a major contributor to 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  27 

Page 799 of 843

DRAFT



 the creation of a positive and productive learning environment for all students. In accordance with state law, 
 CCDS uses this student/parent handbook as a written code of conduct, based upon the principle that every 
 student is expected to follow accepted rules of conduct and show respect for persons of authority. Certain 
 behavior, especially behavior that disrupts the classroom, is unacceptable and may result in disciplinary action. 
 Clay County District Schools uses proportionate disciplinary action and/or restorative practices to keep 
 students engaged in learning. 

 Teachers and other instructional personnel shall have the authority to undertake any of the following actions in 
 managing student behavior and ensuring the safety of all students in their classes, on school grounds, and at 
 school  sponsored events. 

 ❏  Establish classroom rules of conduct that includes positive reinforcement of desired behaviors. 
 ❏  Establish and implement consequences, designed to modify undesired behavior. 
 ❏  Methods may include: 

 ❏  monitoring student behavior through short-term progress reports. 
 ❏  conferences and/or contracts between administrators, parents, teachers, and students. 
 ❏  referrals to school or district services, e.g., school social worker, school counselor, and/or district 

 mental health therapist, etc. 
 The Code of Student Conduct defines infractions that have been committed by students while under the 
 supervision of  district staff or designees. 

 ❏  A major consideration in the application of the Code of Student Conduct is the identification of the most 
 appropriate disciplinary action necessary to bring about positive student behavior. To that end, specific 
 grounds for disciplinary action have been divided into three categories: the offense, disciplinary actions, 
 and restorative practices.  Administrators may choose the discipline for each event. 

 ❏  It is important to note that the administrator and teacher, consistent with the power delegated to 
 him/her, has the authority to take additional or more severe administrative action under this Code if, in 
 his/her opinion, the nature of the misconduct warrants it. 

 ❏  Each classroom teacher should deal with general classroom disruption by taking in-class disciplinary 
 action, by making a personal call to the parents or guardians when feasible, and by scheduling 
 conferences with parent(s) or guardian and other school staff. Only when the action taken by the 
 teacher is ineffective, or the disruption is sufficiently severe, should the student be referred to the 
 principal or his/her designee. Teachers will be notified of the results of the action taken. 

 Hearing Office 
 The Student Hearing Office is designed for circumstances that warrant District-level review of intervention 
 beyond a school administration decision. This is the case for zero-tolerance infractions, as well as 
 school-based decisions that a  parent wishes to appeal. 

 Hearings will be conducted pursuant to Florida Statutes  1006.07(1)(a)  and  1006.08(1)  . Suspension hearings 
 are exempted from provisions of Ch. 120 F.S. Expulsion hearings shall be governed by F.S. 120.57(2) and are 
 exempt from F.S. 286.0111. 

 Florida Statute  1003.32(4)  and  1006.09(1)(a)  , along  with School Board policies of the Clay County District 
 Schools, give teachers and other school staff who have control and direction of students assigned to them by 
 the principal or the principal’s designee, the authority to remove students who are disobedient, disrespectful, 
 violent, abusive, uncontrollable or disruptive to the learning environment. If the teacher requests the student 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  28 

Page 800 of 843

DRAFT



 not be returned to the classroom, the principal may not return the student to that teacher’s class without the 
 teacher’s consent. In the event of a disagreement on the student’s return to the teacher’s classroom, a 
 committee determines that such placement is the best or only available alternative. 

 Due Process Procedures 
 Students will be informed of the infraction and have the opportunity to be heard before disciplinary action. 
 Students will be notified of the school rules that have been violated, either verbally or in writing, by an 
 administrator or designee.  Students will be given the right to present evidence or provide a list of witnesses 
 concerning the charges.  The following steps will be taken to guarantee due process: 

 ❏  Proper notification of the infraction or complaint against the student and proposed disciplinary action. 
 ❏  Explanation of evidence against the student. 
 ❏  Opportunity to present evidence and/or provide a list of witnesses on their behalf. 
 ❏  Opportunity to refute charges with an administrator/designee. 

 In-School Suspension 
 In-school suspension (ISS) is a strategy used to discipline students for their behavior while ensuring that they 
 continue to participate in learning activities.  It consists of students being removed from their classroom 
 environment, and spending their day or assigned time working on their class work in a designated location for 
 these students. Adult supervision and assistance will be provided to students with their assignments and 
 activities. 

 The goals and primary student outcomes of ISS are: 

 Allows students to continue with school work. 
 Gives students a "time out" to regroup and refocus. 
 Provides the student an opportunity to remediate behavioral concerns. 
 Keeps students in their school routine. 
 Makes transition back into a regular school day easier. 

 In-School Suspension For Students With Disabilities 
 Like all students, students with disabilities can be placed in ISS for violating the school’s code of conduct. 
 However, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires schools to follow additional procedures 
 when placing students with disabilities in ISS. 

 Students with Disabilities Must Be Able to: 

 Appropriately progress in the general curriculum.  Generally, this means that the student is 
 receiving all of their regular education assignments and that regular education teachers are 
 involved in the setting, either through supervising it or making regular appearances there. 
 Receive the services specified on the child’s IEP or 504.  Generally this means that the 
 student is receiving an appropriate amount of specialized instruction, supplementary aids and 
 services, and all related services (E.g. – Speech, OT/PT, Adaptive PE, Counseling, etc.). 
 Participate with nondisabled students to the same  extent.  This means that the student is 
 not in a setting that is exclusively for students with disabilities or that he is permitted to leave the 
 setting to attend certain activities with nondisabled peers. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  29 
Page 801 of 843

DRAFT



 The ISS program should include both an academic and behavioral component. The behavior component 
 should address the specific behavior for which the student is placed in ISS. 

 Note:  The school does not have to include ISS in counting  removal days if, during the suspension, it affords 
 the student the opportunity to continue to progress in the general curriculum, receive ESE services, and 
 participate with non-disabled peers. 

 Out of School Suspension, Alternative Placement, and Expulsion 
 Clay County District Schools may consider the following factors to determine whether to suspend or expel a 
 student: 

 ❏  Age; 
 ❏  Disciplinary history; 
 ❏  Eligibility as a student with a disability; 
 ❏  Seriousness of the infraction; 
 ❏  Threat posed to other students and staff; and 
 ❏  Likelihood that a lesser intervention would properly address the violation. 

 In matters involving student behavior which may result in the suspension or expulsion of a student, it is district 
 policy  that the family will be provided the opportunity to be involved in all such disciplinary procedures. 

 Out of School Suspension 
 A school principal may suspend a student from all classes of instruction on school grounds and all other school 
 sponsored activities,  except as authorized by the  principal or principal’s designee, for persistent disobedience 
 and/or  gross misconduct. Principals take this action when they have exhausted informal and other formal 
 disciplinary strategies, or when they have at least considered those alternatives and rejected them as 
 inappropriate in a given situation. 

 Pursuant to Florida Statute 1006.09(1)(b), no student who is required by law to attend school shall be 
 suspended for unexcused tardiness, or absences. Therefore, suspension is not an appropriate disciplinary 
 action for truancy as it relates to students who fall within the mandatory state attendance requirements. 

 Procedures for OSS 
 ❏  Prior to suspension, the student shall be advised of why he/she is being suspended (i.e., infraction 

 code)  ,  be provided an opportunity to refute the charges  verbally or through a written statement,  and be 
 given an opportunity to submit to the administrator a list of names of other individuals who might have 
 witnessed the incident. It should be noted that any statement a student makes may be used, along with 
 other documentation, to prove whether the student is guilty or not guilty of the infraction. 

 ❏  If the student is found to be guilty of the misconduct, determination of the suspension will be provided in 
 writing through the notification of consequences. 

 ❏  Written notice such as a copy of the electronic referral and a notification of consequences  shall be sent 
 to the parent(s) or guardian by  mail within 24 hours.  All reasonable attempts to conference with the 
 parent via phone or in person must be made during the suspension process. 

 ❏  If the immediate suspension of the student is justified because the student’s presence endangers 
 others or school property, the necessary notice and conference, if requested, will follow as soon as 
 possible. 

 ❏  The school is required to provide all work assignments to be completed by the student. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  30 

Page 802 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Principal Review will be held for any student referred to the hearing office. 

 Appeal of Suspension/Principal Review 
 ❏  The school principal, after reviewing the case with the parent or adult student, will either affirm or 

 adjudicate the length of suspension as originally stated in the suspension notification during a 
 Principals review. This change shall be made on the electronic referral in the Student Information 
 System. 

 ❏  The parent, or adult student, at the Principal’s Review should be advised of his/her right to appeal the 
 action to the Hearing Office. 

 ❏  If the parent/guardian, or adult student feels that they were not afforded due process at the Principal’s 
 Review, he/she shall appeal to the Hearing Office in writing within 3 days. 

 ❏  The Hearing Office shall review the case to rectify any procedural errors. 
 ❏  The Hearing Office recommendation will be presented back to the school for a modification of the 

 original suspension decision or uphold the original suspension. 

 Alternative Learning Placement 
 The removal of a student from the traditional educational setting to an alternative learning placement with 
 continued educational services. 

 Expulsion 
 Expulsion is the removal of the right and obligation of a student to attend a public school under conditions set 
 by the school board, and for a period of time not to exceed the remainder of the term or school year and one 
 (1) additional year of attendance. Expulsions may be imposed with or without continuing educational services 
 and shall be reported accordingly. All Level IV infractions and Level III infractions that are especially egregious, 
 violent, or otherwise  significant enough to warrant such a decision will be considered for expulsion. 

 Procedures for Alternative Learning Placement/Expulsion/District Hearing Office 
 ❏  Prior to a meeting with the District Hearing Office, a Principal’s Review will be held to advise the student 

 as to why he/she has been recommended for alternative learning placement and/or  expulsion, be 
 provided with an opportunity to refute the charges in a meeting with the principal or principal designee, 
 and be given the opportunity to submit to the administrator a list of names of other individuals who 
 might have witnessed the incident leading to the recommendation. 

 ❏  The parent or adult student shall also be advised in the Principal Review of the right to appeal and be 
 advised of the appeal procedures to the District  Hearing Office. 

 ❏  Once the Principal Review  is completed, a referral  is made to the Hearing Office for final review and 
 consideration of expulsion recommendation to the Superintendent. 

 ❏  The District Hearing Office will determine if sufficient basis is found for a recommendation to an 
 alternative learning placement or expulsion to the School Board. 

 In the event that a student who has been recommended for expulsion withdraws from the Clay County District 
 Schools, the expulsion proceedings with the School Board shall continue as though the student had not 
 withdrawn. The Superintendent and School Board shall not delay action on an expulsion recommendation 
 pending re-entry/reregistration of the student in Clay County District Schools. 

 Clay County District Schools will uphold and enforce disciplinary proceedings from other public school districts. 
 A student who has been expelled from another school district, shall not be permitted to transfer, enroll, or be 
 admitted into a Clay County District School.  If a student was expelled with services or alternatively placed in 
 another district,  Clay County District Schools will uphold said expulsion or alternative disciplinary placement. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  31 

Page 803 of 843

DRAFT



 Reports To Law Enforcement Agencies 
 The School Board views criminal acts committed by students to be extremely serious. In addition to School 
 District disciplinary action, criminal acts will be reported to the appropriate law enforcement agency as outlined 
 in the School District’s zero tolerance policy. These include: 
 Must be reported as a SESIR incident and shall be Reported to Law Enforcement  : 

 School Districts must report the following SESIR incidents, as defined in Rule 6A-1.0017, F.A.C., to law 
 enforcement: 

 ❏  Aggravated Battery 
 ❏  Alcohol 
 ❏  Arson 
 ❏  Burglary 
 ❏  Criminal Mischief  Vandalism  <$1000 
 ❏  Disruption on Campus Major 
 ❏  Drug Sale/Distribution excluding Alcohol 
 ❏  Drug Use-Possession excluding Alcohol 
 ❏  Fighting 
 ❏  Grand Theft  Larceny-Theft  <$750 
 ❏  Hazing 
 ❏  Homicide 
 ❏  Kidnapping 
 ❏  Other Major Incidents 
 ❏  Robbery 
 ❏  Sexual Assault 
 ❏  Sexual Battery 
 ❏  Sexual Offenses Other 
 ❏  Simple Battery  Physical Attack 
 ❏  Threat/Intimidation 
 ❏  Trespassing 
 ❏  Weapons Possession 

 Must be reported as a SESIR incident and is expected to include consultation with Law Enforcement to 
 determine if Law Enforcement action is required: 

 Must be reported as a SESIR incident but MAY NOT need to include consultation with Law Enforcement: 
 School Districts must report all SESIR incidents to law enforcement where the incident includes one or more of 
 the following related elements, as defined Rule 6A-1.0017, F.A.C.: 

 ❏  Bullying 
 ❏  Fighting 
 ❏  Harassment 
 ❏  Tobacco-Nicotine 
 ❏  Alcohol-Related 
 ❏  Drug-Related 
 ❏  Gang-Related 
 ❏  Hate Crime-Related 
 ❏  Hazing-Related 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  32 
Page 804 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Injury-Related 
 ❏  Vaping-Related 
 ❏  Weapon-Related 

 “Law enforcement action” means that official action was taken by a School Resource Officer (SRO) or local law 
 enforcement officer in response to a SESIR incident, including but not limited to: an arrest, referral to a civil 
 citation or similar prearrest diversion program authorized by Section  985.12  , F.S., or initiation of an involuntary 
 examination authorized by Section  394.463  , F.S. 

 “Reported to law enforcement” means that a school district or charter school communicated with a 
 School Resource Officer (SRO) or other law enforcement agency or official about an incident. Reporting 
 to law enforcement may not always result in law enforcement action being taken. 
 “Reported To Law Enforcement” means that an official action was taken by a School Resource Officer or a 
 Local Law Enforcement Officer such as: a case number was assigned, a report was filed, an affidavit was filed, 
 a civil citation was issued, an investigation was conducted and found to  be an incident reportable as a SESIR, 
 or an arrest was made. The presence of, notification of, or  consultation with a Law Enforcement Officer, or 
 SRO, is not sufficient for an incident to be coded as “Reportable To Law Enforcement.” 

 Investigations of Suspected Student Misconduct 
 In order to protect the safety and welfare of students and school personnel, and to maintain order and 
 discipline on school property or at school-sponsored activities or events, school authorities may search a 
 student’s locker or desk and its contents, personal property, or automobile under the circumstances described 
 in policy and may seize any illegal, unauthorized, or contraband materials. 

 School lockers, desks, and other storage areas provided for student use on school premises are school 
 property and remain at all times under the ownership and control of the school. Lockers, desks, and storage 
 areas, as well as the contents therein, are subject to inspection at any time, without notice and without cause, 
 at the discretion of the Clay County District Schools. No student shall lock or impede access to any locker or 
 storage areas except with a lock provided or approved by school authorities. Searches of a student’s person or 
 personal effects such as a backpack, purse, book bag, electronic devices, motor vehicle, etc, within the school 
 or on school grounds may be conducted by the principal or designee when that official has reasonable grounds 
 to suspect that the search will uncover evidence of a violation of Board and/or district policies, school rules, or 
 federal, state, or local laws or uncover the presence of an item that presents an immediate danger of physical 
 harm or illness to any person. 

 Tobacco, Vapes, Drugs, and Alcohol 
 Clay County District Schools is committed to promoting the general health, welfare, and well-being of our 
 school community. Consequently, it is district policy that no student shall be permitted to use, be under the 
 influence of, possess, distribute, gift, purchase, exchange, or sell any tobacco product, alcohol, or illegal drug 
 while on district property, at district or school-sanctioned activities or events, when students are being 
 transported in vehicles dispatched CCDS or one of its schools, and off school property when such conduct has 
 a nexus to school or any district curricular or non-curricular activity or event. As used in this policy, “illegal 
 drugs” are all substances defined under either federal statutes as “drugs” or “controlled substances,” or state 
 statutes as a controlled substance including marijuana or marijuana concentrate as well as counterfeit or 
 synthetic illegal drugs and substances falsely represented as being drugs. As used in this policy, “drugs” also 
 are legal and illegal drugs not properly possessed under state or federal law. An exception to this policy will be 
 made for the administration of medical marijuana in accordance with state law and district policy. As per Florida 
 Statute  1006.09(8)  : School personnel are REQUIRED  to report to the principal or the principal’s designee any 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  33 

Page 805 of 843

DRAFT



 suspected unlawful use, possession, or sale by a student of any controlled substance as defined in  s.893.02  ; 
 any counterfeit controlled substance as defined in  s.831.31  ; any alcoholic beverage as defined in  s.561.01(4)  ; 
 or model glue. School personnel are exempt from civil liability when reporting in good faith to the proper 
 school authority suspected unlawful use, possession, or sale by a student. Only a principal or principal’s 
 designee is authorized to contact a parent or legal guardian of a student regarding this situation. 

 Compliance with the standards of conduct set forth in this policy and its accompanying regulations are 
 mandatory for all students. A violation shall subject a student to appropriate disciplinary action, up to and 
 including expulsion and referral for prosecution. For tobacco violations, students may have the option to 
 complete an alternative to suspension program, in lieu of other disciplinary procedures. 

 All students, families, and community members are expected to be aware of the prohibited conduct addressed 
 in district policy and comply with the prohibitions. Failure to comply may result in student discipline up to and 
 including expulsion; or family member or community member trespass from district property. 

 “School property” means all property owned, leased, rented, or otherwise used or contracted for by a school. 
 This includes, but is not limited to: all buildings used for instruction, administration, support services, 
 maintenance, or storage; the grounds surrounding those buildings if the school is authorized to exercise 
 dominion and control over the grounds; and all vehicles used by the school for transporting students, workers, 
 visitors, or other persons. 

 “Tobacco product” means any product that contains nicotine or tobacco or is derived from tobacco and is 
 intended to be ingested, inhaled, or applied to the skin of an individual. “Tobacco product” does not include any 
 product that has been approved by the appropriate federal agency as a tobacco use cessation product. 
 However, due to the wide range of nicotine levels available in tobacco cessation products, the school may 
 request a written document from a medical provider, for anyone under the age of 18, detailing dosage 
 recommendation for tobacco cessation product use. “Use”  means the lighting, chewing, smoking, inhaling, 
 vaporizing, ingesting or application of any other tobacco substance. 

 Weapons In School 
 The possession and/or use of a weapon by a student is detrimental to the welfare and safety of students and 
 school  personnel within the district. Carrying, bringing, using, or possessing a weapon in any school building, 
 on school grounds, in any school vehicle, or at any school-sponsored activity without the authorization of the 
 school or the school district is prohibited. 

 Firearms 
 Any student who is determined to have brought a firearm or weapon (as defined in Chapter  790.115(1)  , F.S.)  to 
 school, onto any school ground (including parking areas), to any school function, or onto any school-sponsored 
 transportation and for making threats or false reports against a person or persons (as defined in F.S.  790.162 
 and  790.163  ) is automatically recommended to be expelled  for not less than one full year. 

 The Superintendent may consider the one year expulsion on a case by case basis and request the School 
 Board to modify the requirement, including placement in an alternative program if in the best interest of the 
 student and school system. 

 ❏  Possession of an artificial firearm is an automatic suspension and possible expulsion recommendation 
 to the Superintendent. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  34 
Page 806 of 843

DRAFT



 Striking or Threatening a School Board Employee 
 Infractions include: 

 ❏  Striking a school board employee. 
 ❏  Threatening or attempting bodily harm when the person being threatened feels that the threat is real 

 and may be carried out. 

 Procedures for investigating the striking or threatening of school district employees will include, but no be 
 limited to, the following: 

 ❏  Collect all relevant information, including witness statements. 
 ❏  Consult with law enforcement at the staff member’s direction; school administration and the district 

 Human Resources office should assist the staff member if needed in notifying CCEA or CESPA. 
 ❏  Notify the parent of the incident; notice the family with a certified letter of principal review. 
 ❏  Issue suspension notice with recommendation for expulsion (see ESE guidelines if student is a Student 

 with Disabilities; a ten-day recommended suspension must be addressed at the district meeting). 
 ❏  Notify the Hearing Office by sending paperwork and recommendations. 
 ❏  Recommendations may include temporary placement in an appropriate alternative setting prior to any 

 district level hearing. 
 ❏  The Superintendent or designee will convene the District Discipline Review Committee to investigate 

 the  incident. The Superintendent or designee will select the members of the committee, including 
 members of the Clay County Education Association (CCEA) or Clay Educational Staff Professional 
 Association Local 7409 (CESPA) when the injured staff member presses charges. If the district 
 employee chooses to press charges, they can attend the district-wide meeting. 

 ❏  The student must attend the review meeting. Unusual circumstances that prevent their participation 
 should be processed as part of the discipline backup material. 

 ❏  The committee will present its findings to the Superintendent through the Hearing Office for his 
 expulsion recommendation to the School Board. 

 Discipline Action Matrix 
 All infractions can be paired with multiple actions as set forth in the guidelines for assessing consequences of 
 student misconduct. School principals have the discretion to deviate from these guidelines by assessing an 
 appropriate consequence other than ones stated in the guidelines if it is determined that there are mitigating or 
 aggravating circumstances.  Clay County District Schools has implemented the use of restorative practices 
 designed to strengthen relationships.  Restorative practices focus on responsibility/accountability, repairing 
 harm, communication, and appropriate responses. 

 The nature of the misbehavior and the student’s past disciplinary record may be considered in disciplinary 
 action under progressive discipline. Students may be referred for mental health services as indicated by need 
 and history. The school district employee who is supervising the student or who observes the misbehavior 
 should intervene in the misconduct. If repeated misbehavior or further action is necessary the school district 
 employee should refer the student to the school administrator. After hearing the student’s explanation, 
 consulting with staff members and investigating as necessary, the administrator will decide on disciplinary 
 action and/or restorative practice. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  35 
Page 807 of 843

DRAFT



 Following are disciplinary actions and/or restorative practices that can be used to address student misconduct. 
 Each disciplinary  action and/or restorative practice  is coded in the Student Information System (SIS) to guide 
 the user when choosing which action/intervention to apply. ALL INFRACTIONS REQUIRE PARENT CONTACT 
 SUCH AS A CONFERENCE. More than one disciplinary  action  and/or restorative practice  can be used for a 
 single incident. 

 It is strongly encouraged that an action and/or restorative practice  is focused on building better coping skills  or 
 desired behavior be used when an exclusionary action is also utilized. 

 Level 0/Minor Offenses 

 Incident Description  Disciplinary Actions  Restorative Practices 

 ●  Behavior Incident 
 Tracking (BIT) 

 ●  Unsubstantiated Bullying 
 (UBL) 

 ●  Unsubstantiated 
 Harassment (UHR) 

 ●  Letter of Apology 
 ●  Loss of Privileges 
 ●  Time Out 
 ●  School Defined Consequence 
 ●  Warning/Verbal Reprimand 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 ●  Check In/Check Out with 
 Identified Staff Member 

 ●  Counseling 
 ●  Parent Contact 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  School Defined Practice 
 ●  Student Conference 
 ●  Teach/Reteach Student 

 Expectations 

 Level 1/ Minor Offenses 

 Incident Description  Disciplinary Actions  Restorative Practices 

 ●  Dress Code Violation 
 (DRS) 

 ●  Profanity/Obscene 
 Language or Gesture 
 (PRO) 

 ●  Providing False 
 Information/Forgery 
 (FLS) 

 ●  Skipping Class (SKP) 
 ●  Tardy (TAR) 
 ●  Violation of  Classroom 

 Rule (VCR) 
 ●  Wireless Communication 

 Device (WCD) 

 ●  Contract 
 ●  ISS (1-5) 
 ●  Loss of Privileges 
 ●  School Detention 
 ●  School Defined Consequence 
 ●  Work Detail/School Chores 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 ●  Check In/Check Out with 
 Identified Staff Member 

 ●  Counseling 
 ●  Letter of Apology 
 ●  Parent Contact 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  School Defined Practice 
 ●  Student Conference 
 ●  Teach/Reteach Student 

 Expectations 

 Level 2/ Major Offenses 

 Incident Description  Disciplinary Actions  Restorative Practices 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  36 
Page 808 of 843

DRAFT



 ●  Abuse of School 
 Property - vandalism 
 under  $1000 (ABS) 

 ●  Defiance/ Disrespect 
 Insubordination (DEF) 

 ●  Dispute/Student to 
 Student Verbal 
 Confrontation(DSP) 

 ●  Inappropriate Conduct 
 (IAC) 

 ●  Leaving School Without 
 Permission (LVS) 

 ●  Possession of 
 Inappropriate Object 
 (POS) 

 ●  Student uses  Profanity 
 or Gesture/School Board 
 Employee (SPE) 

 ●  Stealing/Petty Theft  < 
 $  750  300  (STP) 

 ●  Bus Suspension (1-10) 
 ●  Consultation 
 ●  Consultation with Law 

 Enforcement 
 ●  Contract 
 ●  ISS (1-10) 
 ●  Loss of Privileges 
 ●  OSS (1-10) 
 ●  School Defined Consequence 
 ●  School Detention 
 ●  Work Detail/School Chores 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 ●  Check In/Check Out with 
 Identified Staff Member 

 ●  Counseling 
 ●  FEP- Family Education 

 Program 
 ●  Letter of Apology 
 ●  Parent Contact 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  School Defined Practice 
 ●  Student Conference 
 ●  Teach/Reteach Student 

 Expectations 

 Level 3/Major Offenses 

 Incident Description  Disciplinary Actions  Restorative Practices 

 Local District Codes 

 ●  Felony Charges filed 
 outside of the school 
 (SAO) 

 ●  Identity Theft (IDT) 
 ●  Inappropriate Use of 

 Technology (TEC) 
 ●  Multiple Level 2 

 Referrals (MUL) 
 ●  Room Clearing  Event 

 (RCE) 
 ●  Student 

 Confrontation/School 
 Board Employee non 
 physical (SCE) 

 ●  Violation of  Behavior 
 Contract (VBC) 

 SESIR Violation Codes 

 ●  Bullying/ Cyberbullying 
 (BUL) 

 ●  Breaking and 
 Entering/  Burglary (BRK) 

 ●  Disruption on  Campus - 
 Major Disorderly 
 Conduct (DOC) 

 ●  Fighting (FIT) 
 ●  Harassment (HAR) 
 ●  Hazing (HAZ) 
 ●  Other Major OMC 
 ●  Sexual Offense SXO 

 ●  Alternative Learning Placement 
 ●  Bus Suspension (1-10) 
 ●  Consultation 
 ●  Contract 
 ●  ISS (1-10) 
 ●  Loss of Privileges 
 ●  OSS (1-10) 
 ●  Recommendation for Expulsion 

 with or without services 
 ●  Refer to Hearing Office 
 ●  Refer to  Consultation with  Law 

 Enforcement 
 ●  School Defined Consequence 
 ●  School Detention 
 ●  Work Detail/School Chores 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 ●  Check In/Check Out with 
 Identified Staff Member 

 ●  Counseling 
 ●  FEP- Family Education 

 Program 
 ●  Letter of Apology 
 ●  Parent Contact 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  School Defined Practice 
 ●  Student Conference 
 ●  Teach/Reteach Student 

 Expectations 
 ●  Tobacco Education Program 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  37 
Page 809 of 843

DRAFT



 ●  Simple Battery  Physical 
 Attack  - including school 
 board  personnel (PHA) 

 ●  Tobacco (TBC) 
 ●  Threat/Intimidation 

 (TRE) 

 Level 4/Major Offenses 

 Incident Description  Disciplinary Actions  Restorative Practices 

 ●  Aggravated  Battery 
 (BAT) 

 ●  Alcohol (ALC) 
 ●  Arson (ARS) 
 ●  Criminal Mischief 

 Vandalism  > $1000 
 (VAN) 

 ●  Drug Sale and 
 Distribution, Excluding 
 Alcohol (DRD) 

 ●  Drug Use Possession, 
 Excluding Alcohol (DRU) 

 ●  Grand Theft 
 Larceny/Theft  > 
 $  750  300  , including 
 Motor Vehicle Theft 
 (STL) 

 ●  Kidnapping (KID) 
 ●  Homicide (HOM) 
 ●  Robbery/Extortion (ROB) 
 ●  Sexual Assault (SXA) 
 ●  Sexual Battery (SXB) 
 ●  Sexual Harassment 

 (SXH) 
 ●  Trespassing (TRS) 
 ●  Weapon Possession 

 (WPO) 

 ●  Alternative Learning Placement 
 ●  OSS (10) 
 ●  Recommendation for Expulsion 

 with or without services 
 ●  Refer to Hearing Office 
 ●  Refer to Law Enforcement 
 ●  School Defined Consequence 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 ●  Check In/Check Out with 
 Identified Staff Member 

 ●  Counseling 
 ●  FEP- Family Education 

 Program 
 ●  Letter of Apology 
 ●  Parent Contact 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  School Defined Practice 

 Category Action 

 Parent Involvement  Parent Involvement is critical to upholding the Code 
 of Conduct 

 ●  Admin/Parent/Student 
 Conference 

 ●  Parent Phone Call 

 School Defined  The School has the authority to define 
 consequences based on the offenses 

 ●  Consequence 
 ●  Restorative Practice 

 Restorative Practice  Restorative practices help students in taking 
 ownership of their behavior and understanding how 
 it affects others. 

 ●  Apology Letter (required 
 for each infraction) 

 ●  Peer Mediation 
 ●  Reflection Sheet 
 ●  Restitution 
 ●  Work Detail/  School 

 Chores 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  38 
Page 810 of 843

DRAFT



 Contract  Students may be placed on a contract as a way to 
 correct behavior 

 ●  Attendance Contract 
 ●  Behavior Contract 
 ●  No Contact Contract 

 Detention 
 Students may be assigned detention as a 
 consequence for Code of Conduct violations 

 ●  After School Detention 
 ●  Class Detention 
 ●  Saturday Detention 
 ●  Silent Lunch Detention 

 Removal  Removal from Extracurricular Activities based on 
 Code of Conduct Violations 

 ●  Loss of 
 Privilege(s)/Extracurricular 
 Activities 

 Consultation  Consultation with various departments to ensure 
 student needs are met 

 ●  Bus Suspension 
 ●  ESE Department 

 Collaboration 
 ●  Referral to Family 

 Education Program 
 ●  Referral to  School 

 Counselor  Guidance 
 Services 

 ●  Referral to Hearing Office 
 ●  Referral  to  for  Social 

 Worker or Mental Health 
 ●  Referral to Tobacco 

 Education Program 
 ●  School Suspension 

 Suspension  Students may be suspended from school for 
 violations of the Code of Conduct 

 ●  School Bus Suspension 
 ●  In-School Suspension 
 ●  Out-of-School Suspension 

 Alternative Learning 
 Placement 

 Students may be placed at the alternative school in 
 lieu of expulsion 

 ●  Alternative Learning 
 Placement 

 Expulsion  The School Board of Clay County must hear and 
 vote on any case of Expulsion  ●  Expulsion 

 ***Alphabetized all categories 

 Discipline and Students with Disabilities 
 The School District of Clay County is committed to providing all students with disabilities a free, appropriate 
 public education. While this commitment includes all aspects of  the disabled students'  learning experience  s  for 
 students with disabilities  , it in no way lessens the  School Board’s intention to maintain a safe, orderly 
 environment for the entire student and staff population. 

 Additionally, the School Board believes that the implementation of thoughtful, carefully constructed disciplinary 
 procedures is a necessary component of student education. 

 Formal disciplinary actions described in the Clay County Code of Student Conduct may be used with students 
 with disabilities when trained professionals have evidence that such strategies are appropriate to the student’s 
 conduct and contribute to his learning process. When necessary to ensure the overall safety, welfare, and/or 
 order of the school environment, a student with disabilities may be subjected to  short-term  out of school 
 suspension  (not to exceed 10 school days within a  school year)  with all alternative procedures and safeguards 
 affirmed. More serious violations may result in a recommendation for expulsion and/or an administrative 
 placement in an Alternative Exceptional Education setting. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  39 

Page 811 of 843

DRAFT



 When working with students with disabilities, the goal is to focus on proactive strategies using positive 
 behavioral interventions and supports with an intentionally reduced focus on exclusionary methods (i.e. 
 out-of-school suspension). Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or 504 teams must convene when a student 
 reaches his or her fifth  day, or any time prior to  the fifth  day of out-of-school suspension in order  to proactively 
 address the student’s needs.  Teams may convene any  time prior to the fifth day of suspension if the need is 
 warranted. 

 Procedures which govern a change of placement generally follow these guidelines: 

 ❏  The district prohibits any student with a disability from being suspended out-of-school for more than ten 
 (10) consecutive days or ten (10) cumulative days within a school year. Any disciplinary removal of a 
 student with a disability for more than ten (10) days in a school year is considered a change of 
 placement. If a decision is made that a change of placement will occur for a student with a disability, the 
 student’s IEP or 504 team will be convened to conduct a manifestation determination review. 

 ❏  Students with disabilities who have been determined to have committed certain Level III or Level IV 
 infractions of the Code of Student Conduct may be recommended for expulsion. 

 ❏  The manifestation review committee is a team  A group  of professionals trained to provide input 
 regarding the student’s  disabling condition  needs  and disability. The team conducts a comprehensive 
 records/data review and makes a determination if the student’s behavior was or was not  documents 
 evidence that the on- campus expellable event is not  a manifestation of  the student’s disability  this 
 condition  . The  team  group  shall include the school  psychologist, appropriate Exceptional Student 
 Education (ESE)  or 504  personnel,  parents/student,  and administrative representation of the referring 
 campus.  This group shall convene with the parents  of the student recommended for expulsion to 
 generate an appropriate Individualized Education Plan or 504 Plan.  If the student’s behavior is 
 determined to be a manifestation of the student’s disability and the student’s misconduct did not involve 
 weapons, drugs, or serious bodily injury, the student may not be expelled and the student's original 
 placement is restored.   The IEP or 504 team will ensure the student’s needs are addressed via the IEP 
 or 504 plan. 

 ❏  If it is determined that the offense is a manifestation of the  student’s disability  disabling condition  ,  but 
 the conduct involves drugs, weapons, or serious bodily injury,  the student may not be expelled, but may 
 be provided services for a limited time in an alternative setting.  The setting will be determined by an IEP 
 or 504 Plan committee. For Students with Disabilities, appropriate goals and objectives to address the 
 inappropriate behavior(s) will be reviewed or generated and will be implemented in the resulting 
 educational setting. 

 ❏  In addition to the student’s placement in an appropriate ESE Program or 504 Plan, there is documented 
 evidence of the availability of necessary support services and concentrated alternatives. Furthermore, 
 For students with an IEP,  a Functional Behavior Assessment/  Positive Behavior Support Plan 
 (FBA/PBSP) is to be generated or reviewed and added to the IEP. For students with 504 Plan, a 
 behavior plan will be generated or reviewed. 

 ❏  If the manifestation determination team determines that the student’s behavior is not a manifestation of 
 the student’s disability, the district may discipline the student according to its regular discipline code of 
 conduct. 

 ❏  A district-wide discipline hearing may be held to consider the Principal’s recommendations to the 
 Superintendent. 

 ❏  The recommendations will be based on the Statement of Manifestation and the determination of 
 eligibility for expulsion. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  40 
Page 812 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  After a review of the following documentation by the ESE Director or Student Services staff, the 
 Superintendent may notify the parents (regarding) the Clay County School Board hearing schedule and 
 the rights accorded the student at the hearing: 

 ❏  Statement of Manifestation 
 ❏  Current IEP, including relevant matrix amendments, or 504 Plan or Least Restrictive 

 Environment (LRE) 
 ❏  Functional Behavior Assessment/Positive Behavior Support Plan 

 ❏  All Due Process Rights and Procedures are granted to students with disabilities.  Parents must be 
 provided with a copy of the procedural safeguards at the IEP/Manifestation Determination or 
 504/Manifestation Determination meeting as applicable. 

 ❏  Under no circumstances shall expulsion of a student with disabilities result in a complete cessation of 
 educational services. Students will be provided an alternative setting in order to ensure that the IEP or 
 504 Plan is continued. 

 NOTE: In reference to students with a 504 Plan, the consequences for drug or alcohol use or possession by 
 any student with a disability are not different from non-disabled students. 

 ESE Parent Notification 
 Notice of Procedural Safeguards for Parents of Student with Disabilities 
 As a parent you can access the electronic Procedural Safeguards on the district website at: 
 https://www.oneclay.net/Page/5109.  A copy of the ESE  procedural safeguards will be provided to you when 
 your child is initially referred and placed in the exceptional student education program and at each annual IEP 
 meeting thereafter. You will also receive a copy when a decision is made to take a disciplinary action against 
 your child that constitutes a change of placement, upon receipt of your first State or due process complaint, 
 when you request an evaluation, and upon your request.  For easy reference, the procedural safeguards are 
 located on the Clay County District Website’s Exceptional Student Education page.  This provides information 
 about  This document provides parents with a full explanation  of the procedural safeguards available under 
 IDEA and the Department of Education regulation such as:  Exceptional Student Educational programs 
 regarding:  prior written  notice,  parent consent  meetings,  independent evaluations, records,  state complaint 
 procedures,  mediation, hearings, administrative law  judges, due process hearing rights, appeals of due 
 process, placement during due process hearings and appeals, attorney’s fees, discipline including long term 
 removals and interim alternative educational settings (IAES),  placement  consent and revocation,  and  private 
 school placements  , local education agency complaints  (LEA) and state  education agency complaints (SEA)  . 

 Notice of  Rights for Students With Disabilities and Their Parents Under Section 504 of the 
 Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

 A copy of the 504 procedural safeguards will be provided to you when your child is initially determined eligible 
 for a 504 plan and at each annual 504 plan meeting thereafter. You will also receive a copy when a decision is 
 made to take a disciplinary action against your child that constitutes a change of placement, upon receipt of an 
 impartial due process hearing, and upon your request.  For easy reference the procedural safeguards are 
 located on the Clay County district’s website Climate and Culture page. 

 The purpose of this notice is to inform parents and students of their rights granted to them under 504 [34 CFR 
 104.32] such as, the right to receive a free and appropriate education, evaluation, placement decisions, 
 educational records, and grievance or complaint procedures. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  41 
Page 813 of 843

DRAFT



 Students Charged with a Felony 
 Pursuant to Section 1006.09(2), Florida Statutes, a student charged with a felony or delinquent act that would 
 be a felony if committed by an adult, whether it occurred on or away from school board property, may be 
 suspended or assigned to an alternative education program. Such assignment may be made upon 
 determination that the student is eligible according to federal and state program criteria, and: 

 ❏  the nature of the offense is such that the student poses a threat to safety of other students or personnel 
 at school 

 ❏  the student’s safety is at risk by remaining in school or at a school-sponsored event with other students. 

 A principal can initiate this process in writing through the Hearing Office under authority of F.S.  1001.54  and 
 guidance of F.S.  1006.13(6)  . Suspension pursuant to  this process shall not affect the delivery of educational 
 services to the student and the student shall be enrolled in an alternative education program. Students who are 
 eligible for services under the IDEA or Section 504 of the Americans with Disabilities Act are subject to those 
 procedural safeguards. The recommendation of the principal to exercise this policy must be approved by the 
 principal supervisor. 

 Student Safety 

 Threat Management Assessment 
 In support of maintaining school safety, staff will investigate reports of, or evidence regarding, student behavior 
 on or off school grounds that could pose a threat to the safety or welfare of other students or staff. 
 Threatening or potentially dangerous behavior may include verbal, written, or non-verbal communications or 
 gestures. Threats may be direct, indirect, conditional, or veiled. Threats may be communicated in person, 
 electronically, through a third party, or by other intentional or unintentional means. 

 In assessing the potential level of danger of a student’s behavior, school staff may conduct a threat 
 assessment following district policy. Families may be invited to assist school staff in completing the 
 assessment. However, family refusal to assist staff in completing the assessment will not prevent staff from 
 completing those parts of the assessment about which staff is knowledgeable. Clay County District Schools 
 may also make a determination of risk based on information received from law enforcement agencies, court 
 personnel, mental health professionals, human services, or other agency  partners. 

 Families will be notified when a threat assessment is being conducted, or as soon as possible after such 
 assessment has been conducted, regarding their student. Records of student threat management 
 assessments shall be provided to families upon request. Students may be required to participate in the 
 development of a safety plan and comply with such a plan. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  42 
Page 814 of 843

DRAFT



 FortifyFL 
 FortifyFL is a suspicious activity reporting tool that allows you to instantly relay information to appropriate law 
 enforcement agencies and school officials. It is available on the CCDS student portal, and may be downloaded 
 to any portable device through the FLDOE website. 

 SaferWatch App 

 SaferWatch is a free emergency notification app. Please take a short moment to download the free app to your 
 phone by accessing the App Store for iPhone users or Google Play for Android users. The app is programmed 
 so that when CCDS teachers and staff are on any of our district's properties, a mobile panic button is available 
 for use in the event of an immediate emergency. For CCDS students, the app allows them to report suspicious 
 activity and tips occurring in schools. 

 The SaferWatch App Terms of Service (ToS) prohibits using the app for  fraudulent, abusive, or illegal 
 activity  . SaferWatch makes it clear that any suspected  fraudulent, abusive, or illegal activity may be grounds 
 for terminating the User’s right to use the SaferWatch app. 

 SaferWatch’s User Privacy Policy (UPP) states that anonymous tips may not remain anonymous in the event 
 that a user makes a False Report with the app, and that SaferWatch may release the user’s information to law 
 enforcement in these circumstances. 

 Since SaferWatch connects to the 911/E911 system, the misuse of the app could result in criminal charges. 

 Random Searches 
 School officials or school employees designated by the principal may conduct random searches of groups of 
 individuals if the checks are done in a minimally intrusive, nondiscriminatory manner (e.g., on all students in a 
 randomly selected class; on every third individual entering an athletic event, etc.). Random searches may not 
 be used to single out a particular individual or category of individuals. 

 If a school official or a law enforcement officer has reasonable suspicion to believe that a particular student is 
 in possession of an illegal or unauthorized metal container, object, or weapon, he or she may conduct a metal 
 detector check of the student’s person and personal effects. 

 A student’s failure to permit a search as provided in this policy will be considered grounds for disciplinary 
 action, including suspension. 

 School personnel may conduct a search of a student’s possessions, a student’s locker, or any other storage 
 area on school property or student vehicle without a warrant when school personnel have reasonable 
 suspicion that illegal, prohibited, harmful items or substance, or stolen property may be concealed in such 
 location. School personnel have the authority to  search a student’s possessions upon reasonable suspicion if 
 the student refuses to reveal the contents inside. 

 School personnel are encouraged to attempt to obtain consent from a student to search for illegal, prohibited, 
 harmful  items or substance, or stolen property, but may proceed with a search without a student’s consent, 
 upon reasonable suspicion of a prohibited or illegally-possessed substance or object. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  43 
Page 815 of 843

DRAFT



 Principals are authorized to request from law enforcement the need to utilize trained dogs to detect the 
 presence of illegally possessed substances or objects in student lockers, in student automobiles parked on 
 campus, and any student possession that is located on campus per Florida Statute  1006.09(9)  . 

 Family and Behavior Expectations 
 All Clay County District Schools students and staff deserve to learn and work in an environment free from 
 disruption, threat or intimidation. Family members and adult visitors will display appropriate and professional 
 adult behavior in schools, during school events and at sanctioned school activities at all times. In accordance 
 with Florida law, failure of a family member or adult visitor to act appropriately may result in the violator being 
 prohibited (trespassed) from being on school property or attending any school sanctioned events. In cases of 
 significant disruption, law enforcement will be contacted regarding the matter. 

 Student Health 

 Immunization 
 The Florida Department of Health has published the 2020-21 School Entry Immunization Requirements on 
 their  website  , along with multiple resources to help  families navigate the  Immunization Guidelines  for 
 school-age and preschool/daycare requirements. There is a  FAQ  section to assist in this process. 

 A Certificate of Immunization (DH 680) indicating compliance with the current required schedule of 
 immunizations must be presented prior to enrollment in school. A physical exam (performed within 1 year prior 
 to initial enrollment in Florida public or private schools) is required for all students new to the district. (  FS 
 1003.22) 

 Health Services/Screenings 
 The new Florida Statute  1014.06  titled “Parents’ Bill  of Rights”, requires parental consent to provide health 
 services in our schools.  Parents will need to have a consent form for care provided in the school health rooms 
 signed for each student and on file with the school.  At the beginning of each school year, the Clay County 
 Schools and the Florida Department of Health in Clay County are required, by law, (F.S.  381.0056  ) to inform 
 parents of the health screening program. This program is carried out to appraise, protect and promote the 
 health of students through assisting in the early identification of health problems in the areas of hearing, vision, 
 growth & development, dental, mental health, and scoliosis. These screenings are limited to procedures that 
 do not penetrate the skin or any body orifice (i.e.., any invasive screening requires written parent  permission). 

 Food Allergens 
 For the safety and wellness of our student body, outside foods and beverages that are not commercially 
 prepared and/or packaged are not allowable at school events or for shared consumption.  All outside foods and 
 beverages must contain an FDA-compliant nutrition label and/or a complete list of ingredients that will allow 
 school personnel and/or students to identify potential allergens. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  44 
Page 816 of 843

DRAFT



 Live Lice Policy 
 The Florida Department of Health in Clay County is committed to utilizing best practice recommendations for 
 lice  management in schools in a manner that respects the privacy of students and families. No Clay County 
 District School (CCDS) personnel, parents of other students or unauthorized personnel other than clinic staff 
 and school principal (on a need to know basis) will be notified of a student having lice/nits. Lice exclusions are 
 viewed as necessary only when excessive infestations (more than 10 live lice, diagnosed by a treating health 
 care provider) are present or there is lack of follow up with treating lice. 

 Per the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, head lice can be a nuisance but they have not been 
 shown to spread disease. Personal hygiene or cleanliness in the home or school has nothing to do with getting 
 head lice. For more information, go to  head lice information  for schools from the CDC  . 

 Both the  American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP)  and  the  National Association of School Nurses (NASN)  offers 
 the following information and advocates that school districts review policies regularly based on the following 
 reasons: 

 ❏  Many nits are more than ¼ inch from the scalp. Such nits are usually not viable and very unlikely to 
 hatch to become crawling lice, or may in fact be empty shells, also known as ‘casings’. 

 ❏  Nits are cemented to hair shafts and are very unlikely to be transferred successfully to other people. 
 ❏  The burden of unnecessary absenteeism to the students, families and communities far outweighs the 

 risks associated with head lice. 
 ❏  Misidentification of nits is very common during nit checks conducted by nonmedical personnel. 
 ❏  Lice are typically not spread within the school setting. Lice transmission requires close head-to head 

 contact or the sharing of personal hair related items. 

 School health room staff responsibilities regarding lice in schools: 

 ❏  Educate school staff regarding head lice causes, treatment and common misconceptions such as: 
 ❏  Getting head lice is not related to cleanliness of the person or his/her environment. 
 ❏  Head lice are mainly spread by direct contact with the hair of an infested person. 
 ❏  Head lice are not known to transmit disease. 
 ❏  Head lice move by crawling, not hopping or flying. 
 ❏  Head lice are not reportable to the public health departments unless there are other 

 communicable disease related concerns. 
 ❏  Educate students and their families about how to prevent lice and what to do if a family member has 

 lice. 
 ❏  Collaborate with the Public Health Department or other resources in planning assistance to families 

 who have chronic infestation. 

 Treatment: 

 If you suspect a child has head lice, it’s important to encourage the parent(s)/guardian(s) to consult with a 
 pediatrician or family physician for proper care as soon as possible. Treatment failure may be caused by lack 
 of response to a treatment, incorrect product usage, misdiagnosis of the original condition, or re-infestation. To 
 help avoid these pitfalls, the physician can confirm the diagnosis, discuss treatment options, provide an 
 appropriate recommendation, and advise parent(s)/guardian(s) on how to properly use the medication. 

 Key treatment considerations: 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  45 

Page 817 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  A common approach to head lice treatment is to use an over-the-counter (OTC) medication. While 
 these treatments have been effective in the past, resistance to some OTC head lice treatments has 
 been reported in recent years. A 2016 study showed that 48 states now have lice that may be 
 genetically predisposed to resistance to commonly used treatments. 

 ❏  There are new prescription treatment options available that are safe and do not require nit combing. 
 ❏  Parent(s)/guardian(s) should closely follow treatment instructions. Using extra amounts or multiple 

 applications of the same medication is not recommended, unless directed by a healthcare professional. 
 ❏  Family bed linens and recently used clothes, hats, and towels should be washed in very hot water and 

 dried on the highest setting. 
 ❏  Personal articles such as combs, brushes, and hair clips should be soaked in very hot water (at least 

 130° F) for 5 to 10 minutes. 
 ❏  All household members and other close contacts should be checked, and anyone with evidence of an 

 active infestation should be treated. All persons with active head lice should be treated at the same 
 time. 

 Communicating with families: 

 School nurses will help educate the community about head lice and treatment options, including OTC and 
 prescription products, through letters to parents at the beginning of the school year or during a lice outbreak, 
 handouts in the nurse’s office, and presentations during parent-teacher nights. 

 School nurses can also help prevent stigmatization in the community by spreading the word that head lice 
 infest children from all backgrounds and walks of life. Anyone can get head lice, no matter how clean their 
 home or hair is, or where they live or go to school or play. 

 Head Lice Protocol: 

 ❏  When live lice are identified, the child’s parent or guardian WILL be notified that same day by telephone 
 stating that prompt, proper treatment must be completed before return to school after live lice 
 diagnosis. 

 ❏  There are many acceptable treatment options; however, treatment with a product that is both a 
 pediculicide as well as ovicidal is the surest way to kill lice and prevent further re-infestation. 

 ❏  Students will not be allowed to return to school until proof of treatment is presented by 
 parent(s)/guardians(s). Acceptable proof of treatment is a health care provider note, receipt from 
 purchase of over-the-counter lice treatment or visual confirmation from CCDS health room staff of no 
 live lice on scalp upon students return to school. 

 ❏  Notification letters should be sent home to alert parents only if a high percentage (20% or more) of 
 children in a classroom are infested with lice. 

 Home Responsibilities for General Health Updates 
 It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to notify the school of any health condition of their student(s) 
 which may require medication, treatment, or monitoring at school or on school-sponsored trips or activities. 

 It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to submit a properly executed “Authorization for 
 Medication/Treatment” form (MIS 12470) to school administration if their student requires medication 
 (including over the counter) or treatment to be given during the school day. Parents will be responsible for 
 delivery and retrieval of medications to the school nurse/health designee. No medications are to be 
 transported via the school bus system. All medications to be administered by school personnel shall be 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  46 

Page 818 of 843

DRAFT



 received and stored in the ORIGINAL container; this includes over-the-counter medications. 

 It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to notify the school immediately of any chronic or acute 
 medical conditions a child may have and of any necessity for a child to be allowed to self-medicate during 
 the school day. The Health Services Manual may be viewed at  Health Services  . 

 Other Important Information for Families 

 Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 
 The revised Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) became a Federal law in November, 1974 
 (amended 1976). The intent of this law is to protect the accuracy and privacy of student educational records. 
 The Clay County School Board has adopted a policy for the implementation of this Act and the Superintendent 
 of Schools has approved administrative procedures for this purpose. 

 Accordingly, this notice outlines the type of student information collected and how that information is 
 maintained and released. It further indicates the school officials who have the responsibility to follow 
 appropriate procedures regarding the information. 

 Section 1003.25 and Section 1002.22, F.S. mandates that each principal maintain a permanent cumulative 
 record for  each student enrolled in a public school. Such records are to be maintained according to a format 
 prescribed by rules of  the State Board of Education. These State Board Rules also define the data which must 
 be kept. 

 What information is in a student’s record? 
 Education records of a student include but are not necessarily limited to: personally identifiable data (student 
 and parent name, address, birth date, birthplace, sex, race), academic record, standardized test results, 
 attendance records, health data, family background information, teacher or counselor ratings and observation, 
 psychological reports, extracurricular activities, honors and awards, list of schools attended, and any other 
 evidence, knowledge, or information recorded in any medium and maintained and used by an educational 
 institution or by a person acting for such institution. The principal may maintain a separate disciplinary file for 
 students involved in misconduct to include, but not be limited to, description of misconduct, suspension 
 notices, records of action taken, etc. As amended by NCLB (No Child Left  Behind), the district will transfer 
 disciplinary records, with respect to a suspension or expulsion, as part of the student’s educational record to 
 any private or public elementary school or secondary school for any student who is enrolled or seeks, intends, 
 or is instructed to enroll, on a full-or part-time basis, in the school (Section 4155 of the Elementary and 
 Secondary Education Act of 1965). Confidential records created by the Department of Juvenile Justice are not 
 included in a Student’s Educational record. The destruction of student records is in accordance with a retention 
 schedule approved by the Bureau of Archives. 

 Who has access to student records? 
 Those persons having access to student records are the School Board, the Superintendent, school personnel 
 within a school or school district with a legitimate educational interest and others specified by Section 1002.22 
 F.S. A Record of Request shall be maintained in the records. These records are maintained under the direction 
 of the principal. 

 What are the rights of a parent or adult student? 
 According to (34C.F.R. § 300.20), a parent means: 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  47 

Page 819 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  A natural or adoptive parent of a child; 
 ❏  A guardian; 
 ❏  A person acting in the place of a parent (such as a grandparent or stepparent with whom the child lives, 

 or a  person who is legally responsible for the child’s welfare); or 
 ❏  A surrogate parent; or 
 ❏  A foster parent if the natural parent’s authority to make educational decisions on the child’s behalf has 

 been extinguished under State law and the foster parent has an “ongoing, long-term parental 
 relationship with the child; is willing to make the educational decisions required of parents under the 
 Act; and has no interest that would conflict with the interests of the child.” 

 Parents, legal guardians, or adult students (age 18 and/or in post-secondary education) have the right of 
 access, right of waiver of access, right to revoke waiver of access, right to challenge and hearing, and right of 
 privacy of records maintained on their child, and a right of a copy of the record (at the cost of reproduction). 

 Transfer, disclosure, or release of student records requires prior written consent of the parent of eligible student 
 exceptions include: 

 ❏  disclosures made to school officials with legitimate educational interests; 
 ❏  disclosures made to another school at which the student intends to enroll; 
 ❏  disclosures made to state or local education authorities for auditing or evaluating federal-or 

 state-supported  education programs, or enforcing relevant federal laws; and 
 ❏  disclosures including information the school has designated as “directory information.” 

 A parent who wishes to review his/her child’s record should make an appointment with the principal or school 
 counselor. School personnel are available to interpret student record information. All such requests will be 
 honored by school officials as soon as possible. It is required that requests be honored within thirty (30) days. 
 A copy of the Clay County Student Records Policy is available in all schools, and at the School Board offices in 
 Green Cove Springs. 

 In case of divorce or legal separation, either parent may have access to a child’s educational record unless an 
 appropriate  court order to the contrary has been filed with the school. 

 Whatever rights are vested in the parent shall pass to the student whenever the student has attained eighteen 
 (18) years of age or is attending a postsecondary educational institution, unless the student continues to be 
 carried as a dependent on the parent’s income tax return. [Ref. 1002.22(3)] Students under age 18 may 
 assume adult rights if they become married or are emancipated by court order. [Ref. F.S. 743.01 and 743.015] 
 Note: Pregnant and parenting teens continue as minors unless they become married or emancipated by court 
 order. 

 Parents or eligible students have the right to file a complaint with the Department of Health and Human 
 Services concerning the alleged failure by the educational agency to comply with Section 438 of the Act. (200 
 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D. C., 20207).  F.S. 1000.21(5)  defines “Parent” as: either or both 
 parents, any guardian, or any person who is in a parental relationship to a student, or who is exercising 
 supervisory authority in place of a parent over a student of public school age. The school district specific 
 guidelines regarding “in-loco parentis” situations are detailed in School Board Policy  4.08  . 

 Are there any records which the school can refuse to show a parent or eligible student? 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  48 
Page 820 of 843

DRAFT



 The right to access does not pertain to the following educational records: teacher’s/counselor’s /administrator’s 
 personal notes and records that are not accessible to any other person except a substitute of any such person; 
 law enforcement records which are maintained solely for their purposes; personnel records, physician, 
 psychologist, psychiatrist records, or other recognized professional or paraprofessional records that are 
 maintained solely in connection with treatment; letters of recommendation/evaluation which were considered 
 confidential and entered into the record prior to July 1, 1977. No public educational institution shall maintain 
 any report or record relative to a pupil or student which includes a copy of the pupil’s or student’s fingerprints. 
 The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is: Family Policy Compliance Office, U.S. 
 Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20202-5920; See additional details in 
 F.S. 1002.22(2)(c)1-8. 

 What information is released without parent permission? 
 The School District of Clay County reserves the right for its agents to release “directory information” without 
 prior permission of the parent or adult student. Directory information is information that is generally not 
 considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if released. Such information will be limited to name, address, 
 telephone number (if not unlisted), electronic mail address, field of study, age, participation in school 
 sponsored activities, height and weight of  athletic team members, dates of attendance, most recent school 
 attended, and degrees and awards received. 

 This information relating to the student body in general (bulk information release) may not be released to any 
 individual or agency unless it is normally published for the public in general. Such information may be released 
 only to a business rendering services under contract with the School Board. Examples: the local newspapers, 
 television, school newspaper, school yearbook, or military services. 

 Section 9528 of the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act requires local education agencies (LEAs) to provide 
 military recruiters with the name, address, and telephone listing of secondary students. The District shall honor 
 any request of a parent or eligible student to withhold any or all of the information relating to a particular 
 student. Photographs are designated as directory information and annual yearbooks and other publications 
 may customarily include student photographs. Parents or eligible students objecting to the use of specific 
 directory information must notify the school principal of such objection in writing within the first month of the 
 student’s enrollment. Notification objecting to the use or disclosure of directory information must be in writing 
 and either hand delivered to the Principal of the school at which the student is attending, sent by mail to the 
 Director of Information Services/Public Records Officer at the county office of the Clay County District Schools, 
 900 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 or sent by email to optoutferpa@myoneclay.net. 

 Personally identifiable information may be disclosed, transferred, or released without prior consent of the 
 parent or eligible student in connection with enrollment in another school, in emergency situations, application 
 for financial aid, research, a state statute, or an accrediting organization; a court of competent jurisdiction in 
 compliance with an order of that court, or a lawfully issued subpoena upon the condition that the pupil or 
 student and his parent are notified of the order or subpoena in advance of compliance therewith by the 
 educational institution. 

 In preparation of cases for prosecution under the Compulsory School Attendance and Child Welfare Law (F.S. 
 1003.21), the school system is authorized to release pertinent data in interpretative form to the State Attorney’s 
 Office, to the Department of Juvenile Justice, and the appropriate court without parent consent. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  49 
Page 821 of 843

DRAFT



 Student Device Electronic Agreement 
 Please read the following carefully before electronically signing this document. This is a legally binding contract 
 and must be signed by the student (“Student”) and a Parent or Legal Guardian (“Parent/Guardian”) before a 
 Chromebook (hereafter “Electronic Device”) is assigned to you. 

 Purpose 
 The primary purpose of Clay County District School's provision of access to electronic devices, network 
 resources, and  computer support services is to facilitate education and research consistent with the 
 educational objectives of Clay  County District Schools (“CCDS”). 

 This Agreement must be signed by both the Student and the Parent/Guardian and is binding upon both parties. 

 Terms and Conditions 
 Term and Termination: This Agreement shall commence on the issue date and shall terminate at the end of the 
 school year the agreement is signed. 

 Student and Parent/Guardian’s Obligations 
 Student and their Parent/Guardian agrees to: 

 ❏  Use, maintain, and keep the Electronic Device in good operating order, at their own expense, in the 
 manner for  which it was designed and intended 

 ❏  Not allow or make any alterations or additions to the Electronic Device without the prior written consent 
 of CCDS 

 ❏  Return the Electronic Device to CCDS in the same condition as received on the beginning date of the 
 Agreement, minus reasonable wear and tear 

 ❏  Use the Electronic Device in ways that are not disruptive, offensive, harmful, or otherwise improper or 
 against the acceptable use policies of CCDS 

 ❏  Provide CCDS with written notice to any change in address or telephone number during the term of this 
 Agreement 

 Issuing Electronic Devices 
 If you have an objection to your student using CCDS electronic devices, you must notify the school of your 
 objection, in writing, within 48 hours of your receipt of this information. 

 Return of Electronic Device 
 Students are required to return the Electronic Device to the assigned school administrative office upon:  ∙ 
 Graduation OR 

 ❏  Transfer from CCDS School OR 
 ❏  Temporary or permanent discontinuance of schooling OR 
 ❏  Last Day of School OR 
 ❏  Termination of this Agreement for Failure to Comply 

 Student and Parent/Guardian acknowledge that failure to return the property after notice of termination 
 constitutes theft. 

 Failure to Comply 
 Failure to comply with any of the terms of this Agreement may result in the imposition of fines (for repair or 
 replacement of the device), termination of the Student’s ability to participate in this Program, and/or the 
 imposition of appropriate civil or criminal penalties against Student and/or Parent/Guardian. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  50 

Page 822 of 843

DRAFT



 Criminal or Civil Liability 
 Student and Parent/Guardian acknowledge that they are subject to criminal prosecution or civil liability for the 
 destruction or misuse of the device. A theft report will be filed with the local Law Enforcement if a device is 
 reported as stolen and Student and Parent/Guardian would still be financially responsible for the Electronic 
 Device. 

 Ownership of Electronic Device 
 The Electronic Device is, and shall remain, the property of CCDSB. Student and Parent/Guardian shall have 
 no right, title, or interest herein or thereto except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

 Student and Parent/Guardian shall not assign rights or obligations under this Agreement or enter into any 
 sublease of all or any part of the Electronic Device. 

 Warranty 
 Student is being issued the device acknowledges that the device is being presented “as is” without warranty, 
 other than  any warranty provided by the manufacturer of the Electronic Device. 

 Lost or Damaged Electronic Device 
 Should the Student damage or lose the Electronic Device, the Student and Parent/Guardian will be responsible 
 for  paying all outstanding lease payments for the entire term of this Agreement or repair cost, as applicable. 

 Right to Audit 
 As permitted by law, CCDS reserves and intends to exercise the right to review, audit, intercept, access, and 
 search the Electronic Device at will, monitor data usage and messages on the Electronic Device at any time for 
 any reason, without notice or other restrictions. 

 Computer Resource Use Policies 
 All users of CCDS devices and network resources are required to comply with the following: 

 ●  Files, user ID's, passwords, and computer output belonging to an individual or to CCDS are considered 
 to be personal property, but may be subject to audit by CCDS. 

 ●  Users shall not examine, change, or use CCDS or another person's files, output, or usernames for 
 which they do  not have explicit authorization. 

 ●  Users shall not deliberately attempt to degrade system performance or capability. Knowledge of 
 systems or  special passwords shall not be used to damage a system or file, or to change or remove 
 information without  authorization. 

 ●  Users shall not use the system for any illegal purpose or to enter or send any material that is obscene, 
 pornographic, or defamatory, or material that is intended to annoy, harass, or alarm another person. 

 ●  All users shall use software only in accordance with applicable license agreements. Users shall not 
 make unauthorized copies of any software under any circumstances. Duplication of licensed software 
 for any purpose except for backup and archival purposes or when otherwise specifically authorized is 
 prohibited. Users shall not give or transfer software to anyone except other authorized users of the 
 CCDS network or device without specific approval from the CCDS. All software must be lawfully 
 purchased or acquired. 

 ●  Use of computer systems and databases shall be limited to the purpose(s) for which access is granted. 
 Unless such use is specifically granted, use of CCDS digital resources for personal or private use 
 for-profit, is prohibited. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  51 
Page 823 of 843

DRAFT



 ●  Students are authorized to use electronic devices and network services for incidental personal use, 
 provided such  use does not interfere with the educational objectives of CCDS or overload network 
 resources, thereby denying  it to others. 

 ●  Repeated minor infractions of the Student Responsible Use Guidelines or violations of a serious nature 
 may result in the temporary or permanent loss of network access and/or Electronic Device use. More 
 serious violations that may result in permanent loss of network access and/or Electronic Device use 
 include, but are not  limited to, extending computing resources to unauthorized users, attempts to steal 
 passwords or data, unauthorized use or copying of licensed software, unauthorized attachment of 
 personal computers to the CCDS  network, unauthorized use of another's account, or overloading 
 network resources thereby denying it to others.  No payments made for the Electronic Device will be 
 refunded if network access and/or Electronic Device use is denied due to violations or infractions of any 
 CCDS or computer use policies, whether or not such infractions  are mentioned in this Agreement. 

 ●  Filtering will be provided by CCDS for school and off-site use. This filtering is a best effort to ensure that 
 inappropriate material is not accessed by students whether in school or off site. No filtering solution is 
 perfect, and this service is being provided free of any warranty. 

 Responsible Use Guidelines 
 Discovering Endless Possibilities 
 Technology is an integral part of the CCDS curriculum across subjects and grades in developmentally 
 appropriate ways, and it is aligned to the competencies listed in the Florida Standards which include: seek 
 knowledge and understanding; think critically and solve problems; listen, communicate and interact effectively; 
 exhibit strong personal qualities; and engage and compete in a global environment. 

 Technology Agreement 
 I understand that using digital devices (whether personal or school owned) and the CCDS network is a 
 privilege, and when I use them according to the Responsible Use Guidelines I will keep that privilege. 
 I understand that I have no right to privacy when using the CCDS network. 

 All students of Clay County District Schools agree to follow the Clay County District Schools Code of Student 
 Conduct, school rules, and commit to the following Responsible Use Guidelines: 

 I will: 
 ●  use digital devices, networks, email, and software in school for educational purposes. 
 ●  keep my personal information (including home/mobile phone number, mailing address, and user 

 password) and that of others private. 
 ●  show respect for myself and others when using technology, including social media. 
 ●  give acknowledgement to others for their ideas and work. 
 ●  report inappropriate use of technology immediately. 

 The  Responsible Use Guidelines  will be reviewed each  school year together with students and teachers and 
 will  provide a springboard for teaching and learning around topics such as Internet safety, digital citizenship, 
 ethical, and appropriate use of technology. 

 Child Abuse Reporting 
 All employees and agents of the District School Board are authorized and mandated by Florida Statute 
 1006.061  to report all actual or suspected cases of  child abuse, abandonment, or neglect to the Department of 
 Children and Families, Central Abuse Hotline (1-800-962-2873), and to provide them with the necessary 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  52 

Page 824 of 843

DRAFT



 information to pursue such complaints. Employees have immunity from liability if they report such cases in 
 good faith. 

 Student Surveys 
 No Child Left Behind (NCLB) requires Local Education Agencies (LEA’s) to notify parents and/or obtain 
 parental  consent prior to the administration of a student survey that is: 

 ❏  part of an “applicable program” (funded in whole or in part by any program administered by the United 
 States Department of Education (USDOE) require LEAs to obtain prior written consent of the parent. 

 ❏  surveys that are created by a third party (funded by sources other than USDOE programs) required 
 LEAs to adopt  specific policies. (These surveys do not require prior written parental consent but 
 instead require districts to offer  parents the opportunity to opt the student out of participation.) 

 LEAs are required to make the survey instrument available for inspection by parents regardless of funding 
 source.  By request of the State of Florida, school districts administer the Florida Youth Survey (FYS) which is 
 funded from  sources other than the USDOE. The district is required to offer parents the opportunity to opt their 
 child out of the  survey. 

 Notice of Child Find Activities 
 The School District of Clay County will actively seek to locate exceptional students and maintain information on 
 those  students screened and identified as exceptional. The term “exceptional student” includes the mentally 
 handicapped, the speech and language impaired, the deaf and hard-of-hearing, the blind and partially sighted, 
 the physically impaired, the other health impaired, the emotionally handicapped, the gifted, the homebound or 
 hospitalized and those with specific learning disabilities. 
 Information gathered may include the student’s social, emotional, physical, psychological, academic and 
 communication  behaviors and abilities. Information is collected through screening programs, check lists, 
 teacher observations,  standardized tests, and from such individuals as parents, teachers, psychologists, and 
 other professional personnel, and  the child himself. The information is used to assist in the development of 
 appropriate educational programs for  exceptional students and for reports to state and federal agencies. 

 Students are screened periodically for vision, hearing, speech, and academic achievement as the initial step in 
 the process of identifying those students with suspected exceptionalities. If your child is considered for further 
 testing, you will be invited to participate in the decision-making process in a Child Study Team meeting at your 
 child’s school. Before you are asked to give your permission, you will be informed of the purpose of the 
 evaluation and the procedural safeguards made available to you. 

 Should you have any questions, please contact your child’s principal or school counselor. 

 ***ESE Parent Notification moved to Section on ESE Discipline - Page 39/40*** 

 Parental Notification of McKay Scholarship 
 Effective July 1, 2006, Florida Statute, Section 1002.39(5)(a)1, states that by April 1 of each year or within 10 
 days after an individual educational plan meeting out district must notify you of all available options. This 
 includes informing you of the availability of the DOE toll free information hotline (1-800-447-1636) and internet 
 website,  www.floridaschoolchoice.org  and offering  the parents an opportunity to enroll the student in another 
 public school  within the district during the required time limit if the school is not closed or otherwise at capacity. 
 This notice is one of  several ways the district meets the Florida Statute requirements. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  53 
Page 825 of 843

DRAFT



 Notice of Request for Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Input 
 The Clay County Exceptional Student Education Department receives federal funding through the Individuals 
 with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). We solicit input from Parents, Administrators, Specialists, Teachers, 
 Assistants, and ESE secretaries in developing our federal IDEA grants. Currently it is spent almost entirely for 
 personnel. This includes over 150 assistants, 30 teachers, nurses, mental health counselors, secretaries, 
 private school services, particularly speech therapy, and specialists. We also provide training for teachers and 
 parents through the IDEA grants. Our current district goals include augmenting the autistic (ASD) program and 
 training, and expanding PreK, InD and E/BD programs to more sites closer to home. Another goal is to 
 increase specialized programs in the Oakleaf and Keystone areas and offer new VI/HI classes at additional 
 grade levels. 

 For questions or additional information please contact the ESE Department at (904) 336-6866. 

 Use of Student Work, Video, and Photographs 
 From time to time, students have the opportunity to be recorded, photographed, or display artwork. Some of 
 these recordings, photographs, schoolwork or artwork may be archived, included in the local news, on the 
 school’s CCTV or web page, and may eventually air on the School District of Clay County educational channel 
 or be used at local, state or national conferences. 

 If you have an objection to your student’s work or name being used for any of the above purposes, or if you 
 object to photographs or recordings of your student being used, you must notify the school of your objection, in 
 writing, within 48 hours of your receipt of this information. 

 For your information, if your student is an exceptional education student, your explicit, written permission will 
 be obtained prior to any media release which identifies your student by name, along with his exceptionality or 
 exceptional placement designation. 

 Social Media Guidelines 
 In accordance with the Clay County District Schools’ Student Code of Conduct, the District expects students to 
 set and  maintain high ethical standards in their use of social networking. Personal use of social media may 
 have an effect at school. While at times it is easy to tell whether social media use is school-related or personal, 
 at other times it may be difficult to distinguish fully between different uses. Sometimes, personal social media 
 use, including off-hours use, may result in disruption at school and the school may need to get involved. This 
 could include disciplinary action such as a parent conference, suspension, alternative disciplinary placement, 
 and/or expulsion. It is important to remember that infractions outlined in the CCDS Student Code of Conduct 
 prohibiting certain types of communication also apply to electronic communication. To be safe, be in control of 
 what you do online, even if it is during personal time. 

 Guidelines for Student Use of Social Media 

 ❏  Think before you post. Clay County District Schools recommends that students use discretion when 
 posting to social media sites at all times and requires that students follow the CCDS Student  Code of 
 Conduct when on school district property. 

 ❏  If you see anything of concern on a fellow student's social networking page or account, you should 
 promptly contact your school based administration, your teacher, or other school staff. 

 ❏  Be thoughtful about what you share online and consider how it would appear to family, friends, 
 colleges, and future employers. Do not post or link anything (photos, videos, web pages, audio files, 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  54 
Page 826 of 843

DRAFT



 forums, groups, fan pages, etc.) to your social networking site(s) that you wouldn’t want anyone to 
 access. Social media venues are public and information can be shared beyond your control. 

 ❏  When responding to others, remember to be respectful and avoid comments that may be hurtful. You 
 should refrain from using profane, obscene, or threatening language. 

 ❏  Use of school or District logos or images on your personal social networking sites is prohibited. The 
 Clay County District Schools reserves the right to request school-related images or content posted 
 without permission to be removed from the internet. If you wish to promote a specific activity or event, 
 you may do so only by means of a link to school or District official social media accounts. 

 ❏  You should always take responsibility for what you post. Do not misrepresent yourself by using 
 someone else's identity. 

 ❏  Only accept invitations to share information from people you know. Utilize privacy settings to control 
 access to your network, web pages, profile, posts, blogs, wikis, podcasts, digital media, forums, groups, 
 fan pages, etc. 

 ❏  Online stalkers and identity thieves are a real threat. Never share personal information, including, but 
 not limited to: Social Security numbers, phone numbers, addresses, exact birth dates, and pictures with 
 parties you don’t know or on unsecure sites. 

 ❏  Users should keep their passwords secure and never share passwords with others. If someone 
 tampers with your blog, email, or social networking account without you knowing about it, you could be 
 held accountable. 

 ❏  Cyberbullying is considered an act of harassment. See the CCDS Student Code of Conduct for detailed 
 information. 

 Rights of Divorced Parents 
 Under current divorce laws, “shared parental responsibility” awards both parents full rights to the child, 
 although “primary physical residence” is awarded to one parent. Neither parent has priority over the other with 
 regard to the child’s education, both parents have full and complete rights to pick up the child, to inquire about 
 school work, and participate in school activities. The parent(s) should provide the school with a copy of the final 
 court judgment to determine new shared responsibility. Additional court documents, such as injunctions or 
 modifications to the final judgments, should be provided to the school immediately as these may put new limits 
 on access rights of a parent.  "In the event  a  parent  is not  granted shared parental responsibility  then  that parent 
 may not pick up or check out the child unless the parent who is the primary residential custodian informs the 
 school in writing that such actions are acceptable. 

 Custody papers issued by a court outside the state of Florida will not be accepted at face value. Out-of-state 
 documents must be domesticated through the Florida Courts. 

 Parental Concerns Regarding Employees 
 The Clay County School Board recommends that parents who have a complaint about an employee begin by 
 registering their concern directly with the employee in question, if possible. The vast majority of parental 
 concerns are solved at this level. If not, parents are urged to contact the principal, district office staff, the 
 Deputy Superintendent or the Superintendent to express their concerns. 

 Parents are often asked to put their concerns in writing. While this is not a requirement, it is often important, 
 depending on the seriousness of the charge and the ultimate action proposed as the result of investigation. It is 
 not the school system’s intent to discourage parental concerns by establishing complex procedures for 
 registering them. It is our intent, however, to make certain that parents are heard, that their concerns are 
 investigated, if appropriate, and that our employees’ due process rights are protected. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  55 

Page 827 of 843

DRAFT



 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  56 
Page 828 of 843

DRAFT



 Appendix A: Glossary 

 Commonly used acronyms and definitions of educational terms frequently used in Clay County District 
 Schools: 

 Glossary of Acronyms and Definition of Terms 

 504 Plan  Disability Accommodation Plan under Section 504 Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

 Access Points  Expectations written for students with significant cognitive disabilities to access the 
 general education curriculum 

 Achieve3000  Reading and writing intervention program using non-fiction text to differentiate instruction 

 ACT  American College Test; college entrance exam 

 ADD/ADHD  Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder 

 AP  Advanced Placement 

 ASD  Autism Spectrum Disorder 

 AYP  Adequate Yearly Progress 

 CCEA  Clay County Education Association 

 CESPA  Clay Educational Staff Professional Association 

 CTE  Career and Technical Education 

 CVA  Clay Virtual Academy 

 ELA  English Language Arts 

 ELL  English Language Learners 

 EOC  End of Course Exam 

 ESE  Exceptional Student Education 

 ESL  English as a Second Language 

 ESY  Extended School Year 

 FERPA  Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 

 FHSAA  Florida High School Athletic Association 

 FLDOE  Florida Department of Education 

 Focus  CCDS  Student Information System 

 FSA  Florida Standards Assessment 

 GPA  Grade Point Average 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  57 
Page 829 of 843

DRAFT



 Guardian  School employee qualified and trained to carry a gun on a school campus 

 IDEA  Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

 IEP  Individualized Education Plan 

 IQ  Intelligence Quotient 

 i-Ready  An interactive online learning environment for reading and math 

 LLI  Leveled Literacy Intervention 

 PSAT  Preliminary SAT; practice college entrance exam 

 RAIT  Risk Assessment & Intervention Team 

 SAC  School Advisory Council 

 SAT  Scholastic Assessment Test; college entrance exam 

 SEDNET  The Multi-agency Network for Students with Emotional/Behavioral Disabilities creates and 
 facilitates a network of key stakeholders committed to assisting in the provision of a quality 
 system of care for students with or at-risk of emotional or behavioral challenges 

 SEL  Social-Emotional Learning 

 SESIR  School Environmental Safety Incident Reporting; FLDOE student behavior coding system 

 SIPPS  Systematic Instruction in Phonological Awareness, Phonics, and Sight Words 

 SIS  Student Information System 

 SRO  School Resource Officer 

 STEAM  Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts, and Mathematics 

 STEM  Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics 

 YMHFA  Youth Mental Health First Aid 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  58 
Page 830 of 843

DRAFT



 Appendix B: Behavior Infraction Codes 

 Level 0 
 Level 0 codes are reserved for documentation purposes only for state reporting purposes and student behavior 
 records. Any actions/intervention can be administered and recorded in the student information system at the 
 principal’s  discretion. Suspension of any kind should not be used with these codes. 

 Behavior Incident Tracking (BIT)  - To be used for  documentation of problematic student behaviors. 
 Consequences can  be issued using this code. 

 Unsubstantiated Bullying (UBL)  – After a complete  investigation and follow up of a reported bullying incident, 
 the investigator determines that there is not enough evidence to substantiate that the incident meets the 
 criteria of a prohibited act under definition of bullying as listed in the Jeffrey Johnston Stand Up for all Students 
 Act (Florida Statute  1006.147  ). 

 Unsubstantiated Harassment (UHR)  – After a complete  investigation and follow up of a reported harassment 
 incident,  the investigator determines that there is not enough evidence to substantiate that the incident meets 
 the criteria of a  prohibited act under definition of harassment as listed in the Jeffrey Johnston Stand Up for all 
 Students Act (Florida  Statute  1006.147  ). 

 Level 1 
 Level 1 infractions is relatively minor misbehavior or general classroom disruption that interferes with the 
 orderly educational process in the classroom or other areas. 

 Dress Code Violation (DRS)  - To dress in a manner  that would constitute a disruption in the school, create a 
 safety  hazard or exhibit impropriety. Non-conformity to the general code of appearance as outlined in Board 
 Policy. 

 Profanity/Obscene Language or Gesture (PRO)  – Abusive,  profane, obscene or vulgar language (verbal, 
 written, or  gestures) or conduct in the presence of another person. 

 Providing False Information Lying/Forgery (FLS)  -  Giving false or misleading information, either oral or 
 written,  which may injure another person’s character or reputation or disrupt the orderly process of the school. 
 Intentionally providing false or misleading information to, or withholding valid information from, a school staff 
 member. This includes Forgery - to fashion or reproduce for fraudulent purposes, such as signing parents’ 
 name to a note. 

 Skipping Class (SKP)  – If the student does not report  to their assigned class but has been marked present 
 throughout the  school day or if the student reports 15 minutes or later to their assigned class. 

 Tardiness (TAR)  - Late to class or school; if the  student arrives 15 minutes after the beginning of class w/o 
 permission  then the student is considered SKP/skipping class. 

 Violation of Classroom Rules (VCR)  - Violation of  specific posted or written class rules that are not 
 necessarily a disruptive behavior. Breaking behavioral contract, thereby progressing to the next disciplinary 
 level as specified in the school student handbook. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  59 
Page 831 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Cheating  - Academic cheating is defined as representing someone else's work as your own. If the 
 student cheated on their own with no other student or participant then the cheating will be a Violation of 
 Classroom Rules. In the event the student was cheating with multiple participants or on a state 
 assessment, the student  will receive Inappropriate Conduct. 

 ●  Example: having answers prior to an exam. 

 Wireless Communication Device (WCD) -  Use of a wireless  communication device in a way that is not 
 outlined in the Wireless Communication Device Guidelines.  (Refer to Inappropriate Use of 
 Technology/Wireless Communication Devices as a possible code) 

 Level 2 
 Level 2 infractions are acts of misbehavior whose frequency and seriousness tends to disrupt the learning 
 climate of the  school. These infractions usually result from a continuation of Level 1 misbehavior and require 
 administrative personnel intervention. This misconduct must be reported to the appropriate school 
 administrator for disciplinary action. The administrator will follow the procedure designated for major  violations 
 (Level 1) when investigating the situation and deciding on disciplinary action. 

 Abuse of School Property vandalism under $1,000 (ABS)  - To use wrongly or improperly, or to maltreat any 
 school  equipment or property, including, but not limited to, the inappropriate use of a computer by breaking 
 into restricted  accounts or networks, modifying or destroying files without permission, illegally copying 
 software and entering,  distributing or printing unauthorized files. 

 Defiance/Disrespect Insubordination (DEF)  - Refusal  or failure to obey, marked by resistance to authority. 
 The flagrant  or hostile challenge of the authority of a school staff member, bus driver, or any other adult in 
 authority. Examples see below: 

 ❏  Leaving Class Without Permission - Student did not have permission granted by the teacher or other 
 school entity to leave the classroom environment; unauthorized leaving of assigned class. 

 Inappropriate Conduct (IAC)  - Violation of specific  posted or written school rules that are not necessarily a 
 disruptive  behavior. Breaking behavioral contract, thereby progressing to the next disciplinary level as 
 specified in the school  student handbook. 

 ❏  Cheating - Academic cheating is defined as representing someone else's work as your own. If the 
 student  cheated on their own with no other student or participant, the cheating will be a Violation of 
 Classroom  Rules. In the event the student was cheating with multiple participants or on a state 
 assessment, the student will receive IAC: Inappropriate Conduct. Several examples of IAC include 
 sharing work with someone else, purchasing an academic paper or test questions in advance, paying 
 another student to do the work, and  plagiarism. 

 ❏  Gambling - One who participates in games of chance or skill for money or profit. 

 Leaving School Without Permission (LVS)  – Unauthorized  leaving of school grounds. 

 Low Level Confrontation (DSP)  - Student who deliberately  pushes, pulls, shoves, strikes, taunts, 
 antagonizes, or mutual  physical altercation with another student or by acts or words that does not result in any 
 injuries and is stopped by verbal intervention. 

 Possession of an Inappropriate Object (POS)  - Possession  and/or use of items or contraband designated by 
 the school as  inappropriate materials such as portable paging devices, beepers, cellular telephones, portable 
 cassette or CD players, electronic games, rollerblades, skateboards, lighters, hats, etc. and any other items 
 that cause distraction and/or damage  to persons or property or otherwise interferes with learning. An example 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  60 

Page 832 of 843

DRAFT



 is the possession of a pocket knife which may  be potentially dangerous or harmful to others. These items will 
 be confiscated. 

 Stealing/Petty Theft <$  750  300  (STP)  - taking of property  while on school grounds or from a vehicle on school 
 property  worth under $  750  300 

 Student uses Profanity directed at a School Board Employee (SPE)  - A student who intentionally engages 
 in a verbal  confrontation involving a school board employee with profanity/obscene gestures. If the verbal 
 confrontation involves a  threat, the behavior will be coded as Threat  /Intimidation  (  TRE)  . 

 Level 3 
 Level 3 infractions are major acts of misconduct. They include serious disruptions of school order and threats 
 to the  health, safety and property of others. The misconduct must be reported promptly to a school 
 administrator, who may  remove the student from the school or activity immediately. 

 Local Codes 

 Felony Charges (SAO)  - Previously defined as State  Attorney Charges. 

 Identity Theft (IDT)  - When a student represents themselves  as another individual (including but not limited to 
 students  and district employees) with the intent of creating confusion or disruption to another’s well-being. The 
 fraudulent  acquisition and use of a person's private identifying information. 

 Inappropriate use of Technology/Wireless Communication Devices (TEC)  - When the possession of a 
 wireless  communication device disrupts the educational process. This includes the unauthorized use of a 
 wireless communication device to capture images or recordings without permission during school hours, 
 attaching power cords to school devices, and/or the unauthorized use on school buses in the absence of an 
 emergency concerning safety-to-life issues (defined as  a bus accident, mechanical breakdown which delays 
 the normal route, and/or thirty (30) minutes or more in a route  delay). 

 Multiple Level 2 Infractions (MUL)  - If a student  commits 7 or more Level 2 infractions they may receive a 
 “multiple  level 2” infraction. This code can be used to initiate a Hearing Office Referral. 

 Room Clearing Event (RCE)  – Should a student create  an unsafe environment and the student population of 
 the classroom needs to be removed for their safety. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student is throwing objects and turning over chairs 
 ❏  Student is running around the classroom and refuses to stop while pushing into other students. 

 Non-Example: 
 ❏  Student refuses to do work and yells when asked to begin. 
 ❏  Student throws an object not directed towards another student 

 Student Confrontation/ School Board Employee Non Physical (SCE)  - A student who intentionally 
 engages in a confrontation involving a school board employee. 

 Violation of Behavior Contract (VBC)  – If a student  violates the school or district behavior contract. 

 SESIR Codes  - These are violations defined by the  Florida Department of Education and are to be reported 
 as School Environmental Safety Incident Reporting incidents. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  61 

Page 833 of 843

DRAFT



 Bullying/Cyberbullying (BUL)  -  Systematically and chronically inflicting physical hurt or psychological distress 
 on one or more students or employees. Bullying includes instances of cyberbullying, as defined in Section 
 1006.147(3)(b), F.S  . Bullying may include, but is  not limited to, repetitive instances of teasing, social exclusion, 
 threats, intimidation, stalking, physical violence, theft, harassment, public or private humiliation, or destruction 
 of property. If the physical harm or psychological distress is not the result of systematic or chronic behavior, 
 evaluate for Harassment  .  Bullying is unwanted, aggressive  behavior among school aged children that involves 
 a  real or perceived power imbalance. The behavior is repeated, or has the potential to be repeated, over time. 
 Both kids  who are bullied and who bully others may have serious, lasting problems. Cyberbullying is bullying 
 that takes place  over digital devices like cell phones, computers, and tablets. Cyberbullying can occur through 
 SMS, Text, and apps, or  online in social media, forums, or gaming where people can view, participate in, or 
 share content. Cyberbullying  includes sending, posting, or sharing negative, harmful, false, or mean content 
 about someone else. It can include  sharing personal or private information about someone else causing 
 embarrassment or humiliation. Some cyberbullying  crosses the line into unlawful or criminal behavior. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student uses a cell phone to take a picture of a student using the bathroom at school and 

 shares it electronically. 
 ❏  Student spreads nasty rumors at school about another person, in conversation, in a note, or 

 electronically. 
 ❏  Student repeatedly teases another person in a mean way, calling him/her inappropriate names, 

 making fun of his/her appearance, or the way he/she talks, dresses, or acts. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Student calls another student an inappropriate name once. 

 The most common places where cyberbullying occurs are: 
 ❏  Social Media, such as Facebook, Instagram, Snapchat, and Twitter 
 ❏  SMS (Short Message Service) also known as Text Message sent through devices 
 ❏  Instant Message (via devices, email provider services, apps, and social media messaging 

 features) 
 ❏  Email 

 Breaking and Entering  /Burglary  (BRK)  -  Unlawful entry  into or remaining in a dwelling, structure, or 
 conveyance with the intent to commit a crime therein.  The  unlawful entry with force, or unauthorized presence 
 in a building or other structure,  or conveyance with evidence, or the intent to damage or remove property or 
 harm a person(s). 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other breaking and entering into: 

 ❏  a school building during athletic events, 
 ❏  a school bus, or 
 ❏  a residential garage that is being used for a school-sponsored event 

 ❏  Student or other willfully remaining within a building after it has been secured and committing a 
 crime, such as vandalism or theft. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other entering an unlocked gym, without permission, and using the basketball court. 
 ❏  Student or other wandering the halls, after hours, after entering through an unlocked door. 

 Disruption on Campus (DOC) -  Major  -  Majorly Disorderly  Conduc  t Disruptive behavior that poses a serious 
 threat to the  learning environment, health, safety or welfare of others. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other making a bomb threat. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  62 
Page 834 of 843

DRAFT



 ❏  Student engaging in disruptive behavior that causes the bus driver to stop the bus to ensure the 
 safety of the group. 

 ❏  Student or other causing an incident that results in closing the cafeteria. 
 ❏  Student or other inciting a riot. 
 ❏  Student or other pulling the fire alarm. 
 ❏  Student or other deliberately crashing the school computer system. 
 ❏  Student or other causing an incident that prevents others from proceeding to the next class or 

 prevents egress. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Disruption of a single classroom. 
 ❏  Student defying authority. 
 ❏  Student disobeying or showing disrespect to others. 
 ❏  Student or other using obscene or inappropriate language or gestures. 
 ❏  Student not sitting in seat and/or talking loudly while school bus is moving. 

 Fighting (FIT)  - When two or more persons mutually  participate in use of force or physical violence that 
 requires  physical restraint or results in injury. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in a fight/combat with another and physical restraint is necessary to 

 stop it. 
 ❏  Student becoming engaged in a fight which results in the need for first aid or medical attention 

 for one or both  of the participants. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Student verbally confronting another student/teacher. 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in pushing and shoving who is easily separated or stopped. 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in a fight which is resolved without injury or need for physical 

 intervention  restraint  . 

 Harassment (HAR)  - Any threatening, insulting, or  dehumanizing gesture, use of data or computer software, 
 or written,  verbal, or physical conduct that  places  a student or school employee in reasonable fear of harm to 
 his or her person or damage to his or her property; has the effect of substantially interfering with a student’s 
 educational performance, opportunities, or benefits, or has the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly 
 operation of a school, including any course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial 
 emotional distress in such a person and serves no legitimate purpose. Instances of Harassment that are 
 chronic or repeated in nature should be evaluated for Bullying or Bullying-related. 

 ❏  places a student or school employee in reasonable fear of harm to his or her person or damage 
 to his or her  property 

 ❏  has the effect of substantially interfering with a student’s educational performance, 
 opportunities, or benefits, or has the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of a 
 school including any course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial 
 emotional distress in such a person and serves no legitimate  purpose. 

 Example: 
 ❏  One student approaches another student and makes an insulting gesture. The targeted student 

 runs off in tears and is visibly upset. 
 Non-Example: 

 ❏  Two students approach each other and one student makes an insulting gesture towards the 
 other student. Both students are good friends, no offense was taken by either student from the 
 interaction. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  63 
Page 835 of 843

DRAFT



 Hazing (HAZ)  - Any action or situation that endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student at a 
 school with any of grades 6 through 12 for purposes of initiation or admission into or affiliation with any 
 school-sanctioned organization.  Hazing includes, but  is not limited to pressuring, coercing, or forcing a student 
 to participate in illegal or dangerous behavior, or any brutality of a physical nature, such as whipping, beating, 
 branding, or exposure to the elements.  “Hazing” includes  but is not limited to: (1) pressuring, coercing, or 
 forcing a student to participate in illegal or dangerous behavior, (2) any brutality of a physical nature, such as 
 whipping, beading, branding, or exposure to the elements. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Pressuring, coercing or forcing a student into: 1) violating state or federal law; 2) consuming 

 food, liquid, drug, or other substance; or 3) participating in physical activity that could adversely 
 affect the health or safety of the student. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Requiring new team members to attend additional supervised practices. 

 Other Major (OMC)  -  (Major incidents that do not fit  within the other definitions)  Any serious, harmful  incident 
 resulting in the need for law enforcement intervention not  previously classified.  This includes any drug  or 
 weapon found unattended and not linked to any individual; such incidents must be coded with the appropriate 
 Related element (such as Drug-related or Weapon-related) and incident involvement must be reported as 
 unknown.  Students selling items on school grounds that  have not been authorized by the school or for school 
 sanctioned events. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student produces or uses counterfeit money. 
 ❏  Student participates in gambling  activities. 
 ❏  Student possessing drug paraphernalia.  , vaping oils,  device used to vape  . 
 ❏  Student possesses pornographic materials depicting others under the age of 18. 
 ❏  Student is selling goods, services or food that has not been authorized by the school for a 

 sanctioned event 
 Non-Examples 

 ❏  Student arrested for violating probation. 
 ❏  Student or other arrested for committing crimes off-campus. 

 Sexual Offenses (SXO)  - Other sexual contact, including  intercourse, without force or threat of force, 
 subjecting an  individual to lewd sexual gestures or comments or sexual activity, or exposing private body parts 
 in a lewd manner. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other participating in sexual activity in front of a student. 
 ❏  Student or other intentionally exposing genitals. 
 ❏  Student or other touching the buttocks of another in lewd, lascivious manner. 
 ❏  Two or more students engaging in sexual activity. 
 ❏  Student or other soliciting or encouraging a person to commit a sexual act. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Students kissing consensually 
 ❏  A kindergarten child relieving himself publicly. 
 ❏  A first grade student hugging another 
 ❏  Student inadvertently touching the breasts, buttocks or groin of another student. 
 ❏  Inappropriate or suggestive gestures. 

 Simple Battery  Physical Attack  (PHA)  -  An  Refers to  an  actual and intentional striking of another person 
 against his/her will, or the intentional causing of bodily harm to an individual. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  64 

Page 836 of 843

DRAFT



 Example: 
 ❏  Throwing an object and hitting someone hard enough to cause injury. 
 ❏  Aggressively punching another person in the face. 
 ❏  Student committing a battery upon a school district employee such as a teacher or other staff 

 person. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Horseplay, low-level pushing and shoving between students. 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in a fight/combat with another and physical restraint is necessary to 

 stop it. o Student becoming engaged in a fight which results in the need for first aid or medical 
 attention for one or both of the participants. (Refer to Fighting as a possible alternative code.) 

 Tobacco (TBC)  -The possession, use, distribution,  or sale of tobacco products and vape/vaping related 
 products on school grounds, at school-sponsored events, or on school transportation by any person under the 
 age of  21  18  . 

 Examples: 
 ❏  A student under 21 possessing and/or smoking cigarettes, cigars, etc. 
 ❏  A student under 21 possessing and/or using a nicotine dispensing device or electronic nicotine 

 delivery system (ENDS) such as electronic cigarettes, vape pens, hookah pens, etc. 
 ❏  A student using smokeless tobacco or nicotine products. 
 ❏  Students using any device, or in possession of any part of a device, that allows for the inhalation 

 of vapor. 
 ❏  Student sharing device with another student for the purpose of use or possession. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student in possession of any oils or products containing THC or CBD (refer to  DRU  ). 
 ❏  Student in possession of aromatic essential oils. 

 Threat/Intimidation (TRE)  -  An incident where there  was no physical contact between the offender and victim, 
 but the victim reasonably believed that physical harm could have occurred based on verbal or nonverbal 
 communication by the offender. This includes nonverbal threats and verbal threats of physical harm which are 
 made in person, electronically or through any other means  .  A threat to cause physical harm to another  person 
 with or without the use of a weapon that  includes all of the following elements: 

 ❏  intent – that the threat is heard or seen by the person who is the object of the threat. 
 ❏  fear – a reasonable fear or apprehension by the person who is the object of the threat that the 

 threat could be  carried out; and 
 ❏  capability – the ability of the offender to actually carry out the threat directly or by a weapon or 

 other instrument  that can easily be obtained. 
 Examples: 

 ❏  Student or other willfully and repeatedly following another or stalking with intent to cause the 
 person to fear for  their safety. 

 ❏  Student or other who willfully and repeatedly uses email or text messages to cause another to 
 fear for their  safety or cause substantial emotional distress (cyber stalking). 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in mutual combat with another. 
 ❏  Student or other actually using force or violence against another. (Refer to Battery or Fighting as 

 possible  alternative codes.) 
 ❏  Student waving to another student in the hallway, waiting after class to talk to him/her and 

 calling to ask  him/her out. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  65 
Page 837 of 843

DRAFT



 Level 4 
 Level 4 acts of misconduct are the most serious. All Level 4 infractions are grounds for expulsion, and will 
 result in a  mandatory 10-day suspension. These acts are clearly criminal and are serious enough to require 
 administrative actions that result in immediate removal of the student from school, the intervention of law 
 enforcement authorities, or action by  the Superintendent and Clay County School Board. 

 Aggravated Battery (BAT)  -  A battery where the attacker  intentionally or knowingly causes more serious injury 
 (as defined in paragraph (8)(g) of  6A-1.0017  (SESIR),  such as: great bodily harm, permanent disability, or 
 permanent disfigurement; uses a deadly weapon; or, where the attacker knew or should have known the victim 
 was pregnant  .  The physical use of force or violence  by an individual against another. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student hitting another with a heavy object over the head. 
 ❏  Student jabbing a pen into another’s arm  resulting  in serious injury  . 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in a mutual physical altercation with another and continuing to 

 hit/beat that person even after that person stops fighting, or is no longer able to fight back 
 resulting in serious injury  . 

 ❏  Student committing aggravated battery upon a school district employee such as a teacher or 
 other staff person. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other delivering a single poke to the chest. 
 ❏  Student or other delivers a single, non-injuring strike to the arm of another. 
 ❏  Students or others actively engaging in a fight with each other  (refer to  Fighting  code as a 

 possible SESIR code)  . 
 ❏  Student or other striking back when hit by an aggressor and becoming engaged in a fight with 

 the aggressor  (refer to  Fighting  code as a possible  SESIR code)  . 

 Alcohol (ALC)  - Possession, sale, purchase,  distribution  ,  or use of alcoholic beverages. Use should be 
 reported only if the person is caught in the act of using,  admits to use or is discovered to have used  in the 
 course of an investigation. Alcohol incidents cannot be Drug-related.  or in the course of the investigation  it is 
 discovered that the person is impaired. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student testing positive for alcohol by law enforcement. 
 ❏  Student possessing, using, or selling alcohol. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student suspected of using alcohol without evidence. 
 ❏  Student smelled of alcohol who after investigation, was found to be diabetic. 

 Arson (ARS)  - To  intentionally  damage or cause to be  damaged, by fire or explosion, any dwelling, structure or 
 conveyance, whether  occupied or not, or its contents.  Fires that are not intentional, that are caused by 
 accident, or do not cause damage are not required to be reported in SESIR  . 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other deliberately setting a fire on campus. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other unintentionally starting a fire. 

 Criminal Mischief  Vandalism  > $1,000 (VAN)  -  Willfully  and maliciously injuring or damaging by any means 
 any real or personal property belonging to another, including, but not limited to, the placement of graffiti 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  66 

Page 838 of 843

DRAFT



 thereon or other acts of vandalism thereto. Incidents that fall below the $1,000 threshold are not reportable in 
 SESIR, but instead should be reported as locally-defined incidents according to district policies.  The intentional 
 destruction, damage, or defacement of public or private property without  consent of the owner or the person 
 having custody or control of it. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other  extensively  defacing school with  graffiti. 
 ❏  Student or other keying or scratching a car in a campus parking lot. 
 ❏  Student or other trashing a classroom resulting in damages of $1,000 or more. 
 ❏  Student(s) damaging a hotel room ($1,000 or more) on a school-sponsored trip. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other accidentally damaging chemistry lab equipment. 
 ❏  Student or other causing damages under $1,000. 

 Drug Sale/Distribution Excluding Alcohol (DRD)  - The  manufacture, cultivation, sale or distribution of any 
 drug, narcotic, controlled substance or substance represented to be a drug,  narcotic, or controlled  substance  . 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student passing a marijuana cigarette around in the school bathroom. 
 ❏  Student giving prescription drugs prescribed for someone else to another. 
 ❏  Student selling cocaine to another. 
 ❏  Student or other misrepresenting substances as illegal drugs. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student taking medication prescribed for themselves. 
 ❏  Student giving an aspirin or other over-the-counter medication to another in dosage prescribed. 
 ❏  Student smoking a marijuana cigarette alone. (Refer to DRU: Drug Use/Possession) 
 ❏  Student found with a single marijuana cigarette in backpack. (Refer to DRU: Drug Use/ 

 Possession) 

 Drug Use Possession Excluding Alcohol (DRU)  - The  use, or possession of any drug, narcotic, controlled 
 substance or any substance when used for  chemical  intoxication. Use means the person is caught in the act of 
 using, admits to use or is discovered to have used in the course of an investigation.  hallucinogenic  purposes. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other possessing or being under the influence of illegal drugs at school, at 

 school-sponsored events, or on school transportation. 
 ❏  Student possessing or observed swallowing prescription drugs that are not prescribed for 

 him/her. 
 ❏  Student found inhaling or ingesting intoxicants, glue, solvents, or aerosols for hallucinogenic 

 purposes. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Student possessing or using over-the-counter medications in dosage prescribed. 
 ❏  Student using inhalers for asthmatic condition. 
 ❏  Student possessing drug paraphernalia (refer to Other Major,  OMC  ). 

 Grand Theft  Larceny/Theft  (STL)  ,  The unauthorized taking  of the property of another person or organization, 
 including motor vehicles, valued at $750 or more, without threat, violence, or bodily harm. Incidents that fall 
 below the $750 threshold are not reportable in SESIR, but instead should be reported as locally-defined 
 incidents according to district policies. Thefts of property of any value that involve a use of force, violence, 
 assault, or putting the victim in fear must be reported as Robbery.  including motor vehicle theft - The 
 unauthorized taking, carrying, riding away or  concealing the property of another person, including motor 
 vehicles, without threat, violence or bodily harm. 
 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  67 

Page 839 of 843

DRAFT



 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other embezzling public funds. 
 ❏  Student or other stealing an item  /  items worth $  750  300  or more. 
 ❏  Student finding a checkbook, signing owner’s name and making a purchase. 
 ❏  Student or other stealing a car or motorcycle. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other borrowing an item without permission. 
 ❏  Student or other committing robbery (code as Robbery instead) 
 ❏  Student or other stealing an item less than $  750  300  . 
 ❏  Student steals a credit card but no charges are made to the card. 

 Homicide (HOM)  - The unjustified killing of one human  being by another. 
 Examples: 

 ❏  Student or other person, known or unknown, committing any homicide on school campus, at 
 school-sponsored events, or on school transportation. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other accidentally dying 
 ❏  Student or other committing suicide. 

 Kidnapping (KID)  - Forcibly,  secretly,  or by threat,  confining, abducting, or imprisoning another person against 
 his/her will and without lawful authority. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other holding another person for ransom or reward, as a shield, or as a hostage. 
 ❏  Non-custodial caregiver, with a restraining order, picking up a student. 

 Non-Example: 
 ❏  Student running away with her boyfriend after being picked up from school by him. 

 Robbery (ROB)  - The taking or attempted taking of  money or other property from the person or custody of 
 another with the intent to permanently or temporarily deprive the person or owner of the money or other 
 property  anything of value that is owned by another  person or  organization,  under the confrontational 
 circumstances of force or threat of force or violence and/or by putting the victim in fear.  A key difference  in 
 Grand Theft and Robbery is that Robbery involves violence, a threat of violence or assault, and putting the 
 victim in fear 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other snatching a gold chain off someone’s neck 
 ❏  Student or other extorting lunch money 
 ❏  Student or other engaging in “Carjacking” 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other taking money  or  valuable worth $750  or more  from an unattended purse. 

 (Refer to  Grand Theft  STL:Larceny/Theft  as a possible  alternative code.) 

 Sexual Assault (SXA)  -  An incident that includes  fondling,  indecent liberties, child molestation, or threatened 
 rape. Both males and females can be victims of sexual assault.  a threat of rape, fondling, indecent liberties, 
 child molestation, or sodomy. The threat must include all of the following elements: 1) intent; 2) fear; and 3) 
 capability. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and Family Handbook  68 
Page 840 of 843

DRAFT



 Example: 
 ❏  Student or other threatening to rape another. 
 ❏  Student or other intentionally touching anyone younger than 16 years old in a lewd 

 manner. 
 Non-Example: 

 ❏  Kindergarten student threatening another with a sexual act. 

 Sexual Battery  (Rape)  (SXB)  - Forced or attempted  oral, anal or vaginal penetration by using a 
 sexual organ or an  object simulating a sexual organ, or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by 
 any body part or object.  Both males and females can  be victims of sexual battery  . 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other raping someone. 
 ❏  Student or other attempting to rape someone. 

 Non-Examples: 
 ❏  Students engaging in consensual sex acts. (Consensual sex is not Sexual Battery. Refer 

 to SXO: Sexual  Offenses (Other) as a possible alternative code.) 
 ❏  Student or other threatening to rape someone. (Refer to  Sexual Assault  as a possible 

 SESIR code.) 

 Sexual Harassment (SXH)  -  Unwelcome conduct of a  sexual nature, such as sexual advances, 
 requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, nonverbal, or physical conduct of a sexual nature. 
 Harassing conduct can include verbal or nonverbal actions, including graphic and written statements, 
 and may include statements made through computers, cellphones, and other devices connected to the 
 Internet. The conduct can be carried out by school employees, other students, and non-employee third 
 parties.  Unwanted verbal or physical behavior with  sexual connotations by an adult or student that  is 
 severe or pervasive enough to create an intimidating, hostile or offensive educational environment, 
 cause discomfort  or humiliation or unreasonably interfere with the individual’s school performance or 
 participation. {6A-19.008(1)SBE  Rule} An incident when one person demands a sexual favor from 
 another under the threat of physical harm or adverse  consequence. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other causing unwanted and ongoing episodes of leering, pinching, grabbing. 
 ❏  Student or other making repeated suggestive comments or jokes or actions of a sexual 

 nature. 
 ❏  Student or other pressuring one to engage in sexual activity. 
 ❏  Teacher threatening to lower a student’s grade if sexual favors are not given. 
 ❏  Student or other repeatedly showing a photograph, poster or other images of nudity, 

 lewd or sexual activity. 
 ❏  Student or other pressuring another student for sexual favors by threatening to prevent 

 him/her from  participating in a school activity. 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Student engaging in consensual sex. (Refer to Sexual Offenses (other) code as a 
 possible SESIR code. 

 ❏  Student unintentionally brushing up against another in the hallway. 
 ❏  A single incident of a kiss that may be unwanted. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and 
 Family Handbook  69 

Page 841 of 843

DRAFT



 Trespassing (TRS  )  - To enter or remain on a school  grounds/campus, school transportation, or at a 
 school-sponsored  function/off campus without authorization or invitation and with no lawful purpose for 
 entry. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Any unauthorized person entering the campus. 
 ❏  Any unauthorized person remaining on property after being  issued an official trespass 

 warning by school officials  directed to leave by the  chief administrator or  designee  . 
 ❏  A student currently under suspension or expulsion returning to campus without 

 authorization or invitation. 
 Non-Examples 

 ❏  Parent entering the building to pick up his/her child without first getting clearance 
 through the office. 

 ❏  Person searching for  assistance  a phone  at a school  facility after his/her car has broken 
 down. 

 Weapons Possession (WPO)  - Possession of any instrument  or object (as defined by Section 790.001 
 (13), Florida  Statutes, or district code of student conduct) that can inflict serious harm on another 
 person or that can place a person in  reasonable fear of serious harm. 

 Examples: 
 ❏  Student or other possessing a firearm or knife. 
 ❏  Student or other using a knife, pocket knife, or other sharp or pointed implement  as a 

 weapon  to threaten or harm another  . 
 Non-Examples: 

 ❏  Student, after investigation, found to possess a common pocket knife, or eating utensil 
 with no intent to harm. 

 ❏  Student possessing items not covered under law or district policy such as pointed 
 instruments, pens, or pencils. 

 ❏  Student possessing a cutting tool that is being used in art shop or other class. 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and 
 Family Handbook  70 

Page 842 of 843

DRAFT



 A reminder from the Office of Climate and Culture: 
 We are in this together and together we make a 

 difference! 

 Return to Table of Contents  23-24  22-23  CCDS Student and 
 Family Handbook  71 

Page 843 of 843

DRAFT


